

The following documentation is an electronicallysubmitted vendor response to an advertised solicitation from the *West Virginia Purchasing Bulletin* within the Vendor Self-Service portal at *wvOASIS.gov*. As part of the State of West Virginia's procurement process, and to maintain the transparency of the bid-opening process, this documentation submitted online is publicly posted by the West Virginia Purchasing Division at *WVPurchasing.gov* with any other vendor responses to this solicitation submitted to the Purchasing Division in hard copy format.

WOASIS	Jump to: FORMS 🟦 💿 🐲 Home 🔑 Personalize 🚳 Accessibility 🛜 App Help 🌾 About [
Welcome, Lu Anne Cottrill Pro	curement Budgeting Accounts Receivable Accounts Payable
Solicitation Response(SR) Dept: 0947 ID: ESR0828190000001265 Ver.: 1 Function: New	Phase: Final Modified by batch , 08/28/2019
Header 🕖 5	
	😑 List View
General Information Contact Default Values Discount Document Information	
Procurem ent Folder: 608684	SO Doc Code: CRFQ
Procurem ent Type: Central Contract - Fixed Amt	SO Dept: 0947
Vendor ID: 000000219154	SO Doc ID: ERP200000002
Legal Name: SOFTWARE INFORMATION SYSTEMS LLC	Published Date: 8/21/19
Alias/DBA:	Close Date: 8/28/19
Total Bid: \$1,614,870.00	Close Time: 13:30
Response Date: 08/28/2019	Status: Closed
Response Time: 10:00	Solicitation Description: Addendum No. 1 Production and Disaster Recovery Infrastructu
	Total of Header Attachm ents: 5
	Total of All Attachments: 5
	~



Purchasing Division 2019 Washington Street East Post Office Box 50130 Charleston, WV 25305-0130

State of West Virginia Solicitation Response

P S P	Proc Folder: 608684 Solicitation Description: Addendum No. 1 Production and Disaster Recovery Infrastructu Proc Type: Central Contract - Fixed Amt						
Date issued	Solicitation Closes	Solicitation Response	Version				
	2019-08-28 13:30:00	SR 0947 ESR0828190000001265	1				

VENDOR

00000219154

SOFTWARE INFORMATION SYSTEMS LLC

Solicitation Nu	umber:	CRFQ	0947	ERP200000002			
Total Bid :	\$1,614,8	870.00		Response Date:	2019-08-28	Response Time:	10:00:56

Comments:

FOR INFORMATION CONTACT THE BUYER			
Melissa Pettrey			
(304) 558-0094 melissa.k.pettrey@wv.gov			
Signature on File	FEIN #	DATE	
All offene each loof to all tenness and conditions a	ntainad in this calicitation		

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Ln Total Or Contract Amount
1	Storage Array Solution - Production Site	1.00000	EA	\$267,000.000000	\$267,000.00
Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification		Model #	
43201802					
Extended Des	scription : Exact specifications can be	e found on the at	tached specif	ications sheet.	

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Ln Total Or Contract Amount
2	Storage Array Solution - Disaster Recovery Site	1.00000	EA	\$267,000.000000	\$267,000.00
Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification		Model #	
43201802					
Extended Des	scription : Exact specifications can b	e found on the at	tached specil	fications sheet.	

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Ln Total Or Contract Amount
3	Compute/Networking Solution - Production Site (with VMware)	1.00000	EA	\$450,000.000000	\$450,000.00

Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification	Model #	
43232907				
Extended Descrip	tion : Exact specificatio	ns can be found on the attached s	pecifications sheet.	

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Ln Total Or Contract Amount
4	Compute/Networking Solution - Disaster Rec Site (w. VMware)	1.00000	EA	\$288,000.000000	\$288,000.00
Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification		Model #	
43232907					
Extended Des	scription : Exact specifications can be	e found on the at	tached specif	ications sheet.	

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Ln Total Or Contract Amount
5	Implementation and Migration Services				\$100,370.00
Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification		Model #	
81112309					
Extended Des	scription : Exact specifications car	n be found on the at	tached specif	ications sheet.	

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Ln Total Or Contract Amount
6	Cabinet - Production Site	1.00000	EA	\$7,000.000000	\$7,000.00

Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification	Model #	
43223306				
Extended Descriptio	n : Exact specification	ons can be found on the attached sp	ecifications sheet.	

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Ln Total Or Contract Amount
7	Cabinet - Disaster Recovery Site	1.00000	EA	\$7,000.000000	\$7,000.00

Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification	Model #	
43223306				
Extended Description	n : Exact specification	s can be found on the attached sp	pecifications sheet.	

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Ln Total Or Contract Amount
8	Firewalls (with Subscription Services)	1.00000	EA	\$185,000.000000	\$185,000.00
Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification		Model #	
43222501					
Extended Des	scription : Exact specifications can be	found on the at	tached specif	ications sheet.	

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Ln Total Or Contract Amount
9	Knowledge Transfer and Training				\$43,500.00
Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification		Model #	
86000000					
Extended De	scription : Exact specifications can b	be found on the a	ttached speci	fications sheet.	





304 768-1671 (fax) Ms. Melissa Perry Department of Administration Purchasing Division

2019 Washington Street, East Charleston, WV 25305 August 28, 2019

Dear Ms. Pettrey,

Please find attached the SIS response to CRFQ 0947 ERP200000003 due August 28, 2019. SIS agrees with the requirements of the RFQ and is submitting a response offering the Cisco UCS with NetApp Storage and Palo Alto Firewalls and VMware software. This response meets or exceeds the mandatory requirements of the RFQ for both the Production and Disaster Recovery sites and all components are included. The prices included are for this one-time purchase - with five years of support for Cisco, NetApp and Palo Alto products and three years of support for VMware software. Future procurements for these products are not subject to the prices quoted.

Thank you for the opportunity to submit this response and we look forward to further discussions.

Sincerely,

Charles D. Arnett Senior Client Executive carnett@thinksis.com

Enclosures



Purchasing Divison 2019 Washington Street East Post Office Box 50130 Charleston, WV 25305-0130

State of West Virginia Request for Quotation 21 - Info Technology

l l	Proc Folder: 608684		
1	Ooc Description: Produc		
F	roc Type: Central Contr	act - Fixed Amt	
Date Issued	Solicitation Closes	Solicitation No	Version
2019-08-14	2019-08-28 13:30:00	CRFQ 0947 ERP200000002	1

BID RECEIVING LOCATION			
BID CLERK			
DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION			
PURCHASING DIVISION			
2019 WASHINGTON ST E			
CHARLESTON	WV	25305	
US			

VENDOR	
Vendor Name, Address and Telephone Number:	
	Software Information Systems, LLC 200 Association Drive, Suite 210 Charleston, WV 25311 304 768-1645

FOR INFORMATION CONTACT THE BUYER		
Melissa Pettrey		
(304) 558-0094		
melissa.k.pettrey@wv.gov		
Signature X All offers subject to all terms and conditions contained in the	FEIN # 61-137/695-	DATE 8-28-2017
	Page: 1	FORM ID : WV-PRC-CRFQ-001

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION:

REQUEST FOR QUOTATION

The West Virginia Purchasing Division is soliciting bids on behalf of the Agency, the West Virginia Enterprise Resource Planning Board (wvOASIS) to establish a contract for the replacement of its current Production and Disaster Recovery Infrastructure and obtain Services to assist in the installation and configuration of the new hardware per the bid requirements, specifications, terms and conditions attached to this solicitation.

The primary Production Site is in Charleston, WV with a Disaster Recovery Site located in Morgantown, WV.

INVOICE TO		SHIP TO	
CONTROLLER		CONTROLLER	
ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD		ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD	
OUTE 100		1007 BULLITT STREET	
SUITE 400		SUITE 400	
CHARLESTON	WV25301	CHARLESTON	WV 25301
US		US	

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Total Price
1	Storage Array Solution - Production Site	1.00000	EA	\$ 267,000	\$ 267,000

Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification	Model #	
43201802			model #	

Extended Description :

Exact specifications can be found on the attached specifications sheet.

INVOICE TO		SHIP TO			
CONTROLLER		CONTROLLER			
ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET		ENTERPRISE RESOURCE	ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD		
SUITE 400		CUTE 400			
		SUITE 400			
CHARLESTON	WV25301	CHARLESTON	WV 25301		
US		US			

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Total Price
2	Storage Array Solution - Disaster Recovery Site	1.00000	EA	\$ 267,000	\$ 267,000

Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification	Model #	
43201802			model #	

Extended Description :

INVOICE TO			SHIP TO		
CONTROL	LER		CONTROLLER		
ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET			ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET		ARD
SUITE 400			SUITE 400		
CHARLESTON WV25301			CHARLESTON	RLESTON WV 25301	
US			US		
Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Total Price
3	Compute/Networking Solution - Production Site (with VMware)	1.00000	EA	\$ 450,000	\$ 450,000
Comm Code	Manufacturer	Spe	ecification	Model #	

13232007	
45252907	

Specification

Extended Description :

Exact specifications can be found on the attached specifications sheet.

INVOICE TO	SHIP TO
CONTROLLER	CONTROLLER
ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET	ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET
SUITE 400	SUITE 400
CHARLESTON WV25301	CHARLESTON WV 25301
US	US

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Total Price
4	Compute/Networking Solution - Disaster Rec Site (w. VMware)	1.00000	EA	\$ 288,000	\$ 299,000

Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification	Model #	
43232907			Model #	

Extended Description :

INVOICE TO		SHIP TO		
CONTROLLER		CONTROLLER		
ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PL/ 1007 BULLITT STREET	NNING BOARD	ENTERPRISE RESOURCE 1007 BULLITT STREET	PLANNING BOARD	
SUITE 400		SUITE 400		
CHARLESTON	WV25301	CHARLESTON	WV 25301	
US		US		
Line Communication				

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	L Unit Price	Total Price
5	Implementation and Migration Services			\$ 100,370	\$ 100,370

Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification	Model #	
81112309		3		

Extended Description :

Exact specifications can be found on the attached specifications sheet.

INVOICE TO	SHIP TO
CONTROLLER	CONTROLLER
ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET	ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET
SUITE 400	SUITE 400
CHARLESTON WV25301	CHARLESTON WV 25301
US	US

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Total Price
6	Cabinet - Production Site	1.00000	EA	5 7,000	\$ 7,000

Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification	Model #	No.
43223306				

Extended Description :

Exact specifications can be found on the attached specifications sheet.

INVOICE .	TO		SHIP TO			- inter
CONTRO	DLLER		CONTROLLER			
ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET		ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET				
SUITE 4	00		SUITE 400			
CHARLE	STON WV25301		CHARLESTON	WV 2	25301	
US			US			
Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	Unit Price	Total Price	
7	Cabinet - Disaster Recovery Site	1.00000	EA	\$12000	9	

					rotar ritee
7	Cabinet - Disaster Recovery Site	1.00000	EA	517,000	\$ 7000.
Comm Code	Manufacturer	Specification	1	Model #	
43223306					

Extended Description :

INVOICE TO			SHIP TO		
CONTROLLER ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET		CONTROLLER ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET			
SUITE 400			SUITE 400		
CHARLEST	ON WV25301		CHARLESTON	WV	25301
US			US		
Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty	Unit Issue	, Unit Price	. Total Price
8	Firewalls (with Subscription Services)	1.00000	EA	\$ 185,000	\$ 185,000
Comm Code	Manufacturer	Spee	cification	Model #	

43222501

Extended Description :

Exact specifications can be found on the attached specifications sheet.

INVOICE TO		SHIP TO		
CONTROLLER		CONTROLLER		
ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET		ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING BOARD 1007 BULLITT STREET		
SUITE 400		SUITE 400		
CHARLESTON	WV25301	CHARLESTON	WV 25301	
US		US		

Line	Comm Ln Desc	Qty		Unit Issue	Unit Price	Total Price
9	Knowledge Transfer and Training				\$ 43,500	\$ 43,500
Comm Code	Manufacturer		Specification		Model #	
86000000	·		•		inodol #	

Extended Description :

EXHIBIT A -PRICING PAGE

Vendor is to complete this Pricing Page and submit it with its bid response if not responding electronically via wvOASIS. Vendor shall enter the total bid amount (lump sum) <u>per category/line item</u> to provide the Goods and/or Services contemplated and as described in Section 4 of the Specifications for the project in wvOASIS, and/or on the corresponding lines below.

Additionally, Vendor should provide an itemized Build List with the brand, model numbers, etc. for all equipment proposed for each category and location as a separate attachment. Equipment prices for each category/location must include the services as specified in Section 5.2.1. (Hardware Delivery & Base Implementation Services). Vendor must supply this information with their bid response.

Price shall include a five (5) year warranty on all hardware, equipment, software, (except VMware) and support/licensing upgrade of applicable software from the date of Agency acceptance. Prices shall include all costs, fees, including but not limited to shipping, travel, lodging, meals and other related costs.

Item 1: Storage Array Solution - Production Site	\$ 267,000
Item 2: Storage Array Solution - Disaster Recovery Site	\$ 267,000
Item 3: Compute/Networking Solution-Production Site (with VMware)	\$ 450,000
Item 4: Compute/Networking Solution-Disaster Recovery Site (with VMware)	\$ 258,000
Item 5: Implementation/Migration Services	\$ 100,370
Item 6: Cabinet -Production Site	\$ 7,080
Item 7: Cabinet – Disaster Recovery Site	\$ 7,000
Item8: Firewalls (with Subscriptions Services)	\$ 185,000
Item 9: Knowledge Transfer & Training	\$ 43,500

TOTAL BID AMOUNT (Items 1-8)

\$ 1,614,870.00

DESIGNATED CONTACT: Vendor appoints the individual identified in this Section as the Contract Administrator and the initial point of contact for matters relating to this Contract.

Hineff 5+ Clost Execution lables (Printed Name and Title)

Suite 210 Charleston WV 25311 ASSOCIATION 200 (Address) 304 768-1645 304 768-167 (Phone Number) / (Fax Number) hisksis carnetto (email address)

CERTIFICATION AND SIGNATURE: By signing below, or submitting documentation through wvOASIS, I certify that I have reviewed this Solicitation in its entirety; that I understand the requirements, terms and conditions, and other information contained herein; that this bid, offer or proposal constitutes an offer to the State that cannot be unilaterally withdrawn; that the product or service proposed meets the mandatory requirements contained in the Solicitation for that product or service, unless otherwise stated herein; that the Vendor accepts the terms and conditions contained in the Solicitation, unless otherwise stated herein; that I am submitting this bid, offer or proposal for review and consideration; that I am authorized by the vendor to execute and submit this bid, offer, or proposal, or any documents related thereto on vendor's behalf; that I am authorized to bind the vendor in a contractual relationship; and that to the best of my knowledge, the vendor has properly registered with any State agency that may require registration.

were Intermetion Systems LLC (Company) Trheft St Client Execution

(Authorized Signature) (Representative Name,

"r. Cho. + Executive

(Printed Name and Title of Authorized Representative)

2819 (Date)

304 768-1645 Fax 304 768 1671

(Phone Number) (Fax Number)

Revised 05/04/2016

REQUEST FOR QUOTATION Infrastructure Upgrade/Refresh

10.VENDOR DEFAULT:

10.1 The following shall be considered a vendor default under this Contract.

10.1.1Failure to provide Contract Items in accordance with the requirements contained herein.

10.1.2Failure to comply with other specifications and requirements contained herein.

- 10.1.3Failure to comply with any laws, rules, and ordinances applicable to the Contract Services provided under this Contract.
- 10.1.4Failure to remedy deficient performance upon request.

10.2 The following remedies shall be available to Agency upon default.

10.2.1 Immediate cancellation of the Contract.

10.2.2 Immediate cancellation of one or more release orders issued under this Contract.

10.2.3 Any other remedies available in law or equity.

11.MISCELLANEOUS:

11.1 Contract Manager: During its performance of this Contract, Vendor must designate and maintain a primary contract manager responsible for overseeing Vendor's responsibilities under this Contract. The Contract manager must be available during normal business hours to address any customer service or other issues related to this Contract. Vendor should list its Contract manager and his or her contact information below.

Contract Manager: (Printed/Typed Name) TelephoneNumber: <u>304 768 -1645</u> Fax Number: 304 769-1671 Email Address: Eqnnette Hunksps.com

West Virginia Ethics Commission Disclosure of Interested Parties to Contracts

(Required by W. Va. Code § 6D-1-2)

Name of Contracting Business Entity:	Software Information Systems, LL	^C Address:	165 Barr Street
			Lexington, KY 40507
Name of Authorized Agent: Stephen	F. Sigg	_ Address:	165 Barr Street, Lexington, KY 40507
Contract Number: CRFQ ERP 2000	0000002 Contr	ract Descrip	Production and Disaster Recovery Infrastructure Upgrade
Governmental agency awarding contra	act: Enterprise Resour	ce Planning	g Board

Check here if this is a Supplemental Disclosure

List the Names of Interested Parties to the contract which are known or reasonably anticipated by the contracting business entity for each category below (attach additional pages if necessary):

1. Subcontractors or other entities performing work or service under the Contract

Check here if none, otherwise list entity/individual names below.

NetApp Contact: David Franco

- 2. Any person or entity who owns 25% or more of contracting entity (not applicable to publicly traded entities) Check here if none, otherwise list entity/individual names below.
- 3. Any person or entity that facilitated, or negotiated the terms of, the applicable contract (excluding legal services related to the negotiation or drafting of the applicable contract)

Check here if none, otherwise list entity/individual names below.

Signature: Notary Verification

Date Signed: 8/27/2019

State of Kentucky

County of Fayette

L Stephen F. Sigg

n, <u>stephen P. Sigg</u>, the authorized agent of the contracting business entity listed above, being duly sworn, acknowledge that the Disclosure herein is being made under oath and under the penalty of perjury.

Taken, sworn to and subscribed before m	ne this 27th	day of August	2019
	Harer	a. Smallun	North Stranger
<u>To be completed by State Agency:</u> Date Received by State Agency: Date submitted to Ethics Commission: Governmental agency submitting Disclose	ure:		NOTARY PUBLIC ID NO. 574503 MY COMMISSION EXPINES ReviseBYJune 8-2018

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA Purchasing Division PURCHASING AFFIDAVIT

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS: Under W. Va. Code § 5-22-1(i), the contracting public entity shall not award a construction contract to any bidder that is known to be in default on any monetary obligation owed to the state or a political subdivision of the state, including, but not limited to, obligations related to payroll taxes, property taxes, sales and use taxes, fire service fees, or other fines or fees.

ALL CONTRACTS: Under W. Va. Code §5A-3-10a, no contract or renewal of any contract may be awarded by the state or any of its political subdivisions to any vendor or prospective vendor when the vendor or prospective vendor or a related party to the vendor or prospective vendor is a debtor and: (1) the debt owed is an amount greater than one thousand dollars in the aggregate; or (2) the debtor is in employer default.

EXCEPTION: The prohibition listed above does not apply where a vendor has contested any tax administered pursuant to chapter eleven of the W. Va. Code, workers' compensation premium, permit fee or environmental fee or assessment and the matter has not become final or where the vendor has entered into a payment plan or agreement and the vendor is not in default of any of the provisions of such plan or agreement.

DEFINITIONS:

"Debt" means any assessment, premium, penalty, fine, tax or other amount of money owed to the state or any of its political subdivisions because of a judgment, fine, permit violation, license assessment, defaulted workers' compensation premium, penalty or other assessment presently delinquent or due and required to be paid to the state or any of its political subdivisions, including any interest or additional penalties accrued thereon.

"Employer default" means having an outstanding balance or liability to the old fund or to the uninsured employers' fund or being in policy default, as defined in W. Va. Code § 23-2c-2, failure to maintain mandatory workers' compensation coverage, or failure to fully meet its obligations as a workers' compensation self-insured employer. An employer is not in employer default if it has entered into a repayment agreement with the Insurance Commissioner and remains in compliance with the obligations under the repayment agreement.

"Related party" means a party, whether an individual, corporation, partnership, association, limited liability company or any other form or business association or other entity whatsoever, related to any vendor by blood, marriage, ownership or contract through which the party has a relationship of ownership or other interest with the vendor so that the party will actually or by effect receive or control a portion of the benefit, profit or other consideration from performance of a vendor contract with the party receiving an amount that meets or exceed five percent of the total contract amount.

AFFIRMATION: By signing this form, the vendor's authorized signer affirms and acknowledges under penalty of law for false swearing (W. Va. Code §61-5-3) that: (1) for construction contracts, the vendor is not in default on any monetary obligation owed to the state or a political subdivision of the state, and (2) for all other contracts, that neither vendor nor any related party owe a debt as defined above and that neither vendor nor any related party are in employer default as defined above, unless the debt or employer default is permitted under the exception above.

WITNESS THE FOLLOWING SIGNATURE:	
Vendor's Name: Studies Tabring tor	Justens, LLC
Authorized Signature:	Date: 817712019
State of Kentucky	
County of Face the to-wit:	
Taken, subscribed, and sworn to before me this 21 th	iv of August 209.
My Commission expires March 27	2021
APENSEAL HERE	NOTARY PUBLIC Lane a Inallion
DUBLIC ID NO. 574608 MY COMMISSION COMMISSION	(Purchasing Affidavit (Revised 01/19/2018)
AT LARGE ANIMUS	

ADDENDUM ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM SOLICITATION NO.: ERP2000000002

Instructions: Please acknowledge receipt of all addenda issued with this solicitation by completing this addendum acknowledgment form. Check the box next to each addendum received and sign below. Failure to acknowledge addenda may result in bid disqualification.

Acknowledgment: I hereby acknowledge receipt of the following addenda and have made the necessary revisions to my proposal, plans and/or specification, etc.

Addendum Numbers Received:

(Check the box next to each addendum received)

[\	/1	Addendum No. 1	ĺ]	Addendum No. 6
l]	Addendum No. 2]]	Addendum No. 7
[]	Addendum No. 3	[]	Addendum No. 8
[]	Addendum No. 4]]	Addendum No. 9
[]	Addendum No. 5	[]	Addendum No. 10

I understand that failure to confirm the receipt of addenda may be cause for rejection of this bid. I further understand that that any verbal representation made or assumed to be made during any oral discussion held between Vendor's representatives and any state personnel is not binding. Only the information issued in writing and added to the specifications by an official addendum is binding.

Software Information Sustems LLC
Company
Haren Smallword Authorized Signature
8127/2019
Date

NOTE: This addendum acknowledgement should be submitted with the bid to expedite document processing.

WVOasis

mvannette | Audust 28, 201

Production





DR

PA 3220

Nexus 9300 Nexus 9300 6332 Fabric Interconnect 6332 Fabric Interconnect

Cisco 5108 Chassis 8 x B200 Blades

Netapp AFF300 HA Controller

Netapp DS224C

Production Cisco UCS Bill of Materials

System 1			
Line No.	Otv	Part Number	Description
1	5	UCSB-B200-M5-U	UCS B200 M5 BLADE W/O CPUL MEM
2	5	CON-SSC4P-	SOLN SUPP 24X7X4OS LICS B200 M5
3	60	UCS-MR-X32G2RT-H	32GB DDR4-2933-MHZ RDIMM/2RX4/1 2V
4	5	N20-FW016	LICS 5108 BLADE CHASSIS FW PACKAGE
5	5	UCS-SID-INFR-CFP	CONVERGED-FLEXPOD
6	5	UCS-SID-WKL-OW	OTHER WORKLOAD
7	10	UCSB-LSTOR-BK	FLEXSTORAGE BLANKING PANELS W/O
8	5	UCSB-HS-M5-F	CPU HEAT SINK FOR UCS B-SERIES M5
9	60	UCS-DIMM-BLK	UCS DIMM BLANKS
10	5	UCSB-HS-M5-R	CPU HEAT SINK FOR LICS B-SERIES M5
11	10	UCS-CPU-16240	2 6GHZ/150W 6240 18C/24 75MB 3DX
12	10	UCS-SD-64G-S	64GB SD CARD FOR LICS SERVERS
13	5	UCSX-TPM2-002	TRUSTED PLATFORM MODULE 2.0 FOR
14	5	UCS-MSTOR-SD	MINI STORAGE CARRIER FOR SD
15	5	UCSB-MLOM-40G-04	CISCO UCS VIC 1440 MODUL AR LOM
16	5	UCSB-VIC-M84-4P	CISCO UCS VIC 1480 MODULAR LOM
17	5	P177/R1	INTEGRATION SERVICES
System 2			
Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	5	UCSB-B200-M5-U	UCS B200 M5 BLADE W/O CPU, MEM
2	5	CON-SSC4P-	SOLN SUPP 24X7X4OS UCS B200 M5
3	5	N20-FW016	UCS 5108 BLADE CHASSIS FW PACKAGE
4	5	UCS-SID-INFR-CFP	CONVERGED-FLEXPOD
5	5	UCS-SID-WKL-ORCL	ORACLE
6	10	UCSB-LSTOR-BK	FLEXSTORAGE BLANKING PANELS W/O
7	5	UCSB-HS-M5-F	CPU HEAT SINK FOR UCS B-SERIES M5
8	60	UCS-DIMM-BLK	UCS DIMM BLANKS
9	5	UCSB-HS-M5-R	CPU HEAT SINK FOR UCS B-SERIES M5
10	10	UCS-CPU-I5222	3.8GHZ/125W 5222 4C/16.50MB 3DX DDR4
11	10	UCS-SD-64G-S	64GB SD CARD FOR UCS SERVERS
12	5	UCSX-TPM2-002	TRUSTED PLATFORM MODULE 2.0 FOR
13	5	UCS-MSTOR-SD	MINI STORAGE CARRIER FOR SD
14	60	UCS-MR-X32G2RT-H	32GB DDR4-2933-MHZ RDIMM/2RX4/1.2V
15	5	UCSB-MLOM-40G-04	CISCO UCS VIC 1440 MODULAR LOM
16	5	UCSB-VIC-M84-4P	CISCO UCS VIC 1480 MODULAR LOM
17	5	P177/R1	INTEGRATION SERVICES
System 3			
Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	1	UCS-SP-FI633216-2X	UCS SP SELECT 6332-16UP FI/NO PSU/24
2	2	UCS-SP-FI6332-16UP	(NOT SOLD STANDALONE) UCS 6332-
3	2	CON-SSC4P-SP16UP	SOLN SUPP 24X7X4OS (NOT SOLD
4	4	UCS-PSU-6332-AC	UCS 6332 POWER SUPPLY/100-240VAC
5	4	CAB-C13-C14-2M	POWER CORD JUMPER, C13-C14
6	8	QSFP-H40G-CU3M	40GBASE-CR4 PASSIVE COPPER CABLE.
7	8	QSFP-40G-SR-BD	QSFP40G BIDI SHORT-REACH
8	8	DS-SFP-FC16G-SW	16 GBPS FIBRE CHANNEL SW SFP+, LC
9	2	N10-MGT015	UCS MANAGER V3.2(1)
10	2	UCS-ACC-6332	UCS 6332 CHASSIS ACCESSORY KIT

11	8	UCS-FAN-6332	UCS 6332 FAN MODULE
12	2	P177/O1	INTEGRATION SERVICES
Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	4	SFP-H10GB-CU1M=	10GBASE-CU SFP+ CABLE 1 METER
System 5			
Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	2	UCS-SP-FI6332-L-4X	UCS SP SELECT 6300 SERIES FABRIC INT
2	8	UCS-SP-LIC-40GE	SP 3RDGEN FI PER PORT LIC TO
3	8	UCS-LIC-6300-40G-B	3RD GEN FI PER PORT LICENSE TO
System 6			
Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	2	UCS-SP-5108-AC3	UCS SP SELECT 5108 AC2 CHASSIS
2	2	CON-SSC4P-5108AC3	SOLN SUPP 24X7X4OS, UCS SP SELECT
3	8	UCSB-PSU-2500ACDV	2500W PLATINUM AC HOT PLUG POWER
4	8	CAB-C19-CBN	CABINET JUMPER POWER CORD, 250
5	8	QSFP-H40G-CU3M	40GBASE-CR4 PASSIVE COPPER CABLE,
6	2	N20-FW015	UCS 5108 BLADE CHASSIS FW PACKAGE
7	2	UCSB-5108-PKG-HW	UCS 5108 PACKAGING FOR CHASSIS
8	2	N01-UAC1	SINGLE PHASE AC POWER MODULE FOR
9	2	N20-CAK	ACCESS. KIT FOR 5108 BLADE CHASSIS
10	16	N20-CBLKB1	BLADE SLOT BLANKING PANEL FOR
11	16	N20-FAN5	FAN MODULE FOR UCS 5108
12	4	UCS-IOM-2304	UCS 2304XP I/O MODULE (4 EXTERNAL.

Price: \$300,000.00

Disaster Recovery Cisco UCS Bill of Materials

System 1			
Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	3	UCSB-B200-M5-U	UCS B200 M5 BLADE W/O CPU, MEM,
2	3	CON-SSC4P-	SOLN SUPP 24X7X4OS UCS B200 M5
3	36	UCS-MR-X32G2RT-H	32GB DDR4-2933-MHZ RDIMM/2RX4/1.2V
4	3	N20-FW016	UCS 5108 BLADE CHASSIS FW PACKAGE
5	3	UCS-SID-INFR-CFP	CONVERGED-FLEXPOD
6	3	UCS-SID-WKL-OW	OTHER WORKLOAD
7	6	UCSB-LSTOR-BK	FLEXSTORAGE BLANKING PANELS W/O
8	3	UCSB-HS-M5-F	CPU HEAT SINK FOR UCS B-SERIES M5
9	36	UCS-DIMM-BLK	UCS DIMM BLANKS
10	3	UCSB-HS-M5-R	CPU HEAT SINK FOR UCS B-SERIES M5
11	6	UCS-CPU-I6240	2.6GHZ/150W 6240 18C/24.75MB 3DX
12	6	UCS-SD-64G-S	64GB SD CARD FOR UCS SERVERS
13	3	UCSX-TPM2-002	TRUSTED PLATFORM MODULE 2.0 FOR
14	3	UCS-MSTOR-SD	MINI STORAGE CARRIER FOR SD
15	3	UCSB-MLOM-40G-04	CISCO UCS VIC 1440 MODULAR LOM
16	3	UCSB-VIC-M84-4P	CISCO UCS VIC 1480 MODULAR LOM
17	3	P177/R1	INTEGRATION SERVICES
System 2			
Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	2	UCSB-B200-M5-U	UCS B200 M5 BLADE W/O CPU MEM
2	2	CON-SSC4P-	SOLN SUPP 24X7X4OS UCS B200 M5
3	2	N20-FW016	UCS 5108 BLADE CHASSIS FW PACKAGE
4	2	UCS-SID-INFR-CFP	CONVERGED-FLEXPOD
5	2	UCS-SID-WKL-ORCL	ORACLE
6	4	UCSB-LSTOR-BK	FLEXSTORAGE BLANKING PANELS W/O
7	2	UCSB-HS-M5-F	CPU HEAT SINK FOR LICS B-SERIES M5
8	24	UCS-DIMM-BLK	UCS DIMM BLANKS
9	2	UCSB-HS-M5-R	CPU HEAT SINK FOR LICS B-SERIES M5
10	4	UCS-CPU-15222	3 8GHZ/125W 5222 4C/16 50MB 3DX DDR4
11	4	UCS-SD-64G-S	64GB SD CARD FOR LICS SERVERS
12	2	UCSX-TPM2-002	TRUSTED PLATFORM MODULE 2.0 FOR
13	2	UCS-MSTOR-SD	MINI STORAGE CARRIER FOR SD
14	24	UCS-MR-X32G2RT-H	32GB DDR4-2933-MHZ RDIMM/2RX4/1 2V
15	2	UCSB-MLOM-40G-04	CISCO UCS VIC 1440 MODULAR LOM
16	2	UCSB-VIC-M84-4P	CISCO UCS VIC 1480 MODUL AR LOM
17	2	P177/R1	INTEGRATION SERVICES
System 3			ITTEORITION SERVICED
Line No.	Otv	Part Number	Description
1	219	LICS-SP-FI633216-2X	LICS SD SELECT 6222 1611D EL/NO DSU/24
2	2	UCS-SP-FI6332 16UD	(NOT SOLD STANDALONE) LICE 6222
3	2	CON SSC4D SD16UD	(NOT SOLD STANDALONE) UCS 0552-
4	2 4	UCS-PSU-6332_AC	LICS 6332 DOWER SLIDDI V/100 240VAC
5	4	CAB-C13-C14-2M	POWER CORD HIMPEP C12 C14
6	8	OSEP_HAOC CUINA	ACCRASE CDA DASSIVE CODDED CADLE
7	Q	OSED 40C SP DD	ANODASE-CR4 FASSIVE CUPPER CABLE,
8	o Q	DS SED ECISC SW	16 CDDS EIDDE CHANNEL GW GEDE LO
0	0	DS-SFF-FC10U-SW	IO UBPS FIBKE CHANNEL SW SFP+, LC
10	2		UCS MANAGEK V3.2(1)
10	2	UCS-ACC-6332	UCS 0332 CHASSIS ACCESSORY KIT

11	8	UCS-FAN-6332	UCS 6332 FAN MODULE
12	2	P177/O1	INTEGRATION SERVICES
System 4			
Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	4	SFP-H10GB-CU1M=	10GBASE-CU SFP+ CABLE 1 METER
System 5			
Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	1	UCS-SP-5108-AC3	UCS SP SELECT 5108 AC2 CHASSIS
2	1	CON-SSC4P-5108AC3	SOLN SUPP 24X7X4OS, UCS SP SELECT
3	4	UCSB-PSU-2500ACDV	2500W PLATINUM AC HOT PLUG POWER
4	4	CAB-C19-CBN	CABINET JUMPER POWER CORD, 250
5	4	QSFP-H40G-CU3M	40GBASE-CR4 PASSIVE COPPER CABLE,
6	1	N20-FW015	UCS 5108 BLADE CHASSIS FW PACKAGE
7	1	UCSB-5108-PKG-HW	UCS 5108 PACKAGING FOR CHASSIS
8	1	N01-UAC1	SINGLE PHASE AC POWER MODULE FOR
9	1	N20-CAK	ACCESS. KIT FOR 5108 BLADE CHASSIS
10	8	N20-CBLKB1	BLADE SLOT BLANKING PANEL FOR
11	8	N20-FAN5	FAN MODULE FOR UCS 5108
12	2	UCS-IOM-2304	UCS 2304XP I/O MODULE (4 EXTERNAL,
13	1	P177/M1	INTEGRATION SERVICES

Price: \$235,000.00

Line			
Item	Qty	Part Number	Product
1	1	SW-2-CL-BASE	SW-2,Base,CL,Node
2	1	AFF-A300	
3	2	AFF-A300A-001	AFF A300 HA System, FlashBundle
4	2	SW-2-A300A-NVE-C	SW,Data at Rest Encryption Enabled,A300A,-C
5	2	SW-2-A300A-TPM-C	SW, Trusted Platform Module Enabled, A300A,-C
6	2	X6566B-05-R6-C	Cable, Direct Attach CU SFP+ 10G, 0.5M, -C
7	8	X66250-5-C	Cable, LC-LC, OM4, 5m, -C
8	4	X66034A-C	Cable,12Gb,Mini SAS HD,5m,-C
9	1	X6235-C	Chassis, FAS8200, AFF-A300, AC PS, -C
10	1	DS224C-S-7.6-24S-2P-C	SSD Shelf,12G,24x7.6TB,2P,-C
11	1	DOC-AFF-A300-C	Documents,AFF-A300,-C
12	8	X6599A-R6-C	SFP+ Optical 10Gb Shortwave,-C
13	2	Х-02659-00-С	Rail Kit,4-Post,Rnd/Sq-Hole,Adj,24-32,-C
14	4	X800-42U-R6-C	Power Cable, In-Cabinet, C13-C14,-C
15	2	DATA-AT-REST-ENCRYPTION	Data at Rest Encryption Capable Operating Sys
16	1824	SW-FLASH-BUNDLE-2P-C	ONTAP, Per-0.1TB, FlashBundle, Ult-Perf, 2P, -C
17	1	PS-DEPLOY-STAND-AFF-M	PS Deployment,Standard,AFF,Med
18	1	CS-WARRANTY-EXTENSION	Warranty Extension
19	1	CS-O2-4HR	SupportEdge Premium 4hr Onsite

NetApp Production Bill of Materials

Price: \$267,000.00

Line			
Item	Qty	Part Number	Product
1	1	SW-2-CL-BASE	SW-2,Base,CL,Node
2	1	AFF-A300	
3	2	AFF-A300A-001	AFF A300 HA System, FlashBundle
4	2	SW-2-A300A-NVE-C	SW,Data at Rest Encryption Enabled,A300A,-C
5	2	SW-2-A300A-TPM-C	SW, Trusted Platform Module Enabled, A300A, -C
6	2	X6566B-05-R6-C	Cable,Direct Attach CU SFP+ 10G,0.5M,-C
7	8	X66250-5-C	Cable,LC-LC,OM4,5m,-C
8	4	X66034A-C	Cable,12Gb,Mini SAS HD,5m,-C
9	1	X6235-C	Chassis, FAS8200, AFF-A300, AC PS, -C
10	1	DS224C-S-7.6-24S-2P-C	SSD Shelf,12G,24x7.6TB,2P,-C
11	1	DOC-AFF-A300-C	Documents,AFF-A300,-C
12	8	X6599A-R6-C	SFP+ Optical 10Gb Shortwave,-C
13	2	Х-02659-00-С	Rail Kit,4-Post,Rnd/Sq-Hole,Adj,24-32,-C
14	4	X800-42U-R6-C	Power Cable, In-Cabinet, C13-C14,-C
15	2	DATA-AT-REST-ENCRYPTION	Data at Rest Encryption Capable Operating Sys
16	1824	SW-FLASH-BUNDLE-2P-C	ONTAP, Per-0.1TB, FlashBundle, Ult-Perf, 2P, -C
17	1	PS-DEPLOY-STAND-AFF-M	PS Deployment,Standard,AFF,Med
18	1	CS-WARRANTY-EXTENSION	Warranty Extension
19	1	CS-O2-4HR	SupportEdge Premium 4hr Onsite

NetApp Disaster Recovery Bill of Materials

Price: \$267,000.00

Palo Alto Production and Disaster Recovery Bill of Materials

Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	3	PAN-PA-3320	Palo Alto Networks PA-3220 with redundant AC power supplies
2	3	PAN-PA-3220-TP-5YR	Threat prevention subscription 5-year prepaid PA-3220
3	3	PAN-PA-3220-URL4-5YR	PANDB URL filtering subscription 5-year prepaid PA-3220
4	3	PAN-PA-3220-WF-5YR	WildFire subscription 5-year prepaid PA-3220
5	3	PAN-SVC-PREM-3220- 5YR	Premium support 5 year prepaid, PA-3220 3 \$

Price: \$185,000.00

VMware Production and Disaster Recovery Bill of Materials

Line No.	Qty	Part Number	Description
1	20	VS6-EPL-C-T3	CUSTOMER PURCHASING PROGRAM T3 VMWARE VSPHERE 6 ENTERPRISE PLUS FOR 1 PROCESSOR
2	20	VS6-EPL-3P-SSS-C	PRODUCTION SUPPORT/SUBSCRIPTION VMWARE VSPHERE 6 ENTERPRISE PLUS FOR 1 PROCESSOR FOR 3 YEAR
3	1	VCS6-STD-C-T3	CUSTOMER PURCHASING PROGRAM T3 VMWARE VCENTER SERVER 6 STANDARD FOR VSPHERE 6 (PER INSTANCE)
4	1	VCS6-STD-3P-SSS-C	PRODUCTION SUPPORT/SUBSCRIPTION VMWARE VCENTER SERVER 6 STANDARD FOR VSPHERE 6 (PER INSTANCE) FOR 3 YEAR
5	2	VC-SRM8-25E-C-T3	CUSTOMER PURCHASING PROGRAM T3 VMWARE SITE RECOVERY MANAGER 8 ENTERPRISE (25 VM PACK)
6	2	VC-SRM8-25E-3PSSS-C	PRODUCTION SUPPORT/SUBSCRIPTION FOR VMWARE SITE RECOVERY MANAGER 8 ENTERPRISE (25 VM PACK) FOR 3 YEARS
7	10	VS6-EPL-C-T3	CUSTOMER PURCHASING PROGRAM T3 VMWARE VSPHERE 6 ENTERPRISE PLUS FOR 1 PROCESSOR
8	10	VS6-EPL-3P-SSS-C	PRODUCTION SUPPORT/SUBSCRIPTION VMWARE VSPHERE 6 ENTERPRISE PLUS FOR 1 PROCESSOR FOR 3 YEAR

Price: \$203,000.00

FlexPod Datacenter with Oracle RAC Databases on Cisco UCS and NetApp AFF A-Series

Updated: January 10, 2019



FlexPod Datacenter with Oracle RAC Databases on Cisco UCS and NetApp AFF A-Series

Deployment Guide for Oracle RAC 12cR2 Databases on Cisco Unified Computing System and NetApp AFF A-700s Storage using Fibre Channel

FlexPod Datacenter with Oracle RAC Databases on Cisco UCS and NetApp AFF A-Series PDF

Last Updated: January 10, 2019



About the Cisco Validated Design Program

The Cisco Validated Design (CVD) program consists of systems and solutions designed, tested, and documented to facilitate faster, more reliable, and more predictable customer deployments. For more information, visit:

http://www.cisco.com/go/designzone.

ALL DESIGNS, SPECIFICATIONS, STATEMENTS, INFORMATION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS (COLLECTIVELY, "DESIGNS") IN THIS MANUAL ARE PRESENTED "AS IS," WITH ALL FAULTS. CISCO AND ITS SUPPLIERS DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NONINFRINGEMENT OR ARISING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE PRACTICE. IN NO EVENT SHALL CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS OR LOSS OR DAMAGE TO DATA ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THE DESIGNS, EVEN IF CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

THE DESIGNS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE. USERS ARE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THEIR APPLICATION OF THE DESIGNS. THE DESIGNS DO NOT CONSTITUTE THE TECHNICAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVICE OF CISCO, ITS SUPPLIERS OR PARTNERS. USERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TECHNICAL ADVISORS BEFORE IMPLEMENTING THE DESIGNS. RESULTS MAY VARY DEPENDING ON FACTORS NOT TESTED BY CISCO.

CCDE, CCENT, Cisco Eos, Cisco Lumin, Cisco Nexus, Cisco StadiumVision, Cisco TelePresence, Cisco WebEx, the Cisco logo, DCE, and Welcome to the Human Network are trademarks; Changing the Way We Work, Live, Play, and Learn and Cisco Store are service marks; and Access Registrar, Aironet, AsyncOS, Bringing the Meeting To You, Catalyst, CCDA, CCDP, CCIE, CCIP, CCNA, CCNP, CCSP, CCVP, Cisco, the Cisco Certified Internetwork Expert logo, Cisco IOS, Cisco Press, Cisco Systems, Cisco Systems Capital, the Cisco Systems logo, Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS), Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers, Cisco UCS C-Series Rack Servers, Cisco UCS S-Series Storage Servers, Cisco UCS Manager, Cisco UCS Management Software, Cisco Unified Fabric, Cisco Application Centric Infrastructure, Cisco Nexus 9000 Series, Cisco Nexus 7000 Series. Cisco Prime Data Center Network Manager, Cisco NX-OS Software, Cisco MDS Series, Cisco Unity, Collaboration Without Limitation, EtherFast, EtherSwitch, Event Center, Fast Step, Follow Me Browsing, FormShare, GigaDrive, HomeLink, Internet Quotient, IOS, iPhone, iQuick Study, LightStream, Linksys, MediaTone, MeetingPlace, MeetingPlace Chime Sound, MGX, Networkers, Networking Academy, Network Registrar, PCNow, PIX, PowerPanels, ProConnect, ScriptShare, SenderBase, SMARTnet, Spectrum Expert, StackWise, The Fastest Way to Increase Your Internet Quotient, TransPath, WebEx, and the WebEx logo are registered trademarks of Cisco Systems, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the United States and certain other countries.

All other trademarks mentioned in this document or website are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (0809R)

© 2019 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary

Solution Overview

Introduction

Audience

Purpose of this Document

FlexPod System Overview

What's New in this Release?

Solution Components

Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis

Cisco UCS 2304 Fabric Extender

Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Servers

Cisco UCS Virtual Interface Card (VIC) 1340

Cisco UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnect

Cisco UCS MDS 9148S Fabric Switch

Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX Switch

NetApp AFF All Flash Array A700s Solution Design **Physical Infrastructure** Physical Topology Design Topology Solution Configuration Configure Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX Switch Set Up Initial Configuration Configure Global Settings for Cisco Nexus A and Cisco Nexus B Configure VLANs for Cisco Nexus A and Cisco Nexus B Switches Virtual Port Channel (vPC) Summary for Data and Storage Network Create vPC Peer-Link Between the Two Nexus Switches Create vPC Configuration Between Nexus 9372PX-E and Fabric Interconnects Verify All vPC Status Is Up on Both the Nexus Switches **Cisco UCS Configuration Overview** Perform Initial Setup of Cisco UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnects for a Cluster Setup Log in to Cisco UCS Manager Upgrade Cisco UCS Manager Software to Version 3.2 Anonymous Reporting Configure Cisco UCS Call Home High Level Steps to Configure Base Cisco UCS Set Fabric Interconnects to Fibre Channel End Host Mode Synchronize Cisco UCS to NTP Configure Fabric Interconnect for Chassis and Blade Discovery Configure LAN and SAN on Cisco UCS Manager Configure IP, UUID, Server, MAC, WWNN and WWPN Pools Set Jumbo Frames in both the Cisco Fabric Interconnect **Configure Server BIOS Policy Create Adapter Policy** Configure Update Default Maintenance Policy Configure vNIC and vHBA Template Create Server Boot Policy for SAN Boot Configure and Create a Service Profile Template **Create Service Profile Template** Create Service Profiles from Template and Associate to Servers Create Service Profiles from Template Associate Service Profiles to the Servers Configure Cisco MDS 9148S Switch Configure feature for MDS Switch A and MDS Switch B

Configure VSANs for MDS Switch A and MDS Switch B Create and Configure Fibre Channel Zoning Create Zoning Verify FC Ports on MDS Switch Configure NetApp AFF A700s Storage NetApp Storage Connectivity **Operating System and Database Deployment Operating System Configuration** Operating System Prerequisites for Oracle Software Installation **Configure BIOS** Prerequisites Automatic Installation Additional Prerequisites Setup Configure Multipath Setup Oracle Database 12c GRID Infrastructure Deployment Install and Configure Oracle Database Grid Infrastructure Software Install Oracle Database Software Oracle Flex ASM Scalability Test and Results Hardware Calibration Test using FIO 4k and 8k Random Read/Write IOPs Tests Bandwidth Tests Database Creation with DBCA SLOB Test Swingbench Test **Resiliency and Failure Tests** Summary Appendix References **Cisco Unified Computing System Cisco UCS Data Center Design Guides** FlexPod Converged Infrastructure Cisco UCS B200 M5 Servers Oracle Database 12c Release 2 NetApp AFF A-Series All Flash Storage NetApp Support About the Authors Acknowledgements

Executive Summary

The Cisco Unified Computing System[™] (Cisco UCS[®]) is a next-generation data center platform that unites computing, network, storage access, and virtualization into a single cohesive system. Cisco UCS is an ideal platform for the architecture of mission critical database workloads such as Oracle RAC. The combination of Cisco UCS, NetApp and Oracle Real Application Cluster Database architecture can accelerate your IT transformation by enabling faster deployments, greater flexibility of choice, efficiency, high availability and lower risk.

Cisco Validated Designs include systems and solutions that are designed, tested, and documented to facilitate and improve customer deployments. These designs incorporate a wide range of technologies and products into a portfolio of solutions that have been developed to address the business needs of customers. Cisco and NetApp have partnered to deliver FlexPod, which serves as the foundation for a variety of workloads and enables efficient architectural designs that are based on customer requirements. A FlexPod solution is a validated approach for deploying Cisco and NetApp technologies as a shared cloud infrastructure.

The FlexPod Datacenter with NetApp All Flash AFF system is a converged infrastructure platform that combines best-of breed technologies from Cisco and NetApp into a powerful converged platform for enterprise applications. Cisco and NetApp works closely with Oracle to support the most demanding transactional and response-time-sensitive databases required by today's businesses.

This Cisco Validated Design (CVD) describes the reference FlexPod Datacenter architecture using Cisco UCS and NetApp® All Flash AFF Storage for deploying a highly available Oracle RAC Database environment. This document shows the hardware and software configuration of the components involved, results of various tests and offers implementation and best practices guidance using Cisco UCS Compute Servers, Cisco Fabric Interconnect Switches, Cisco MDS Switches, Cisco Nexus Switches, NetApp AFF Storage and Oracle RAC Database.

Solution Overview

Introduction

Data powers essentially every operation in a modern enterprise, from keeping the supply chain operating efficiently to managing relationships with customers. Modern data centers face increasing demands for agile, high-performance service delivery. Digital transformations are driving an increased number of new applications, with more sources of data. Organizations of all kinds rely on their relational databases for both transaction processing (OLTP) and analytics (OLAP), but many still have challenges in meeting their goals of high availability, security, and performance. Applications must be able to move quickly from development to a reliable, scalable platform. An ideal solution integrates best-in-class components that can scale compute and storage independently to meet the needs of dynamic business requirements.

Like all the FlexPod Systems, the FlexPod Datacenter with NetApp All Flash AFF is comprised of compute (database, application and management servers from Cisco), network (three-layer network and SAN technologies from Cisco), and storage (NetApp All Flash AFF storage systems).

This CVD describes how the Cisco Unified Computing System[™] (Cisco UCS[®]) can be used in conjunction with NetApp[®] AFF storage systems to implement a mission-critical applications such as an Oracle Real Application Clusters (RAC) 12cR2 database solution. This CVD documents validation of the real world performance, ease of management, and agility of the FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS and All Flash AFF in high-performance Oracle RAC Databases environments.

Audience

The intended audience for this document includes, but is not limited to, sales engineers, field consultants, database administrators, IT managers, oracle database architects, and customers who want to deploy Oracle RAC 12cR2 database solution on FlexPod Converged Infrastructure with NetApp clustered Data ONTAP[®] and the Cisco UCS platform. A working knowledge of

Oracle RAC Database, Linux, Storage technology, and Network is assumed but is not a prerequisite to read this document.

Purpose of this Document

Oracle RAC databases deployments are extremely complicated in nature and customers face enormous challenges in maintaining these landscapes in terms of time, efforts and cost. Oracle RAC databases often manage the mission critical components of a customer's IT department. Ensuring availability while also lowering the IT TCO is always their top priority. This FlexPod solution for Oracle databases delivers industry-leading storage, unprecedented scalability, continuous data access, and automated data management for immediate responses to business opportunities.

The goal of this document is to determine the Oracle database server read latency, peak sustained throughput and IOPS of this FlexPod reference architecture system while running the Oracle OLTP and OLAP workloads.

This document provides a step-by-step configuration and implementation guide for the FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS Compute Servers, Cisco Fabric Interconnect Switches, Cisco MDS Switches, Cisco Nexus Switches and NetApp AFF Storage to deploy an Oracle RAC Database solution. Here are the objectives we would like to accomplish in this reference document

1. Provide reference FlexPod architecture design guidelines for the Oracle RAC Databases solution.

2. Demonstrate simplicity and agility with the software-driven architecture and high performance of Cisco UCS compute Servers.

3. Build, validate and predict performance of Servers, Network and Storage platform on a per workload basis.

FlexPod System Overview

Built on innovative technology from NetApp and Cisco, the FlexPod converged infrastructure platform meets and exceeds the challenges of simplifying deployments for best-in-class data center infrastructure. FlexPod is a defined set of hardware and software that serves as an integrated foundation for both virtualized and non-virtualized solutions. Composed of pre-validated storage, networking, and server technologies, FlexPod is designed to increase IT responsiveness to organizational needs and reduce the cost of computing with maximum uptime and minimal risk. Simplifying the delivery of data center platforms gives enterprises an advantage in delivering new services and applications.

FlexPod provides the following differentiators:

- 1. Flexible design with a broad range of reference architectures and validated designs.
- 4. Elimination of costly, disruptive downtime through Cisco UCS and NetApp® ONTAP®.

5. Leverage a pre-validated platform to minimize business disruption and improve IT agility and reduce deployment time from months to weeks.

6. Cisco Validated Designs (CVDs) and NetApp Validated Architectures (NVAs) covering a variety of use cases.

Cisco and NetApp have carefully validated and verified the FlexPod solution architecture and its many use cases while creating a portfolio of detailed documentation, information, and references to assist customers in transforming their data centers to this shared infrastructure model.

Figure 1 FlexPod System Overview



FlexPod datacenter architecture includes three components:

- Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS)
- Cisco MDS and Nexus Switches
- NetApp AFF Storage Systems

One benefit of the FlexPod architecture is the ability to customize or "flex" the environment to suit a customer's requirements. A FlexPod can easily be scaled as requirements and demand change. The unit can be scaled both up (adding resources to a FlexPod unit) and out (adding more FlexPod units). This document highlights the resiliency, cost benefit, and ease of deployment of a Fibre Channel storage solution to deploy Oracle RAC Database environments on FlexPod Infrastructure.

What's New in this Release?

This version of FlexPod CVD introduces new hardware with NetApp A-Series All Flash Storage AFF A700s along with Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server featuring Intel Xeon Scalable Family of CPUs.

It incorporates the following features:

- Support for the Cisco UCS 3.2 unified software release and Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Servers
- Support for the latest release of NetApp ONTAP[®] 9.3
- Fibre channel storage design
- Validation of Oracle RAC Database 12c Release 2

Solution Components

Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis

Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis, is six rack units (6RU) high, can mount in an industrystandard 19-inch rack, and uses standard front-to-back cooling. A chassis can accommodate up to eight half-width or four full-width Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers form factors within the same chassis.



By incorporating unified fabric and fabric-extender technology, Cisco Unified Computing System eliminates the need for dedicated chassis management and blade switches, reduces cabling, and allowing scalability to 20 chassis without adding complexity. The Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis is a critical component in delivering the simplicity and IT responsiveness for the data center as part of Cisco Unified Computing System.

Cisco UCS 2304 Fabric Extender

Cisco UCS 2304 Fabric Extender brings the unified fabric into the blade server enclosure, providing multiple 40 Gigabit Ethernet connections between blade servers and the fabric interconnect, simplifying diagnostics, cabling, and management.



The Cisco UCS 2304 connects the I/O fabric between the Cisco UCS 6300 Series Fabric Interconnects and the Cisco UCS 5100 Series Blade Server Chassis, enabling a lossless and deterministic Fibre Channel over Ethernet (FCoE) fabric to connect all blades and chassis together.

Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Servers

The Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server delivers performance, flexibility, and optimization for deployments in data centers, in the cloud, and at remote sites. This enterprise-class server offers market-leading performance, versatility, and density without compromise for workloads including Virtual Desktop Infrastructure (VDI), web infrastructure, distributed databases, converged infrastructure, and enterprise applications such as Oracle Databases.



The Cisco UCS B200 M5 server can quickly deploy stateless physical and virtual workloads through programmable, easy-to-use Cisco UCS Manager Software and simplified server access through Cisco Single-Connect technology.

Cisco UCS Virtual Interface Card (VIC) 1340

The Cisco UCS Virtual Interface Card (VIC) 1340 is a 2-port, 40 Gigabit Ethernet, Fibre Channel over Ethernet (FCoE)-capable modular LAN on motherboard (mLOM) mezzanine adapter.



Cisco UCS 1340 VIC delivers 80 Gbps throughput to the Server and helps reduce TCO by consolidating the overall number of NICs, HBAs, cables, and switches; LAN and SAN traffic runs over the same mezzanine card and fabric.

Cisco UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnect

The 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnect is the management and communication backbone for Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers, C-Series Rack Servers, and 5100 Series Blade Server Chassis. It implements 20x40 Gigabit Ethernet and Fibre Channel over Ethernet ports, with additional support for 16 unified ports that can be configured to 1 or 10 Gbps Ethernet, or 4/8/16 Gbps Fibre Channel.



The Fabric Interconnect provides high-speed upstream connectivity to the network, or converged traffic to servers through its 40 Gbps ports, but also allows for Fibre Channel connectivity to SAN switches like the MDS, or alternately directly attached Fibre Channel to storage arrays.

Cisco UCS MDS 9148S Fabric Switch

The Cisco[®] MDS 9148S 16G Multilayer Fabric Switch is the next generation of highly reliable, flexible and low-cost Cisco MDS 9100 Series Switches. It provides up to 48 auto-sensing Fibre Channel ports, which are capable of speeds of 2, 4, 8, and 16 Gbps, with 16 Gbps of dedicated bandwidth for each port.



In all, the Cisco MDS 9148S is a powerful and flexible switch that delivers high performance and comprehensive Enterprise-class features at an affordable price.

Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX Switch

The Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX Switch is the industry's first 50-Gbps-capable 1RU switch that supports 3.6 Tbps of bandwidth and over 2.6 bpps across up to 32 fixed 40- and 50-Gbps QSFP+ ports or up to 18 fixed 100-Gbps ports (Figure 3). The switch can support up to 72 10-Gbps ports using breakout cables. A variety of flexible port configurations are supported using templates.



NetApp AFF All Flash Array A700s

This solution includes the NetApp All flash fabric-attached storage AF 700s unified scale-out storage system for Oracle Database 12cR2.



Built on ONTAP software, AFF speeds up the operations required to meet your business requirements, without compromising efficiency or reliability, while providing great flexibility and scalability. As true enterprise-class, all-flash arrays, these systems accelerate, manage, and protect business-critical data, now and in the future.

NetApp AFF provides industry-leading performance while continuing to provide a full suite of enterprise-grade data management and data protection features. Powered by NetApp clustered Data ONTAP, the AF 700s series unifies the SAN and NAS storage infrastructure. Systems architects can choose from a range of models representing a spectrum of cost-versus-performance points. Every model, however, provides the following core benefits:

HA and fault tolerance. Non-disruptive operations are achieved through clustering, HA
pairing of controllers, hot-swappable components, NetApp RAID-TEC[®] and disk protection
(allowing two independent disk failures without data loss), and network interface redundancy.
- Data Protection. Create thousands of instantaneous backups with NetApp Snapshot[®] copies, replication of both active data and snapshot backups with NetApp SnapMirror[®] software, and application backup integration with NetApp SnapCenter[®] storage management software.
- Storage efficiency. Users can store more data with less physical media. This is achieved with thin provisioning (unused space is shared among volumes), NetApp Snapshot[®] copies (zerostorage, read-only replicas of data over time), NetApp FlexClone[®] volumes, and LUNs (read/write copies of data in which only changes are stored), deduplication (dynamic detection and removal of redundant data), and data compression.
- Unified Data Management. Every model runs the same software (clustered Data ONTAP); supports all popular storage protocols (CIFS, NFS, iSCSI, FCP, and FCoE). This allows freedom of choice in upgrades and expansions, without the need to redesign the solution or retraining operations personnel.
- Advanced clustering. Storage controllers are grouped into clusters for both availability and performance pooling. Workloads can be moved between controllers, permitting dynamic load balancing and zero-downtime maintenance, upgrades, and even complete hardware refreshes. Physical media and storage controllers can be added as needed to support growing demand without downtime.

This solution utilizes the NetApp AFF A700s as seen in the above figure. This controller provides the high-performance benefits of 40GbE and all flash SSDs.



Combined with the 3 disk shelfs and 72 1TB Solid State disks (SSD), this solution can provide over ample horsepower and over 60TB of raw capacity, all while taking up minimum valuable rack space. This makes it an ideal controller for a shared workload converged infrastructure. For situations where more performance is needed, the A700s would be an ideal fit. ONTAP 9.3 is used with the AFF A700s storage platform in our design.

ONTAP data management software offers unified storage for applications that read and write data over block or file-access protocols in storage configurations that range from high-speed flash to lower-priced spinning media or cloud-based object storage. The ONTAP platform used on the AFF systems also delivers interconnection with a larger ONTAP-based storage environment. In addition to AFF hardware systems, ONTAP is also available on commodity hardware (ONTAP Select), and in private, public, or hybrid clouds (NetApp Private Storage and Cloud Volumes ONTAP).

Together these implementations form the basic framework of the NetApp Data Fabric, with a common software-defined approach to data management and fast, efficient replication across platforms. FlexPod and ONTAP can serve as the foundation for both hybrid cloud and private cloud designs

Starting with ONTAP 9, NetApp guarantees that the use of NetApp storage efficiency technologies on AFF systems reduce the total logical capacity used to store customer data by 75 percent, a data reduction ratio of 4:1. This space reduction is enabled by a combination of several different technologies, including deduplication, compression, and compaction.

Beginning with ONTAP 9.1, NetApp has extended the encryption capabilities further with NetApp Volume Encryption (NVE), a software-based mechanism for encrypting data. It allows a user to encrypt data at the per-volume level instead of requiring encryption of all data in the cluster, thereby providing more flexibility and granularity to the ONTAP administrators. This encryption extends to Snapshot copies and NetApp FlexClone[®] volumes that are created in the cluster. One

benefit of NVE is that it executes after the implementation of the storage efficiency features, and, therefore, it does not interfere with the ability of ONTAP to create space savings.

Solution Design

Physical Infrastructure

FlexPod is a defined set of hardware and software that serves as an integrated foundation for both virtualized and non-virtualized solutions. FlexPod components are connected and configured according to best practices of both Cisco and NetApp to provide the ideal platform for running a variety of enterprise workloads with confidence. This solution provides an end-toend architecture with Cisco Unified Computing System, Oracle, and NetApp technologies and demonstrates the FlexPod configuration benefits for running Oracle RAC Databases 12cR2 workloads with high availability and server redundancy.

The reference FlexPod architecture covered in this document is built on the NetApp All Flash AFF A700s for Storage, Cisco B200 M5 Blade Servers for Compute, Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX Switches, Cisco MDS 9148S 16G Multilayer Fabric Switches and Cisco Fabric Interconnects 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnects for System Management in a single package. The design is flexible enough that the networking, computing, and storage can fit in one data center rack or be deployed according to a customer's data center design.

The reference architecture reinforces the "wire-once" strategy, because as additional storage is added to the architecture, no re-cabling is required from the hosts to the Cisco UCS fabric interconnect.

Physical Topology

This section describes the design considerations for the Oracle RAC Database 12c Release 2 on FlexPod deployment. In this solution design, we have used two Cisco UCS Blade Server Chassis with 4 identical Intel Xeon CPU based Cisco UCS B-Series B200 M5 Blade Servers for hosting the 4-Node Oracle RAC Databases. The Cisco UCS B200 M5 Server has Virtual Interface Card (VIC) 1340 with port expander and they were connected two ports from each Cisco Fabric extender of the Cisco UCS Chassis to the Cisco Fabric Interconnects, which were in turn connected to the Cisco MDS Switches for upstream connectivity to access the NetApp AFF Storage A700s.

Figure 2 shows the architecture diagram of the FlexPod components and the network connections to deploy a four-node Oracle RAC 12cR2 Databases solution. This reference design is a typical network configuration that can be deployed in a customer's environments.

Figure 2 FlexPod Architecture Design



Figure 2 details the cable connections used in the validation lab for the 40Gb end-to-end with Fibre Channel topology based on the Cisco UCS 6332-16UP fabric interconnect. As shown in above architecture, a pair of Cisco UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnects (FI) carries both storage and network traffic from the Cisco UCS B200 M5 server blades with the help of Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX and Cisco MDS 9148S switches. Both the Fabric Interconnects and the Cisco Nexus switches are clustered with the peer link between them to provide high availability. Two virtual Port-Channels (vPCs) are configured to provide public network and private network paths for the server blades to northbound switches. Each vPC has VLANs created for application network data and management data paths.

As illustrated in the above architecture, four (2 x 40G link per chassis) links go to Fabric Interconnect – A. Similarly, four (2 x 40G link per chassis) links go to Fabric Interconnect – B. Fabric Interconnect – A links are used for Oracle Public network traffic shown as green lines. Fabric Interconnect – B links are used for Oracle private interconnect traffic shown as red lines. FC Storage access from Fabric Interconnect – A and Fabric Interconnect – B shown as orange lines.

么

For Oracle RAC configuration on Cisco Unified Computing System, we recommend to keep all private interconnects local on a single Fabric interconnect. In such case, the private traffic will stay local to that fabric interconnect and will not be routed via northbound network switch. In other words, all inter server blade (or RAC node private) communication will be resolved locally at the fabric interconnects and this significantly reduces latency for Oracle Cache Fusion traffic.

Four 16Gb uplinks are connected from Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect A to MDS switch A. Similarly, four 16Gb uplinks are connected from Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect B to MDS switch B. The NetApp Storage AFF A700s have eight active FC connection goes to the Cisco MDS switches. Four FC ports are connected to Cisco MDS-A, and other four FC ports are connected to Cisco MDS-B Switches. The SAN Ports FC-Port-0-Slot-2 and FC-Port-0-Slot-3 of NetApp AFF A700s Controller – 1 are connected to Cisco MDS Switch A and FC-Port-1-Slot-2 and FC-Port-1-Slot-3 are connected to Cisco MDS Switch B. Similarly, the SAN Ports FC-Port-0-Slot-2 and FC-Port-0-Slot-3 of NetApp AFF A700s Controller – 2 are connected to Cisco MDS Switch A and FC-Port-1-Slot-2 and FC-Port-1-Slot-3 are connected to Cisco MDS Switch B.

Additional 1Gb management connections will be needed for an out-of-band network switch that sits apart from the FlexPod infrastructure. Each Cisco UCS fabric interconnect and Cisco Nexus switch is connected to the out-of-band network switch, and each AFF controller has two connections to the out-of-band network switch.

The reference architecture includes the following hardware:

- Two Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis
- Four Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Servers with Cisco Virtual Interface Cards (VIC)
- Two Cisco UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnects
- Two Cisco MDS 9148S Multilayer Fabric Switch
- Two Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX Switch
- One NetApp AFF A700s (HA pair) running ONTAP with Disk shelves and Solid State Drives (SSD)

Although this is the base design, each of the components can be scaled easily to support specific business requirements. For example, more servers or even blade chassis can be deployed to increase compute capacity, additional disk shelves can be deployed to improve I/O capability and throughput, and special hardware or software features can be added to introduce new features. This document guides you through the low-level steps for deploying the base architecture, as shown in Figure 2. These procedures cover everything from physical cabling to network, compute and storage device configurations.

Design Topology

This section describes the physical and logical high-level design considerations for this Oracle RAC 12cR2 Databases on FlexPod deployment.

The inventory of the components used in this Solution stack is listed in Table 1 .

Name	Model	Description	Quantit	~
Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX Switch	N9K- C93180LC-EX	Cisco Nexus 9300 Series Switches	2	
Cisco MDS 9148S 16G Fabric Switch	DS-C9148S- 12PK9	Cisco MDS 9100 Series Multilayer Fabric Switches	2	
Cisco UCS 6332-16UP UCS-FI-6332- Fabric Interconnect 16UP		Cisco 6300 Series Fabric Interconnects	2	
Cisco UCS 5108 Blade UCSB-5108- Server Chassis UCSB-5108-		Cisco UCS 5100 Series Blade Server AC2 Chassis	2	
Cisco UCS Fabric Extender	UCS-IOM-2304	Cisco UCS 2304XP I/O Module (4 External, 8 Internal 40Gb Ports)	4	
Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server	UCSB-B200-M5	Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers	4	
Cisco UCS VIC 1340	UCSB-MLOM- 40G-03	Cisco UCS Virtual Interface Card 1340	4	
Cisco UCS Port Expander	UCSB-MLOM-	Port Expander Card for Cisco UCS	4	Ť

Table 1 Hardware Components

Name	Model	Description	Quantit
NetApp Storage	AFF A700s	AFF A-Series All Flash Arrays	1
NetApp Disk	DS-224C	Disk Shelves and Storage Media for NetApp AFF and FAS systems	2
/			

Table 2 lists the Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server Configuration.

Table 2 Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server Configuration

Server Configuration

Processor	2 x Intel(R) Xeon(R) Gold 6148 2.40 GHz 150W 20C 27.50MB Cache DDR4 2666MHz 768GB	UCS-CPU-6148
Memory	16 x 32GB DDR4-2666-MHz RDIMM/dual rank/x4/1.2v	UCS-MR- X32G2RS-H
Cisco UCS VIC 1340	Cisco UCS VIC 1340 Blade MLOM	UCSB-MLOM- 40G-03
Cisco UCS Port Expander Card	Port Expander Card for Cisco UCS MLOM	UCSB-MLOM- PT-01
<		>

For this FlexPod solution design, we configured two VLAN and two VSAN as listed below:

Table 3 VLAN and VSAN Configurations

VLAN 8	& VSAN Configuration	on	
VLAN			
Name		ID	Description
•	Default VLAN	1	Native VLAN
•	Public VLAN	135	VLAN for Public Network Traffic
•	Private VLAN	10	VLAN for Private Network Traffic
VSAN			

Name	ID	Description	
• VSAN - A	101	SAN Communication through for Fabric Interconnect A	
• VSAN - B	102	SAN Communication through for Fabric Interconnect B	
<			>

This FlexPod solution consists of NetApp All-Flash AFF-Series Storage as listed in Table 4Table 4NetApp AFF A700s Storage Configuration

Storage Components	Description	
Flash Arrays	NetApp All Flash AFF A700s Storage Array (24 x 960GB SSD Driv	es)
Disk Shelves	2 x NetApp DS224C (24 x 960GB SSD Drives per Shelves)	
Capacity	62.63 TB	
Connectivity	8 x 16 Gb/s redundant Fibre Channel 1 Gb/s redundant Ethernet (Management port)	
Physical	8U Rack Units	
<		>

For this FlexPod solution, we used the following versions of the software and firmware releases.

Table 5 Software and Firmware Revisions

Software and Firmware	Version		
Cisco UCS Manager System	3.2 (3c)		
Cisco UCS Adapter VIC 1340	4.2 (3b)		
Cisco eNIC (modinfo enic) (Cisco VIC Ethernet NIC Driver)	2.3.0.53		
Cisco fNIC (modinfo fnic) (Cisco FCoE HBA Driver)	1.6.0.34		
Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX NXOS Version	7.0(3)I6(1)		
Cisco MDS 9148S Switch System Version	7.3(0)D1(1)		
Oracle Linux Server Release 7.5 (64 bit) operating System	Linux 4.1.12- 124.16.4.el7uek.x86_64		
Oracle Database 12c Release 2 Grid Infrastructure for Linux x86-64	12.2.0.1.0		
Oracle Database 12c Release 2 for Linux x86-64	12.2.0.1.0		
NetApp Storage AFF A700s System Version	ONTAP 9.3		
Oracle Swingbench	2.5.971		
SLOB	2.4.2		
<	>		

Solution Configuration

Configure Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX Switch

The following procedures describe how to configure the Cisco Nexus switches for use in a base FlexPod environment. This procedure assumes the use of Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX 7.0(3)I6(1) switches deployed with the 40Gb end-to-end topology.

Set Up Initial Configuration

Cisco Nexus A

To set up the initial configuration for the Cisco Nexus A switch on <nexus-A-hostname>, complete the following steps:

1. Configure the switch.

On initial boot and connection to the serial or console port of the switch, the NX-OS setup should automatically start and attempt to enter Power on Auto Provisioning.

Abort Power on Auto Provisioning and continue with normal setup? (yes/no) [n]: yes

Do you want to enforce secure password standard (yes/no) [y]: Enter

Enter the password for "admin": <password>

Confirm the password for "admin": <password>

Would you like to enter the basic configuration dialog (yes/no): yes

Create another login account (yes/no) [n]: Enter

Configure read-only SNMP community string (yes/no) [n]: Enter

Configure read-write SNMP community string (yes/no) [n]: Enter Enter the switch name: <nexus-A-hostname> Continue with Out-of-band (mgmt0) management configuration? (yes/no) [y]: Enter Mgmt0 IPv4 address: <nexus-A-mgmt0-ip> Mgmt0 IPv4 netmask: <nexus-A-mgmt0-netmask> Configure the default gateway? (yes/no) [y]: Enter IPv4 address of the default gateway: <nexus-A-mgmt0-gw> Configure advanced IP options? (yes/no) [n]: Enter Enable the telnet service? (yes/no) [n]: Enter Enable the ssh service? (yes/no) [y]: Enter Type of ssh key you would like to generate (dsa/rsa) [rsa]: Enter Number of rsa key bits <1024-2048> [1024]: Enter Configure the ntp server? (yes/no) [n]: y NTP server IPv4 address: <global-ntp-server-ip> Configure default interface layer (L3/L2) [L3]: L2 Configure default switchport interface state (shut/noshut) [noshut]: Enter Configure CoPP system profile (strict/moderate/lenient/dense/skip) [strict]: Enter Would you like to edit the configuration? (yes/no) [n]: Enter 2. Review the configuration summary before enabling the configuration. Use this configuration and save it? (yes/no) [y]: Enter Cisco Nexus B

To set up the initial configuration for the Cisco Nexus B switch on <nexus-B-hostname>, complete the following steps:

1. Configure the switch.

On initial boot and connection to the serial or console port of the switch, the NX-OS setup should automatically start and attempt to enter Power on Auto Provisioning.

Abort Power on Auto Provisioning and continue with normal setup? (yes/no) [n]: yes

Do you want to enforce secure password standard (yes/no) [y]: Enter

Enter the password for "admin": <password>

Confirm the password for "admin": <password>

Would you like to enter the basic configuration dialog (yes/no): yes

Create another login account (yes/no) [n]: Enter

Configure read-only SNMP community string (yes/no) [n]: Enter

Configure read-write SNMP community string (yes/no) [n]: Enter

Enter the switch name: <nexus-B-hostname>

Continue with Out-of-band (mgmt0) management configuration? (yes/no) [y]: Enter

Mgmt0 IPv4 address: <nexus-B-mgmt0-ip>

Mgmt0 IPv4 netmask: <nexus-B-mgmt0-netmask>

Configure the default gateway? (yes/no) [y]: Enter IPv4 address of the default gateway: <nexus-B-mgmt0-gw> Configure advanced IP options? (yes/no) [n]: Enter Enable the telnet service? (yes/no) [n]: Enter Enable the ssh service? (yes/no) [y]: Enter Type of ssh key you would like to generate (dsa/rsa) [rsa]: Enter Number of rsa key bits <1024-2048> [1024]: Enter Configure the ntp server? (yes/no) [n]: y NTP server IPv4 address: <global-ntp-server-ip> Configure default interface layer (L3/L2) [L3]: L2 Configure default switchport interface state (shut/noshut) [noshut]: Enter Configure CoPP system profile (strict/moderate/lenient/dense/skip) [strict]: Enter Would you like to edit the configuration? (yes/no) [n]: Enter 2. Review the configuration summary before enabling the configuration. Use this configuration and save it? (yes/no) [y]: Enter

Configure Global Settings for Cisco Nexus A and Cisco Nexus B

To set global configuration, follow these steps on both the nexus switches:

1. Log in as admin user into the Nexus Switch A and run the following commands to set global configurations: configure terminal feature interface-vlan feature hsrp feature lacp feature vpc spanning-tree port type network default spanning-tree port type edge bpduguard default port-channel load-balance src-dst l4port policy-map type network-gos jumbo class type network-gos class-default mtu 9216 system gos service-policy type network-qos jumbo vrf context management ip route 0.0.0.0/0 10.29.135.1 copy run start 2. Log in as admin user into the Nexus Switch B and run the same above commands to set global configurations.

Make sure to run copy run start to save the configuration on each switch after the configuration is completed.

Configure VLANs for Cisco Nexus A and Cisco Nexus B Switches

To create the necessary virtual local area networks (VLANs), follow these steps on both Nexus switches:

- 1. Log in as admin user into the Nexus Switch A.
- 2. Create VLAN 135 for Public Network Traffic and VLAN 10 for Private Network Traffic.

configure terminal

vlan 135

name Oracle_RAC_Public_Traffic

no shutdown

vlan 10

name Oracle_RAC_Private_Traffic

no shutdown

copy run start

3. Log in as admin user into the Nexus Switch B and create VLAN 135 for Public Network Traffic and VLAN 10 for Private Network Traffic.

Virtual Port Channel (vPC) Summary for Data and Storage Network

In the Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX switch topology, a single vPC feature is enabled to provide HA, faster convergence in the event of a failure, and greater throughput. Cisco Nexus vPC configurations with the vPC domains and corresponding vPC names and IDs for Oracle Database Servers is shown in Table 6

Table 6vPC Summary

vPC Domain	vPC Name	vPC ID
1	Peer-Link	1
1	vPC Prublic	51
1	vPC Private	52
/		

<

As listed in Table 6, a single vPC domain with Domain ID 1 is created across two Cisco Nexus 93180LC-EX member switches to define vPC members to carry specific VLAN network traffic. In this topology, we defined a total number of 3 vPCs.

vPC ID 1 is defined as Peer link communication between two Nexus switches in Fabric A and B.

To define vPC IDs 51 and 52 for public and private network traffic from Cisco UCS fabric interconnects, complete the steps in the following sections.

Create vPC Peer-Link Between the Two Nexus Switches

vPC Domain 1	vPC Peer Link 1
N9K-C93180LC-EX – A	N9K-C93180LC-EX – B

1. Login as admin user into the Nexus Switch A.

Note: For vPC 1 as Peer-link, we used interfaces 1-2 for Peer-Link. You may choose an appropriate number of ports for your needs.

2. Create the necessary port channels between devices on both Nexus Switches:

configure terminal

∕∕∽

vpc domain 1 peer-keepalive destination 10.29.135.104 source 10.29.135.103 auto-recovery

interface port-channel1 description vPC peer-link switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type network vpc peer-link exit

interface Ethernet1/1 description Peer link connected to N9K-B-Eth1/1 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 channel-group 1 mode active no shutdown interface Ethernet1/2 description Peer link connected to N9K-B-Eth1/2 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 channel-group 1 mode active no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/29 description connect to uplink switch switchport access vlan 135 speed 1000

exit

copy run start

3. Log in as admin user into the Nexus Switch B and repeat the above steps to configure second nexus switch.

Note: Make sure to change peer-keepalive destination and source IP address appropriately for Nexus Switch B

Create vPC Configuration Between Nexus 9372PX-E and Fabric Interconnects



Next, you will create and configure vPC 51 and 52 for Data network between Nexus switches and Fabric Interconnects.

Table 7 lists the vPC IDs, allowed VLAN IDs, and Ethernet uplink ports.

	Table 7	vPC IDs	and	VLA	N IDs
--	---------	---------	-----	-----	-------

vPC Description vPC ID Fabric Interconnec ID Ports		Fabric Interconnects Ports	Nexus Ports	Allowed VLANs
Port Channel FI-A	51	FI-A Port 1/31	N9K-A Port 1/21	135, 10 Note: VLAN 10 Needed for
		FI-A Port 1/32	N9K-A Port 1/22	Failover
		FI-A Port 1/33	N9K-B Port 1/21	
		FI-A Port 1/34	N9K-B Port 1/22	
Port Channel FI-B	52	FI-B Port 1/31	N9K-A Port 1/23	10, 135 Note: VLAN 135 Needed for
		FI-B Port 1/32	N9K-A Port 1/24	Failovei
		FI-B Port 1/33	N9K-B Port 1/23	
		FI-B Port 1/34	N9K-B Port 1/24	

To create the necessary port channels between devices, follow these steps on both the Nexus Switches:

1. Log in as admin user into the Nexus Switch A and follow these steps:

configure terminal

interface port-channel51

description Port-Channel FI-A

switchport mode trunk

switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135

spanning-tree port type edge trunk

mtu 9216 vpc 51 no shutdown

interface port-channel52 description Port-Channel FI-B switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 vpc 52 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/21

description Fabric-Interconnect-A-31 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 51 mode active no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/22

description Fabric-Interconnect-A-32 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 51 mode active no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/23 description Fabric-Interconnect-B-31 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 52 mode active no shutdown interface Ethernet1/24 description Fabric-Interconnect-B-32 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 52 mode active no shutdown

copy run start

2. Log in as admin user into the Nexus Switch B and run the following commands to complete second switch configuration: configure terminal interface port-channel51 description Port-Channel FI-A switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 vpc 51 no shutdown interface port-channel52 description Port-Channel FI-B switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 vpc 52 no shutdown interface Ethernet1/21 description Fabric-Interconnect-A-33

switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 51 mode active no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/22 description Fabric-Interconnect-A-34 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 51 mode active no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/23

description Fabric-Interconnect-B-33 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 52 mode active no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/24 description Fabric-Interconnect-B-34 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 52 mode active no shutdown

copy run start

Note: Make sure to change peer-keepalive destination and source IP address appropriately for Nexus Switch B

Verify All vPC Status Is Up on Both the Nexus Switches

1. Verify the port-channel summary of Nexus Switch A as shown below:



2. Verify the port-channel summary of Nexus Switch B as shown below:



3. Verify the vPC summary of Nexus Switch A as shown below:

FLEX Lege	POD-NEXU	JS-A# sh	ow vpc l	orief	eter tonat da	
		(*)	- loca	l vPC is dow	n, forwarding v	ia vPC peer-link
vPC domain id Peer status vPC keep-alive status Configuration consistency status Per-vlan consistency status Type-2 consistency status vPC role Number of vPCs configured Peer Gateway Dual-active excluded VLANs Graceful Consistency Check Auto-recovery status Delay-restore status Delay-restore SVI status Operational Layer3 Peer-router vPC Peer-link status		: 1 : pe : pe status : su : su : su : pr : 2 : Di : - : En : En : Tiu : Tiu : Tiu	<pre>: 1 : peer adjacency formed ok : peer is alive : success : success : success : primary : 2 : Disabled : - : Enabled : Enabled, timer is off.(timeout = 240s) : Timer is off.(timeout = 30s) : Timer is off.(timeout = 10s) : Disabled</pre>			
id	Port	Status	Active	vlans		
1	Pol	up	1,10,1	35		
vPC	status					
Id	Port		Status	Consistency	Reason	Active vlans
51	P051		up	success	success	1,10,135
52	Po52		up	success	success	1,10,135

4. Verify the vPC summary of Nexus Switch B as shown below:

FLEX Lege	POD-NEXU nd:	JS-B# sh (*)	ow vpc b - local	orief L vPC is dow	n, forwarding v	ia vPC peer-link
vPC Peer VPC Conf Per- Type vPC Numb Peer Dual Grac Auto Dela Dela Oper	domain i status keep-ali iguratic vlan cor -2 consi role er of vF Gateway -active eful Cor -recover y-restor y-restor ational Peer-lir	id ive stati sistenc istency PCs conf exclude sistenc ry statu re statu re SVI s Layer3 l	us stency s y status status igured d VLANs y Check s y Check s tatus Peer-rou	: 1 : pe : pe : su : su : su : su : su : su : su : su	er adjacency fo er is alive ccess ccess condary sabled abled, timer is mer is off.(tim mer is off.(tim sabled	rmed ok off.(timeout = 240s) eout = 30s) eout = 10s)
id	Port	Status	Active	vlans		
1	Pol	up	1,10,13	35		
vPC	status					
Id	Port		Status	Consistency	Reason	Active vlans
51	Po51		up	success	success	1,10,135
52	Po52		up	success	success	1,10,135

Cisco UCS Configuration Overview

This section details the Cisco UCS configuration that was completed as part of the infrastructure build out. The racking, power, and installation of the chassis are described in the installation guide (see www.cisco.com/c/en/us/support/servers-unified-computing/ucs-manager/products-installation-guides-list.html). It is beyond the scope of this document to cover detailed information about the UCS infrastructure setup and connectivity. The documentation guides and examples are available at http://www.cisco.com/cl/lS/products-installation-guides-list.html).

http://www.cisco.com/en/US/products/ps10281/products_installation_and_configuration_guides_list.html

We will list all the tasks to configure Cisco UCS system but only include some of the screenshots in this document.

Perform Initial Setup of Cisco UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnects for a Cluster Setup

This section provides detailed procedures for configuring the Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS) for use in a FlexPod environment. The steps are necessary to provision the Cisco UCS B-Series and C-Series servers and should be followed precisely to avoid improper configuration.

Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect A and Fabric Interconnect B

To configure the Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnects, complete the following steps:

- 1. Verify the following physical connections on the fabric interconnect:
- a. The management Ethernet port (mgmt0) is connected to an external hub, switch, or router
- b. The L1 ports on both fabric interconnects are directly connected to each other
- c. The L2 ports on both fabric interconnects are directly connected to each other
- For more information, refer to the *Cisco UCS Hardware Installation Guide* for your fabric interconnect.

2. Connect to the console port on the first Fabric Interconnect.



- 3. Review the settings printed to the console. Answer yes to apply and save the configuration.
- 4. Wait for the login prompt to make the configuration has been saved to Fabric Interconnect A.
- 5. Connect the console port on the second Fabric Interconnect and do the following:



- 6. Review the settings printed to the console. Answer yes to apply and save the configuration.
- 7. Wait for the login prompt to make the configuration has been saved to Fabric Interconnect B.

Log in to Cisco UCS Manager

To log in to the Cisco Unified Computing System (UCS) environment, complete the following steps:

1. Open a web browser and navigate to the Cisco UCS fabric interconnect cluster address.

You may need to wait at least 5 minutes after configuring the second fabric interconnect for Cisco UCS Manager to come up.



- 2. Click the Launch UCS Manager link under HTML to launch Cisco UCS Manager.
- 3. If prompted to accept security certificates, accept as necessary.
- 4. When prompted, enter admin as the user name and enter the administrative password.
- 5. Click Login to log into Cisco UCS Manager.

Upgrade Cisco UCS Manager Software to Version 3.2

This document assumes the use of Cisco UCS 3.2(3c). To upgrade the Cisco UCS Manager software and the Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect software to version 3.2(3c), refer to Cisco UCS Manager Install and Upgrade Guides.

Anonymous Reporting

To create anonymous reporting, complete the following step:

1. In the Anonymous Reporting window, select whether to send anonymous data to Cisco for improving future products. If you select Yes, enter the IP address of your SMTP Server. Click OK.

Anonymous Reporting	
Cisco Systems, Inc. will be collecting feature con sent to Cisco Smart Call Home server anonymous	figuration and usage statistics which will be sly. This data helps us prioritize the features
and improvements that will most benefit our cust	omers.
If you decide to enable this feature in future, you	can do so from the "Anonymous Reporting
in the Call Home settings under the Admin tab.	
View Sample Data	
Do you authorize the disclosure of this informa	tion to Cisco Smart CallHome?
C Yes C No	
- 1. TOD Mathematica States and the states of the states o	
Don't show this message again.	
	OK Cancel
Don't show this message again.	Oli Cancel

Configure Cisco UCS Call Home

It is highly recommended by Cisco to configure Call Home in Cisco UCS Manager. Configuring Call Home will accelerate resolution of support cases. To configure Call Home, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click Admin on the left.
- 2. Select All > Communication Management > Call Home.
- 3. Change the State to On.

4. Fill in all the fields according to your Management preferences and click Save Changes and OK to complete configuring Call Home.

High Level Steps to Configure Base Cisco UCS

Using logical servers that are disassociated from the physical hardware removes many limiting constraints around how servers are provisioned. Cisco UCS Service Profiles contain values for a server's property settings, including virtual network interface cards (vNICs), MAC addresses, boot policies, firmware policies, fabric connectivity, external management, and HA information. The service profiles represent all the attributes of a logical server in Cisco UCS model. By abstracting these settings from the physical server into a Cisco Service Profile, the Service Profile can then be deployed to any physical compute hardware within the Cisco UCS domain. Furthermore, Service Profiles can, at any time, be migrated from one physical server to another. Furthermore, Cisco is the only hardware provider to offer a truly unified management platform, with Cisco UCS Service Profiles and hardware abstraction capabilities extending to both blade and rack servers.

The following are the high-level steps for configuring the Cisco UCS for this FlexPod solution.

- 1. Set Fabric Interconnect to Fibre Channel End Host Mode.
- 2. Synchronize Cisco UCS to NTP.
- 3. Configure Fabric Interconnect for Chassis and Blade Discovery.
- a. Configure Global Policies
- b. Configure Server Ports
- 4. Configure LAN and SAN on Cisco UCS Manager
- a. Configure Ethernet LAN Uplink Ports
- b. Create Uplink Port Channels to Cisco Nexus Switches
- c. Configure FC SAN Uplink Ports
- d. Configure VLAN
- e. Configure VSAN
- 5. Configure IP, UUID, Server, MAC, WWNN and WWPN Pools
- a. IP Pool Creation
- b. UUID Suffix Pool Creation
- c. Server Pool Creation
- d. MAC Pool Creation
- e. WWNN and WWPN Pool Creation
- 6. Set Jumbo Frames in both the Cisco Fabric Interconnect
- 7. Configure Server BIOS Policy
- 8. Create Adapter Policy
- 9. Configure Update Default Maintenance Policy
- 10. Configure vNIC and vHBA Template
- a. Create Public and Private vNIC Template
- b. Create Storage vHBA Template
- 11. Create Server Boot Policy for SAN Boot

Details for each step are discussed in the following sections.

Set Fabric Interconnects to Fibre Channel End Host Mode

To set the Fabric Interconnects to the Fibre Channel End Host Mode, complete the following steps:

- 1. On the Equipment tab, expand the Fabric Interconnects node and click Fabric Interconnect A.
- 2. On the General tab in the Actions pane, click Set FC End Host mode.

3. Follow the dialogs to complete the change.

Both Fabric Interconnects automatically reboot sequentially when you confirm you want to operate in this mode.

Synchronize Cisco UCS to NTP

To synchronize the Cisco UCS environment to the NTP server, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, in the navigation pane, click the Admin tab.
- 2. Select All > Time zone Management.
- 3. In the Properties pane, select the appropriate time zone in the Time zone menu.
- 4. Click Save Changes and then click OK.
- 5. Click Add NTP Server.
- 6. Enter the NTP server IP address and click OK.
- 7. Click OK to finish.

Configure Fabric Interconnect for Chassis and Blade Discovery

Cisco UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnects are configured for redundancy. It provides resiliency in case of failures. The first step to establish connectivity between blades and Fabric Interconnects.

Configure Global Policies

The chassis discovery policy determines how the system reacts when you add a new chassis. We recommend using the platform max value as shown. Using platform max insures that Cisco UCS Manager uses the maximum number of IOM uplinks available.

To configure Global Policies, follow these steps:

1. Go to Equipment > Policies (right pane) > Global Policies > Chassis/FEX Discovery Policies.

2. Select Action as "Platform Max" from the drop down list and set Link Grouping to Port Channel as shown below. Click Save Changes and then click OK.

cisco.	UCS Manager	8 8 2 4 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	• •	0) ©
æ	(#	Equipment				
•	Drawns Oraclese 1.	Mark Epipergy View Elaboric Interconnection Steryment Efformate Decommunitional Terminant Management (Paloose) Fault Disponentics 10000010000000 Actional-flip Policeum Steryme Entercon Provides Sterying Decommy Policeum Status View Provid Compary, Policeum Provide Company, Policeum Status View Provide Company, Policeum Provide	r Security			_
	Charm 7 Kol-Martin You You You You Server Added Interconnect A Uprimary) Poloci Interconnect B Undordmane(Charace Poloci Interconnect B Undordmane(Charace PurcharaceDecomery Polocy	Chandol/FED Discovery Policy Action Action Performance Provide Policy Action Concepting Preformance Provide Policy Concepting Preformance Provide Policy Reck Server Discovery Policy Action Provide Policy Provide Policy Reck Management Convencion Policy Reck Management Convencion Policy				
		Actor: Actorsellinger () ar Actorsellinger () ar Actorsellinger () Power Policy Power Policy Power Table Aging Aging These () () Actorsel () Actor ()			0.0	 1

The difference between Discrete mode vs Port Channel mode is shown below:



Configure Server Ports

Configure Server Ports to initiate Chassis and Blade discovery. To configure server ports, follow these steps:

1. Go to Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect A > Fixed Module > Ethernet Ports.

2. Select the ports (for this solution ports are 17-20) which are connected to the Cisco IO Modules of the two B-Series 5108 Chassis.

3. Right-click and select "Configure as Server Port."

4. Click Yes to confirm and click OK.

disce.	UCS Manager	-		Į,	😵 😳 🔮 🔮	17				••		006
	AI +	Equipment / Falar	ic Interconnects (Fe	bric futuri conte	ict Algebra / Fixed &	Iodule / Ohemet Porta						
	• Southers	Ethernet Ports										
	• Oranni	Ye Advanced Filter	± Dpert . ⊕ Prist	QAL 40	contend (@demos	Giberer Giffold an	ex Quinclois	Appleres Stronge (Col threat	😺 Unified Storage	Works	0
ä	+ Reck-Mounts	Sevi /	Ropi: Fort ID	Part (D	NAC	(Role	#.Tgm:	Overat (tume	Admin State	Prec		
0-0	F68	- (4)C	14	36	00.0078.92.99.18	Course of Courses	Phylical	V The first Descent	A finded			
	+ deners	10		. 18.5	00.0E7832.99.1A	Cherry Marriell	Puliol	V Adv. Nov. December	1 carrier			
	+ Fabre Interconnects	1.1		18	OF CHARGE WE TH	Lingtone	Procel	V the New Desser	A Courter			
•	 Faderic interconverse A (prenary) 	Line .	10		000678427810	Deres	Physical	1.00	t turbet	NU.Ju		10010
=	+ fire	1		- 211	000678429929	Getate	Philade	T in	Friend	145 Ma		Aust-5
	Field Module	1	2	18	0000178-92-99-24	Server	Physical	* 1M	* Instant	system.	and Date Liters	cquet-1
	Etienet Pars	4	10	20	0006-78-52-88-28	Server	Plantal	* 14	A summer	eyeste	-25mm-1/664	UNIVES
100	PC Ports	1	16	5 at 17	000E F# 12 19 20	United States	Webb	V SE NO Prove	A country			-
-	 False summaries is to doubt and 	1		32	00.0618-92-09:30	trastarei	Physical	W Sky Nor Pressent	a Deather			
	Poloani	- 16		23	000678428834	Linux Against	Photod	W the hird Property	4 Contest			
	Port Auto-Discovery Prace	(0):	1	24	00.05 78 42 59 38	Unurfiguent	Physical	V Sta Not Present	· Dealers			
		1		1.44	0000408-000000	and a second	and a	1.00				

5. Repeat the same task for Fabric Interconnect B.

 After configuring Server Ports, acknowledge both the Chassis. Go to Equipment >Chassis > Chassis 1 > General > Actions > select "Acknowledge Chassis". Similarly, acknowledge the chassis 2.

7. After acknowledging both the chassis, Re-acknowledge all the servers placed in the chassis. Go to Equipment > Chassis 1 > Servers > Server 1 > General > Actions > select "Server Maintenance" > select option "Re-acknowledge" and click OK. Similarly, repeat the process to Re-acknowledge all the eight Servers.

8. When the acknowledgement of the Servers completed, verify "Port-channel" of Internal LAN. Go to tab LAN > Internal LAN > Internal Fabric A > Port Channels as shown below.

cisco.	UCS Manager			8 8 9 9 9				000
-	- UN	LAN / Internal LAN / Internal Fab Port Channels	oric A / Port Channels					
	UAN Clouf	To Advanced Filter 🛛 🕈 Dapart 🖉	Pier.					0
.8.	Applances	Name	Rud	Fatan: ID	Port Type	Network, Type	Thersport	
	+ shared LML	Port-Channel 1925 (Father, A)	No.	ĥ	Appropriation	100	boe	
	 Internal Father A 	Port-Diseased 1020, Index All	1.1028	A.:	Aggregation	1.m	Die .	
	P. Marfaces							
	Port Channells							
-	Port-Ohavest 1025 (Fabric A)							
	Division/Aca 1/1/2							
=	Eth Interface 7/18							
~	Port Channel (1056 (Fabor A)							
40	22th longefacture 7.0119							
	Ethiliniartacia 1720							
	Print April 8							
	* visitions							
	• Apriculation							
	Profit - Children LL 20 (Filderic B)							
	Distantica Mill							
	Dest-Channel 1152 (Later R)							
	dith impetator 1/19							
	Little International 7/20							
-	Throughout Pallovia						(

9. Verify the same for Internal Fabric B.

The last 6 ports of the UCS 6332 and UCS 6332-16UP FIs will only work with optical based QSFP transceivers and AOC cables, so they can be better utilized as uplinks to upstream resources that might be optical only.

Configure LAN and SAN on Cisco UCS Manager

Configure Ethernet Uplink Ports and Fibre Channel (FC) Storage ports on Cisco UCS as explained below.

Configure Ethernet LAN Uplink Ports

To configure network ports used to uplink the Fabric Interconnects to the Cisco Nexus switches, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, in the navigation pane, click the Equipment tab.
- 2. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect A > Fixed Module.
- 3. Expand Ethernet Ports.

4. Select ports (for this solution ports are 31-34) that are connected to the Nexus switches, rightclick them, and select Configure as Network Port.

5. Click Yes to confirm ports and click OK.

6. Verify the Ports connected to Cisco Nexus upstream switches are now configured as network ports.

7. Repeat the above steps for Fabric Interconnect B. The screenshot shows the network uplink ports for Fabric A.

cisco.	UCS Manager			80	• ? ?				• •	۲	0	0	0 C
ж	[A .	Equipment / Fabr	ric Interconnects 7 Fab	ric Intercontect A (prin	sa / Fired Module / Dth	ernet Ports							
	• Spapment	Ethernel Ports	Alter Alter	- Var - Income Con		Canad Game 17	Statements - Statement	and the second second second		V-512	1157		0
	Oramii Acce Mounts	301	Appr. Put ID	Pat D	MAC	A STATE	if Tige	Overvid Status	Admin Stam	0.00	Free	_	*
600	PEX.	1	0	54	INCR FROM NO.	Astropy	Physical	1 14	* English		1		
	+ Servers	1 E	(e)	32	100612-3299-58	Patrocast.	President	. T UU	* Evapord				
	Fabric Interconnects	15	(0)	90	10.0678.829816	Network	Printed	(Lar	T-Losting				
	 Fating Vitarconnect A (primary) 	1		34	1023178323638	Ashipt	Phone	* 14	* Energy				
=	Fans Field Module												
=	Etranet Parts												
	 FC Ports. 												
30	 PSUs 												
	 Fabric Interconnect B (subordinate) 												
	• Polces												
	Port Auto-Discovery Policy												

We created four uplink ports on each Fabric Interconnect as shown above. These ports will be used to create Virtual Port Channel in the next section.

The last 6 ports of the UCS 6332 and UCS 6332-16UP FIs only work with optical based QSFP transceivers and AOC cables, so they can be better utilized as uplinks to upstream resources that might be optical only.

Create Uplink Port Channels to Cisco Nexus Switches

In this procedure, two port channels were created: one from Fabric A to both Cisco Nexus switch and one from Fabric B to both Cisco Nexus switch. To configure the necessary port channels in the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Under LAN > LAN Cloud, expand node Fabric A tree:
- 3. Right-click Port Channels.
- 4. Select Create Port Channel.

5. Enter 51 as the unique ID of the port channel.



- 6. Enter FI-A as the name of the port channel.
- 7. Click Next.
- 8. Select Ethernet ports 31-34 for the port channel.
- 9. Click >> to add the ports to the port channel.
- 10. Click Finish to create the port channel and then click OK.

cisco.	UCS Manager		- <u></u>		0
.	A8 .	LAN / LAN Cloud			
R	LAN LAN Obset	LAN Uptinks VLAKe Server Link Port Channels and Uplinks	 MAC Identity Assignment IP Ide 	entity Assignment QcS Global Policies Faulta Events	Pin Groups
8	Fabric A	+ - % Advanced Filter + Export	⊕ Print	6	¢ + - 1/4
	Port Charcele	Nortes	Fabric ID	Admin State	Nartho
.	 Port-Channel 51 FI-A 	Port Channels		1	
-	Eth Interface: 1/31	🖌 Fabric A			
1	Eth Inhertace 1/32	Port-Channel 55 Fr-A	- A	Enabled	
=	Eth Interface 1/33	Eth Interface 1/21	A	 Enabled 	
	Eth Interfacer 1/34	Eth Interface 1/22	:A	. Enabled	
	 Uptre Eth Interfaces 	Eth Interface 1723	A	Enabled	
	• VLAhn	Eth Interface 1/24	74	t Enabled	1.00
-	Ve Upondation Seta	🖌 Fatine B			
	Port Chargele	Port-Channell 52 Pi-B	8	Enabled	
	Port-Channel 52 FI-B	Eth Interface 1/31		Enabled	
	Eth Interfaces 1/31	Erh Interface 1/32		. Ended	
	Ethilotoplace 1/32	Em intertace 1/23	8	Enabled	
	Eth Worlace 1/33	Eth Interface 1734		* Enabled	ац — I
	Eth Interface 1/34				
	Uplank Eth Interfaces VLANs		To configure the UAN, launch the	e LAN UpRinks Managar	

11. Repeat steps 1-10 for Fabric Interconnect B, substituting 52 for the port channel number and FI-B for the name. The resulting configuration should look like the screenshot shown above.

Configure FC SAN Uplink Ports

The fibre channel port selection options for the 6332-16UP are from the first 16 ports starting from the first port on the left, and configured in increments of the first 6, 12, or all 16 of the unified ports.

To enable the Fibre channel ports, follow these steps for the 6332-16UP:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click Equipment on the left.
- 2. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect A (primary).
- 3. Select Configure Unified Ports.

4. Click Yes on the pop-up window warning that changes to the fixed module will require a reboot of the fabric interconnect and changes to the expansion module will require a reboot of that module.

5. Within the Configured Fixed Ports pop-up window move the gray slider bar from the left to the right to select either 6, 12, or 16 ports to be set as FC Uplinks.

I		Construction of the local division of the lo	Contractor and the second second		THE REPORT OF THE OWNER AND ADDRESS OF	
	• Spapner • Cheve					
	* Neth-Minarte					
I	· Falmy Managements	-				DU BURNESS PROFILE
ſ	· hater, increased A (prime)	kistractions.	17			
	 Fam Finited Montain 	The position of the s All the parts to the t	lider determines the rype of the p If of the slider are Fibre Channel	parts. (parts (P(arpie), while the parts to the right are Etherne	t porta (Bhar).	
I	* P22a	Port	Transport	If Role or Port Channel Membership	Desired if Hole	
I	Fabric Merizowiest & Isubordinate!	Port I	artwo.	Criticologuese	FC Liplera	
	a los	Port 21	100	Choofigured	HC Opera	1
	Sal anno	Port 3	100	Crecorfgamit	FC Uplya	12-160.00
	* Formi Mödder	Ppt4	inther .	Chevrifiquent	FC Lipice	Second Control of Cont
	51 P30	Port 6	eter	Unconfigured	FC Uples	
1	Rutaine	Port 6	(8297)	Lincoréguned	FD liptes	
	Dark an Direct in March	Port 7	ster	Unconfigured		
1	() FOR CONTRACTOR STORE ()	Pots	artar .	Unconfigured		
1		Port-9	10741	Groonfigured		
1		Port 70	100	Uncodquest		
1		Port 11	ether	Crimitguest		
1		Port 12	(60m) ((Dreanfigured		
		Port 13	100	Linconfigured		
1		Port 14	ster -	Unconfigured		
1		Port 10	ater	Unconfigured		
		Burg has	and the second sec	d increasing sound		1

6. For this solution, we configured the first six ports on the FI as FC Uplink ports. Click OK, then click Yes, then click OK to continue

Applying this configuration will cause the immediate reboot of Fabric Interconnect and/or Expansion Module(s)

- 7. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect B (primary).
- 8. Select Configure Unified Ports.

9. Click Yes on the pop-up window warning that changes to the fixed module will require a reboot of the fabric interconnect and changes to the expansion module will require a reboot of that module.

10. Within the Configured Fixed Ports pop-up window move the gray slider bar from the left to the right to select either 6, 12, or 16 ports to be set as FC Uplinks.

- 11. Click OK, then Yes, then OK to continue.
- 12. Wait for both Fabric Interconnects to reboot.
- 13. Log back into Cisco UCS Manager.

Configure VLAN

To configure the necessary virtual local area networks (VLANs) for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.

In this solution, we created two VLANs: one for private network (VLAN 10) traffic and one for public network (VLAN 135) traffic. These two VLANs will be used in the vNIC templates that are discussed later.

It is very important to create both VLANs as global across both fabric interconnects. This way, VLAN identity is maintained across the fabric interconnects in case of NIC failover.

- 2. Select LAN > LAN Cloud.
- 3. Right-click VLANs.
- 4. Select Create VLANs

enca.	UCS Manager		
· · · · ·	M	LMV/32A Create VLANs • X • X • Non- • Orana VLICON • Counte VLICON	Montany yCMN Names - Multiscant Policy Names -
	OGE Some Class ODE Some Class ODE So	Open Open Open To be compared VALAD Code (fair many tables Code (Valad Code)) VALAD [105] To be code (Valad Code (Valad Code)) Shareing Trigon [105] To be code (Valad Code (Valad Code)) Open To be code (Valad Code (Valad Code))	
	Kenned J.Mit Konned Fages A Konned Fages A Konned Fages A Kon Charmed (1025 (Fages) A) Bit Instalant (1/7)	Check Ownlap OK Center	

- 5. Enter Public_Traffic as the name of the VLAN to be used for Public Network Traffic.
- 6. Keep the Common/Global option selected for the scope of the VLAN.
- 7. Enter 135 as the ID of the VLAN ID.
- 8. Keep the Sharing Type as None.
- 9. Click OK and then click OK again.

么

We have also created the second VLAN: for private network (VLAN 10) traffic.

1.1]s. 500	UCS Manager			800	2			• •	••••
m.		LAN / LAN Cloud / VLAN	6						
1	LAN LAN Dout	N-Adamad Filter (# D	con @Pre						
R	 Fabric A 	Name	10	, Tises	Turnert.	.Tative:	WLAN Sharing	Primary VLAN Name	Wydruart Pulice North
-	 Estric B 	VCAN dotate (1)	10	Lat.	120	New	None		
	 Codi System Clarg 	VOW Private_Tripm	100	Um 1	Ctor .	No	/ None		
	LAV Pri Groups Treat-old Palices	WWN Public, Touther	100	380	(Brail)	50	(1999)		
	+ VCAN Groups								
	WAN default [1] VEAN Proving Traffic [12]								
5	VLAN Patter, Traffic (536)								
	 Applances 								

These two VLANs will be used in the vNIC templates that are discussed later.

Configure VSAN

To configure the necessary virtual storage area networks (VSANs) for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the SAN tab in the navigation pane.

In this solution, we have created two VSANs. ORA-VSAN-A 101 and ORA-VSAN-B 102 for SAN Boot and Storage Access.

- 2. Select SAN > SAN Cloud.
- 3. Under VSANs, right-click VSANs.
- 4. Select Create VSANs.
- 5. Enter ORA-VSAN-A as the name of the VSAN.
- 6. Leave FC Zoning set at Disabled.



- 7. Select Fabric A for the scope of the VSAN.
- 8. Enter 101 as the ID of the VSAN.

Enter a unique VSAN ID and a corresponding FCoE VLAN ID that matches the configuration in the MDS switch for Fabric A. It is recommended to use the same ID for both parameters and to use something other than 1.

9. Click OK and then click OK again.

10. Repeat these steps to create the VSANs necessary for this solution. VSAN 101 and 102 are configured as shown below:

cisco	UCS Manager			🛛 🕺 😵 😵 🍨)			0 0	00
<i>m</i> .		SAN / SAN Cloud / VSANs							
10	- BAN	VSANs							
	SAN Cloud	+ - % Advanced Filter + 1	lapin @Print	1					
æ	 Fabric A 	harte	10	 Fabric El 	II Type	if Male	Transport	FOR VLAN (D	Operation
da	Fatere B	Fibric 8.							
	 SAN Pri Groups 	VSNe							
	 Threathold Policies. 	⊊Febri B I							
	- VSAN	VSAMe							
-	wSAN default (1)	vSAter							-
	VSAN ORA-VSAN-A (301)	VSAM debuilt (1)	iii	Dust	Vypad	Nerwork	14	4046	ÖK
111	VSAV ORA-VSAV-8 (1(2)	VIAN ORI-VIAN-A (101)	tot	Due	Virtual.	Network	F2	101	ior.
	+ Tilorage Cloud	VSAN ORA-VSAN-B (102)	102	Duil	. White	Network	fit.	1:502	OK.
40	+ Policies								
	+ Pools								

Configure IP, UUID, Server, MAC, WWNN and WWPN Pools

IP Pool Creation

An IP address pool on the out of band management network must be created to facilitate KVM access to each compute node in the Cisco UCS domain. To create a block of IP addresses for server KVM access in the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, in the navigation pane, click the LAN tab.

- 2. Select Pools > root > IP Pools >Click Create IP Pool.
- 3. We have named IP Pool as ORA-IP-Pool for this solution.
- 4. Select option Sequential to assign IP in sequential order then click next.
- 5. Click Add IPv4 Block.

6. Enter the starting IP address of the block and the number of IP addresses required, and the subnet and gateway information as shown below.

cisco.	UCS Manager		8	0				000
	(4)	LAN / Poole / roo	C/ IP Pools					
	LACP Polices LAN Connectivity Polices		Create IP Pool				() ×	
	+ Los Promoti Policy	Define Name and Descr	otion + - 5 Animat Pre + Court	0.7mm			0	
	+ Matcat Polices	All Sv4 (Bala	Create Block of IPv4 Add	resses		• × 100	Security (MS	
	Natiwork Control Policies		Frant 10.29.135.140	San	10 5	4.0	6000	
	Theshold Polices	Add Boot Banks	Guberet Mada : 255 295 295 8	Detault Gateway:	10 29 135 1			
=	VMC Connection Policies usNC Connection Policies		Primary DNS : 0.0.00	Secondary DNS -]	0000			
	 v40 Temptates 							
	Sch Openptions							
	• (set							
	HP has							
	· · · Pad at mynt				<u> </u>	Cancel		
	 If Post sum entities a 		A.	0.00		-17		
	MAC Peos Gut-Organizations				(Heat -	Cancel)	
	* Tight Montering Sessions							

7. Click Next and then click Finish to create the IP block.

UUID Suffix Pool Creation

To configure the necessary universally unique identifier (UUID) suffix pool for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Pools > root.
- 3. Right-click UUID Suffix Pools and then select Create UUID Suffix Pool.
- 4. Enter ORA-UUID-Pool as the name of the UUID name.
- 5. Optional: Enter a description for the UUID pool.
- 6. Keep the prefix at the derived option and select Sequential in as Assignment Order then click Next.
- 7. Click Add to add a block of UUIDs
- 8. Create a starting point UUID as per your environment.

disb.	UCS Manager		8	9 @ 9		• •
	Al A	Servers - Pools UUD Juffe Pools + - V. Adue 1 Tarm • Pool ORA-UU Pool default	Optime Name and Description Add UUD Inces Create a Bloc Fram: 0001-300000	Create UUID Suffix Pool + - 7;45eme file + Depit + Peri 1000-10000000: c001-100:000001100 0001-100 k of UUID Suffixes (*) × 001100 Suffixes (*) ×	Image: Control of the second	11
	Sch-Organizations Scheckles default engl-daugt-subdate		2	• Ast = trees	Cancel	

9. Specify a size for the UUID block that is sufficient to support the available blade or server resources.

Server Pool Creation

To configure the necessary server pool for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

- Consider creating unique server pools to achieve the granularity that is required in your environment.
- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Pools > root > Right-click Server Pools > Select Create Server Pool.
- 3. Enter ORA-Pool as the name of the server pool.
- 4. Optional: Enter a description for the server pool then click Next
- 5. Select all the eight servers to be used for the Oracle RAC management and click > to add them to the server pool.
- 6. Click Finish and then click OK

MAC Pool Creation

To configure the necessary MAC address pools for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Pools > root > right-click MAC Pools under the root organization.
- 3. Select Create MAC Pool to create the MAC address pool.
- 4. Enter ORA-MAC-A as the name for MAC pool.
- 5. Enter the seed MAC address and provide the number of MAC addresses to be provisioned.

dista cisco	UCS Manager		8	9 0 0		• 6
*	A8 •	LAN / Pools / rest / MAC Pools	6		-	ĩ
# /	+ cAV + LAN Glood	+ - 5 Aba		Create MAC Pool	(I) ×	
dia:	Applaces wrend LAN	MAC Pool ORA	INVE Addresses	+ - VAnciatTiller + Deot + Print Nene From To	0	Assgreat .0
-	 Potens Poces 	WAC Poor surfa	eate a Block of M	MAC Addresses	×	-0
	• mot	Tra	(MAC Address : 00-25-85	89/AA00 Bae: 200 C		
	MAC Pools MAC Pools MAC Pool default	10 e pref 00.2	nure uniqueness of MACs in K \$185xxxxxxx	the LAN NETIC, you are strongly encouraged to use the following M	<u></u>	
do.	Sub-Organizations Traffic Monitoring Sessions Netflyw Monitoring			OK Cancel		
				(i) And There		
				x Prov. (Point)	Cancel	

- 6. Click OK and then click Finish.
- 7. In the confirmation message, click OK.
- 8. Create MAC Pool B and assign unique MAC Addresses as shown below.

We created Oracle-MAC-A and Oracle-MAC-B as shown below for all the vNIC MAC Addresses.

cisco	UCS Manager		8 0 0 0	
"	- AN. •	EAN / Pools / root / MAC Pools MAC Pools		
2	LAN Cloud	+ - Yy Advanced Filter + Export + Print		
æ	 Appliances 	Name	Sizu	Assigned
00	 Internal LAN 	MAC Pool default	- Q	0
	Policies	₩AC Pool ORA-MAC-A	256	5
	• Pools	[00-25/85/89 AA.00 - 00-25/85/89 AA.FF]		
	1001	+ MAC Pool ORA-MAC-E	256	.0
	 IP Pools 	[00:25:85:89:88:00 · 00:25:85:89:88:FF]		
-	 MAC Pools 			
	MAC Pool default			
	 MAC Post ORA - MAC-A 			
70	[00:25:85:89:AA.00 - 00:25:85:			
	 MAC Pool GRA-MAC-8 			
	[00:25:85:89:88:00 - 00:25:85			
	 Sub-Organizations 			

WWNN and WWPN Pool Creation

To configure the necessary WWNN pools for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the SAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Pools > Root > WWNN Pools > right click WWNN Pools > Select Create WWNN Pool.
- 3. Assign name and Assignment Order as sequential as shown below.

cisco	UCS Manager							
*	[<mark>A</mark>]	SAN / Pools / root /	WWNN Pools					
	SAN Cloud	+ - 64		Create WW	/NN Pool	?) ×		
**	Storage Cloud Policies	With the O	Define Name and Description	Name	ORA-WWNN-Pool			
黒	Pools vool	0	Add WWN Blocks	Assignment Order	Default (Sequential			
P	KON Poole WAVAN Poole							
	WWNN Pool node-dijfault WWPN Pools							
-	WWWN Pools Sub-Organizations							
	Traffic Montoning Sessions Fabric A Fabric B							
					(Next>)	Cancel		

- 4. Click Next and then click Add to add block of Ports.
- 5. Enter Block for WWN and size of WWNN Pool as shown below.

Crea	te WWN Block			? ×
From :	20:00:00:25:B5:7A:00:00	Size : 2	256 💲	
To ensur the follow	e uniqueness of WWNs in the wing WWN prefix:	SAN fabric,	you are stror	ngly encouraged to use
20:00:00):25:b5:xx:xx:xx			
			OW	Cancel
			OK	Cancel

6. Click OK and then click Finish.

To configure the necessary WWPN pools for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

We created two WWPN as ORA-WWPN-A Pool and ORA-WWPN-B as World Wide Port Name as shown below. These WWNN and WWPN entries will be used to access storage through SAN configuration.

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the SAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Pools > Root > WWPN Pools > right-click WWPN Pools > Select Create WWPN Pool.
- 3. Assign name as ORA-WWPN-A and Assignment Order as sequential.

Crea	te WWN Block			? ×
From :	20:00:00:25:B5:8A:A0:00	Size : 256	*	
To ensur the follow	e uniqueness of WWNs in the wing WWN prefix:	SAN fabric, you	are strongly	encouraged to use
20:00:00):25:b5:xx:xx:xx			
				<u></u>
			ок	Cancel

- 4. Click Next and then click Add to add block of ports.
- 5. Enter Block for WWN and size.
- 6. Click OK and then Finish.

ß

7. Configure the ORA-WWPN-B Pool and assign the unique block IDs as shown below.

Crea	te WWN Block	? ×
From :	20:00:00:25:B5:8B:B0:00	Size : 256 🜲
To ensur the follow	e uniqueness of WWNs in the wing WWN prefix:	SAN fabric, you are strongly encouraged to use
20:00:00):25:b5:xx:xx:xx	
		OK Cancel

When there are multiple UCS domains sitting in adjacency, it is important that these blocks, the WWNN, WWPN, and MAC, hold differing values between each set.

Set Jumbo Frames in both the Cisco Fabric Interconnect

To configure jumbo frames and enable quality of service in the Cisco UCS fabric, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select LAN > LAN Cloud > QoS System Class.
- 3. In the right pane, click the General tab.
- 4. On the Best Effort row, enter 9216 in the box under the MTU column.

disco.	UCS Manager				80	20 00 0 7					
ж	AL .	EAN / EAN Close	d / QoS Sy	stem Class							
-	• LAN	General	ereta i	194							
	LIN Cloud School A	Actiona			Properties						
55	Fiérie B				Contail Local						
	OoS System Class + LAN Pri Groups	Priority	Enabl	ed CoS	Packet Drop	Weight		Weight (%)	мти		Multicast Optimized
	 Threshold Policies 	Platioum	1000	5		10		NA	normal	-	
	VEAN Groupe	Gold				14		NIA	and the second second		
	Applanois	10.000	100	15		(* c.		NIA	(1997)	- 31 	
	Fabric A	. Jones	1.000	2		13	•	1000	(hormal)		
J 0	 Fabric II 	Bronze	8	1		2		NIA	normal	35	
	 VLAhis 	Best		Any		(b.:-	•	50	9216	3	
	Knamal LAN Knamal Fabric A	Fibre Channel	÷	3		4	•	50	1		N/A
	triumat Fatric B Threshold Policins										

- 5. Click Save Changes in the bottom of the window.
- 6. Click OK.

么

Only the Fibre Channel and Best Effort QoS System Classes are enabled in this FlexPod implementation. The UCS and Nexus switches are intentionally configured this way so that all IP traffic within the FlexPod will be treated as Best Effort. Enabling the other QoS System Classes without having a comprehensive, end-to-end QoS setup in place can cause difficult to troubleshoot issues. For example, NetApp storage controllers by default mark IP-based storage protocol packets with a CoS value of 4. With the default configuration on the Nexus switches in this implementation, storage packets pass through the switches and into the UCS Fabric Interconnects with CoS 4 set in the packet header. If the Gold QoS System Class in Cisco UCS is enabled, these storage protocols but the MTU of the Gold QoS System Class is not set to Jumbo, packet drops will occur.

Configure Server BIOS Policy

To create a server BIOS policy for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click Servers on the left.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click BIOS Policies.
- 4. Select Create BIOS Policy.
- 5. Enter OLTP_BIOS as the BIOS policy name
- 6. Select and click the newly created BIOS Policy.
- 7. Click the Advanced tab, leaving the Processor tab selected within the Advanced tab.
- 8. Set the following within the Processor tab:

🕼 UCS Manager		9 - 9	
A	Servers / Publics / rost / BOXPalaces / 0x7P_BOS		
Star 1	the Country and the American State		
and the second se	and a second sec		
Tanana Profes Talanasana	Alternation (1991 Descent all 1994 Mercary David Flat all 201 4	pr 12M and PCIc State Tracent Paytons Grateux Configuration,	
• 178 mil	Submitter # Dout & Per		
1.000	BC0 betrup	X(ma)	
A Advent Printer	and the second sec	The second se	N
1 000 000 000	LECK X2 April	Parties Securi	
a set based	Mar Sweeter HTTER (array	Patter Salar	
and an other design of the local division of	# \$13.5 Georgenia	Patter Ditait	
	Paraja Charlose	100 G1 Trans	
pice	Automotive Circ 2 state	Platter Debut	
inter-	Present C Sule	Dealthead	• (a)
Best Pullage		Dated	
· Depreses rouse	Propaga Ch Reint	Tourse	
· Grantes Card Frances	Protoco O heart	Degree	•0
A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL PROPERTY.	Resear D have	Diana	41
a solution of the second second	Pressed CMC	Pattern Salast	1
A Local Det Couto Mature	These Incomes		211
· Harmonia Patrice		Teacher Salas	
A Managination Company Partners			
· Immediate	No. of Concession, State of Co		
A Reason Concerned Biological	adjuster Carte Line metalities	- Francisco - Fran	-
· From Los Policita	3G14" Perintan	Pattor (Mad	
A Brown Street	- 200 Silverine Problem	Patter Dital	
Territory LAN Training	National Parkethan	Patter Shall	
 Baser Industry 	14P Industri	Patture Debut	1)
A Trans Building Containing	LLC Promote	Halford Soluti	
A Translated Industry	NY Public	Parties Selaur	
· MA Laboration Dellars	Denned Smith	Partier Soluit.	•
A statute line on	Deches.	Partier Detail	
A stational discovery balance	Workshill Conference	Q Tanana	41
1			

9. Click Save Changes and then click OK

All of them may have to be required on your setup. Please follow the steps appropriately according to your environment and requirement. The following changes were made on the test bed where Oracle RAC installed. Please validate and change as needed.

For further details on BIOS settings, please refer to this document https://www.cisco.com/c/dam/en/us/products/collateral/servers-unifiedcomputing/ucs-b-series-blade-servers/whitepaper_c11-740098.pdf

It is recommended to disable C states in the BIOS and in addition, Oracle recommends disabling it from OS level as well by modifying grub entries.

Create Adapter Policy

To create an Adapter Policy for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root > right-click Adapter Policies.
- 3. Select Create Ethernet Adapter Policy.

4. Provide a name for the Ethernet adapter policy. Change the following fields and click Save Changes when you are finished:

a. Resources

- i. Transmit Queues: 8
- ii. Ring Size: 4096
- iii. Receive Queues: 8
- iv. Ring Size: 4096
- v. Completion Queues: 16
- vi. Interrupts: 32
- b. Options

i.

- Receive Side Scaling (RSS): Enabled
- 5. Configure adapter policy as shown below.



RSS distributes network receive processing across multiple CPUs in multiprocessor systems. This can be one of the following: Disabled–Network receive processing is always handled by a single processor even if additional processors are available.

Enabled-Network receive processing is shared across processors whenever possible.

6. Click OK to finish.

Configure Update Default Maintenance Policy

To update the default Maintenance Policy, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane
- 2. Select Policies > root > Maintenance Policies > Default.
- 3. Change the Reboot Policy to User Ack.
- 4. Click Save Changes.
- 5. Click OK to accept the changes.

Configure vNIC and vHBA Template

For this solution, we created two vNIC template for Public Network and Private Network Traffic. Create Public and Private vNIC Template

To create vNIC (virtual network interface card) template for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.

2. Select Policies > root > vNIC Templates > right-click to vNIC Template and Select " Create vNIC Template"

- 3. Enter ORA-vNIC-A as the vNIC template name and keep Fabric A selected.
- 4. Select the Enable Failover checkbox for high availability of the vNIC.

Selecting Failover is a critical step to improve link failover time by handling it at the hardware level, and to guard against NIC any potential for NIC failure not being detected by the virtual switch.

5. Select Template Type as Updating Template.

6. Under VLANs, select the checkboxes default and Public_Traffic and set Native-VLAN as the Public_Traffic.

- 7. Keep MTU value 1500 for Public Network Traffic.
- 8. In the MAC Pool list, select ORA-MAC-A.
- 9. Click OK to create the vNIC template as shown below.

cisco	UCS Manager			i 🌣 🔞		
æ	Al	LAN / Policies / rock / vNIC Templates / vNIC Template ORA-v	NIC-A			
	• LAN A	General VLANs Faulta Events VLAN Groups	Properties			
88	Applances	A CONTRACTOR OF	VICT	122001242100		
	 Internal LAN 	Modify VLANs	Nome	ORA-WNG-A		
	• Polces	Modely VLAN Groups	Description			
	• Apparore	Delate	Owner	Local		
	• DW Coos	These Policy Osige	Fatasc ID	 Fabric A. 	G Fabric B	Final Enable Falloves
	Curfus a Mill Data an	And Galaxy	Redundancy			
	Fitow Control Policies		Redundaricy Type	· No Redundancy Primary	Template 🕕 Secondary Templat	
-	 Dynamic vAPC Convectión Policie 		Tarriel			
	 LACP Policies 		Another			
-0	 LAN Connectivity Policies 		100			
	Link Protocol Policy					
	 Muticast Policies 					
	Network Control Policies					
	QoS Policies					
	 Thrishold Policies 					
	VIA2 Connection Mondes					
	usMC-Connection Policies					
	VNC Templates					
	which temptate crow-which d		Textplane Type	 Initial Template Updating Temp 	kate.	
	Sub-Organizations		CDN Source	* vNC Name C User Defined		
			MTU	1500		
	P Droke		Policies	TATAL		
	 MAC Down 		MAC Real	and such transition of		
	 Schultzmannsterne 		and the second	DRA-MAC-A(286/258) •		
	Traffic Monitorius Seconda		QuS Policy	<not .*<="" sats="" td=""><td></td><td></td></not>		
	+ Falser A		11-1-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-1			
	 Espic 8 		Network Control Policy	+rot set> •		
	+ Netflow Mantoring		Pin Group	rock anti-		
	Filow Record Definitions		State These boat Decision	Case of the second seco		
	 Flow Exporters 		sale metros rocy	anant a		
	Row Montone		Connection Policies -			

- 10. Click OK to finish.
- 11. Create another vNIC template for Private Network Traffic with few changes:
- a. Enter ORA-vNIC-B as the vNIC template name for Private Network Traffic.
- b. Select the Fabric B and Enable Failover for Fabric ID options.
- c. Select Template Type as Updating Template.
- d. Under VLANs, select the checkboxes default and Private_Traffic and set Native-VLAN as the Private_Traffic.
- e. Set MTU value to 9000 and MAC Pool as ORA-MAC-B.
- 12. Click OK to create the vNIC template as shown below.



Create Storage vHBA Template

To create multiple virtual host bus adapter (vHBA) templates for the Cisco UCS environment, follow these steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the SAN tab in the navigation pane
- 2. Select Policies > root > Right Click vHBA Templates > Select "Create vHBA Template" to create vHBAs.
- 3. Enter name as ORA-vHBA-A and keep Fabric A selected.
- 4. Select VSAN as ORA-VSAN-A and template type to Updating Template.
- 5. Select WWPN Pool as ORA-WWPN-A from the drop-down list as shown below.

Create vHBA	Template	? ×
Name	: ORA-vHBA-A	
Description	£	
Fabric ID Redundancy	: • A () B	
Redundancy Type	: No Redundancy O Primary Template O Secondary Template	
Select VSAN	Create VSAN	
Template Type	: O Initial Template O Updating Template	
Max Data Field Size	2048	
WWPN Pool	CRA-WWPN-A(256/256)	
QoS Policy	Conot set> V	
Pin Group	: <not set=""></not>	
Stats Threshold Policy	C: default 💌	
	OK	Cancel

For this solution, we created two vHBA as ORA-vHBA-A and ORA-vHBA-B.

6. Enter name as ORA-vHBA-B and select Fabric B. Select WWPN Pool for ORA-vHBA-B as "ORA-WWPN-B" as shown below.

Name		
Deseriation		
Description		
Redundancy	: OA •B	
Redundancy Typ	e : 💽 No Redundancy 🔿 Primary Template 🔿 Secondary 1	Femplate
Select VSAN	Create VSAN	
Template Type	: O Initial Template Updating Template	
Max Data Field Size	e : 2048	
WWPN Pool	: ORA-WWPN-B(256/256) 🔻	
QoS Policy	<pre>not set> </pre>	
Pin Group	: <not set=""></not>	
Stats Threshold Po	olicy : default.	
	1 h	

Create Server Boot Policy for SAN Boot

All Oracle nodes were set to boot from SAN for the Cisco Validated Design as part of the Service Profile template. The benefits of booting from SAN are numerous; disaster recovery, lower cooling and power requirements for each server since a local drive is not required, and better performance.

We strongly recommend to use "Boot from SAN" to realize full benefits of Cisco UCS stateless computing feature such as service profile mobility.

This process applies to a Cisco UCS environment in which the storage SAN ports are configured as detailed in the following sections.

Create Local Disk Configuration Policy

A Local disk configuration for the Cisco UCS is necessary if the servers in the environments have a local disk.

To configure Local disk policy, follow these steps:

1. Go to tab Servers > Policies > root > right-click Local Disk Configuration Policy > enter "SAN-Boot" as the local disk configuration policy name and change the mode to "No Local Storage."

2. Click OK to create the policy as shown below.

Create Local	Disk Configuration Policy	? ×
Name	: SAN-Boot	
Description	:	
Mode	: No Local Storage	
FlexFlash		
FlexFlash State	: Oisable C Enable	
If FlexFlash State is disa Please ensure SD cards	abled, SD cards will become unavailable immediately. are not in use before disabling the FlexFlash State.	
FlexFlash RAID Reporti	ng State : 💽 Disable 🔵 Enable	
		K Cancel

Create SAN Boot Policy

The screenshot below shows the network interface, WWPN and ports connectivity configured for NetApp AFF A700s controller. Four Fibre Channel logical interfaces (LIFs) are created on storage controller cluster node 1 (node1_lif02a, node1_lif02b, node1_lif03a and node1_lif03b) and four Fibre Channel LIFs are created on storage controller cluster node 2 (node2_lif02b, node2_lif02b, node2_lif03b).

11	Uncommand	i sys	item Manager							0	R\$	Q	0	
									Type: Att	· P	Search all GR	Secan -		ľ
		=	Network Interfaces											
	Dashboard		12 Dess 11 1- X -	- ···· · ····· · ····· · ····· · ····· ·										
	Additional Street	10	9) treatace Name	Y Storage Virtual Machine Y	PASSIEW6PS	Y Current Fors	Y Is more Port Y	Outs Protocol Access	(VT Alabagement Access)	T Los	91.	T R04		
	Seburation of the	20	Concelution	DEATEC, IVAN	2008-00.40 98.417c51	ResPonation of de	Yes	10		964		Dat	el.	
3	Storage	•	nose1_0025	ORA12C_SIM	20.0c.00.02.95 #75.50	PerPosation-0125	Yes	×ρ	Ha :	144		Dep	#(C	
6	hietwork	÷	Codet_Hite	DRA12C_SVM	200700#09E#17c5b	Feelboartics-01:34	7es	ND .	110	314		Deb	80 E	
	Tinnet:		• roset,inits	ORA12C_EVM	20.08.00.00.00.0171.58	FeePoil#700s-01:30	Yes	10	100	.Aia.		Det		
	- Provide the second second		similator O	ORATOC SUM	20:09:00.40:00 at 7c.95	FeiPose700s.02.0a	Yep	to:	Ass	-16		Det	88 - E	
	-Network interface	5.	ectit_thics	ORA12C_SIM	2010/00/00 90 48 #7/250	FesPpd #100s.02.25	Yeş .	ttp	No :	344		Det	£0.	
	Ethennet Ports		• coded_intite	DEA10C, DIM	20.0x.00 x0.98.471:58	FeePo54700x42.3a	Yes	ta .	the contract of the second sec	-164		Det		
	Broadcast Domain	ŝ.	0 nose2,0000	ORA12C,SUM	20 00 00 40 90 ar 7c 56	FexPoil-47009-02-30	Vel.	10	No	Sec.		Det		
	FC/FCot Adapters		· Peinsattosót.cs	et. Outlet	169.254.22.168	Ferfooa700s01a0a	Yes	www.	. Hut	366		¢.,	ini:	
	Paparet.		Fedaga7005-01_01	42 Outer	149.254.81.21	PerPodaTols.01.e01	789.)	1018	No :	344		CLA	MC .	
			• FexPaste120s-02_m	41 Cutter	18925421516	FevFus-#700-42.mla	Yes	none .	No	ALL		0.0	ter .	
2	Protection	1	0 nedasa005-02,04	s2 Ouster	109-254/132.211	FexPod-attols-G2+01	7ee	none	No	in.		Our	and a second	
	Events & jobs	1	· nedsoutopson_m	peit Feitedatos	10.29(135)307	Feitbolatoblictiativ	749	mark)	Tes:	394		· Nor	a Managerie	-
E	Configuration		· Ferforatobild_mg	prol RevPod-a700s	10.29 135 108	Ferfooattils.cz.acht	140	1004	194	-114		Noor	le Wanagers	-
			· clear, ages	FitsFod-#700t	10.29.135.115	PerPada700s-01 adki	Ves.	tore	144			Cur.	cer Manager	-
			• 044125,5WJ,88707	IN ORAIDC, DVM	10.29135.14	NevPod-a7025-01.e00	Yes	1018	941	344		Dep		
			- General Properties		alouer Properties									
			Nemora Address/With	v 200600 x2 51 x7 71 30	tone Port ResPotent	00x.01.24(344.)								

You can also obtain this information by login to the storage cluster and run the network interface show command

The SAN boot policy configures the SAN Primary's primary-target to be network interface node1_lif02a on NetApp storage cluster and SAN Primary's secondary-target to be network interface node1_lif03a on NetApp storage cluster. Similarly, the SAN Secondary's primary-target to be network interface node2_lif02b on NetApp storage cluster and SAN Secondary's secondary-target to be network interface node2_lif03b on NetApp storage cluster. Login into NetApp storage controller and verify all the port information is correct. This information can be found in the NetApp Storage GUI under Network > Network Interfaces.

You have to create SAN Primary (hba0) and SAN Secondary (hba1) in SAN Boot Policy by entering WWPN of NetApp Storage LIFs as explained below.

To create Boot Policies for the Cisco UCS environments follow these steps:

么

∕∕∽

1. Go to UCS Manager and then go to tab Servers > Policies > root > Boot Policies.

2. Right-click and select Create Boot Policy. Enter SAN_Boot as the name of the boot policy as shown below.

dist.	UCS Manager		8 9 9 9	
ス 第 8 夏 日	Al - Servers - Servers - Polices - Polices - noti - Adapter Polices - BIOS Defaults - BIOS Defaults - BIOS Polices	Create Boot Policy Name Description Reboot on Boot Order Orange Criteric vVICA+BLASCS Name Boot Mode WARNINGS The spee (primary/secondary) does new The effective create of boot devices with Enforce vVICA+BLASCS Name a If as not served, the vVICA+BLASCS Name a If as not served.	NN_Boot	P X Bout Part
≡ = -to	Degroptics Pelicie Organiss Card Hoses Host Fernises Packages With Access Packages With Access Profiles Work Management Pelicies Sonal Pelicies Sonal Pelicies Sonar Pelicies Sonar Pelicies Threated/Pelicies	 Local Devices CIMC Mounted vMedia vNICs vHRAs ISCSI vNICs EFI Shalt 	Bool Grder + - V Advanced Filter + Export & Print Norther Onder • vNOC/VH. Type ULUN Nix. WWWN Bloc Nix. Bool Nix. Bool Path Devon Nor data available + Show Vp + Show Town Town	

7. Expand the Local Devices drop-down menu and Choose Add CD/DVD. Expand the vHBAs drop-down menu and select Add SAN Boot.

The SAN boot paths and targets will include primary and secondary options in order to maximize resiliency and number of paths.

8. In the Add SAN Boot dialog box, select Type as "Primary" and name vHBA as "hba0". Click OK to add SAN Boot.

Add \$	SAN Boot	?	\times
vHBA :	hba0		
Type :	Primary Secondary Any		
	OV	Cancal	2
	OK	Cancel)

9. Select add SAN Boot Target to enter WWPN address of storage LIF. Keep 0 as the value for Boot Target LUN. Enter the WWPN of NetApp Storage cluster interface node1_lif02a and add SAN Boot Primary Target.

Add SAN Bo	ot Target	? ×
Boot Target LUN :	0	
Boot Target WWPN :	20:06:00:A0:98:AF:7C:5B]
Type :	Primary Secondary	
	ОК	Cancel

10. Add secondary SAN Boot target into same hba0, enter boot target LUN as 0 and WWPN of NetApp Storage cluster interface node1_lif03a and add SAN Boot Secondary Target.

Boot Target LUN :	0	
Boot Target WWPN :	20:07:00:A0:98:AF:7C:5B	
Гуре :	O Primary (Secondary	

11. From the vHBA drop-down list and Choose Add SAN Boot. In the Add SAN Boot dialog box, enter "hba1" in the vHBA field.

12. Click OK to SAN Boot, then choose add SAN Boot Target.

Add	SAN Boot	? ×
vHBA :	hba1	
Type :	Primary Secondary Any	
	OK	Cancel

13. Enter 0 as the value for Boot Target LUN. Enter the WWPN of NetApp Storage cluster interface node2_lif02b and add SAN Boot Primary Target.

Boot Target LUN :	0	
Boot Target WWPN :	20:0D:00:A0:98:AF:7C:5B	
Type :	Primary Secondary	

14. Add secondary SAN Boot target into same hba1, and enter boot target LUN as 0 and WWPN of NetApp Storage cluster interface node2_lif03b and add SAN Boot Secondary Target.

Boot Target LUN :	0	
Boot Target WWPN :	20:0B:00:A0:98:AF:7C:5B	
Type :	O Primary Secondary	

15. After creating the FC boot policies, you can view the boot order in the UCS Manager GUI. To view the boot order, navigate to Servers > Policies > Boot Policies. Click Boot Policy SAN-Boot-A to view the boot order in the right pane of the Cisco UCS Manager as shown below.

(0)	UCS Manager		89 - 9	2					
	(M)	Servers / Policies / met / Boot Policies / Boo	Policy SAN_Boot						
	+ Serves	Gerour Events							
_	dervice Profiles	ALC: N							
	Service Profile Templates	Actions	Properties	0.484538975					
	• Polema	Detette	Marrei	SAN_Boot					
		Show Policy Usage	Onscription						
	Adapter Policies		Owner	Local					
	 BOS Defaults 		Report on Boot Onter Change						
	+ BOSPotoes		Show Market	Presson Clinick					
	· Boot Policies		South States	- Incoment Conten					
	Boott Policy chidaum	Warning							
	Biom Policy dvig	The type (primary/secondary) does not educate a	boot order presence.						
	Bion Policy dwg Boot Policy Local_Llok	The type (primery/secondary) does not indicate a The effective (index of boot devoces within the per if Enforce vNIC/VMA/IS/SI Name is protocol as	foor order presence. In device class ILMA/Scrage/ISCSI) is determined by P Id the VEC/IMBA/ISCSI does not exit, a cooling entry is	Cle but scan order.					
	Biost Policy dag Boot Policy Local_Dak Root Policy SAN_BOOK	The type (primary/secondary) does not indicate a The effective (ryber of boot devoces writer the am # Enforce vNIC/VRA/SCSI Name is selected an # A is not selected, the vNICard+B4o are selected.	book onder presentalle w device scient (CAV/Storage/GCSV) is determined by P d the vtric/vellACSCS does not exist, a config error in if they exist, otherwise the v50C/VellA with the lowest	Cie bus scan order al be reported. PCie bus scan order a	e unterl.				
	Bion Policy dag Door Policy Local, Dok Door Policy SML Bioor Door Policy staty	The type (privacy/sectordary) does not indicate a The effective order of boot devices within the sam # Enforce order/OMEASCES Name is indicated an # Enforce order/OMEASCES Name is indicated # it is not selected. The vViClari-MAs are selected	boot onther presence. In decays class (CAN-Mongo/ACCE) is determined by P of the vMCC/MARACCE class not exist, a config error in it they exist, otherwise the vMCC/MBA with the lowest i	Cleritus scan order all be reported. PCIe tua scan order s	e sonel.				
	Biori Policy dag Boot Policy Local, Dak Doot Policy SMAL Boot Biod Policy staty • Chigmatrica Polices	The type Lainway/secondara) does not indicate a The effective other of boot devices within the are if a first effective devices and the secondary of a long of the secondary and the secondary (i) Local Devices	boot order (preserve) te device class (UAV/Strange/GCS9) is determined by P the vHCr(PHACS2) does not avail, a config enter by 4 they exist, otherwise the vHCr(PHA with the lowest) Boot Onder	Ge bus scan order al be reported. PCe bus scan order s	e unitif.				
	Bost Policy dag Nost Palicy dag Nost Palicy Load, Stak Nost Policy SAN, Door Bost Policy May & Dagnostica Policies & Grantes Date Middees	The type larmwrytechnidwy don nor obrain a The effective other of boot because within the an if Enforce effective/MARSIG Reve is instantial at if is not assessed, the declaration of the end of a local behavior.	both order (arguments) is derived class (CAN/Strangerd/SC/S) is determined by 0 in the order of state of state of a state of a state of they exact, otherwise the defC/sF/SA with the lowest is the order of the ord	Cle Sus scan order al be reported. PCe bus scan order n	i onist.				
	Boot Policy dag Noot Pales Local, Dak Noot Pales Local, Dak Doot Policy staty • Dagmonta Polices • Dagmonta Polices • Dagmonta Polices • Dagmonta Polices • Dagmonta Polices	The type (an way leadership), does not obtain a the effective other of boot because within the as if fuffore with/PARAMOS News is executed a if it is not believed. The vitrobul-Wilds are executed if is not believed. The vitrobul-Wilds are executed if a constraint of the constraint of the constraint of the interview of the inter	boor order presents is device that UAN Desingu/SCES is determined by P the VEC/VEAN-SCE data not near a coording and in a they result, inference the VECINESA with the lowest Boot Droke + - % Advanced Film: # Dot form:	Cle Ibut scan tride all be reported. PC's tout scan index s port @ Pres Octar • d	n untett. NIC/untQu.	Tiper	1100 Name	www	
	Boot Policy dag Noot Policy dag Noot Policy Local (Dak Noot Policy stMy Dolf Policy stMy Do	The type (animary)reconding, if dee not obtain a the effective other of boot devoces within the as if forfore with/VMANDOG Names is executed at if is not satisfaind. The vitroGal-Milds are effected if is not satisfaind. The vitroGal-Milds are effected if CMCC Mounteed vMandia	Not index formation. In depose caller (CAVLInnega,MCCB) is determined by P of the Article-MAXECB data in details, a config entry is if they exist, if therease the ArtiCla-MBA with the typest Boot Druber +	Cle laus scan order al be reported PCie but scan inder a cost @ Prim Order • 4	e untert. NEC/stripts_ NEC	Tape Nersay	100 June	ww	
	Boot Policy dag Not Policy dag Not Naky SMAL Not Doel Policy stay - Daground Policy - Stayness Cest Polices - Host Formaure Polices - Host Formaure Polices - Host Access Indhes - VAM Management Polices	The type (primary)recording (does not oblight a the effective oblight Cool Section with the arm of the effective oblight Cool Section with the arm of a rest administrative oblight of the oblight of the oblight oblight of the oblight of the oblight oblight of the oblight of the Oblight oblight oblight of the Oblight oblight oblight of the Oblight oblight oblight oblight of the Oblight oblight o	Not order (smean)). In deport class (CAN) (inseparatific CAI) is determined by (P all the Article MAA SEC (is then or class); a config among is if they exact, if therease the ARC(1+BA with the lowest) Better Carden + Sy Advancest Film: # Dec form: V SAY Among Films Sality Target Primary	Ce tus sum order of be reported. PCe tus stan order o on @Pter Octor • o	e urbett. NEC/stellut. NEC	Tape Rimary Persary	ALRONAME 0	view 2016 00 Actual Africtua	
	Bost Policy dag Nost Policy dag Doot Policy SAL Door Doot Policy SAL Door Doot Policy SAL Cagnostics Pelces Cagnostics DedPhilose Cagnostics DedPhilose Cagnostics Pelces Nost Firmware Packages Not Access Institute Not Access Institute Not Access Pelces	The type larinary/secondary idea for indicate a the effective other of boot backets within the as if Enforce WOMMANGO Reservations is indicated an of the net assessed, the VECANDAR are selected (*) Local Devices (*) CIMC Mounteed vMedia (*) VMCs (*) VMCs	Non code research. We do not clear CAN theopyoint/COU is determined by 0 deter Market (MARK) determined by 0 determined by 0 Boot Onder + 5, Advanced File - 8 De Teams 	Ge bus som örder at be reported. PCIr bus som inder a on Orfer Octor • 4	e unterf. National effektive National effektive	Tape Denay Plenay Securitary	ALIAN Asaman D	vilov prosionalo se visavi je tak proti opatomalar je tak	
	Boot Policy dag Noot Palicy dag Doot Palicy Using Doot Policy Using Doot Policy Using Doot Policy Using Octamise Doot Policies Octamise Doot Policies Not Fritmany Policyas Not Policy Using Not Access Medites Not Not Policy Using Doot Doot Doot Policyas Using Doot Doot Policyas	The type (an exploration) does not obtain a the effective order of boot backets within the and the obtained within the and the obtained within the and the obtained with the set of the obtained of the obtain	book onder presentste te denos skala UAA forsprach (SCR) in determented by 0 if they exact, offenense franc determined by 0 Book Onder + 5y Adjacent (Farr - 8 De Teams MAN Framery Boly Tramery Boly Tramery Schy Teamstry	Cle but scan order at be reported PCIE but scan order o con Orter of Other of 1	e untet. Native epis. Nati	Type Directly Primary Securitary	XXXX Juane 0 0	www. approximation of the approximation of the	
	Bort Policy dag Not Palice Load, Dak Doct Policy dag Doct Policy dag Octantes Polices Octantes Oct Polices Octantes Oct Polices Octantes Oct Polices Octantes Oct Polices Octantes Octantes Octantes Octantes Octantes Octantes Octantes Octantes Octantes Octantes Octantes Octantes	the type (primary)recording if does not obtain a the type (primary)recording if does not not be type the control of the type (primary) of the type (primary) the control of the type (primary) of the type (primary) the control of the type (primary) of the type (primary) the type (primary) of the type (primary) of the type (primary) the type (primary) of the type (primary) of type (pri	Not obtain sevenities in deport of last 12/14/14/14/14/14/14/14/14/14/14/14/14/14/	Con but sour index at be reported PCIIe but soon refer to Onder • ri N	e antel Nachardon Nachardon	Type Niewy Niewy Secretary Secretary Niewy	ALEX Former	WWW 2016-00-AC VEAU TO THE 2010 TO AC VEAU TO THE 2010 TO AC VEAU TO THE	
	Bort Policy dag bort Policy dag bort Policy attry Doel Policy attry Doel Policy attry Organiza Card Millow Market Card Millow Mill Access Index Mill Access Index Mill Access Index Mill Access Index Market Access Locar Dak Config Polices Locar Dak Config Polices Locar Dak Config Polices Market Access Findex	the type (primary)reconstruit of one for obtain a the effective object to boot access while the are advected to be object to boot access while the are advected to be object to boot access while the are advected to be object to be object to be object to be object (*) Local Deriviers (*) UNIC Mounted vMedia (*) vMICs (*) vMICs (*) vMICs (*) vMICs (*) vMICs	Not order presently deprot of last Christophysiol (CDI) is determined by (P deprot of last Christophysiol (CDI) is determined by (P deprot of last Christophysiol (CDI) is determined by (P Boot Christophysiol (CDI) (CDI) (CDI) (CDI) (CDI) Rest Christophysiol (CDI) (CDI) (CDI) (CDI) (CDI) Rest Christophysiol (CDI) (CDI	Ce but som order at berroomtel Päre but som order s ord @ Pres Order • 4 , 11	e untett. Nachungus, Nachungus, Nach	Type Primary Primary Securitary Securitary Securitary	0 0 0	view protect access of the protocological for the protocological access of the protocological for all form	
	Bost Policy dag bost Palicy Load, Usé Doot Palicy May Doot Policy May Doot Policy May Doot Policy May Doot Policy May Doot Policy May Doot Policy May Doot Policy Doot Policy	the type (primary)recording) does not obtain a the effective other of boot backs within the an there and advantage is a straight of the other the not advantage is the other of the other the other advantage is a straight of the other the other the other advantage is a straight of the other the	Not order presently the device states LLA through ACCU is determined by 0 all the ACCU MAACCU data in stats, a config and a in they exact, therease the ACCU MAA with the lowest Boot Order + 5, Advanced File: + Doc harm 	Cerbus soar (rder al berroporte). PCerbus soar erder s control frem Oddar • d 1	e untett. Nachungus. Nach	Type Prinsey Prinsey Security Security Security	SLAA Juurne D D D	viiw 2000.00.408.44 (C.18) 2007.00.408.44 (C.18) 2002.00.408.44 (C.18) 2002.00.408.44 (C.18)	

For this solution, we created one Boot Policy as "SAN_Boot". For all 4 Oracle Database RAC Nodes(flex1, flex2, flex3 and flex4), we will assign this boot policy to the Service Profiles as explained in the following section.

Configure and Create a Service Profile Template

Service profile templates enable policy based server management that helps ensure consistent server resource provisioning suitable to meet predefined workload needs.

The Cisco UCS service profiles with SAN boot policy provides the following benefits:

- Scalability Rapid deployment of new servers to the environment in a very few steps.
- Manageability Enables seamless hardware maintenance and upgrades without any restrictions.
- Flexibility Easy to repurpose physical servers for different applications and services as needed.
- Availability Hardware failures are not impactful and critical. In rare case of a server failure, it is easier to associate the logical service profile to another healthy physical server to reduce the impact.

You will create one Service Profile Template "ORA_FLEXPOD" using boot policy created earlier to utilize four LIF ports from NetApp Storage for high-availability in case of any FC links go down. The following sections detail how to create ORA_FLEXPOD.

Create Service Profile Template

6

To create a service profile template, follow these steps:

1. In the Cisco UCS Manager, go to Servers > Service Profile Templates > root and right-click to "Create Service Profile Template" as shown below.

2. Enter the Service Profile Template name, select the UUID Pool that was created earlier and click Next.

obuda	UCS Manager	🙁 🦁 🕲 🕸	
and the second		Create Service Profile Template	(9) ×
100	+ Serens	Knowly Service Tructure To care also specify how a UUD will be assigned Instance To care also specify how a UUD will be assigned Instance To care also specify how a UUD will be assigned Instance To care also specify how a UUD will be assigned	to the
	 Service Rudies Service Rudies Service Rudies Sub-Organizations Sub-Organizations Rudies Rudies Rudies Sub-Operatives Sub-Operatives Sub-Operatives Sub-Operatives Sub-Operatives Sub-Operatives Sub-Operatives Sub-Operatives Sub-Operatives 	Storage Provisioning Name: ORA_FLEXPOD Networking Name: ORA_FLEXPOD Networking The template wid be created in the bidwarg organization. Its name must be unque within this organization. Where organization is name must be unque within this organization. Type: Onal Enclose V Optiming Template: SAN Connectivity South Control of the tradition of the bidwarg organization. Its name must be unque within this organization. Type: Onal Enclose V Optiming Template: Summe: Delta Posticy ULUD Assignment: ORA-FLEXPOD Wedda Posticy Delta ULUD into (256/256) Wedda Posticy Delta ULUD into (256/256) Server Boot Order Optional template. ULUD into (256/256) Maintenance Policy Optional template. The description can contain information about when and where the server profile should be:	
	 mp-box-publics tradicet table-field 	Server Assignment Operational Policies Next> Rabh	Cancel)

3. Select Local Disk Configuration Policy to SAN-Boot as no Local Storage.

etsco.	UCS Manager				8 8 8 8			<u> </u>
*	- Secure	1 ide Te	entify Service Profile implate	Create Service I Optionally specify or creater	Profile Templat a Storage Profile, and sele	LE est a local des configuration policy.		• ×
■ 品 車 四 車 回 わ	 Seyves Fielder Serves Workt Trensmitten Serve Serve Serve Rose Rose Rose Serve Se		emplote project Preventing ethnorking MV Connectivity wring UCV/HBA Placement Aedia Policy erver Boot Order eintenance Policy prever Assignment perational Policies	Specific Storage Poste Local Storage SAN-Boor Create Local Disk Corking	Storager Profile Policy.	Vocal Dak Configuration Policy Mode Protect Configuration If Protect Configuration If Protect Configuration manufactures are mained inter- tion of the sound state of the difference. Flectiash If Braciliash State If Braciliash State	No Local Storage Yes I: the local daik configuration is is diseased with a storage with the maje storage with the days and the storage figuration in that profile is Disable SD cards will become at an use before disabling the or Disable	
						(<pm< td=""><td>Next > Tosh</td><td>Cancel</td></pm<>	Next > Tosh	Cancel

4. In the networking window, select "Expert" and click "Add" to create vNICs. Add one or more vNICs that the server should use to connect to the LAN.

We created two vNIC in the create vNIC menu. We have given name to first vNIC as "eth0" and second vNIC as "eth1".

5. Select vNIC Template as ORA-vNIC-A and Adapter Policy as ORA_Linux_Tuning which was created earlier for vNIC "eth0".

		Create vNIC		(?) ×	(?) ×
	Identify Templat	Name : eth0 Use vN/C Template : 🕅			
	Storage	Redundancy Pair : 🗐	Peer Name :		
0	Network	VNIC Template : ORA-VNIC+A Adapter Performance Profile	Greate VMC Template	1	
0	SAN Co	Adapter Policy : ORA_Linux_Tuning •	Create Ethernet Adapter Policy		
	Zoning				
6	VNIC/VH				
۰	vMedia				
•	Server I				
•	Mainten			-	
10	Server /				
(1)	Operati				
				Cancel	Cancel

6. Select vNIC Template as ORA-vNIC-B and Adapter Policy as ORA_Linux_Tuning for vNIC "eth1". eth0 and eth1 vNICs are created so that Servers should use to connect to the LAN.

		Create vNIC		(?) ×	(?) ×
6	Identify	Name : eth1			
	Storage	Use vNIC Template : 🗹 Redundancy Pair : 🔲	Peer Name :		
	Natwork	VNIC Template : ORA-VNIC-B. •	Create vNIC Template	Ĵ.	
	SAN Co	Adapter Performance Profile	County Educated & doubles Dallas		
6	Zoning	Adapter Policy : ORA_Linux_Tuning ¥	Create strenet voluplet Poicy		
(1)	VNIC/VH				
(7)	vMedia				
	Server I				
	Mainteo				
30	Server /				¥
1	Operatio				
				OK Cancel	Cancel

	Create Service Pro	file Template			? ×
Identify Service Profile	Optionally specify LAN configura	tion information.			
Template Storage Provisioning	Dynamic vNIC Connection Policy:	Select a Policy to use (no D	namic vNIC Policy by default) *		
Networking	Cr	eate Dynamic vNIC Connection	an Policy		
SAN Connectivity	How would you like to configure L	AN connectivity?			
Zoning	Click Add to specify one or more	NICs that the server should	use to connect to the LAN.		
vNIC/vHBA Placement	vNIC eth1	MAC Address Derived	Fabric ID derived	Native VLAN	
vMedia Policy	vNIC eth0	Derived	derived		
Server Boot Order					
Maintenance Policy					
Server Assignment	⊕ iSCSI vNICs	<u>ii</u> D	elete () Add () Macity		v
Operational Policies	- Contraction				
			d Denny	Nave v	Cancel
	Identify Service Profile Template Storage Provisioning Networking SAN Connectivity Zoning vNIC/vHBA Placement vMedia Policy Server Boot Order Maintenance Policy Server Assignment Operational Policies	Identify Service Profile Template Optionally specify LAN configuration Dynamic vNIC Connection Policy Storage Provisioning Dynamic vNIC Connection Policy Networking Cm SAN Connectivity How would you like to configuration San Connectivity Circk Add to specify one or more to Name VNIC/vHBA Placement vNIC eth1 vMiC eth0 Server Boot Order Maintenance Policy Image: Server Assignment Operational Policies Image: Server Assignment	Identify Service Profile Create Service Profile Template Identify Service Profile Optionally specify LAN configuration information. Storage Provisioning Dynamic vNIC Connection Policy: Select a Policy to use (no D) Networking Create Dynamic vNIC Connectivity? SAN Connectivity How would you like to configure LAN connectivity? Single • Expert No vNICs Use Connectivity? Single • Expert No vNICs that the server should in Name vNIC/vHBA Placement vNIC eth1 vMiC eth0 Derived vMIC eth0 Derived Server Assignment (•) ISCSI vNICs Operational Policies (•) ISCSI vNICs	Identify Service Profile Optionality specify LAN configuration information. Storage Provisioning Optionality specify LAN configuration information. Identify Service Profile Optionality specify configure LAN connectivity? Service Connectivity Simple • Expert	Identify Service Profile Optionally specify LAN configuration reformation. Storage Provisioning Dynamic vNIC Connection Policy Select a Policy to use (no Dynamic vNIC Policy by default) • Networking Create Dynamic vNIC Connection Policy SAN Connectivity Prov would you like to configure LAN connectivity? Simple • Expent NNCS Use Connectivity? Single • Expent NNCS Use Connectivity? VitiC/VHBA Placement WatC edit1 VitiC eth1 Derived VitiC eth1 Derived Server Boot Order WitC eth1 Maintenance Policy Server Assignment Operational Policies ISCSI VNICs

7. When the vNICs are created, you need to create vHBAs. Click Next.

8. In the SAN Connectivity menu, select "Expert" to configure as SAN connectivity. Select WWNN (World Wide Node Name) pool, created previously. Click "Add" to add vHBAs as shown below. The following four HBA have been created:

- a. hba0 using vHBA Template Oracle-HBA-A
- b. hba1 using vHBA Template Oracle-HBA-B
- c. hba2 using vHBA Template Oracle-HBA-A
- d. hba3 using vHBA Template Oracle-HBA-B

Create vHBA		? ×
Name : hba0		
Use vHBA Template :		
Redundancy Pair :	Peer Name :	
vHBA Template : ORA-vHBA-A 🔻	Create vHBA Template	
Adapter Performance Profile		
Adapter Policy : Linux	Create Fibre Channel Adapter Policy	
		(a
	OK	Gancel

		? ×
Name : hba1		
Use vHBA Template : 🗹		
Redundancy Pair :	Peer Name :	
vHBA Template : ORA-vHBA-B 🔻	Create vHBA Template	
Adapter Performance Profile		
Adapter Policy : Linux 🔻	Create Fibre Channel Adapter Policy	
L		

Create vHBA		? ×
Name : hba2		
Use vHBA Template : 🗹		
Redundancy Pair :	Peer Name :	
vHBA Template : ORA-vHBA-A 🔻	Create vHBA Template	
Adapter Performance Profile		
Adapter Policy : Linux 🔻	Create Fibre Channel Adapter Policy	

Cre	eate vHBA			(?) ×
Nam	he : hba3	1 ·		
Use	vHBA Template : 🗠			
Red	undancy Pair : 🔲		Peer Name :	
vHB	A Template : ORA-vH	BA-B 🔻	Create vHBA Template	
Ad	apter Performance Prof	ile		
Ac	dapter Policy : Linux	•	Create Fibre Channel Adapter Policy	
	lesi-			
				OK Cancel
		Create Service Pro	file Template	(? ×
-		Optionally specify disk policies a	nd SAN configuration information.	
0	Identify Service Profile Template			
~	277 - 2 AVA	-		^
3	Storage Provisioning	WWNN Assignment:	ORA-WWNN-Pool(256/256)	
0	Networking			
-	SAN Consertate	The WWNN will be assigne	d from the selected pool.	1
0	CARL CONTRACTIVITY	The available/total WWNNs	s are displayed after the pool name.	
6	Zoning	٤	•	
G	vNIC/vH8A Placement			
Ľ				
0	vMedia Policy			
	Server Boot Order			
-		Name	WWPN	
0	Maintenance Policy	▶ vHBA hba3	Derived	
10	Server Assignment	▶ vHBA hba2	Derived	Derived
-		> vHBA hba1	Derived	
an a	Operational Policies	 Autory upan 	Derved	
			🗊 Delete 💮 Add 🕚 Modify	v
			< Prev	Next > Finish Cancel

For this Oracle RAC Configuration, the Cisco MDS 9148S is used for zoning. Skip zoning and go to the next step.

- 9. In vNIC/vHBA Placement menu, keep option as Let System Perform Placement.
- 10. For this solution, do not configure any vMedia Policy. Click Next.
- 11. In the Server Boot Order, select "SAN_Boot" as Boot Policy created previously.

		Create Service Pro	ofile Ten	nplate	e						
k	dentify Service Profile	Optionally specify the boot pole	cy for this serve	ice profile	s templat	e.					
Ĵ	lemplate	Bant Distory Case Bank								^	
s	Storage Provisioning	Mana	CAN Per			Creat	e Boot Policy				
		Description	: 3AUN_800							~	
N	Networking	Reboot on Boot Order Change	No								
		Enforce vNIC/vHBA/ISCSI Nan	ne: Yes								
s	SAN Connectivity	Boot Mode	: Legacy								
7	Ionino	The type (primary/secondary) of	does not indicat	te a boot	order pri	esence.		D ⁿ la hur	eren orde	23	
ſ	coming	The effective order of boot dev If Enforce vNIC/vHRA/ISCSI N	ices within the	same der	vice clas	s (LAN/) RASSO	Storage/ISCSI) is determined by SI does not exist, a config error	will he ren	orteri.	5 5	
v	/NIC/vHBA Placement	The effective order of boot dev If Enforce vNIC/vHBA/iSCSI N. If it is not selected, the vNICs/v	ices within the ame is selecte HBAs are selec	same der d and the cted if the	vice clas vN#C/v# iy exist, o	s (LAN/: BA//SC otherwis	storage/ISCSI) is determined by SI does not exist, a config error e the vNIC/vHBA with the lowe	will be rep st PCle but	orted. I scan ord	n. Ier is us	ed.
v	/NIC/vHBA Placement	The effective order of boot dev if Enforce vNIC/vHBA/iSCSI N. if it is not selected, the vNICs/v Boot Order	ices within the ame is selecte HBAs are selec	same der d and the cted if the	vice clas vN#C/vH ry exist, (s (LAN/S BA//SC otherwis	storage//SCSI) is determined by SI does not exist, a config error e the vNIC/VHBA with the lowe	will be rep st PCle but	orted. I scan ord	π. ler is us	ed.
×	/NIC/vHBA Placement /Media Policy	The effective order of boot dev If Enforce VNIC/VHBA/iSCSI N If it is not selected, the VNICs/V Boot Order + - % Advanced Filter	tees within the ame is selecte HBAs are select † Export	same de d and the cted if the Pelet	vice clas vNIC/v+ ly exist, (s (LAN/: BA/ISC otherwis	storage/ISCSI) is determined by SI does not exist, a config error e the vNIC/VHBA with the lowe	will be rep st PCle but	orted. I scan ord	n. Ier is us	ed.
v	/NIC/vHBA Placement /Media Policy	The effective order of boot dev If Enforce vNCA/HARASCS1 N If it is not selected, the vNICs/v Boot Order + - Ty Advanced Filter Name	toes within the ame is selecte HBAs are select the Export the Once	same de d and the cted if the Peint VNL_	vice clas vNiC/vH in exist, o	s (LAN/) BA/ISC atherwis	storage/ISCSI is determined by SI does not exist, a config error is the vNIC/VHBA with the lowe	Slot	Boo	π. ler is us Bqo	ed. Des
v	ANIC/VHBA Placement AMedia Policy Server Boot Order	The effective order of boot dev If Enforce vNRC/vHBA/SCSI N If at is no selected, the vNICs/v Boot Order + - Yr Advanced Fitter Name CD/DVD	ices within the ame is selecte HBAs are selec PExport @ Onc. 1	same de d and the cted if the Point VNI	vice clas vNIC/vH ty exist, o Type	s (LAN/3 BA/ISC atherwis	storage/ISCSI is determined by is idees not exit, a config error ie the vNIC/vHBA with the lowe	Will be rep st POle but Slot	Boo	π. ler is us Boo	ed. Des
× ×	ANIC/VHBA Placement AMedia Policy Server Boot Order Maintenance Policy	The effective order of boot dev if Enforce vNRC/vH8A/SSCSI N if it is not selected, the vNICsiV Boot Order + - */Advanced Filter Name CD/DVD v San	tices within the arms is selecter HBAs are select the Export the Once 1 2	same de d and the cted if the Point VNL	vice clas vNPC/VH ty exist, o	s (LAN/: BA//SC otherwis	Storage/ISCSI is determined by is does not exist, a config error e the vNIC/vHBA with the lowe	Will be rep st POle but	Boo _	π. ler is us Bqo	ed. Des.
v v s	whiC/vHBA Placement /Media Policy Server Boot Order Maintenance Policy	The effective order of boot dev If Endroce vNCA/HaRASCSIN If it is not selected, the vNICsIV Boot Order + - * * Advanced Fitter Name CD/DVD \$ San \$ SAN Psimary	ices within the ame is selecte HBAs are select the Export the Orce 1 2	same de d and the cted if the .Pelet .VNL	vice class v VNC/V+ ty exist, o Type Pri	s (LAN/: BA//SC otherwis	Storage/ISCSI is determined by is does not exist, a config error e the vNIC/vHBA with the lowe	Slot	Boo _	π. Ker is us Bqc	ed. Des.
v v M S	rNIC/VHBA Placement /Media Policy Server Boot Order Maintenance Policy Server Assignment	The effective order of boot dev If Enforce vNCA/HaRASCS1 N If it is not selected, the vNICs/v Boot Order + - * Advanced Fitter Name CD/DVD SAN SAN Peimary SAN Target Primary	ices within the ame is selecte HBAs are select the Export the Once 1 2	same de d and the cted if the Point vNL_ hba0	vice class s vNiC/vH ty exist, c Type Pri Pri	s (LAN/: BA/ISC otherwis	20.06.00.A0:98.AF:7C:58	Slot_	Boo_	π. der is us Boo	ed.
v v N S	rNIC/VHBA Placement /Media Policy Server Boot Order Maintenance Policy Server Assignment	The effective order of boot dev If Enforce vNCA/HaRASCSI N If it is not selected, the vNICs/v Boot Order + - V Advanced Fitter Name CD/DVD San SAN Peimary SAN Target Primary SAN Target Second	ices within the ame is selecte # Export @ One 1 2 ary	same de d and the cted if the Point vNL_ hba0	vice class v MIC/VH iv exist, o Type Pri Pri Sec	s (LAN/: IBA/ISC otherwis	20:06:80 A0:98 AF:7C:58 20:07:00:A0:98 AF:7C:58	Slot_	Boo	π. Ker is us Boo	ed.
v v s s	whiC/vHBA Placement Media Policy Server Boot Order Maintenance Policy Server Assignment Operational Policies	The effective order of boot dev If Enforce vNCA/HaRASCSI N If it is not selected, the vNICs/v Boot Order + - * V Advanced Fitter Name CD/DVD San SAN Peimary SAN Parget Permany SAN Target Secondary	ices within the arme is selected HBAs are select the HBAs are sele	same de d and the cted if the VNL	vice class vNIC/VH ty exist, o Type Pri Pri Sec	s (LAN/) IBA/ISC otherwise LUN_	20.06-00 A0:98 AF:7C:58 20.07:00 A0:98 AF:7C:58	Slot_	Boo_	π. ler is us Boo	ed.

- 12. The maintenance policy and server assignment options were left as default in the configuration.
- 13. In operational policies menu, select OLTP_BIOS as BIOS Policy, created previously.

		Create Service Profile Template	? ×
1	Identify Service Profile Template	Optionally specify information that affects how the system operates:	
2)	Storage Provisioning	BIOS Configuration	
3)	Networking	BIOS Policy : OLTP_BIOS V	
0	SAN Connectivity	¢	
5)	Zoning	External IPMI Management Configuration	
6)	vNIC/vHBA Placement	Management IP Address	
7	vMedia Policy	Monitoring Configuration (Thresholds)	
	Server Boot Order	Power Control Policy Configuration	
	Maintenance Policy	Scrub Policy	
0	Server Assignment	KVM Management Policy	
1	Operational Policies	Graphics Card Policy	
		< Prev Finish	Cancel

14. The rest of the configuration is left as default in the configuration. However, it may vary from site-to-site depending on workloads, best practices, and policies.

15. Click Finish to create service profile template as "ORA_FLEXPOD". This service profile template will be used to create four service profiles for four oracle RAC nodes(flex1, flex2, flex3 and flex4).

Now you have one Service profile template as "ORA_FLEXPOD" having four vHBAs and two vNICs.

Create Service Profiles from Template and Associate to Servers

Create Service Profiles from Template

For all four Oracle RAC Nodes (flex1, flex2, flex3 and flex4), you will create four Service Profiles as FLEX1, FLEX2, FLEX3 and FLEX4 from Template "ORA_FLEXPOD".

To create Service Profiles from Template, follow these steps:

1. Go to tab Servers > Service Profiles > root > and right-click "Create Service Profiles from Template".

2. Select the Service profile template as "ORA_FLEXPOD" which we created earlier and name the service profile as "FLEX".

3. To create four service profiles, enter "Number of Instances" as 4 as shown below. This process creates service profiles as "FLEX1", "FLEX2", "FLEX3" and "FLEX4".

_FLEXPOD			
_FLEXPOD			
	_FLEXPOD	_FLEXPOD	_FLEXPOD

When the service profiles are created, associate them to the servers as described below.

Associate Service Profiles to the Servers

To associate service profiles to the servers, follow these steps:

1. Under the Servers tab, select the desired service profile, and select change service profile association.

2. Right-click the name of service profile you want to associate with the server and select the option "Change Service Profile Association".

3. In the Change Service Profile Association page, from the Server Assignment drop-down list, select the existing server that you want to assign and click OK.



4. Assign service profiles FLEX1 to Chassis 1 Server 1 and service profile FLEX2 to Chassis 1 Server 2. Similarly, we will assign, service profiles FLEX3 to Chassis 2 Server 1 and service profile FLEX4 to Chassis 2 Server 2.

	Make sure all the service profiles are associated as shown below.	
UCS Manager		
A4.	Failurint / Chaste	
· failuren	Smith Anna Parke Plan Fair Gits mathefairean Depresented Fairs liants	
- 0.00	Continuent Press & Doors & Doors	
• Danse ?	Netw. Ones. All Model Yes, Gree Live, Merry Adams Mor. Hol. Server, Topology Pres & Association, Pres & As	Politik (
Channel	these 1 is a second state of the second state	al adversion (COV)
	CCS Manager M	Make sure all the service profiles are associated as shown below. Montager Montager

5. As shown above, make sure all the server nodes have no major or critical faults and all are in an operable state.

This completes the configuration required for Cisco UCS Manager Setup.

Additional server pools, service profile templates, and service profiles can be created in the respective organizations to add more servers to the FlexPod unit. All other pools and policies are at the root level and can be shared among the organizations

Configure Cisco MDS 9148S Switch

~

么

This section provides a detailed procedure for configuring the Cisco MDS 9148S Switches.

Follow these steps precisely because failure to do so could result in an improper configuration.



We connected MDS Switches to Fabric Interconnects and NetApp AFF A700s Storage System as shown below.

For this solution, we connected four ports (ports 1 to 4) of MDS Switch A to Fabric Interconnect A (ports 1-4). We also connected four ports (ports 1 to 4) of MDS Switch B to Fabric Interconnect B (ports 1-4). All ports carry 16 Gb/s FC Traffic. Table 8 lists port connectivity of Cisco MDS Switches to the Fabric Interconnects.

MDS Switch	MDS Switch Port	FI Ports	Fabric Interconnect
MDS Switch A	FC Port 1/1	FI-A Port 1/1	Fabric Interconnect A (FI-A)
	FC Port 1/2	FI-A Port 1/2	
	FC Port 1/3	FI-A Port 1/3	
	FC Port 1/4	FI-A Port 1/4	
MDS Switch B	FC Port 1/1	FI-B Port 1/1	Fabric Interconnect B (FI-B)
	FC Port 1/2	FI-B Port 1/2	
	FC Port 1/3	FI-B Port 1/3	
	FC Port 1/4	FI-B Port 1/4	

Table 8 MDS Switch Connectivity to the Fabric Interconnects

For these solution, we have connected four ports (ports 9 to 12) of MDS Switch A to the NetApp AFF A700s Storage controller. Similarly, we have connected four ports (ports 9 to 12) of MDS Switch B to the NetApp AFF A700s Storage controller. All ports carry 16 Gb/s FC Traffic. Table 9 lists port connectivity of Cisco MDS Switches to NetApp AFF A700s Controller.

Table 9MDS Switch Connectivity to the NetApp AFF A700s Storage

MDS Switch	MDS Switch Port	NetApp Storage Controller	NetApp Controller Ports	NetApp Port Description	$\hat{\mathbf{C}}$
MDS Switch	FC Port 1/9	NetApp AFF A700s	FC Port 0 - Slot	NetApp-A700s-	Ť

	FC Port 1/10	NetApp AFF A700s Controller 1	FC Port 0 - Slot 3	NetApp-A700s- 01-3a
	FC Port 1/11	NetApp AFF A700s Controller 2	FC Port 0 - Slot 2	NetApp-A700s- 02-2a
	FC Port 1/12	NetApp AFF A700s Controller 2	FC Port 0 - Slot 3	NetApp-A700s- 02-3a
MDS Switch B	FC Port 1/9	NetApp AFF A700s Controller 1	FC Port 1 - Slot 2	NetApp-A700s- 01-2b
	FC Port 1/10	NetApp AFF A700s Controller 1	FC Port 1 - Slot 3	NetApp-A700s- 01-3b
	FC Port 1/11	NetApp AFF A700s Controller 2	FC Port 1 - Slot 2	NetApp-A700s- 02-2b
	FC Port 1/12	NetApp AFF A700s Controller 2	FC Port 1 - Slot 3	NetApp-A700s- 02-3b
<				>

Configure feature for MDS Switch A and MDS Switch B

To configure feature on MDS Switches, follow these steps:

1. Log in as admin user into MDS Switch A:

FLEXPOD-MDS-A# config terminal

- FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config)# feature npiv
- FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config)# feature telnet

FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config)# switchname FLEXPOD-MDS-A

FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config)# copy running-config startup-config

2. Login as admin user into MDS Switch B:

FLEXPOD-MDS-B# config terminal

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config)# feature npiv

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config)# feature telnet

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config)# switchname FLEXPOD-MDS-B

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config)# copy running-config startup-config

Configure VSANs for MDS Switch A and MDS Switch B

To create VSANs, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in as admin user into MDS Switch A.
- 2. Create VSAN 101 for Storage Traffic:
- FLEXPOD-MDS-A # config terminal
- FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config)# VSAN database
- FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config-vsan-db)# vsan 101
- FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config-vsan-db)# vsan 101 interface fc 1/1-12
- FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config-vsan-db)# exit

FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config)# interface fc 1/1-12 FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config-if)# switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config-if)# switchport trunk mode off

FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config-if)# port-license acquire

FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config-if)# no shutdown

FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config-if)# exit

FLEXPOD-MDS-A(config)# copy running-config startup-config

3. Login as admin user into MDS Switch B.

4. Create VSAN 102 for Storage Traffic:

FLEXPOD-MDS-B # config terminal

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config)# VSAN database

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config-vsan-db)# vsan 102

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config-vsan-db)# vsan 102 interface fc 1/1-12

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config-vsan-db)# exit

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config)# interface fc 1/1-12

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config-if)# switchport trunk allowed vsan 102

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config-if)# switchport trunk mode off

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config-if)# port-license acquire

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config-if)# no shutdown

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config-if)# exit

FLEXPOD-MDS-B(config)# copy running-config startup-config

Create and Configure Fibre Channel Zoning

This procedure sets up the Fibre Channel connections between the Cisco MDS 9148S switches, the Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnects, and the NetApp AFF Storage systems.

Before you configure the zoning details, decide how many paths are needed for each LUN and extract the WWPN numbers for each of the HBAs from each server. We used 4 HBAs for each Server. Two HBAs (HBA0 and HBA2) are connected to MDS Switch-A and other two HBAs (HBA1 and HBA3) are connected to MDS Switch-B.

To create and configure the Fibre channel zoning, follow these steps:

1. Log into the Cisco UCS Manager > Equipment > Chassis > Servers and select the desired server. On the right-hand menu, click the Inventory tab and HBA's sub-tab to get the WWPN of HBA's as shown below.

cisco	UCS Manager			8	👳 😩 🍨			• •
ж	All .	Equipment / Ch	asala / Chassis 1 / 5	ervers / Server 1				
	Eguipment Orassa Crassa I	General General	Prientory Virtual CIMC CPOs	Machines Helalled OPUs Memory	Adapters FISA NCs	SELLOGI VE Patha SCS vMCa Security	Health Diagnostic Storage	n Gudh Eventi FSM
-	+ Sea:	Ty Advanced Filts	in + Export + Print Aduption 10	t VHBA	. Vandor	90	Cherability :	ween
	+ PSUs	HBA1	23 24	9640 9641	Casco Systems inc	UCS8-MLON-400-03	Operable Operable	20100 00 25 85 84 A0 00 20 00 00 25 85 88 A0 00
-	Servers	HBA 3 HBA 4	1	rta2 Ha0	Cases Systems inc	UCS8-ML0M-400-03	Operable Operable	20.00.00-25-85-86-A0.01 20.00-00-25-85-88-80.01
	Server 2 Channel 2						0.40405	

2. Log into NetApp storage controller and extract the WWPN of FC LIFs configured and verify all the port information is correct. This information can be found in the NetApp Storage GUI under Network > Network Interfaces.

The screenshot below shows the network interface, WWPN and ports connectivity configured for NetApp AFF A700s controller. Four Fibre Channel logical interfaces (LIFs) are created on storage controller cluster node 1 (node1_lif02a, node1_lif02b, node1_lif03a and node1_lif03b) and four Fibre Channel LIFs are created on storage controller cluster node 2 (node2_lif02a, node2_lif02b, node2_lif03a and node2_lif03b).

01	nCommand Sy	stem Manager							0	19		0	
								Type: At	* P	Harch all CR	eca -		
	=	Network Interfaces											
De	eshboard	1 Dess	Q	Q	6								
1	entrance & Tarr. A	Y I triartage Name	Y Storage Visual Machine Y	PASSIEW675	Y Current Port	Y Is home Post Y	Outs Protocol Access	TY Management Access?	T Sabre	h:	T Ape		
P	energy and the second	 nooel_intibs 	DRA12C, IVAN	20.06.00.40.98.477.51	FesPod a700s 01 da	1985	10	Na	dia.		Data		
50	orage +	node1_3402b	068125,5484	20.0c30.00.96.#71538	PerPodia100x-01.25	Ves	Na	Hid :	dir.		Deta		
tie	etwork 👻	Codet_H35e	ORA12C,SVM	20.07.00.40.9E.#T/LSb	Fexifodia7005-01:34	Yes	No.	100	314-		Dete		
3	Sizoeta	• reset_stite	ORA12C, DVM	20.08.00 #0.68.#*?v.58	Hesholl#2009-01:30	Yes	49	844	Ale		Data		
		 node2,iti2# 	ORATOCISIAN	20:00:00.40:00 at 7c.55	FexPoste700x-02-2a	Yep	10	Ass	-16-		Deta		
1	Network interaces	eccin_Linkton	ORA12C_SHM	2010x003038.4f7c35	PesPod-a700s-02:25	Yes	10	No :	dia.		Dete		
1	Othernet Ports	• rode2_st0te	ORA12C, DIAL	20.0x.00 x0.01.at 1:55	FeeF554705423#	Yes	84	tra-	-NAL		Dete		
-1	Broadicest Domains	 non2,0006 	ORA12C,SVM	10 00 00 40 90 MT/L 90	FexPoile7008-02:38	Vel.	10	No	Sec.		Dete		
9	FC/FCut Adapters	O Peinspattosion, plat	Outer	169.254.22188	Feelloola700x.01 e0a	2000	1929	PLA .	3860		Cije	sé?	
j,	Papaces	Feedbook7005-01_clut2	Ouster	149.254.81.21	FierPodia700a.01.e0f	780	5018	No.:	44.		Cus	95	
	-	FexPodie/205-02_0u81	Cutter	189,254,213,16	FexPos-e700s-02.e0a	Yes	none	No	Ale		Out	ŵ.	
	unerrow .	0 Federation-02,0x12	Outer	169.254732.211	FiexPod-a700s-G2:e07	Web	none	No	ine.		Out	wr.	
P.	ents 6 jobs 🔹 🔸	· Federaldoson_regen	Ferfoda700s	10.29.135.107	Fieldsoattosigradu	799	marke)	Tes-	394		Not	• Managerie	11
59	• noteragine	PerPasa100x/02_mgmt	ReiPoda700s	10.29135108	Feifloga701s.c2.x04	990	1014	744	-94-		Nod	Nanagerre	-
		O cuestinger	FataFod-a700t	10.29135115	PerPode700s-01 wold	Ves	1016	194	Sec.		Cue	ar Maragan	-
		OGLIZCJW/Jammilt	ORA12C_DVM	10.29135.14	InciPodia7pts-01.e00	Yes	1018	96	144		Dete		
		General Properties	00500.40352473(30	aloon Properties Same Parts — ResPadia?	DOS-OT SA(JUA-)								

You can also obtain this information by login to the storage cluster and run the network interface show command

The NetApp Storage AFF A700s have eight active FC connection goes to the Cisco MDS switches. Four FC ports are connected to Cisco MDS-A, and other four FC ports are connected to Cisco MDS-B Switches. The SAN Ports FC-Port-0-Slot-2 and FC-Port-0-Slot-3 of NetApp AFF A700s Controller – 1 are connected to Cisco MDS Switch A and FC-Port-1-Slot-2 and FC-Port-1-Slot-3 are connected to Cisco MDS Switch B. Similarly, the SAN Ports FC-Port-0-Slot-2 and FC-Port-0-Slot-3 of NetApp AFF A700s Controller – 2 are connected to Cisco MDS Switch A and FC-Port-1-Slot-3 and FC-Port-0-Slot-2 and FC-Port-0-Slot-3 of NetApp AFF A700s Controller – 2 are connected to Cisco MDS Switch A and FC-Port-1-Slot-2 and FC-Port-1-Slot-3 are connected to Cisco MDS Switch B.

Create Device Aliases for Fibre Channel Zoning on Cisco MDS Switch A

To configure device aliases and zones for the SAN boot paths as well as datapaths of MDS switch A, follow these steps:

1. Log in as admin user and run the following commands:

configure terminal

device-alias database

device-alias name flex1-hba0 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:00

device-alias name flex1-hba2 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:01

device-alias name flex2-hba0 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:02

device-alias name flex2-hba2 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:03

device-alias name flex3-hba0 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:04

device-alias name flex3-hba2 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:05

device-alias name flex4-hba0 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:06

device-alias name flex4-hba2 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:07

device-alias name NetApp-A700s-01-2A pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

device-alias name NetApp-A700s-01-3A pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

device-alias name NetApp-A700s-02-2A pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b device-alias name NetApp-A700s-02-3A pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b device-alias commit copy run start

Create Device Aliases for Fibre Channel Zoning on Cisco MDS Switch B

To configure device aliases and zones for the SAN boot paths as well as datapaths of MDS switch B, follow these steps:

1. Log in as admin user and run the following commands:

configure terminal

device-alias database

device-alias name flex1-hba1 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:00 device-alias name flex1-hba3 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:01 device-alias name flex2-hba1 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:02 device-alias name flex2-hba3 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:03 device-alias name flex3-hba1 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:04 device-alias name flex3-hba3 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:05 device-alias name flex4-hba3 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:06 device-alias name flex4-hba3 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:07 device-alias name NetApp-A700s-01-2B pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b device-alias name NetApp-A700s-02-2B pwwn 20:08:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b device-alias name NetApp-A700s-02-3B pwwn 20:0b:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b device-alias commit copy run start

Create Zoning

Cisco MDS Switch A

To configure zones for the Cisco MDS Switch A, follow these steps:

- 1. Create a zone for each service profile as shown below.
- 2. Log in as admin user into MDS Switch A and run these commands to create the zone:

configure terminal

zone name flex1 vsan 101

member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:00 member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:01 member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b zone name flex2 vsan 101

member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:02 member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:03 member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

zone name flex3 vsan 101

member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:04 member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:05 member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

zone name flex4 vsan 101

member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:06 member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:07 member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

3. After the zone for the service profile has been created, create the zone set and add the necessary members.

zoneset name flex vsan 101

member flex1

member flex2

member flex3

member flex4

4. Activate the zone set by running following commands

zoneset activate name flex vsan 101

copy run start

Cisco MDS Switch B

To configure zones for the Cisco MDS Switch B, follow these steps:

- 1. Create a zone for each service profile.
- 2. Log in as admin user into MDS Switch B and run the below commands to create the zone:

configure terminal

zone name flex1 vsan 102

member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:00 member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:01 member pwwn 20:0c:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:08:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:0d:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

zone name flex2 vsan 102

member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:02 member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:03 member pwwn 20:0c:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:08:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:0d:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

zone name flex3 vsan 102

member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:04 member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:05 member pwwn 20:0c:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:08:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:0d:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

zone name flex4 vsan 102

member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:06 member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:07 member pwwn 20:0c:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:08:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:0d:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b member pwwn 20:0b:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

3. After the zone for the service profile has been created, create the zone set and add the necessary members:

zoneset name flex vsan 102

member flex1

member flex2

member flex3

member flex4

4. Activate the zone set by running following commands:

zoneset activate name flex vsan 102

copy run start

Verify FC Ports on MDS Switch

To verify FC ports on the MDS switch, follow these steps:

1. Log in as admin user into MDS Switch A and run the "show flogi database vsan 101" to verify all FC ports.

INTERFACE	VSAN	FCID	PORT NAME	NODE NAME
fc1/1	101	0xa20400	20:01:00:de:fb:92:99:00	20:65:00:de:fb:92:99:01
fc1/1	101	0xa20401 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:00 1-hba0]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:00
fc1/1	101	0xa20402 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:01 1-hba2]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:00
fc1/2	101	0xa20500	20:02:00:de:fb:92:99:00	20:65:00:de:fb:92:99:01
fc1/2	101	0xa20501 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:03 2-hba2]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:0]
fc1/2	101	0xa20503 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:02 2-hba0]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:0]
fc1/3	101	0xa20600	20:03:00:de:fb:92:99:00	20:65:00:de:fb:92:99:01
fc1/3	101	0xa20601 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:06 4-hba0]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:03
fc1/3	101	0xa20602 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:07 4-hba2]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:03
fc1/4	101	0xa20700	20:04:00:de:fb:92:99:00	20:65:00:de:fb:92:99:0)
cl/4	101	0xa20701 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:05 3-hba2]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:02
fc1/4	101	0xa20702 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:04 3-hba0]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:02
fc1/9	101	0xa20000	50:0a:09:81:80:12:f8:47	50:0a:09:80:80:12:f8:47
fc1/9	101	0xa20002 [NetA	20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b pp-A700s-01-2A]	20:01:00:a0:98:af:7c:5k
fc1/10	101	0xa20100	50:0a:09:83:80:12:f8:47	50:0a:09:80:80:12:f8:47
fc1/10	101	0xa20102 [NetA]	20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b pp-A700s-01-3A]	20:01:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
fc1/11	101	0xa20200	50:0a:09:81:80:12:f8:3d	50:0a:09:80:80:12:f8:30
fc1/11	101	0xa20201 [NetA	20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b pp-A700s-02-2A]	20:01:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
fc1/12	101	0xa20300	50:0a:09:83:80:12:f8:3d	50:0a:09:80:80:12:f8:30
fc1/12	101	0xa20301 [NetA	20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b pp-A700s-02-3A]	20:01:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

2. Log in as admin user into MDS Switch B and run the "show flogi database vsan 101" to verify all FC ports.

INTERFACE	VSAN	FCID	PORT NAME	NODE NAME
c1/1	102	0x8e0400	20:01:00:de:fb:92:95:40	20:66:00:de:fb:92:95:4
fc1/1	102	0x8e0401 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:00 1-hbal]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:00
fc1/1	102	0x8e0402 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:01 1-hba3]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:00
fc1/2	102	0x8e0500	20:02:00:de:fb:92:95:40	20:66:00:de:fb:92:95:41
fc1/2	102	0x8e0501 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:03 2-hba3]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:0
fc1/2	102	0x8e0502 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:02 2-hbal]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:0
fc1/3	102	0x8e0600	20:03:00:de:fb:92:95:40	20:66:00:de:fb:92:95:41
fc1/3	102	0x8e0601 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:06 4-hbal]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:03
fc1/3	102	0x8e0603 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:07 4-hba3]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:03
fc1/4	102	0x8e0700	20:04:00:de:fb:92:95:40	20:66:00:de:fb:92:95:41
fc1/4	102	0x8e0701 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:05 3-hba3]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:02
fc1/4	102	0x8e0702 [flex	20:00:00:25:b5:8b:b0:04 3-hbal]	20:00:00:25:b5:7a:00:02
fc1/9	102	0x8e0000	50:0a:09:82:80:12:f8:47	50:0a:09:80:80:12:f8:47
fc1/9	102	0x8e0002 [NetA	20:0c:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b pp-A700s-01-2B]	20:01:00:a0:98:af:7c:5k
fc1/10	102	0x8e0100	50:0a:09:84:80:12:f8:47	50:0a:09:80:80:12:f8:47
fc1/10	102	0x8e0102 [NetA	20:08:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b pp-A700s-01-3B]	20:01:00:a0:98:af:7c:5k
c1/11	102	0x8e0200	50:0a:09:82:80:12:f8:3d	50:0a:09:80:80:12:f8:30
c1/11	102	0x8e0201 [NetA	20:0d:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b pp-A700s-02-2B]	20:01:00:a0:98:af:7c:5k
fc1/12	102	0x8e0300	50:0a:09:84:80:12:f8:3d	50:0a:09:80:80:12:f8:30
fc1/12	102	0x8e0301	20:0b:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b	20:01:00:a0:98:af:7c:5

Configure NetApp AFF A700s Storage

NetApp Storage Connectivity

It is beyond the scope of this document to describe all the detailed information about NetApp storage connectivity and infrastructure configuration. Follow the link below for the installation and setup instructions for the NetApp AFF A700s System:

https://library.netapp.com/ecm/ecm_download_file/ECMLP2619982

For more technical information, refer to the following Cisco site:

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/solutions/design-zone/data-center-design-guides/flexpod-design-guides.html

Please refer to the following technical reports of "Oracle Databases on ONTAP" and "Database Data Protection: Backup, Recovery, Replication, and DR" from NetApp for the best practices:

https://www.netapp.com/us/media/tr-3633.pdf

https://www.netapp.com/us/media/tr-4591.pdf

This section describes the storage layout and design considerations for the database deployment.

A NetApp ONTAP cluster serves data through at least one and possibly multiple storage virtual machines (SVMs; formerly called Vservers). An SVM is a logical abstraction that represents the set of physical resources of the cluster. Data volumes and network logical interfaces (LIFs) are created and assigned to an SVM and might reside on any node in the cluster to which the SVM has been given access. An SVM might own resources on multiple nodes concurrently, and those resources can be moved non-disruptively from one node in the storage cluster to another. For example, a NetApp FlexVol[®] flexible volume can be non-disruptively moved to a new node, or a

data LIF can be transparently reassigned to a different physical network port. The SVM abstracts the cluster hardware, and thus it is not tied to any specific physical hardware.

The screenshot below shows the SVM and FC Interfaces configuration. For this solution, we configured one SVM as "ORA12C_SVM."

a one on manu sj	Ascenti Manager						· •	
					Type: All	 D Search 	all objects	
=	SVM ORANZE, SVA							
Dushboard	SVM Settings	2 10 O Set O She 1	herech .					
Applications & •	Protocols	Status: @FC/FC0Es	ervice is narring					
Storage +	N/S	WWWW: 20.01.00.001	ital:7c3b					
Nodes	609	ACACOE Interfaces						
Apprepates &	TEACH	Network interface	Y WWPN.	T Current Port	Status	¥.		
Disks	Policies	node1,5402a	20:06:00.a0:98:af.7c.5b	FlexPod-a700s-01;2a	Enabled			
Aggregates.	Export Policies	nodet 3/02b	20:00:00 x0:98 xf-7c:56	FexPod-a7005-0112b	O Insted			
	Efficiency Policies	podet Milita	2010/2010 40:44 40:40	Destruit, alloce, of the	C reation			
Storage Pools	Research Policies							
Array LUNs	Shapohok Philoles	i nodet jutgio	20108-001401881477556	RexPod-a700s-01_10	· Franked			
Print and	QoS Policy Groups	node2_8402a	20109-00 a0:98 af 7c5b	RexPod-is7009-02:28	O tristled			
LOSKS.	Services	node2_36020	2010/00/a0198.af.7c.5b	FlexFod-a7005-02:20	 Enabled 			
Flash Pool	NIS	riode2,91039	20104/00.40/98/477:55	FlexPod-47005-02.5a	Erubled			
Stanstics	LOAP Chent	1000e2 1/11b :	20:00:00:40:98 af 7:58	FegPod.(7005-02-3b)	O routled			
SVMs	LDAP Configuration	and a second sec			0.000			
Malaziman	Karbenos Arann							
. Tolining	Kerberts Atterface							
LUNs	Division 1							

As shown above, for both the storage controller nodes (FlexPod-a700s-01 and FlexPod-a700s-02), we used ports 2a, 2b and 3a, 3b to configure LIFs. WWPN of these LIFs are used for zoning into the MDS switches for storage to MDS connectivity. The screenshot below shows the network interface configuration for this solution.

1	OnCommand Sy	ysiti	em Manager							0	R)		0	1
								199e	All	•	P Search all C	ejietti.		+ -
			Vetwork Interfaces											
-	Dashboard		2 Date 2 10 X 1944	64 • 🐔 segue 1	G	195								
	Amplications & Tiers .	1	T exertice Name T	Storage Virtual Machi T	P Address/WWPN 1	Current Port	T REPORT FOR T	Duta Protocol Access	T Management Acc	818 - X	Subnet		Role	T
	Coherenties of the as a		 note1,3f024 	ORAT2C, IVM	2010/001/0181/7/59-	FiesPod-a7005-01:2a	Ves	fa-	.100-		-NA-		Data	
E	Storage +	P	pode1,38028	OR412C_SVM	2010/06/40198 (47)-58	RexPod-#7005-01128	ves	Rep.	N45-		34		Data	
	Network ·	1	 rodet_it/it/a 	ORA (2CEVM	30/07/00 a0188 af 7c56	FiexPod-a7009-01/3a	Ves	Rgs .	103		NA		Deta	
in the second	C. Banka	1	• node1_003b	CSA12C,SVM	20.08.00.ab.98.07.15.56	PlexPod-d7005-01:3b	Ves	ftp.	No		Sec.		Dirts .	
	Second C		mode2,363a	ORA12C,TVM	20109/00.40/98.47.7c56	RexPod-a700s-02:2a	Ves	to:	No		NA:		Data	
	Network Interfaces		 node2,3903h 	094125,31M	20:02:00.40 ME 417(5h)	FlexPud-47005-02-25	ves	flat.	840				Data	
	Ethernet Ports		ecold_Mote	GRATUC SVM	2010/00 Jan 98 JF 76 58-	RexPod-a7005-02-3a	Ves	hp	140-		ask.		Data	
	Broadcast Domains	ł	 node1_M030 	ORKIGE_SVM	2010/2014/1814/1058	FlexPod-47005-02-26	Ves	.to	No		CNA:		Deta	
	FC/FCoE Adapters		 Re-Pod-47936-01, dian 	CLEH	169.254.22.180	Redfod-82005-01.e0a	Ves	rone	.101-		-NA		Outer	
	Protect	k	· Herbod a 700s-01, clust	Outer	169.254.81.21	RexPod-47005-01.+07	Yes	none	10		INA:		Outer	
-	The second second	F	BesPod-a7005-02_ckast	Cluster	40925421316	FlexPod-47001-02-904	res	none	No.		Apr.		Outlier	
9	Protection +	1	BenPod-a7005-02_ctur2	CLODY	168254312.211	FiexPod-a7009-02307	ves	none	140		Sec.		Outter	
	Events & Jobs +		Beidrod a Note-O1_impret1	RecPodia2006	10.29 135 107	RevPod-a7009-01.60M	Ven.	none	1949		CNAL .		Node Manag	intent:
-	Continuation +		· RevPsd-a700s-02,ingent1	Red-08-4700s	10.29/135.108	ResPoth #7005-02-60M	(Ves)	THOME .	ves.		-NAL		Node Manag	Arriant:
	e e		dutter,mant	FlexPod-4700s	10.29.135.115	FlexPod-#7005-01:#09A	Yes:	TOTAL	765		NA.		Chatter Mars	agernerit :
			CRAILIC SVM, admin. JP	ORA13C_SVM	10.25 135 14	RevPod-a700s-01 x0M	Ves	none	Yes		NA		Data	

For all the database deployment, we configured two aggregates (one aggregate on each storage node) into a single SVM (ORA12C_SVM) and each aggregate contains 35 SSD (960GB Each) drives that were subdivided into RAID DP groups, plus one spare drive as shown below.

n	OnComma	nd S	yste	m Manag	ger											0		Ra) 🔅	0	2
														Type: All		æ.]	2.9	sects all Objects		+ -
			Ag	gregates																
H	Dashboard			+ create /	tát i 🖀 Dente	C Adom	· D Refresh													4
-	Applications & Tiers	×	10	Status T	Name	T.	Node	T	Used (N)	-π	Available Space: T	Used Space	T	Total Space	T	FabricPool	Ŧ	External Capa., 7	Volu- T	Disk C., 7
18	Storage	ж.	8		49210		ResPod-3700s	(01)	.95		48.1 GB	34435.68		992.45 GB		300		-146	38	22
	Nodes	-	B	0	eggr0, PevPod	A7001_07_0	FierPod-a700)	100	186.5		46,1 68	94456.GR		992.65 GB		-80		366	28	22
	Aggregates &		. 13	0	aggr1_note1		AmiPodia7005	(0)	18		9.8170	104218		25.25.78		600		366	300()	35
	Disks	<u> </u>	E	0	age1_node2		Redrosation	602	38		8.71.70	13.3278		23.23.18		360		360	(9))	36
	Apprepates																			
	Storage Pool	£.																		
	Array LUNS																			
	Disks	- 1																		

For each RAC database deployment, we distributed equal number of volumes and LUNs on both the storage node by placing those volumes and LUNs into both the aggregate.

Operating System and Database Deployment

The design goal of the reference architecture was to best represent a real-world environment as closely as possible. The approach included features of Cisco UCS to rapidly deploy stateless servers and use NetApp AFF Storage A700s boot LUNs to provision the O.S on top it. Zoning was performed on the Cisco MDS 9148S switches to enable the initiators discover the targets during boot process.

A Service Profile was created within Cisco UCS Manager to deploy the 4 servers quickly with a standard configuration. SAN boot volumes for these servers were hosted on the NetApp AFF Storage A700s Cluster. Once the stateless servers were provisioned, following process was performed to enable Rapid deployment of 4 RAC nodes.

Each Server node has dedicated single LUN to install operating system and all the four server node was booted off SAN. For this solution, we have installed Oracle Linux 7.5(4.1.12-124.16.4.el7uek.x86_64) on this LUNs and performed all the pre-requisite packages for Oracle Database 12cR2 to create four node Oracle RAC database solution.

Operating System Configuration

Step-by-step OS install details are not detailed in this document, but the following section describes the key steps for OS install.

1. Download Oracle Linux 7.5 OS image from https://edelivery.oracle.com/linux.

2. Launch KVM console on desired server by going to tab Equipment > Chassis > Chassis 1 > Servers > Server 1 > from right side windows General > and select KVM Console to open KVM.

alualu cisco	UCS Manager			80	2) Q I			• •	6
	AK	Equipment / Chassis / Chassie	s 1 / Servers /	Server 1					
	• Equipment	General Inventory	Vitual Machines	Installed Firming	re CIVC Sessione	SELLogs WEPaths Hea	the Disgnostick Faults	Eventa FSM	1 18
	Chassis Chassis 1	Fault Sammery		Physical Display					
	+ Fam	8 0	0	0					
	 IO Modules 	0	0	0			Com-		
-	PSUs Servers	Statue							
	A Sever 1	Overall Status) 👔 OK				9			
-	 Server 2 	Status Details Chann 2			ALC: NOTION OF				
	Orann 2								
do.	Fabric Intercontects	or Mouring Actions Actions one interconnects Create Service Public Fabric Hitterconnect A (primary)		US ID IO					
	Fabric Viterconcect A (primary)								
	Fabric Interconnect () (subordinate)				and the second s				
	Polcies	Sector Server			Properties				
		Reset.			Slot 0	1	Oranam D	123	_
		Recover Server		Product Name	Cisco UCS 8200 MS 2 Socket	Blade Server			
		Reset All Memory Errors			Vendor	Cisco Systems Inc	₽i0	UC58-8200	-M5
		Server Mantenance			Revision	0	Senial	FCH21347CI	LW.
		KVM Gorade **			Manufacturing Date Asset Tag	2017-09-15			

3. Click Accept security and open KVM. Enable virtual media, map the Oracle Linux ISO image and reset the server.



4. When the Server starts booting, it will detect the NetApp Storage active FC paths as shown below. If you see the following message in the KVM console while the server is rebooting along with the target WWPNs, it confirms the setup is done correctly and boot from SAN will be successful.



5. During server boot order, it will detect the virtual media connected as Oracle Linux cd. It should launch the Oracle Linux installer. Select language and assign the Installation destination as NetApp Storage LUN. Apply hostname and click "Configure Network" to configure all network interfaces. Alternatively, you can only configure "Public Network" in this step. You can configure additional interfaces as part of post install steps.

As a part of additional RPM package, we recommend to select "Customize Now" and configure "UEK kernel Repo."

6. After the OS install, reboot the server, complete appropriate registration steps. You can choose to synchronize the time with NTP server. Alternatively, you can choose to use Oracle RAC cluster synchronization daemon (OCSSD). Both NTP and OCSSD are mutually exclusive and OCSSD will be setup during GRID install if NTP is not configured.

Operating System Prerequisites for Oracle Software Installation

Configure BIOS

This section describes how to optimize the BIOS settings to meet requirements for the best performance and energy efficiency for the Cisco UCS M5 generation of blade servers.

Configure BIOS for OLTP Workloads

OLTP systems are often decentralized to avoid single points of failure. Spreading the work over multiple servers can also support greater transaction processing volume and reduce response time. Make sure to disable Intel IDLE driver in the OS configuration section. When Intel idle driver is disabled, the OS uses acpi_idle driver to control the c-states.

For latency sensitive workloads, it is recommended to always disable c-states in both OS and BIOS to ensure c-states are disabled.

The following options are recommended for optimizing OLTP workloads on Cisco UCS M5 platforms managed by Cisco UCS Manager.

Thill' UCS Manager		9 9 9 9.					
	Servers / Publics / rost / BOXPublics / 0079_805						
- Innas	Mate Advanced that Games James Management Kamp						
· Server Hydrox	Personal Internation Add Marroy Band Stat. 428 197	COP 12M and PCx State 1 Trained Perform 11 Original Configuration					
· Samuel Profile Talegores	a house fairpance						
- Spinson	Constanting a const de loss	ade 2					
E + 100	PLA SHOP	Table					
Adapter Policies	Local I Am	Parties Selar					
• 00004am	The locate still former	Ration Solution	1				
* BIOS Forcies	Antes Constants	Testing Table	1				
Contract Internal	L and a second						
51 5804	Padage Citize Law	LOD GT THEM					
INVC.	Automotiva Clevic Z ratativ	Partier Debur,					
4 Bot Palces	Present Clare	Dealand	10				
 Degroince Rower 	Processor CVK	Ester					
* Grantes Card Potens	Pressor Ci ligiot	Duarea	1				
Host formane factories	Penness Of Natur	Degree	•				
· PM Assess Pullan.	Processor CP Instant	Sided	6				
KOM Management Fidman	Reveal (MD)	Pattern Selast.					
+ Local Out-Co-Ag Robums	Press Inclusion	Carter	0				
 Mamerana Polices 	away hatamana	Partie blue	and a second				
• Macagineert Sietware Pathogen	Present a Pole	Parties Sebak	-				
 Mannary Prants 	Advance Carlos Line Portecher	Partiest Solution	•1				
 Power Correct Publisher 	2018 Behalim	Distant July 1					
 Planet Syte Patients 	A STATISTICS (Contract Indian	2				
 South Parlows 	and states in the second states						
 Senat over LAS Policies 							
 Tanvari Post Policana 	UR Project.	Partie teas	M				
+ Inner Parl Poly Quitemen	U.C.Pomer	Particul Debug					
 Trephold Industry 	NYI Public	Server Didue	5				
ditte Automation Profess	Second al Simula	Platian Soluit.	*				
 Artesta Potence 	Per los	Patter Drate:					
+ uNCOMEATEAcount Polices	Waited Carlycone	O lawses	*1				

For more information about BIOS settings, refer to:

https://www.cisco.com/c/dam/en/us/products/collateral/servers-unified-computing/ucs-b-series-blade-servers/whitepaper_c11-740098.pdf

If the CPU gets into a deeper C-state and not able to get out to deliver full performance quickly. The result is unwanted latency spikes for workloads. To address this, it is recommended to disable C states in the BIOS and in addition, Oracle recommends disabling it from OS level as well by modifying grub entries. For this solution, we have configured BIOS options by modifying in /etc/default/grub file as shown below:

[root@flex1 ~]# cat /etc/default/grub

GRUB_TIMEOUT=5

GRUB_DISTRIBUTOR=" \$(sed 's, release .*\$,,g' /etc/system-release)"

GRUB_DEFAULT=saved

GRUB_DISABLE_SUBMENU=true

GRUB_TERMINAL_OUTPUT=" console"

GRUB_CMDLINE_LINUX=" crashkernel=auto rd.lvm.lv=ol/root rd.lvm.lv=ol/swap rhgb quiet numa=off transparent_hugepage=never biosdevname=0 net.ifnames=0 intel_idle.max_cstate=0 processor.max_cstate=0 rdloaddriver=scsi_dh_alua"

GRUB_DISABLE_RECOVERY=" true"

Prerequisites Automatic Installation

After installing Oracle Linux 7.5($4.1.12-124.16.4.e17uek.x86_{64}$) on all the server nodes (flex1, flex2, flex3 and flex4), you have to configure operating system pre-requisites on all the four nodes to successfully install Oracle RAC Database 12cR2.

To configure operating system pre-requisite for Oracle 12cR2 software on all four nodes, follow these steps:

Follow the steps according to your environment and requirements. Refer to the Install and Upgrade Guide for Linux for Oracle Database 12c R2:

https://docs.oracle.com/en/database/oracle/oracle-database/12.2/cwlin/configuring-operatingsystems-for-oracle-grid-infrastructure-on-linux.html#GUID-B8649E42-4918-49EA-A608-446F864EB7A0.

To configure the prerequisites on all the four nodes, follow these steps:

You can perform either the Automatic Setup or the Manual Setup to complete the basic prerequisites. The Additional Setup is required for all installations.

For this solution, we have configured the prerequisites automatically by installing the "oracledatabase-server-12cR2-preinstall" rpm package. You can also download the required packages from http://public-yum.oracle.com/oracle-linux-7.html. If you plan to use the "oracle-databaseserver-12cR2-preinstall" rpm package to perform all your prerequisite setup automatically, then log in as root user and issue the following command:

[root@flex1 ~]# yum install oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall

If you have not used the "oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall" package, then you will have to manually perform the prerequisites tasks on all the nodes.

Additional Prerequisites Setup

After configuring automatic or manual prerequisites steps, you have to configure a few additional steps to complete the prerequisites for the Oracle database software installations on all the four nodes as described in the following sections.

Disable SELinux

Since most Organizations might be running hardware-based firewalls to protect their corporate networks, we disabled Security Enhanced Linux (SELinux) and the firewalls at the server level for this reference architecture.

You can set secure Linux to permissive by editing the "/etc/selinux/config" file, making sure the SELINUX flag is set as follows.

SELINUX= permissive

Disable Firewall

Check the status of the firewall by running following commands. (The status displays as active (running) or inactive (dead)). If the firewall is active / running, enter this command below to stop it.

systemctl status firewalld.service

systemctl stop firewalld.service

Also, to completely disable the firewalld service, so it does not reload when you restart the host machine, run the following command:

systemctl disable firewalld.service

Set the User Passwords

Run the following commands to change the password for Oracle and Grid Users:

passwd oracle

passwd grid

Configure Multipath Setup
For DM-Multipath Configuration and best practice, refer to the NetApp Support https://library.netapp.com/ecmdocs/ECMP1217221/html/GUID-34FA2578-0A83-4ED3-B4B3-8401703D65A6.html

ø

Follow the steps below on all the four oracle RAC nodes.

You can configure DM-Multipath for use in multipathing in environments that use native Linux solutions. With DM-Multipath, you can configure multiple I/O paths between a host and storage controllers into a single device. If one path fails, DM-Multipath reroutes I/Os to the remaining paths. Configure multipaths to access the LUNs presented from NetApp Storage to the nodes as shown below.

Add or modify <code>"/etc/multipath.conf"</code> file accordingly to give the alias name of each LUN id presented from NetApp Storage as given below into all eight nodes:

Run "multipath -ll" command to view all the LUN id:

[root@oraracx1 ~]# cat /etc/multipath.conf

defaults {

find_multipaths yes

user_friendly_names no

}

}

```
multipaths {
```

multipath	n {	
ww	id	3600a098038304173475d4c766a49744e
alia	s r	node1_os
}		
multipath	n {	
WW	id	3600a098038304173475d4c766a49754a
alia	s c	ocrvote_1
}		

Make sure the LUNs wwid address reflects the correct value for all four nodes in "/etc/multipath.conf"

We made sure the multipathing packages were installed and enabled for automatic restart across reboots. We will add more LUNs and associated wwid into "/etc/multipath.conf" file later on as we add more LUNs for Databases.

Configure UDEV Rules

You need to configure UDEV rules to assign permission in all the Oracle RAC nodes to access NetApp Storage LUNs. This includes the device details along with required permissions to enable grid and oracle user to have read/write privileges on these devices. Configure UDEV rules on all the Oracle Nodes as shown below:

Create a new file named ``/etc/udev/rules.d/99-oracleasm.rules'' with the following entries on all nodes:

[root@flex1 ~]# cat /etc/udev/rules.d/99-oracle-asmdevices.rules

#All LUNs which starts with dg_orarac_* #

ENV{DM_NAME}==" ocrvote_*", OWNER:=" grid", GROUP:=" oinstall", MODE:=" 660"

#All LUNs which starts with dg_oradata_* #

ENV{DM_NAME}==" oradata_*", OWNER:=" oracle", GROUP:=" oinstall", MODE:=" 660"

#All LUNs which starts with dg_oraredo_* #

ENV{DM_NAME}==" oraredo_*", OWNER:=" oracle", GROUP:=" oinstall", MODE:=" 660"

#All LUNs which starts with dg_oraarchive_* #

ENV{DM_NAME}==" oraarchive_*", OWNER:=" oracle", GROUP:=" oinstall", MODE:=" 660"

IMPORTANT: The "/etc/multipath.conf" for the Oracle ASM devices and udev rules for these devices should be copied on to all the RAC nodes and verified to make sure the devices are visible and permissions are enabled for grid user on all the nodes

Configure Public and Private NICs on Each RAC Node

If you have not configured network settings during OS installation, then configure it now. Each node must have at least two network interface cards (NICs), or network adapters. One adapter is for the public network traffic and the other adapter is for the private network traffic (the node interconnects).

Log in as a root user on each node and go to <code>`'/etc/sysconfig/network-scripts''</code> and configure Public network and Private network IP Address. Configure the private and public NICs with the appropriate IP addresses across all the Oracle RAC nodes.

Configure "/etc/hosts" on Each RAC Node

Log in as a root user into node and edit "/etc/hosts" file. Provide the details for Public IP Address, Private IP Address, SCAN IP Address and Virtual IP Address for all nodes. Configure these settings on each Oracle RAC Nodes as shown below:

[root@flex1 ~]# cat /etc/hosts

127.0.0.1 localhost localhost.localdomain localhost4 localhost4.localdomain4

Public IP

10.29.135.121	flex1.cisco.c	om flex1
10.29.135.122	flex2.cisco.c	om flex2
10.29.135.123	flex3.cisco.c	om flex3
10.29.135.124	flex4.cisco.c	om flex4
##### Virtual IP	#####	
10.29.135.125	flex1-vip	flex1-vip.cisco.com
10.29.135.126	flex2-vip	flex2-vip.cisco.com
10.29.135.127	flex3-vip	flex3-vip.cisco.com

10.29.135.128	flex4-vip	flex4-vip.cisco.com
##### Private IP	9 #####	
10.10.10.121 fl	ex1-priv	flex1-priv.cisco.com
10.10.10.122 fl	ex2-priv	flex2-priv.cisco.com
10.10.10.123 fl	ex3-priv	flex3-priv.cisco.com
10.10.10.124 fl	ex4-priv	flex4-priv.cisco.com
#SCAN IP		
10.29.135.129	flex-cluster	flex-cluster.cisco.com
10.29.135.130	flex-cluster	flex-cluster.cisco.com
10.29.135.131	flex-cluster	flex-cluster.cisco.com

You must configure the following addresses manually in your corporate setup.

A Public IP Address for each node

6

A Virtual IP address for each node

• Three single client access name (SCAN) address for the oracle database cluster These steps complete the prerequisite for Oracle Database 12cR2 Installation at OS level on Oracle RAC Nodes.

For this Solution, we used 4 identical Cisco UCS B-Series B200 M5 blade servers for hosting the four node Oracle RAC databases. All of the steps described above were also performed on all the four nodes to create 4 node Oracle RAC solution.

NetApp Host Utilities Kit: Please refer to this link for the best practice component for all host operating systems connected to NetApp storage via SAN protocols according to your environment: https://mysupport.netapp.com//documentation/productlibrary/index.html?productID=61343

Customers should download and install the host utilities kit to provide data collection tools used for NetApp support. However for this solution deployment, we did not used host utility tool kit.

When the O.S level prerequisites are completed, you are ready to install the Oracle Grid Infrastructure as a grid user. Download Oracle Database 12c Release 2 (12.2.0.1.0) for Linux x86-64 and Oracle Database 12c Release 2 Grid Infrastructure (12.2.0.1.0) for Linux x86-64 software from Oracle Software site. Copy these software binaries to Oracle RAC Node 1 and unzip all files into appropriate directories.

Oracle Database 12c GRID Infrastructure Deployment

For this Oracle Database FlexPod solution, you will install the Oracle Grid and Database software on all four nodes (flex1, flex2, flex3 and flex4). The installation guides you through the gathering of all node information and configuring the ASM devices and all the prerequisite validations for GI.

It is not within the scope of this document to include the specifics of an Oracle RAC installation; you should refer to the Oracle installation documentation for specific installation instructions for your environment. We will provide a partial summary of details that might be relevant.

This section describes the high-level steps for Oracle Database 12c R2 RAC install. Prior to GRID and database install, verify all the prerequisites are completed. As an alternative, you can install Oracle validated RPM that will make sure all prerequisites are meet before Oracle grid install.

For the Oracle Database 12c Release 2 install and upgrade guide, click this link: https://docs.oracle.com/en/database/oracle/oracle-database/12.2/install-and-upgrade.html

Create Directory Structure

The directory structure should be created on all RAC nodes but unzipping grid software happens on the first node only.

You must extract the zip image software into the directory where you want your Grid home to be located. Also, download and copy the Oracle Grid Infrastructure image files to the local node only. During installation, the software is copied and installed on the other nodes in the cluster.

1. Log in as a root user and create the following directory structure.

mkdir -p /u01/app/grid

mkdir -p /u01/app/12.2.0/grid

mkdir -p /u01/app/oracle/product/12.2.0/dbhome_1

chown -R grid:oinstall /u01/app/grid/

chown -R grid:oinstall /u01/app/12.2.0/grid/

chown -R oracle:oinstall /u01/app/oracle/

2. Log in as a grid user, download the Oracle Grid Infrastructure image files and unzip the files into the Grid home:

cd /u01/app/12.2.0/grid

unzip -q download_location/linuxx64_12201_grid_home

Run Cluster Verification Utility

This step verifies that all the prerequisites are meet to install Oracle Grid Infrastructure Software. Oracle Grid Infrastructure ships with the Cluster Verification Utility (CVU) that can run to validate pre and post installation configurations. To run this utility, log in as Grid User in Oracle RAC Node 1 and go to the directory where oracle grid software binaries are located. Run script named as "runcluvfy.sh" as follows:

./runcluvfy.sh stage -pre crsinst -n flex1,flex2,flex3,flex4 -verbose

Configure HugePages

HugePages is a method to have a larger page size that is useful for working with a very large memory. For Oracle Databases, using HugePages reduces the operating system maintenance of page states and increases Translation Lookaside Buffer (TLB) hit ratio.

Advantages of HugePages:

- HugePages are not swappable so there is no page-in/page-out mechanism overhead.
- HugePages uses fewer pages to cover the physical address space, so the size of "book keeping" (mapping from the virtual to the physical address) decreases, so it requiring fewer entries in the TLB and so TLB hit ratio improves.
- HugePages reduces page table overhead. Also, HugePages eliminated page table lookup overhead: Since the pages are not subject to replacement, page table lookups are not required.
- Faster overall memory performance: On virtual memory systems each memory operation is actually two abstract memory operations. Since there are fewer pages to work on, the possible bottleneck on page table access is clearly avoided.



For our configuration, we used HugePages for all the OLTP and DSS workloads.

Please refer to the Oracle support for HugePages configuration details: https://docs.oracle.com/en/database/oracle/oracle-database/12.2/unxar/administering-oracle-database-on-linux.html#GUID-CC72CEDC-58AA-4065-AC7D-FD4735E14416

Install and Configure Oracle Database Grid Infrastructure Software

Lt is no RAC installat relevant. Ple instructions	ot within the scope of this document to include the specifics of an Oracle tion. However, we will provide partial summary of details that might be ase refer to the Oracle installation documentation for specific installation for your environment.
For th The OCR and LUNs.	is solution, we installed Oracle binaries on the boot LUN of the nodes. d Voting Disk files resides in the Oracle ASM disk group created from CRS
 To install Oracle Databa Go to grid home where launch the installer as the " Start the Oracle Grid In ./gridSetup.sh 	use Grid Infrastructure Software, follow these steps: the Oracle 12c R2 Grid Infrastructure software binaries are located and grid" user. frastructure installer by running the following command:
 Select option "Configure click Next. Oracle Grid Infrastructure 12c Reference Oracle Oracle Grid Infrastructure 12c Reference Oracle Ora	re Oracle Grid Infrastructure for a New Cluster" as shown below, then
Select Configuration Op	
Configuration Option Cluster Configuration Operating System Groups Installation Location Root script execution Prerequisite Checks Summary Install Product Finish	Select an option to configure the software. The wizard will register the home in the central inventory and then perform the selected configuration. • Configure Oracle Grid Infrastructure for a New Qluster • Configure Oracle Grid Infrastructure for a Standalone Server (Oracle Bestart) Upgrade Oracle Grid Infrastructure Set Up Software Qnly
Help	< Back Next > Install Cancel

Select cluster configuration options "Configure an Oracle Standalone Cluster", then click Next. 4.

5. In next window, enter the Cluster Name and SCAN Name fields. Enter the names for your cluster and cluster scan that are unique throughout your entire enterprise network. You can select Configure GNS if you have configured your domain name server (DNS) to send to the GNS virtual IP address name resolution requests

6. In Cluster node information window, click the "Add" button to add all four nodes Public Hostname and Virtual Hostname as shown below:

Cluster Connitionation Public Hostname Role Virtual Host Grid Plug and Play Flex1 HUB Flex1-vip Cluster Node Information Flex2 HUB Flex2-vip Network Interface Usage Flex3 HUB Flex3-vip Storage Option Grid Infrastructure Managem Flex4-vip Create ASM Disk Group ASM Password Flex4-vip	stname
Grid Plug and Play Filex1 HUB Filex1-vip Cluster Node Information flex2 HUB flex2-vip Network Interface Usage Flex3 HUB flex3-vip Storage Option Grid Infrestructure Managem flex4 HUB flex4-vip Create ASM Disk Group ASM Password Flex4-vip Flex4-vip	
Cluster Node Information flex2 HUB Iflex2 vip Network Interface Usage flex3 HUB Iflex3 vip Storage Option Grid Infrastructure Managem flex4 Iflex3 Create ASM Disk Group ASM Password Storage Vip Note Note Note Note Note Note Note Note	
Network Interface Usage mexs HUB mexs-sup Storage Option Grid Infrastructure Managem flex4 HUB flex4-vip Create ASM Disk Group ASM Password ASM Password flex4 flex4	
Storage Option Grid Infrastructure Managem Create ASM Disk Group ASM Password	
Grid Infrastructure Managem Create ASM Disk Group ASM Password	
Create ASM Disk Group ASM Password	
ASM Password	
Operating System Groups	
Installation Location	
Boot script execution SSH connectivity Use Cluster Configuration File Add Edi	it <u>R</u> em
Persequisite Checks	
US username. gru	
User home is shared by the selected nodes	
Install Product	
Elevate and public Seys existing in the user nome	
(TRUSH	
	[est Set

7. As shown above, you will see all nodes listed in the table of cluster nodes. Make sure the Role column is set to HUB for all four nodes. Click the SSH Connectivity button at the bottom of the window. Enter the operating system user name and password for the Oracle software owner (grid). Click Setup.

8. A message window appears, indicating that it might take several minutes to configure SSH connectivity between the nodes. After sometime, another message window appears indicating that password-less SSH connectivity has been established between the cluster nodes. Click OK to continue.

uster Node Information	1			1 2
Configuration Option	Provide the list of nodes to b and Virtual Hostname.	e managed by Oracle Grid Infi	astructure with their Public H	Iostnam
States connected	Public Hostname	Role	Virtual Hostna	ame
Grid Plug and Play	flox1	HUB	✓ flex1-vip	
Cluster Node Information	flex2	HUB	▼flex2-vip	
Network Interface Usage	flex3	HUB	▼ flex3-vip	
Charles Catles	110.04	INUB	Tilex4-vip	
Storage Cipuon	a Grid Infrastructure 12c Release 2 II	ortaller@flev1	×	
the second se			225.5	
Create ASM Disk G ASM Password Operating System	Passwordless SSH conne established.	ctivity between the selected n	odes already	
Create ASM Disk Gr ASM Password Operating System Installation Location Root script execution Prerequisite Checks	Passwordless SSH conne established.	ctivity between the selected n	odes already	Bemo
Create ASM Disk G ASM Password Operating System Installation Location Root script execution Prerequisite Check	Passwordless SSH conne- established.	ctivity between the selected n	odes already	Berno
Create ASM Disk G ASM Passward Operating System Installation Location Root script execution Prerequisite Check Summary	Passwordless SSH conne- established.	ctivity between the selected n	odes already	Remo
Create ASM Disk G ASM Password Operating System Installation Location Prarequisite Check Summary Install Product	Passwordless SSH conne- established.	ctivity between the selected n the selected nodes <u>k</u> eys existing in the user hom	odes already	<u>Remo</u>
Create ASM Disk G ASM Password Operating System Installation Location Root script execution Prerequisite Check Summary Install Product Finish	Passwordless SSH conne- established.	ctivity between the selected n the selected nodes keys existing in the user hom	e	Remo

9. In Network Interface Usage screen, select the usage type for each network interface displayed as shown below:

	,, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	a merrode a ante.
Interface Name	Subnet	Use for
eth0	10.29.135.0	Public ASM & Private
COT 2	10.10.10.0	(AGH & FINate
	Interface Name eth0 eth1	Interface Name Subnet eth0 10.29.135.0 eth1 10.10.10.0

10. Select the Oracle ASM storage configuration option as "Configure ASM using block devices." Click Next and Choose "No" option into separate ASM disk group for the Grid Infrastructure Management Repository data, and then click Next.

11. In the Create ASM Disk Group window, select the OCRVOTE LUNs assigned from NetApp Storage to store OCR and Voting disk files. Enter the name of disk group as OCRVOTE and select appropriate redundancy options as show below.

Create ASM Disk Group			
Configuration Option Cluster Configuration Grid Plug and Play Cluster Node Information Network Interface Usage Storage Option	OCR and Voting disk data will be stored in the following ASM Di characteristics of this Disk group. Disk group name OCRVOTE Redundancy Flex High Normal External Allocation Unit Size A MB Select Disks	sk group. Select disks a	and nod Dicks 🕶
Grid Infraetructure Manager	Select Disks	snow Candidate/Provisio	oned Disks *
Graate ASM Dick Crown	Disk Path	Size (in MB)	Status
Create ASM DISK Group	/dev/mapper/ocrvote_1	102400 0	andidate
I Root script execution			
T			
Prerequisite Checks Summary		Change Disc	overy <u>P</u> ath
Prerequisite Checks Summary Install Product		Change Disc	overy <u>P</u> ath
Prerequisite Checks Summary Install Product Finish	Configure Oracle ASM Eilter Driver Select this option to configure ASM Filter Driver(AFD) to simplify disk devices by Oracle ASM.	Change Disc configuration and mar	overy <u>P</u> ath
Prerequisite Checks Summary Install Product Finish	Configure Oracle ASM Ellter Driver Select this option to configure ASM Filter Driver(AFD) to simplify disk devices by Oracle ASM.	Change Disc	overy <u>P</u> ath
Prerequisite Checks Summary Install Product Finish	Configure Oracle ASM Elter Driver Select this option to configure ASM Filter Driver(AFD) to simplify disk devices by Oracle ASM.	Change Disc	overy <u>P</u> ath

For maximum resiliency, we recommend that the cluster control ASM disk group redundancy be configured with a redundancy level of "High" rather than "External" (https://docs.oracle.com/en/database/oracle/oracledatabase/12.2/cwlin/oracle-clusterware-storage-space-requirements.html#GUID-97FD5D40-A65B-4575-AD12-06C491AF3F41), preferably with the copies distributed across both controllers. This will increase the resiliency of the cluster in case there is interrupted access to the volume, aggregate, or controller hosting the cluster control ASM disk group (in the case of a volume running out of space, for example). However, for this solution, we configured redundancy as "External."

12. Choose the password for the Oracle ASM SYS and ASMSNMP account, then click Next.

13. Select the option "Do not use Intelligent Platform Management Interface (IPMI)", then click Next. You can configure to have this instance of Oracle Grid Infrastructure and Oracle Automatic Storage Management to be managed by Enterprise Manager Cloud Control. Specify the details of the Cloud Control configuration to perform and click Next.

ß

You can choose to set it up according to your requirements.

14. Select the appropriate operating system group names for Oracle ASM according to your environments.

15. Specify the directory to use for the Oracle base for the Oracle Grid Infrastructure installation and then click Next. The Oracle base directory must be different from the Oracle home directory. Click Next and choose Inventory Directory according to your setup.

If you copied the Oracle Grid Infrastructure installation files into the Oracle Grid home directory as instructed above, then the default location for the Oracle base directory should display as /u01/app/grid.

16. Click Automatically run configuration scripts to run scripts automatically and enter the relevant root user credentials. Click Next.

17. Wait while the prerequisite checks complete. If you have any issues, use the "Fix & Check Again" button.

If any of the checks have a status of Failed and are not fixable, then you must manually correct these issues. After you have fixed the issue, you can click the Check Again button to have the installer recheck the requirement and update the status. Repeat as needed until all the checks have a status of Succeeded. Click Next.



18. Review the contents of the Summary window and then click Install. The installer displays a progress indicator enabling you to monitor the installation process.

19. Wait for the grid installer configuration assistants to complete.



20. When the configuration complete successfully, click Close to finish and exit the grid installer.

21. When GRID install is successful, login to each of the nodes and perform minimum health checks to make sure that Cluster state is healthy. After your Oracle Grid Infrastructure installation is complete, you can install Oracle Database on a cluster node for high availability, or install Oracle RAC.

Install Oracle Database Software

After a successful GRID install, we recommend to install Oracle Database 12c software only. You can create databases using DBCA or database creation scripts at later stage.

Lt is not within the scope of this document to include the specifics of an Oracle RAC database installation. However, we provide a partial summary of details that might be relevant. Please refer to the Oracle database installation documentation for specific installation instructions for your environment.

To install Oracle Database Software, follow these steps:

1. Start the runInstaller command from the Oracle Database 12*c* Release 2 (12.2) installation media where Oracle database software is located.

2. Select option "Install database software only" into Select Installation Option.

Cracle Database 12c Release 2 Insta	aller - Step 2 of 9@flex1		12°
Configure Security Updates Installation Option Database Installation Option Install Type Typical Installation Prerequisite Checks Summary Install Product Finish	Select any of the following install options. Create and configure a database One of the following install options. Output Dupgrade an existing database		

3. Select option "Oracle Real Application Clusters database installation" and click Next.

4. Select nodes in the cluster where installer should install Oracle RAC. For this setup, you will install software on all nodes as shown below.

Configure Security Updates	Selec RAC o	: nodes (in addition to the local r Oracle RAC One.	node) in the cluster where th	e installer should install Or
Installation Option			Node name	
Database Installation Options	2 1	flex1 flex2		
Nodes Selection	3	flex2		
Install Type	4	flex4		
Typical Installation				
Prerequisite Checks				
Summary				
notall Product				
Finlsh				
	SSH	<u>c</u> onnectivity		Select all Deselect

5. Click the "SSH Connectivity..." button and enter the password for the "oracle" user. Click the "Setup" button to configure passwordless SSH connectivity, and the "Test" button to test it when it is complete. When the test is complete, click Next.

6. Select Database Edition Options according to your environments and then click Next.

7. Enter Oracle Base as "/u01/app/oracle" and "/u01/app/oracle/product/12.2.0/dbhome_1" as the software location, then click Next.

8. Select the desired operating system groups and then click Next.

9. Wait for the prerequisite check to complete. If there are, any problems either click the "Fix & Check Again" button or try to fix those by checking and manually installing required packages. Click Next.

Configure Security Updates	Yerification Result Fixup Result Some of the minimum requirements for installation are listed in the following table, and recheck the system.	not completed. Review and fix	the issues
Nodes Selection	Show All	All Nodes	Ignor
Database Edition	Checks	Status	Fixable
Decadase Edition	📸 Checks		
Installation Location	- Bhysical Memory	Succeeded	
Operating System Groups	- 🌚 Available Physical Memory	Succeeded	
Prerequisite Checks	Swap Size	Succeeded	
	- B B Free Space	200 B 20	
Summary.	- Space: flex4:/tmp	Succeeded	
Install Product	Free Space: flex3:/tmp	Succeeded	
Finish	Free Space: flex2:/tmp	Succeeded	
		Succeeded	
	Ger Existence: oracle		
	Users With Same UID: 54321	Succeeded	
	G-M Group Existence		
	Group Existence: dba	Succeeded	
	Group Existence: oinstall	Succeeded	
	🖶 🥦 Group Membership		
	Group Membership: oinstall(Primary)	Succeeded	

10. Verify the Oracle Database summary information, click Install.

11. When prompted, run the configuration script on each node. When the scripts run successfully on each node then click OK.

Configure Security	/ Updates	97%		
Database Installat	Execute Configuration Scripts@flex1		×	
Nodes Selection Database Edition Installation Location	The following configuration scripts ne node. Each script in the list below is f	ed to be executed as the "root" user on each lis followed by a list of nodes on which it has to be	ted cluster executed.	
Operating System	Scripts	Nodes	ede	
Praraquisita Cher	/u01/app/oracle/product/12.2.0/dbhome_1/root.sh flex1, flex3, flex2, flex4			
Prerequisite chec				
Summary			de	
Install Product) b de	
-men	To execute the configuration scripts: 1. Open a terminal window 2. Login as "root" 3. Run the scripts 4. Return to this window and click "	"OK" to continue	ade ade are	
	Help		2K Cancel	
		120	rous Borry	

12. After the installation of Oracle Database finish successful, click Close to exit of the installer.

Oracle Flex ASM

Oracle Flex ASM enables an Oracle ASM instance to run on a separate physical server from the database servers. With this deployment, larger clusters of Oracle ASM instances can support more database clients while reducing the Oracle ASM footprint for the overall system.



When using Oracle Flex ASM, Oracle ASM clients are configured with direct access to storage. With Oracle Flex ASM, you can consolidate all the storage requirements into a single set of disk groups. All these disk groups are mounted by and managed by a small set of Oracle ASM instances running in a single cluster. You can specify the number of Oracle ASM instances with a cardinality setting. The default is three instances.

Prior to Oracle 12c, if ASM instance on one of the RAC nodes crashes, all the instances running on that node will crash too. This issue has been addressed in Flex ASM; Flex ASM can be used even if all the nodes are hub nodes. However, GNS configuration is mandatory for enabling Flex ASM. We can check what instances are connected with a simple query as shown below.

INST_ID	GROUP_NUMBER	INSTANCE_NAME	DB_NAME	CLIENT_ID	STATUS
1	14	+ASM1	+ASM	+ASM1:+ASM	CONNECTED
1	14	-MGMTDB	montob	-MGMTDB: mgmtdb	CONNECTED
1	14	flex1.cisco.com	OCR	flex1.cisco.com: OCR	CONNECTED
2	14	+ASM2	+ASM	+ASM2:+ASM	CONNECTED
2	14	flex2.cisco.com	OCR	flex2.cisco.com: OCR	CONNECTED
4	14	+ASM4	+ASM	+ASM4:+ASM	CONNECTED
4	14	flex3.cisco.com	OCR	flex3.cisco.com: OCR	CONNECTED
4	14	flex4.cisco.com	OCR	flex4.cisco.com: OCR	CONNECTED

As you can see from the above query, instance1 (flex1), instance2 (flex2) and instance4 (flex4) are connected to +ASM. Also, the screenshot below shows a few more commands to check the cluster and FLEX ASM details.



Scalability Test and Results

Before configuring a database for workload tests, it is extremely important to validate that this is indeed a balanced configuration that is capable of delivering expected performance. In this solution, you will test and validate node and user scalability on all 4 node Oracle RAC Databases with various database benchmarking tools as explained below.

Hardware Calibration Test using FIO

FIO is short for Flexible IO, a versatile IO workload generator. FIO is a tool that will spawn a number of threads or processes doing a particular type of I/O action as specified by the user. For our solution, we use FIO to measure the performance of a NetApp storage device over a given period of time. For the FIO Tests, we created 16 volumes and each volume has one LUN. These 16 LUNs were shared across all the four nodes for read/write IO operations.

We run various FIO tests for measuring IOPS, Latency and Throughput performance of this solution by changing block size parameter into the FIO test. For each FIO test, we also changed read/write ratio as 0/100 percent read/write, 50/50 percent read/write, 70/30 percent read/write, 90/10 percent read/write and 100/0 percent read/write to scale the performance of the system. We also ran the tests for at least 4 hours to help ensure that this configuration is capable of sustaining this type of load for longer period of time.

4k and 8k Random Read/Write IOPs Tests

The following chart shows results for the random read/write FIO test for the 4k block size.



For the 100/0 percent read/write test, we achieved about 860k IOPS with the read latency about 1.1 millisecond. Similarly, for the 90/10 percent read/write test, we achieved about 778k IOPS with the read latency about 1.1 millisecond and the write latency about 1.7 millisecond. For the 70/30 percent read/write test, we achieved 732k IOPS with the read latency about 1 millisecond and the write latency about 1 millisecond and the write latency about 1.9 millisecond. For the 50/50 percent read/write test, we achieved about 592k IOPS with the read latency about 0.4 millisecond and the write latency about 2.8 millisecond. For the 0/100 percent read/write test, we achieved 180k IOPS with the write latency about 5.3 millisecond.



The chart below shows results for the random read/write FIO test for the 8k block size representing OLTP type of workloads.

For the 100/0 percent read/write test, we achieved about 891k IOPS with the read latency about 0.8 millisecond. Similarly, for the 90/10 percent read/write test, we achieved about 800k IOPS with the read latency about 0.9 millisecond and the write latency about 1.3 millisecond. For the 70/30 percent read/write test, we achieved about 732k IOPS with the read latency about 0.7 millisecond and the write latency about 1.7 millisecond. For the 50/50 percent read/write test, we achieved about 496k IOPS with the read latency about 0.4 millisecond and the write latency about 2.6 millisecond. For the 0/100 percent read/write test, we achieved about 156k IOPS with the write latency about 4.9 millisecond.

Bandwidth Tests

The bandwidth tests are carried out with 512k and 1MB IO Size and represents the DSS database type workloads. The chart below shows results for the sequential read/write FIO test for the 512k block size.



For the 100/0 percent read/write test, we achieved about 11.3 GB/s throughput with the read latency about 2.9 millisecond. Similarly, for the 90/10 percent read/write test, we achieved about 11.5 GB/s throughput with the read latency about 2.8 millisecond and the write latency about 3.5 millisecond. For the 70/30 percent read/write test, we achieved about 8.3 GB/s throughput with the read latency about 2.3 millisecond and the write latency about 6.3 millisecond. For the 50/50 percent read/write test, we achieved about 7.1 GB/s throughput with the read latency about 3.1 millisecond and the write latency about 8 millisecond. For the 0/100 percent read/write test, we achieved about 8.1 millisecond.



The chart below shows results for the sequential read/write FIO test for the 1MB block size.

For the 100/0 percent read/write test, we achieved around 8.8 GB/s throughput with the read latency around 7.6 millisecond. Similarly, for the 90/10 percent read/write test, we achieved about 10.2 GB/s throughput with the read latency about 6.5 millisecond and the write latency about 6.7 millisecond. For the 70/30 percent read/write test, we achieved about 10.3 GB/s throughput with the read latency about 5.5 millisecond and the write latency about 8.8

millisecond. For the 50/50 percent read/write test, we achieved about 7.1 GB/s throughput with the read latency about 6.6 millisecond and the write latency about 7.1 millisecond. For the 0/100 percent read/write test, we achieved about 4.1 GB/s throughput with the write latency about 16.1 millisecond.

The slight decrease in bandwidth between the 90 percent read workload and 100 percent read workload is a result of ONTAP's extremely efficient write processing. Inbound write data is journaled into mirrored NVRAM. At this point, the write operation is complete and on durable media, and the IO is then acknowledged to the client. NVRAM is not cache, it is a journal that is only used for recovery of an interrupted write operation. The actual write operation to the SSD drives is a direct memory-to-drive transfer. The bandwidth and latency characteristics of NVRAM exceeds even that of SSD drives, so any tests with write IO will result in an increase in overall bandwidth compared to 100percent read tests where all IO must be drawn from slower Flash-based media.

We did not see any performance dips or degradation over the period of run time. It is also important to note that this is not a benchmarking exercise and the numbers presented are not the peak numbers where there is hardware resource saturation. These are practical and out of box test numbers that can be easily reproduced by any one. At this time, we are ready to create OLTP database(s) and continue with database tests.

Database Creation with DBCA

We used Oracle Database Configuration Assistant (DBCA) to create three OLTP (SLOB, SOE and OLTP) and one DSS (DSS) databases for SLOB and Swingbench test calibration. Alternatively, you can use Database creation scripts to create the databases as well.

For all the database deployment, we have configured two aggregates (one aggregate on each storage node) into a single SVM and each aggregate contains 35 SSD (960GB Each) drives that were subdivided into RAID DP groups, plus one spare drive as explained earlier in the storage configuration section.

For each RAC database, we have created total number of 18 volumes and each volume contains one LUN. We distributed equal number of volumes and LUNs on both the storage node by placing those volumes and LUNs into both the aggregates. All the databases files were also spread evenly across the 2 nodes of the storage system so that each storage node served data for the databases. The screenshot below shows the storage layout of all the volumes and LUN configuration for all the databases.

	-		Node: FlexP	od-a700	s-01			Node: FlexP	od-a700	s-02
	Aggre	gate: agg	r1_node1 (RA	ID Grou	p - raid_dp, 23.23 TB)	Aggre	gate: agg	r1_node2 (RA	ID Group	p - raid_dp, 23.23 TB)
-	Volume	Size (GB)	Lun	Size (GB)	Notes	Volume	Size (GB)	Lun	Size (GB)	Notes
ASM	cm 1 .	150	ormote 1	100	OCR & Voting Disks	cm 2	150	ormote 7	100	OCR & Voting Dicks
ASIM	0.5_4	1.50	ocryote_1	100	OCK & YOUNG DISKS	C/3_2	1.50	ocredic_e	100	Och a voung olsks
	slobvol_1	400	oradata_slob_1	300	Data Files	slobvol_2	400	oradata_slob_2	300	Data Files
	slobvol 3	400	oradata slob 3	300	Data Files	slobvol 4	400	oradata slob 4	300	Data Files
	slobvol 5	400	oradata slob S	300	Oata Files	slobvol 6	400	oradata slob 6	300	Data Files
0.00	slobvol 7	400	oradata slob 7	300	Data Files	slobvol 8	400	oradata slob 8	300	Data Files
SLUB	slobvol 9	400	oradata slob 9	300	Data Files	slobvol 10	400	oradata slob 10	300	Data Files
Database	slobvol 11	400	oradata slob 11	300	Data Files	slobvol 12	400	oradata slob 12	300	Data Files
	slobvol 13	400	oradata slob 13	300	Data Files	slobvol 14	400	oradata slob 14	300	Data Files
	slobvol 15	400	oradata slob 15	300	Data Files	slobvol 16	400	oradata slob 16	300	Data Files
	slobvol_17	150	oraredo_slob_1	100	Control Files + Redo Log Files	slobvol_18	150	oraredo_slob_2	100	Control Files + Redo Log Files
-	energy 1	1000	oradata son 1	625	Data Files	consol 2	1000	oradata soa 2	625	Data Eles
	Longol 3	1000	oradata ros 3	625	Oata Filas	A lowers	1000	oradata son 4	635	Oata Files
	soevol 5	1000	oradata soe 5	625	Oata Filos	social 6	1000	oradata soe 6	625	Data Files
61-32	soevel 3	1000	oradata soc 3	625	Data Files	soevol 0	1000	oradata soe 0	625	Data Files
SOE	soevoi_7	1000	oradata_soe_7	6.36	Data Files	spevoi_8	1000	oradata_soe_6	6.26	Data Files
Database	soevoi 9	1000	oradata_soe_9	625	Data Files	spevol 10	1000	oradata_soe_10	620	Data Files
Dutubuse	soevol_11	1000	oradata_soe_11	025	Data rijes	SOEVOI_12	1000	oradata_soe_12	025	Data riles
	soevol 13	1000	oradata_soe_13	025	Data Files	soevol 14	1000	oradata soe 14	025	Data Files
	soevol_15	1000	oradata_soe_15	625	Data Files	soevol_16	1000	oradata_soe_16	625	Data Files
	soevol_17	200	oraredo_soe_1	100	Control Files + Redo Log Files	soevol_18	200	oraredo_soe_2	100	Control Files + Redo Log Files
	oltpvol_1	900	oradata_oltp_1	500	Data Files	oltpvol_2	900	oradata_oltp_2	500	Data Files
	oltpvol_3	900	oradata_oltp_3	500	Data Files	oltpvol_4	900	oradata_oltp_4	500	Data Files
	oltpvol_5	900	oradata_oltp_5	500	Data Files	oltpvol_6	900	oradata_oltp_6	500	Data Files
OLTR	oltpvol_7	900	oradata_oltp_7	\$00	Data Files	oltpvol_8	900	oradata_oltp_8	\$00	Data Files
OLIF	oltpvol_9	900	oradata_oltp_9	500	Data Files	oltpvol_10	900	oradata_oltp_10	500	Data Files
Database	oltpvol_11	900	oradata_oltp_11	500	Data Files	oltpvol_12	900	oradata_oltp_12	500	Data Files
	oltpvol_13	900	oradata_oltp_13	500	Data Files	oltpvol_14	900	oradata_oltp_14	500	Data Files
	oltpvol 15	900	oradata_oltp_15	500	Data Files	oltpvol 16	900	oradata_oltp_16	500	Data Files
	oltpvol_17	200	oraredo_oltp_1	100	Control Files + Redo Log Files	oltpvol_18	200	oraredo_oltp_2	100	Control Files + Redo Log Files
	dssvol 1	1500	oradata dss 1	1000	Data Files	dissuol 2	1500	oradata dis 2	1000	Data Files
	dssvol 3	1500	oradata dss 3	1000	Data Files	dssvol 4	1500	oradata diss 4	1000	Data Files
	dissual 5	1500	oradata dss 5	1000	Data Files	dissual 6	1500	oradata das 6	1000	Data Files
incr.	dssvol 7	1500	oradata dss 7	1000	Data Files	dissuel 8	1500	oradata dis 8	1000	Data Files
DSS	disual 9	1500	oradata des 9	1000	Oata Files	dissuel 10	1500	oradata dis 10	1000	Oata Files
Database	dssvol 11	1500	oradata dss 11	1000	Data Files	dssvol 12	1500	oradata dss 12	1000	Data Files
	desunt 13	1500	oradata dis 12	1000	Data Files	disunt 14	1500	oradata dis 14	1000	Data Files
	desual 15	1500	oradata des 15	1000	Data Files	desunt 16	1500	oradata dis 16	1000	Data Files
	devol 17	200	oratedo des 1	100	Control Files + Redo Los Files	devol 19	200	oratedo dis 2	100	Control Files + Redo Los Files
	1033401 17	200	Unareuo uss 1	100	control riles + Nedo Log riles	033401 19	200	Unareuo uss_2	100	Control riles + Aedo Log riles

As shown above, for each database, we created total 18 volumes and each volume contains one LUN. On these 18 LUNs, we created two disk groups to store the data and redolog files for the database. We used 16 LUNs to create Oracle ASM "Data" disk group and 2 LUNs to create Oracle ASM "redolog" disk group for each database.

We used a widely adopted SLOB and Swingbench database performance test tools to test and validate throughput, IOPS, and latency for various test scenarios as explained below.

SLOB Test

The Silly Little Oracle Benchmark (SLOB) is a toolkit for generating and testing I/O through an Oracle database. SLOB is very effective to test the I/O subsystem with genuine Oracle SGAbuffered physical I/O. SLOB supports testing physical random single-block reads (db file sequential read) and random single block writes (DBWR flushing capability). SLOB issues single block reads for the read workload that are generally 8K (as the database block size was 8K).

To test the SLOB workload, we created one database as SLOB. For SLOB database, we created total 18 volumes and each volume contains one LUN. On these 18 LUNs, we created two disk groups to store the data and redolog files for the SLOB database. First disk-group "DATASLOB" was created with 16 LUNs (300 GB each) while second disk-group "REDOSLOB" was created with two LUNs (100 GB each) as shown below.

ik Groups					GR GR	ID INFRASTRUCTURE
ASM ASM Instances	Disk Group Name	Size (GB)	Free (GB)	Usable (GB)	Redundancy	State
Disk Groups	DATASLOB	4800.56	4800.21	4800.21	EXTERN	MOUNTED(3 of 4)
REDOSLOB	OCRVOTE	200.00	165.38	165.38	EXTERN	MOUNTED(3 of 4)
Settings						

Those ASM disk groups provided the storage required to create the tablespaces for the SLOB Database. We loaded SLOB schema on "DATASLOB" disk-group of up to 3 TB in size.

We used SLOB2 to generate our OLTP workload. Each database server applied the workload to Oracle database, log, and temp files. The following tests were performed and various metrics like IOPS and latency were captured along with Oracle AWR reports for each test scenario.

User Scalability Test

SLOB2 was configured to run against all the four RAC nodes and the concurrent users were equally spread across all the nodes. We tested the environment by increasing the number of Oracle users in database from a minimum of 32 users up to a maximum of 512 users across all the four nodes. At each load point, we verified that the storage system and the server nodes could maintain steady-state behavior without failure. We also made sure that there were no bottlenecks across servers or networking systems.

We performed User Scalability test with 32, 64, 128, 192, 256 and 512 users on 4 Oracle RAC nodes by varying read/write ratio as explained below:

- Varying workloads
 - 100% read (0% update)
 - 90% read (10% update)
 - 70% read (30% update)
 - 50% read (50% update)

The following table illustrate total number of IOPS (both read and write) for user scalability test when run with 32, 64, 128, 192, 256 and 512 Users on the SLOB database.

Users	IOPS for Read/Write % (100/0)	IOPS for Read/Write % (90/10)	IOPS for Read/Write % (70/30)	IOPS for Read/Write % (50/50)	^
32	186,386	188,906	209,264	220,718	
64	316,731	324,739	333,120	343,007	
128	461,265	452,060	456,660	469,478	~
<				>	

Table 10 Total IOPS for SLOB User Scalability Tests

256	541,849	532,473	529,033	532,116
512	603,039	559,831	547,240	555,170

The following graphs demonstrate total number of IOPS while running SLOB workload for various concurrent users for each test scenario.



The above graph shows the linear scalability with increased users and similar IOPS from 32 users to 512 users with 100% read, 90% read, 70% read and 50% read.

The AWR screenshot below was captured from a 100% Read (0% update) Test scenario while running SLOB test for 512 users. The snapshot shows a section from the Oracle AWR report from the run that highlights Physical Reads/Sec and Physical Writes/Sec for each instance.

System	Statistics - A	atistics - Per Second		DB/Inst: SLOB/slob1 Snaps: 310-311						
I#	Logical Reads/s	Physical Reads/s	Physical Writes/s	Redo Size (k)/s	Block Changes/s	User Calls/s	Execs/s	Parses/s	Logons/s	Txns/s
	100 300 40	140.000 1			14.5		A 000 7			
1	122, 132, 40	148,933.1	5.2	5.3	14.0	1,4	2,309.7	5.0	0.20	0.1
2	210,927.91	149,900.2	2.4	5.9	33.7	1.4	2,388.8	5.2	0.19	0.2
3	159,063,72	151,961.7	1.5	5.3	12.1	1.4	2.416.7	4.4	0.20	0.1
4	200,586.75	152,232.4	2.5	4.4	10.5	1.6	2,424.2	4.9	0.20	0.1
		annen	inconstants			man		mumm		
Sum	726, 373, 78	603,027.4	11.6	21.2	70.9	5.7	9.599.4	19.5	0.78	0.6
Ava	181,593,44	150.756.9	2.9	5.3	17.7	1.4	2,399.9	4.9	0.20	0.2
Std	28,251,16	1,600.9	1.6	0.7	10.8	0.1	25.2	0.4	0.00	0.0

The screenshot above highlights that IO load is distributed across all the cluster nodes performing workload operations. Due to variations in workload randomness, we conducted multiple runs to help ensure consistency in behavior and test results.

The screenshot below was captured from a 70% Read (30% update) Test scenario while running SLOB test for 512 users. The snapshot shows a section from AWR report from the run that highlights Physical Reads/Sec and Physical Writes/Sec for each instance.

system	Statistics - Pe	r Second	D8/1	nst: SLOB/slot	1 Snaps: 334	335				
I#	Logical Reads/s	Physical Reads/s	Physical Writes/s	Redo Size (k)/s	Block Changes/s	User Calls/s	Execs/s	Parses/s	Logons/s	Txns/s
1	109.377.19	102.785.5	31,050,0	10,864.7	62.872.8	1.1	1.645.7	5.8	0.15	488.3
2	114,843,30	107,949,3	32,596,1	11.347.6	66.022.1	1.1	1.726.8	5.6	0.15	512.8
3	149,685,24	105,692,9	31.895.3	11,109.2	64.587.8	1.3	1.688.8	5.9	0.15	501.6
4	110,480.18	103,911.3	31,359.7	10,962.4	63,504.7	1.1	1,664.5	5.9	0.15	493.3
	***************************************							**********		
Sun	484,385.91	420,339.0	126,901.0	44,283.8	256,987.5	4.7	6,725.8	23.2	0.59	1,996.0
Avg	121,096.48	105,084.8	31,725.3	11,071.0	64,246.9	1.2	1,681.5	5.8	0.15	499.6
Std	19,204.75	2,253.8	677.5	210.0	1,379.2	0.1	35.0	0.1	0.00	10.7

The following graph illustrates the latency exhibited by the NetApp AFF A700s Storage across different workloads. All the workloads experienced less than 1 millisecond latency and it varies



based on the workloads. As expected, the 50% read (50% update) test exhibited higher latencies as the user counts increases.

The following screenshot was captured from 100 % Read (0% Update) Test scenario while running SLOB test for 512 users. The screenshot shows a section of AWR report from the run that highlights top timed Events.

Top	Timed Events	DB/Inst: S.C	D8/slob1 Snaps: 310-31	1								
->	Enstance "#"	 cluster wide summary 										
1.30		Waits, %Timeouts, Wait Time Total(s)	: Cluster-wide tot	at for t	the wait event							
-30		'Wait Time Avg'	: Cluster-wide average	computer	d as (Wait Time	Total / B	Event Waits	1				
-30		Summary 'Avg Wait Time "	: Per-instance 'Wait T	ine Avg	' used to compu	te the fe	ollowing st	atistics				
-34		[Avg/Min/Max/Std Dev]	: average/minimum/	maximum	standard deviat	ion of p	er-instance	Wait Time	Ava:			
-34		Cnt	: count of instanc	es with	wait times for	the event	t					
		Wait	Event		Was	t Time			Sumary	Avg Wait Ti	ne	
							1000					1.4.1
1	Class	Event	Waits VII	meouts	Total(s)	Avg Halt	\$35 Time	Avg	Man	Max	Std Dev	Cnt
	 User I/0 	db file sequential read	1.080357E+09	0.0	788,506,70	729.8505	85.53	729.87us	727.6205	733.910s	2.7805	
		DB CPU	N/A	N/A	85,995.01		9.33					8
	Cluster	gc cr grant 2-way	524,206,578	0.0	66,697.65	127.24us	7.24	127.29us	122.65us	134.85us	5.17us	
	Cluster	gc cr grant congested	5,393,910	0.0	21,868.33	4.0485	2.37	4.04ms	3.93ms	4.1285	91.61us	
	Applicatio	eng: TX - row lock contention	5	0.0	928.63	184.13 s	8.10	185.05 \$	181.65 s	195.70 s	8358.21#5	- 14 I
	Other	gcs drm freeze in enter server mode	2,380	0.0	501.40	218.67ms	0.05	210.61ms	201.53ms	224.4905	10.56ms	4
	Cluster	gc buffer busy release	462	0.0	193.59	481.58ms	0.02	388.31ms	170.57us	568.45ms	279.10ms	
	Other	latch free	67,725	0.0	192.59	2.8445	0.02	2.86ms	1.6985	4.32ms	1.0905	
	Other	RMA: IPCO completion sync	7,534	0.0	146.25	19.41ms	0.02	19.41ms	19.3765	19.44es	30.68us	
	Concurrenc	library cache load lock	6,188	0.0	164.40	16.87ms	0.01	15.02ms	5.26ms	41.87ms	17.91es	

Swingbench Test

We used Swingbench for OLTP and DSS workload testing. Swingbench is a simple to use, free, Java-based tool to generate database workload and perform stress testing using different benchmarks in Oracle database environments. Swingbench can be used to demonstrate and test technologies such as Real Application Clusters, Online table rebuilds, Standby databases, online backup and recovery, etc.

Swingbench provides four separate benchmarks, namely Order Entry, Sales History, Calling Circle, and Stress Test. For the tests described in this solution, Swingbench Order Entry benchmark was used for OLTP workload testing and the Sales History benchmark was used for the DSS workload testing.

The Order Entry benchmark is based on SOE schema and is TPC-C like by types of transactions. The workload uses a very balanced read/write ratio about 60/40 and can be designed to run continuously and test the performance of a typical Order Entry workload against a small set of tables, producing contention for database resources.

The Sales History benchmark is based on the SH schema and is TPC-H like. The workload is query (read) centric and is designed to test the performance of queries against large tables.

Typically encountered in the real-world deployments, we tested a combination of scalability and stress related scenarios that ran on all the 4-node Oracle RAC cluster configuration.

- OLTP database user scalability representing small and random transactions
- DSS database workload representing larger transactions

Mixed workload featuring OLTP and DSS database workloads running simultaneously for 24 hours

For Swingbench workload, we created two OLTP (OLTP and SOE) and one DSS (DSS) database to demonstrate database multi-tenancy capability, performance and sustainability. We created approximately 3 TB of OLTP Database, 4 TB of SOE Database and 6 TB of DSS database to perform Order Entry and Sales Entry swingbench workload testing.

The first step after the databases creation is calibration; about the number of concurrent users, nodes, throughput, IOPS and latency for database optimization. For this FlexPod solution, we have tested system performance with different databases running at a time and capture the results as explained in the following sections.

One (SOE) Database Performance

For one OLTP database workload featuring Order Entry schema, we used one SOE database. For the SOE database (4 TB), we used 128GB size of System Global Area (SGA). We also made sure that HugePages were in use. The OLTP Database scalability test was run for at least 12 hours and made sure that results are consistent for the duration of the full run.

We ran the SwingBench scripts on each node to start SOE database and generate AWR reports for each scenario as shown below.

User Scalability

Table 11 lists the Transaction Per Minutes (TPM), IOPS and System Utilization for SOE Database while running swingbench workloads from 100 users to 800 users.

	Users	Transactions		(AWR)	Storage	IOPS	System Utilization (%)
		Per Second (TPS)	Per Minute (TPM)	Reads/s	Writes/s	Total Phy. IOPS	
	100	8,280	496,776	39,645	21,404	61,049	9.3
	200	15,225	913,470	74,088	36,921	111,009	17.8
	200	20,273	1,216,356	98,384	50,057	148,442	22.8
	400	24,777	1,486,590	118,738	60,882	179,620	27.4
	500	28,084	1,685,010	134,636	71,005	205,641	32.5
	600	30,590	1,835,376	146,532	80,368	226,900	37.1
	700	33,105	1,986,270	154,331	82,346	236,677	43.1
	800	36,467	2,188,002	162,648	83,012	245,660	47.4
ĺ	/						

Table 11 TPM, TPS, IOPS and System Utilization for SOE Database User Scale Tests

The chart below shows the IOPS and Latency of SOE database while running swingbench workload for 100 users to 800 users on all 4 RAC nodes.



The chart below shows TPM and System Utilization of the system while running swingbench workload for 100 user to 800 users.



The screenshot below was captured from the 800 User Scale Test scenario while running Swingbench workload on SOE database. The snapshot shows a section from 4-hour window of AWR Global report from the run that highlights Physical Reads/Sec and Physical Writes/Sec for each instance. Notice that IO load is distributed across all the cluster nodes performing workload operations.

system	Statistics - F	Per Second		D8/Inst: SOE/	soel Snaps:	74-78				
I#	Logical Reads/s	Physical Reads/s	Physical Writes/s	Redo Size (k)/s	Block Changes/s	User Calls/s	Execs/s	Parses/s	Logons/s	Txns/s
1	904,296.03	38,610.9	19,668.8	29,381.9	185,892.7	25,933.3	89,726.4	10,306.8	0.45	8,643.7
2	938,176.47	40,253.8	20,390.3	30,495.9	193,291.3	27,006.9	93,437.7	10,733.3	0.45	9,001.6
3	1,136,462,10	39,304.7	19,951.9	29,485.2	187,806,4	26.314.6	91.051.3	10,457.7	0.44	8,770.8
4	1,058,048,40	44,478.6	23,001.4	33,857.1	215,500.1	30,154.1	104,323.5	11,984.7	0.45	10,050.7
	1 026 002 00	103 640 0	02 012 4	122 226 1	703 400 4	100 100 0	170 520 0	43 403 E		75 466 7
Sun	4,030,983.00	102,048.0	83,012,4	123,220.1	/82,490.4	109,409.0	3/8.338.8	43,482.3	1,80	30,400.7
Avg	1,009,245.75	40,662.0	20,753.1	30,805.0	195,622.6	27,352.2	94,634.7	10,870.6	0.45	9,116.7
Std	107,441,43	2,632.0	1,528.0	2,095.9	13,617.6	1,920.1	6,639.2	763.4	0.00	640.0

The AWR screenshot below shows top timed events for the same 800 User Scale Test while Swingbench test was running.

Top T -> In -> -> ->	imed Events stance '*' '*'	- cluster wide summary Naits, Afimeouts, Wait Time Total(s) Wait Time Avg Summary Avg Mait Time ' : [[Avg/Min/Max/Std Dev] Cot	DE/seel Snaps: 74-7 : Cluster-wide tot luster-wide average Per-instance "Wait 3 : average/minisum/ : count of instance	18 computed fime Avg (maximum) fes with	the wait event 5 as (Wait Time ' used to comp /standard devia wait times for	Total / E ute the fo tion of pe the event	vent Wait: llowing s r-instance	s) tatistics a Wait Time .	Avg'			
		Wait	Event		Wa	it Time			Summary	Avg Wait Ti	te	
IR	Class	Event	Walts %T	ineouts	Total(s)	Avg Wait	NOS time	Avg	Min	Max	Std Dev	Crit
	User I/0 Count Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster	db file sequential read CB CPU log file sync gc current block congested gc current block busy gc current grant 2-way gc cr block 3-way gc cr block congested gc current grant busy gc current block 2-way	1.679536E+09 N/A 391,693,265 40,536,239 4654,121,194 591,737,257 304,639,822 36,781,329 111,664,019 356,478,432	0.0 N/A 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	1,629,626.08 1,306,367,35 840,605,91 247,195,21 246,956,51 220,612,94 266,520,00 193,042,74 171,241,91 122,968,64	.97hs 2.15es 6.10es 532.09us 677.92us 677.92us 6.27hs 1.54es 344.95us	29.13 23.35 15.03 4.42 4.41 3.94 3.69 3.45 3.06 2.20	.97#5 2.15#5 6.01#5 535.9945 372.7245 662.3845 6.17#5 1.54#5 350.5045	.95ms 1.96ms 5.62ms 438.04us 358.28us 485.33us 5.70ms 1.51ms 261.83us	.9885 2.4485 6.2185 619.0905 380.0705 758.6005 6.3985 1.5985 396.2305	16.51us 215.23us 254.28us 75.63us 9.99us 122.42us 318.34us 33.34us 60.41us	*****

The Oracle Enterprise Manager screenshot below shows All Wait Events, IO Requests Per Second, CPU Utilization for the same 800 User Scale Test while Swingbench test was running for 24 hours.



Two (SOE and OLTP) Database Performance

For two OLTP database workload featuring Order Entry schema, we used SOE and OLTP database. For both the databases, we used 128GB of System Global Area (SGA). We also made sure that HugePages were in use all the time while databases were running. The SOE + OLTP Database scalability test were run for at least 12 hours and ensured that results are consistent for the duration of the full run.

Notice that SOE database is of approximately 4 TB in size, while OLTP database is 3 TB in size. While running below tests on both the database together, we scaled more users on the SOE database compared to the OLTP database. We ran the Swingbench scripts on each node to start SOE and OLTP database and generate AWR reports for each scenario as shown below.

User Scalability

Table 12 lists the IOPS and System Utilization for SOE + OLTP databases running together Swingbench workloads from 200 users to 800 users across all the four RAC nodes:

Users	IOPS for SOE DB	IOPS for OLTP DB	Total IOPS	System Utilization (%)
200	81,838	27,755	109,593	18.9
300	119,816	26,097	145,913	25.3
400	128,855	44,909	173,764	32.1
500	139.657	61.445	201.102	39.3

Table 12 Total IOPS for SLOB + OLTP Database for User Scalability Tests

600	145,508	75,465	220,973	44.2
700	150,922	89,918	240,840	50.7
800	142,873	96,206	239,079	55.9
<				>

The graph below demonstrates the total IOPS for both SOE and OLTP Database while running Swingbench workload together from 200 users to 800 users.



Table 13 lists the TPM and System Utilization for SOE + OLTP databases running Swingbench workloads together from 100 users to 800 users.

Users	TPM for SOE DB	TPM for OLTP DB	Total TPM	System Utilization (%)
200	691,092	232,542	923,634	18.9
300	1,051,458	217,620	1,269,078	25.3
400	1,129,806	395,370	1,525,176	32.1
500	1,227,612	552,582	1,780,194	39.3
600	1,298,058	696,966	1,995,024	44.2
700	1,306,896	821,701	2,128,597	50.7
800	1,265,010	898,944	2,163,954	55.9
/				

	Fable 13	Total TPM for	SLOB + OLT	P Database for	User Scalability	Tests
--	----------	---------------	------------	----------------	------------------	-------

The graph below illustrates the total IOPS for both SOE and OLTP Database while running Swingbench workload together from 200 users to 800 users.



The results were in line with prior assessments where the user scalability was almost linear till 600 users and beyond 600 users the rate of IOPS increase slowed down.

The screenshot shown below was captured from the 800 Users Scale Test scenario while running Swingbench workload on two database at the same time for 24 hours. The snapshot shows a section from 24-hour window of AWR Global report from the run that highlights Physical Reads/Sec, Physical Writes/Sec and Transactions per Seconds for each instance for both the databases. Notice that IO load is distributed across all the cluster nodes performing workload operations.

System	Statistics - F	er Second	DB	/Inst: SOE/so	el Snaps: 3	58-382				
I#	Logical Reads/s	Physical Reads/s	Physical Writes/s	Redo Size (k)/s	Block Changes/s	User Calls/s	Execs/s	Parses/s	Logons/s	Txns/s
1234	566,176.94	20,297.2	11,410.4	17,767.1	103,924.6	14,269.6	49,389.6	5,667.3	0.17	4,754.0
	567,314.38	20,247.1	11,329.0	17,636.6	103,050.3	14,148.4	48,974.7	5,619.4	0.17	4,713.9
	585,066.16	20,807.2	11,567.7	17,951.8	105,003.0	14,426.0	49,936.8	5,729.9	0.17	4,806.5
	689,140.63	23,551.8	13,308.4	20,344.8	120,754.4	16,628.9	57,557.4	6,604.3	0.16	5,540.3
Sum	2,407,698.10	84,903.2	47,615.5	73,700.3	432,732.3	59,472.9	205,858.5	23,620.9	0.67	19,814.7
Avg	661,924.52	21,225.8	11,903.9	18,425.1	108,183.1	14,868.2	51,464.6	5,905.2	0.17	4,953.7
Std	58,783.80	1,571.1	941.6	1,286.3	8,418.8	1.179.3	4,080.9	468.2	0.00	392.9

System	stem Statistics - Per Second		08/1	inst: OLTP/olt	pl Snaps: 3	18-342				
I#	Logical Reads/s	Physical Reads/s	Physical Writes/s	Redo Size (k)/s	Block Changes/s	User Calls/s	Execs/s	Parses/s	Logons/s	Txns/s
1	349,578.30	12,930.7	7,763.6	12,796.0	73,189.0	9,997.0	34,671.2	3,969.4	0.11	3,330.2
2	402,893.75	13,027.3	7.887.3	12.871.6	73,746.0	10,082.1	34,963.6	4,003.5	0.11	3,358.5
3	364,991.20	14,922.1	8,114.9	13,176.1	76,002.4	10,396.1	36,054.9	4,128.2	0.11	3,463.1
4	467,315.99	15,813.3	9,518.9	15,263.8	90,031.4	12,350.9	42,832.2	4,964.0	0.11	4,114.3
			manner			*********	*******	********	*******	
Sum	1,584,779.23	56,693.3	33,284.7	54,107.5	312,968.8	42,826.1	148,521.9	17,005.1	0.43	14,266.1
Ava	396, 194, 81	14,173,3	8.321.2	13,526.9	78,242.2	10,706.5	37,130.5	4.251.3	0.11	3,566.5
Std	52,440,00	1,426.9	811.6	1.169.5	7,953.1	1.109.6	3,847.5	440.5	0.00	369.7

The screenshot below shows top timed events for SOE database while running the same above Swingbench test for 24 hours.

	ined Events	- cluster wide summary Waits, Wilmouts, Wait Time Total "Wait Time Avg" Summary 'Avg Wait Time ' [Avg/Min/Max/Std Dev] Cnt	<pre>it: SOE/soel Snaps: 358 (s) : Cluster-wide : Cluster-wide avera : Per-instance "Wai</pre>	-382 total for 1 ge computed t Time Avg um/maximum, ances with	the wait event i as (Wait Time ' used to compi 'standard devia wait times for	Total / En ite the fol tion of per the event	vent Waits llowing st r-instance	i) atistics • Wait Time	Avgʻ			
		Wait	Even	ŧ	Wa	it Time			Sumary A	Avg Wait Ti	ne	
In	Class	Event	Waits	VTineouts	Total(s)	Avg Wait 1	NC8 time	Avg	Min	Мах	Std Dev	Cnt
	User I/0 Commit Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster	<pre>db file sequential read BL 00 Log file sync gc current prant 2-way gc current block buay gc current block congested gc cr plack 3-way gc current block 2-way gc current block congested</pre>	7,050821E+09 N/A 1,705457E+09 2,671641E+09 1,925001E+09 42,098,159 1,694389E+09 2,210294E+09 1,651138E+09 30,264,924	8,0 N/A 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0	7,442,779,62 6,075,235,66 4,018,701,82 1,550,173,17 1,446,570,87 1,360,282,90 1,341,880,74 1,191,479,42 1,059,897,19 1,642,665,74	1.0685 2.3085 580.2305 751.4605 32.3185 897.9505 539.0605 641.9205 34.4585	24.59 20.07 13.28 5.12 4.78 4.49 4.43 3.94 3.50 3.45	1.06es 2.36es 616.19us 757.45us 31.68es 901.96us 556.54us 625.57us 33.51es	1.05ms 1.95ms 194.39us 488.76us 20.19ms 531.05us 180.89us 197.85us 20.52ms	1.08ms 3.15ms .96ms 944.48us 43.48ms 1.18ms 928.93us 789.64us 44.32ms	15.7565 551.0205 317.4605 192.0705 9.5285 305.8305 305.7365 205.8805 9.8085	****

The screenshot below shows top timed events for OLTP database while running the same above Swingbench test for 24 hours.

Top T -> In -> -> -> ->	imed Events	Cluster wide summary Waits, Vimeouts, Wait Time Total("Wait Time Avg" Summary 'Avg Wait Time ' [Avg/Min/Max/Std Dev] Cnt	OLTP/oltp1 Snaps: 318-342 s) : Cluster-wide total for : Cluster-wide average comput : Per-instance 'Wait Time Av : average/simimum/maximum : count of instances wit	the wait event ed as (Wait Time Total / Event Wait g 'used to compute the following s Aystandard deviation of per-instanc h wait times for the event	s) tatistics e 'Wait Time Av	9 1	
		Nait	Event	Wolt Time		Summary Avg Wait Ti	ne
I#	Class	Event	Waits NTimeouts	Total(s) Avg Wait NOB time	Avg	Min Max	Std Dev Cnt
	User I/0 Cluster System I/0 Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster Cluster	db file sequential read DG GPU Log file sync qc current block busy DB file parallel write gc cr block 3-way gc current grant 2-way gc current block 2-way gc cr grant 2-way gc cr grant 2-way	4.576784£+09 0.0 N/A N/A 1.228894₹+09 0.0 1.496741£+09 0.0 1.303143£+09 0.0 1.763565£+09 0.0 1.763565£+09 0.0 1.25684£+09 0.0 1.496241£+09 0.0	4,544,231,69,9985 27,16 4,115,365,12 24,60 2,641,063,77 2,585 15,79 888,669,80 593,7545 5,31 588,699,80 593,7545 5,31 588,699,42 558,4545 5,13 846,463,49 738,5545 5,06 802,341,22 454,9505 4,80 677,438,64 541,5945 4,80 593,276,94 403,8045 3,55 572,519,33 550,3145 3,42	.99ns 2.15ns 661.35us 661.20us 744.56us 744.56us 485.85us 532.38us 418.75us 531.39us	. 98ms 1.02ms 1.78ms 2.79ms 378.92us 732.51us 514.92us 698.89us 389.49us 698.89us 199.00us 663.20us 150.37us 677.93us 158.69us 668.10us	17.06us 4 448.51us 4 154.14u5 4 39.17us 4 272.62us 4 233.53us 4 250.24us 4 216.05us 4 249.15us 4

The screenshots shown below were captured from the Oracle Enterprise Manager while running 800 users Swingbench workload test for 24 hours.



Figure 3 Wait Events, IO Requests per Second, and CPU Utilization for the SOE Database

Figure 4 Wait Events, IO Requests per Second and CPU Utilization for the OLTP Database



One (DSS) Database Performance

DSS database workloads are generally sequential in nature, read intensive and exercise large IO size. DSS database workload runs a small number of users that typically exercise extremely complex queries that run for hours. We configured 6 TB of DSS database by loading Swingbench sh schema into Datafile Tablespace.

DSS Database activity is captured using Oracle Enterprise Manager for 24 hour Swingbench workload test as shown below.



For 24 hour DSS workload test, we observed the total sustained IO bandwidth average was about 10.5 GB/sec after the initial ramp up workload. As shown in above screenshot, the IO was consistent throughout the run and we did not observe any significant dips in performance for complete period of time.

The screenshot shown below was captured from Oracle AWR report while running Swingbench SH workload on DSS database for 24 hours.

Top T: -> Int -> -> ->	ined Events stance '*' '*' '*' '*'	- Cluster wide summary Waits, Wine Avg Wait Time Avg Summary Avg Wait Time ' : Clu Summary Avg Wait Time ' : Pe (Avg Min/Max/Std Dev) Cut	/dssl Snaps: 30-5 : Cluster-wide tot ster-wide average r-instance 'Wait T : average/minimum/ : count of instanc	4 al for t computed ime Avg maximum, es with	the wait event d as (Wait Tame ' used to compu /standard deviat wait times for	Total / E ste the fo tion of pe the event	vent Waits llowing st r-instance	;) latistics • Wait Time	Avgʻ			
		Wait	Event		Wai	it Time			Sunnary	Avg Wait Ti	ae .	
10	Class	Event	Waits %Ti	meouts	Total(s)	Avg Wait	NGS time	Avg	Min	Max	Std Dev	Cnt
	User I/0 User I/0 System I/0 Cluster Other Cluster Cluster Other	direct path read temp direct path read BG CPU BG CPU Genct path write temp control file sequential read gc current block busy PMA: IPC0 completion sync gc buffer busy release gc buffer busy release Sync ABM realance	92.645.271 59.652.703 N/A 15.973.461 2.221.964 646.267 361.383 21.048 116.551 41.264	0.0 0.0 N/A 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	1,967,690,73 1,372,420,31 1,371,639,33 162,548,24 30,841,65 8,619,08 7,009,92 5,935,45 5,807,59 4,812,83	21.24ns 23.01ms 10.18ms 13.88ms 13.30ms 19.40ms 282.00ms 49.83ms 116.63ms	35.36 24.66 24.65 2.92 8.55 0.15 0.13 0.11 0.10 8.09	21.26s 23.01s 10.18s 13.88s 13.17s 19.40s 277.95s 49.84s 115.65s	20.76es 22.30es 9.45es 13.70es 9.15es 19.39es 224.45es 43.80es 20.96es	22,13ns 23,74es 10,48ns 14,09ns 15,04ns 19,40ns 322,18ns 56,12ns 155,16ns	618.92us 638.35us 488.29us 167.34us 2.76ms 4.09us 46.40ms 5.06ms 77.09ms	

The screenshot below shows Wait Class events for each Instance of DSS Database while running Swingbench workload test for 24 hours.



The screenshot below shows IO throughput and CPU utilization for each instance of DSS Database while running Swingbench workload test for 24 hours.

	and the second second second	Crashing Colle	100 141																	The contract	1 345	ragion
DIS (12.2.0.1.0 MAC)	le Defigration	* Q Strept	• 🕸 Sece	dy = 🔤 P	elumante																	
of ormance Hub: His	storical - Cu	stom 🗐 S	iad Tine Peru	u 🗃 ride	Time Pole	÷	-	_	_	_	_	_			8	Pertitub Ava	en E	AUT Repo	d. Paqe	Rathephid 1	10858 M	4 6945-60
	(a) (a)	e) (e) core (core dared 50,)	CEL	tintari Date Tore	ega andere ander	(e) the case	123 Billion Dates	23 16.000	(a) Paue	(d) Record	(4) 94.0040		ES Umar	(2.00M	ing) Riccome	11	(1) (1.10PH	-10 pagest	(4) (2.1.944	(a) ta tore	111 IT ADR	and
									1000	CADOF8												
Top Instances										Geore												
Top Instances Top 189 By ONU	• 0	Judans Here	5 mm							Labora								Indunce N	-			
Top Indences Top 188 By OPU Indence Name	• •	Valance Horse Destance 10	d' Terrer	Data	nce Up Time			Made	9V	Labora	• 454	Sesaturia		Remory)		10 Report	Instance N	und	10 Throughp	a :	
Top Indonces Top 100 By Org Distance Name dis2	• •	Vendamen internet Instance 10 [2	& Terrers fod fame fer)	Data 25 m	nce Up Time nutes, 6 sec	anda		Head	9N	Labora	• Active	Seams	14.5	Hemory		1000	10 Report	Induce N	una 3.245.45	10 Throughy	e C	1.7668
Top Instances Top 100 By Org Distance Name dist Bist	• •	Indana Here Indana (1994 Indana (19 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	& Person tool Name Net3 Tex4	buta 25 m 25 m	nce Up Time nutes, é sec nutes, é sec	anda anda		Hut	94 94	Later 11	• Attre	Sesanna	16.0	Hemory		note 74ce	10 Report	lastance N	una 3.345.45 13.245.35	10 Throughy	e :	2.7908 2.7408
Top Induces Top 100 By ONU Induce Name deal deal field	• •	Induce Here Induce ID 2 4 1	& Henry Not Hame Not Text	late 3 m 3 m	nce Up Time nches, 6 sec nches, 6 sec nches, 7 sec	anda anda		Hatt	90	5.42%	• Attrie	Sesanata	1 14 13 2 14 17 2 14 43	Parsey		1008 1008	10 Peterer	Sectored N	una 3.245.45 3.246.35 1,246.35	10 Throughy	e -	2.7968 2.7468 2.6568

All Three (SOE, OLTP and DSS) Database Performance

In this test, we ran both OLTP (SOE+OLTP) and DSS (DSS) Database Swingbench workload at the same time to measure the system performance on small random queries presented via OLTP databases as well as large and sequential transactions submitted via DSS database workload. The screenshots shown below were captured from Oracle AWR reports while running the Swingbench workload tests on all three database at the same time for 24 hours. We achieved

about 128k IOPS for SOE database, 68k IOPS for OLTP database and 4.8 GB/s throughput for DSS database.

SOE Database AWR snapshot that highlights Physical Reads/Sec, Physical Writes/Sec and Transactions per Seconds.

ystem	Statistics - Pe	r Second	DB	/Inst: SOE/so	el Snaps: 360	-385				
I#	Logical Reads/s	Physical Reads/s	Physical Writes/s	Redo Size (k)/s	Block Changes/s	User Calls/s	Execs/s	Parses/s	Logons/s	Txns/s
···· ·	ECO 170 31	10.070 5	10.050.0	17 000 1	00 301 6	13 501 0	17 050 5	E 401 4	A 13	
1	502,479.34	19,3/8.3	10,800.0	17,033.1	99,294.0	13,394.0	47,030.5	5,401.4	0.12	4,030.2
2	503,273.70	19,9/0.1	11,283.0	17,480.4	102,079.2	14,003.0	48,472.0	3,303.3	0.11	4,000.3
3	638,590,27	22,721.7	12,458.0	18,984.4	111.824.1	15,393.2	53,283.1	6,115.3	0.11	5,129.6
4	581,833.41	20,373.0	11,578.9	17,719.4	103,659.3	14,238.1	49,284.7	5,657.1	0.11	4,745.2
		********	**********	**********			********	********	********	**********
Sum	2.286.176.72	82.443.4	46,177.1	71.217.2	416.857.2	57.228.3	198.096.9	22.737.1	0.46	19.071.5
Avra	571 544 18	20.610.8	11 544 3	17 804 3	104 214 3	14 307 1	49 524 2	5 684 3	0.12	4 767 0
Std	55 900 43	1 465 3	677 5	876 5	5 394 5	771 5	2 660 7	205.1	0.00	257 6

OLTP Database AWR snapshot that highlights Physical Reads/Sec, Physical Writes/Sec and Transactions per Seconds.

System	Statistics - P	er Second	DB/1	inst: OLTP/olt	tpl Snaps: 3	20-345				
I#	Logical Reads/s	Physical Reads/s	Physical Writes/s	Redo Size (k)/s	Block Changes/s	User Calls/s	Execs/s	Parses/s	Logons/s	Txns/s
1	277,441.84	9,875.5	6,176.9	10,107.1	57,135.4	7,738.0	26,836.1	3,074.3	0.10	2,577.9
2	303.117.35	10,150.5	6,414,6	10,454,3	59.252.4	8,049.5	27,915.3	3,196.7	0.10	2.681.5
3	301,983,71	11,930,5	6,770,1	11.057.5	62,961.7	8,583.7	29,768,1	3,408,8	0.10	2.859.6
4	345,490.05	10,436.7	6,505.0	10,606.5	60,200.7	8,195.5	28,417.3	3,255.3	0.10	2,730.6
	*********	*******	********	*******	*******	******	********	**********	*******	*********
Sum	1,228,032.95	42,393.2	25,866.6	42,225.4	239,550.1	32,566.7	112,936.7	12,935.0	0.49	10,849.6
Ava	307,008,24	10,598.3	6,466,6	10,556.3	59.887.5	8,141.7	28,234.2	3,233.8	0.10	2.712.4
Std	28,257,19	917.2	245.1	394.1	2,417,1	351.1	1.216.9	138.9	0.00	116.9

DSS Database AWR snapshot that highlights database MB per Seconds.

IO Profile (Global)		DB/Inst: DSS/dss1	Snaps: 26-51
Statistic	Read+Write/s	Reads/s	Writes/s
Total Requests	6,154.03	5,290.44	863.59
Database Requests	6,100.75	5,240.52	860.23
Optimized Requests	0.00	0.00	0.00
Redo Requests	0.44	N/A	0.44
Total (MB)	4,814.09	4,651.36	162.72
Database (MB)	4,813.26	4,650.58	162.67
Optimized Total (MB)	0.00	0.00	0.00
Redo (MB)	0.01	N/A	0.01
Database (blocks)	616,096.82	595,274.70	20,822.12
Via Buffer Cache (blocks)	95.71	2.67	93.05
Direct (blocks)	616,001.11	595,272.03	20,729.08

The screenshots shown below were captured from the Oracle Enterprise Manager while running the Swingbench workload tests on all three database together for 24 hours.

Figure 5 SOE Database Wait Events per Instance, IO Requests per Second and CPU Utilization





Figure 6 OLTP Database Wait Events per Instance, IO Requests per Second and CPU Utilization

Figure 7 DSS Database Wait Events per Instance, IO Bytes and CPU Utilization



Resiliency and Failure Tests

The goal of these tests is to help ensure that reference architecture withstands commonly occurring failures due to either unexpected crashes, hardware failures or human errors. We conduct many hardware (disconnect power), software (process kills) and OS specific failures that simulate real world scenarios under stress condition. In the destructive testing, we also demonstrate unique failover capabilities of Cisco UCS components.

Table 14 Hardware Failover Tests

Scenario	Tests	^
Test 1 - UCS FI - A Failure	Run the system on Full Database work Load.	
	Power Off Fabric Interconnect – A and check network traffic on Fab Interconnect – B.	or
Test 2 - UCS FI - B Failure	Run the system on Full Database work Load.	Y
<	>	

	Power Off Fabric Interconnect – B and check network traffic on Fabric Interconnect – A				
Test 3 - UCS Nexus Switch - A Failure	Run the system on Full Database work Load. Power Off Nexus Switch - A and check network traffic on Nexus Switc - B.				
Test 4 - UCS Nexus Switch - B Failure	Run the system on Full Database work Load.				
	Power Off Nexus Switch – B and check network traffic on Nexus Switc – A.				
Test 5 - UCS MDS Switch - A Failure	Run the system on Full Database work Load.				
	Power Off MDS Switch – A and check storage traffic on MDS Switch – B				
Test 6 - UCS MDS Switch - B Failure	Run the system on Full Database work Load.				
	Power Off MDS Switch – B and check storage traffic on MDS Switch – A				
Test 7 - UCS Chassis 1 and Chassis 2 IOM Links Failure	Run the system on full Database work Load. Disconnect one link from each Chassis 1 IOM and Chassis 2 IOM by pulling it out and reconnect it after 5 minutes.				
<	>				

Figure 8 The FlexPod Solution Infrastructure Diagram Under Normal Operating Conditions



The screenshot below shows a complete infrastructure details of MAC address and VLAN information for Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect – A switch before failover test.

Log into Cisco Fabric Interconnect – A and "connect nxos a" then type "show mac address-table" to see all VLAN connection on Fabric Interconnect – A as shown below:

FLEXPOD-F	FI-A(nxos)# show ma	c address-	table				
VLAN	 primary entry, age - seconds since MAC Address 	G - Gatewa last seen Type	y MAC, ,+ - pr age	(R) - Rou imary ent Secure	ted ry u NTF	MAC, O - Overlay MAC sing vPC Peer-Link Y Ports/SWID.SSID.LID	
* 135	000c.2924.00d8	dynamic	0	F	+ F	Veth807	
* 135	000c.293a.2afe	dynamic	0	F	F	Veth807	
* 135	0025.b589.aa00	static	Θ	F	F	Veth773	
* 135	0025.b589.aa01	static	Θ	F	F	Veth765	
* 135	0025.b589.aa02	static	Θ	F	F	Veth781	
* 135	0025.b589.aa03	static	Θ	F	F	Veth789	
* 135	0025.b589.aa08	static	0	F	F	Veth807	
* 4044	2c33.111c.65c3	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.b365	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.d60d	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4da5.7d1f	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	727d.b9e7.b9a1	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	843d.c677.609c	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Veth32769	
* 4044	cc46.d622.c9f1	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	

As shown in the screenshot above, Fabric Interconnect – A carry Oracle Public Network traffic on VLAN 135 under normal operating conditions before failover test.

Log in to Cisco Fabric Interconnect – B and "connect nxos b" then type "show mac address-table" to see all VLAN connection on Fabric – B as shown in the screenshot below:

FLEXPOD- Legend: VLAN	FI-B(nxos)# show ma * - primary entry, age - seconds since MAC Address	c address- G - Gatewa last seen Type	table y MAC, ,+ - pr: age	(R) - Rou imary ent Secure	ted ry u NTF	MAC, 0 - Overlay MAC using vPC Peer-Link FY Ports/SWID.SSID.LID	
* 10	0025.b589.bb00	static	0	F	F	Veth775	
* 10	0025.b589.bb01	static	Θ	F	F	Veth767	
* 10	0025.b589.bb02	static	Θ	F	F	Veth783	
* 10	0025.b589.bb03	static	O	F	F	Veth791	
* 10	0025.b589.bb08	static	0	F	F	Veth809	
* 4044	2c33.111c.369f	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.b364	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.d60c	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4da5.7d1e	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	727d.b9e7.b9a0	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	843d.c677.609d	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Veth32769	
* 4044	cc46.d690.f929	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth2/1/33	

As shown in the above screenshot, Fabric Interconnect – B carry Oracle Private Network traffic on VLAN 10 under normal operating conditions before failover test.

All the Hardware failover tests were conducted during all the databases (SOE, OLTP and DSS) running Swingbench workloads.

Test 1 - Cisco UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnect - A Failure Test

We conducted a hardware failure test on Fabric Interconnect – A by disconnecting power cable to the switch as explained below.

The figure below illustrates how during Fabric Interconnect – A switch failure, the respective blades (flex1 and flex2) on chassis 1 and (flex3 and flex4) on chassis 2 will fail over the public network interface MAC addresses and its VLAN network traffic to fabric interconnect – B.


Unplug the power cable from Fabric Interconnect – A, and check the MAC address and VLAN information on Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect – B.

FLEXPOD-I Legend:	FI-B(nxos) <mark># show</mark> ma	c address-	table	ana tatan	antawr		den successful de care de
VI AN	 primary entry, age - seconds since MAC Address 	G - Gatewa last seen	y MAC, .+ - pr	(R) - Rou imary ent	ted ry u	MAC, 0 - Over	lay MAC -Link
	time mauress	++	age				0.0010.210
* 135	000c.2924.00d8	dynamic	Ø	F	F	Veth808	
* 135	000c.293a.2afe	dynamic	0	F	F	Veth808	
* 135	0025.b589.aa00	static	Θ	F	F	Veth774	
* 135	0025.b589.aa01	static	Θ	F	F	Veth766	
* 135	0025.b589.aa02	static	Θ	F	F	Veth782	
* 135	0025.b589.aa03	static	Θ	F	F	Veth790	
* 135	0025.b589.aa08	static	0	F	F	Veth808	-
* 10	0025.b589.bb00	static	Θ	F	F	Veth775	
* 10	0025.b589.bb01	static	Θ	F	F	Veth767	
* 10	0025.b589.bb02	static	Θ	F	F	Veth783	
* 10	0025.b589.bb03	static	Θ	F	F	Veth791	
* 10	0025.b589.bb08	static	Θ	F	F	Veth809	
* 4044	2c33.111c.369f	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.b364	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.d60c	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4da5.7d1e	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	727d.b9e7.b9a0	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	843d.c677.609d	dynamic	0	F	F	Veth32769	
* 4044	cc46.d690.f929	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	

We noticed (as shown in the screenshot above), when the Fabric Interconnect – A failed, it routed all the Public Network traffic of VLAN 135 to Fabric Interconnect – B. Also, we observed some performance impact on databases workload as shown in the screenshots below.



When we disconnected the power from Fabric Interconnect – A, some performance issues on the total IOPS, latency on SOE and OLTP database, as well as throughput on DSS database, as shown in the screenshots (above). However, we did not see any interruption in any Private, Public and Storage Network Traffic.

We noticed this behavior because each server node can failover vNICs from one fabric interconnect switch to another fabric interconnect switch, but there is no vHBAs failover from one fabric interconnect switch to another fabric interconnect switch. Therefore, if one fabric interconnect failure occurred, we would lose half of the number of vHBAs and consequently experience some performance impact on the databases, as shown in the screenshot (above).

After plugging the power cable into the Fabric Interconnect – A Switch, the respective blades (flex1 and flex2) on chassis 1 and (flex3 and flex4) on chassis 2 will route back the MAC addresses and its VLAN traffic to Fabric Interconnect – A. In normal operating conditions, the operating system level multipath configuration will bring back all the failed storage path back to active and database performance will resume to peak performance as previously shown.

The figure below shows details of MAC address, VLAN information and Server connections for Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect – A switch under normal operating condition.

FLEXPOD- Legend:	<pre>FI-A(nxos)# show ma * - primary entry,</pre>	c address- G - Gatewa	table y MAC,	(R) - Rou	ted	MAC, O - Overlay MAC	
VLAN	MAC Address	Type	age	Secure	NTF	Y Ports/SWID.SSID.LID	
* 135	000c.2924.00d8	dynamic	0	+F	+ F	Veth807	
* 135	000c.293a.2afe	dynamic	0	F	F	Veth807	
* 135	0025.b589.aa00	static	Θ	F	F	Veth773	
* 135	0025.b589.aa01	static	Θ	F	F	Veth765	
* 135	0025.b589.aa02	static	Θ	F	F	Veth781	
* 135	0025.b589.aa03	static	Θ	F	F	Veth789	
* 135	0025.b589.aa08	static	0	F	F	Veth807	
* 4044	2c33.111c.65c3	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.b365	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.d60d	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4da5.7d1f	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	727d.b9e7.b9a1	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	843d.c677.609c	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Veth32769	
* 4044	cc46.d622.c9f1	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	

The figure below shows details of MAC address, VLAN information and Server connections for Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect – B switch under normal operating condition.

Legend:	 * - primary entry, age - seconds since 	G - Gatewa last seen	y MAC,	(R) - Rou imary ent	ted rv u	MAC, 0 - Overla	y MAC ink
VLAN	MAC Address	Туре	age	Secure	NTF	Y Ports/SWID.	SSID.LID
* 10	0025.b589.bb00	static	0	F	F	Veth775	<u> </u>
* 10	0025.b589.bb01	static	Θ	F	F	Veth767	
* 10	0025.b589.bb02	static	Θ	F	F	Veth783	
* 10	0025.b589.bb03	static	Θ	F	F	Veth791	
* 10	0025.b589.bb08	static	0	F	F	Veth809	100
* 4044	2c33.111c.369f	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.b364	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.d60c	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4da5.7d1e	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	727d.b9e7.b9a0	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	843d.c677.609d	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Veth32769	
* 4044	cc46.d690.f929	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth2/1/33	

Test 2 - Cisco UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnect - B Failure Test

As similar to the test above, we conducted a hardware failure test on Fabric Interconnect – B by disconnecting power cable to the switch.

The figure below illustrates how during Fabric Interconnect – B switch failure, the respective blades (flex1 and flex2) on chassis 1 and (flex3 and flex4) on chassis 2 will fail over the private network interface MAC addresses and its VLAN network traffic to fabric interconnect – A.



Unplug power cable from Fabric Interconnect – B, and check the MAC address and VLAN information on Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect – A.

FLEXPOD	FI-A(nxos)# show ma	c address-	table				
Legend.	* - primary entry, age - seconds since	G - Gatewa last seen	y MAC, ,+ - pr	(R) - Rout	ted ry u	MAC, O - Overlay MAC sing vPC Peer-Link	
VLAN	MAC Address	Туре	age	Secure	NTF	Y Ports/SWID.SSID.LII	D
		++		+	+	-+	
* 135	000c.2924.00d8	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Veth807	
* 135	000c.293a.2afe	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Veth807	
* 135	0025.b589.aa00	static	Θ	F	F	Veth773	
* 135	0025.b589.aa01	static	0	F	F	Veth765	
* 135	0025.b589.aa02	static	Θ	F	F	Veth781	
* 135	0025.b589.aa03	static	Θ	F	F	Veth789	
* 135	0025.b589.aa08	static	0	F	F	Veth807	
* 10	0025.b589.bb00	static	0	F	F	Veth776	
* 10	0025.b589.bb01	static	0	F	F	Veth768	
* 10	0025.b589.bb02	static	0	F	F	Veth784	
* 10	0025.b589.bb03	static	Θ	F	F	Veth792	
* 10	0025.b589.bb08	static	Θ	F	F	Veth810	
* 4044	2c33.111c.65c3	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.b365	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4d30.d60d	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	3a0e.4da5.7d1f	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
* 4044	727d.b9e7.b9a1	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* 4044	843d.c677.609c	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Veth32769	
* 4044	cc46.d622.c9f1	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth2/1/33	

As shown in the figure above, when the Fabric Interconnect – B failed, it routed all the Private Network traffic of VLAN 10 to Fabric Interconnect – A.

When we disconnected power from Fabric Interconnect – B, some performance issues occurred on total IOPS, latency on SOE and OLTP Database as well as throughput on DSS database similar as Fabric Interconnect A failure test. Notice that, we did not see any interruption in any Private, Public and Storage Network Traffic.

We noticed this behavior because each server node can failover vNICs from one fabric interconnect switch to another fabric interconnect switch but there is no vHBAs failover from one fabric interconnect switch to another fabric interconnect switch. Therefore, in case of any one fabric interconnect failure, we would lose half of the number of vHBAs and consequently some performance impact on the databases.

After plug back power cable to Fabric Interconnect – B Switch, the respective blades (flex1 and flex2) on chassis 1 and (flex3 and flex4) on chassis 2 will route back the MAC addresses and its VLAN traffic to Fabric Interconnect – B. In normal operating conditions, the operating system level multipath configuration will bring back all the failed storage path back to active and database performance will resume to peak performance as previously shown.

Test 3 and 4 - Cisco Nexus Switch Failure Test

We conducted a hardware failure test on Nexus Switch – A by disconnecting power cable to the switch and checking the MAC address and VLAN information on Cisco UCS Nexus Switch – B. During Nexus Switch – A failure, it routed all the Private Network and Public Network Traffic of VLAN 10 and VLAN 134 to Nexus Switch – B. So, Nexus Switch – A Failover did not cause any disruption to Private, Public and Storage Network Traffic.

Similarly, we conducted a hardware failure test on Nexus Switch – B by disconnecting power cable to the switch and checking the MAC address and VLAN information on Cisco UCS Nexus Switch – A. During Nexus Switch – B failure, it routed all the Private Network and Public Network Traffic of VLAN 10 and VLAN 134 to Nexus Switch – A.

Test 5 and 6 - Cisco MDS Switch Failure Test

We conducted hardware failure test on MDS Switch – A by disconnecting power cable to the Switch and checking the storage network traffic on MDS Switch – B. As we expected, we observed some impact on all three databases performance as we lost half of the VSAN (VSAN-A 101) traffic. While VSAN-A (101) stays locally into the switch and only carry storage traffic through the MDS switch A, VSAN-A doesn't failover to MDS Switch B therefore we reduced server to storage connectivity into half during MDS Switch A failure.

As a result, during one MDS Switch failure test, we observed similar performance impact on all the databases as Fabric Interconnect Switch failure tests.

Test 7 - Cisco UCS Chassis 1 and 2 IOM Links Failure

We conducted a Cisco UCS Chassis 1 and Chassis 2 IOM Link Failure test by disconnecting one of the server port link cable from the Chassis as explained below.

Unplug one server port cable from Chassis 1 and Chassis 2 and check the MAC address and VLAN traffic information on both UCS Fabric Interconnects. The screenshot below shows network traffic on Fabric Interconnect A when one link from Chassis 1 and one link from Chassis 2 IOM Failed.

FLI	EXPOD gend:	<pre>-FI-A(nxos)# show mail * - primary entry, (age - seconds since</pre>	c address- G - Gatewa last seen	table y MAC, ,+ - pr	(R) - Rout	ted rv u	MAC, O - Overlay MAC sing vPC Peer-Link	
	VLAN	MAC Address	Туре	age	Secure	NTF	Y Ports/SWID.SSID.LID	
*	135	000c.2924.00d8	dynamic	0	F	F	Veth807	
	135	000c.293a.2afe	dynamic	0	<u>F</u>	_ <u>F_</u>	Veth807	
	135	0025.b589.aa00	static	Θ	F	F	Veth773	
	135	0025.b589.aa01	static	Θ	F	F	Veth765	
1	135	0025.b589.aa02	static	Θ	F	F	Veth781	
*	135	0025.b589.aa03	static	Θ	F	F	Veth789	
*	135	0025.b589.aa08	static	0	F	F	Veth807	
ж.	4044	2c33.111c.65c3	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
*	4044	3a0e.4d30.b365	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
* .	4044	3a0e.4d30.d60d	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
*	4044	3a0e.4da5.7d1f	dynamic	O	F	F	Eth2/1/33	
*	4044	727d.b9e7.b9a1	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33	
*	4044	843d.c677.609c	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Veth32769	
*	4044	cc46.d622.c9f1	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33	

The screenshot below shows network traffic on Fabric Interconnect B when one link from Chassis 1 and one link from Chassis 2 IOM Failed.

FL	EXPOD egend :	 -FI-B(nxos)# show mac * - primary entry, (age - seconds since 	: address- 9 - Gatewa last seen	table y MAC, ,+ - pr	(R) - Rout imary entr	ed y u	MAC, O - Overlay MAC using vPC Peer-Link
	VLAN	MAC Address	Туре	age	Secure	NTF	FY Ports/SWID.SSID.LID
1	10	0025.b589.bb00	static	Θ	F	F	Veth775
	10	0025.b589.bb01	static	Θ	F	F	Veth767
*	10	0025.b589.bb02	static	Θ	F	F	Veth783
×	10	0025.b589.bb03	static	0	F	F	Veth791
*	10	0025.b589.bb08	static	0	F	F	Veth809
×	4044	2c33.111c.369f	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33
*	4044	3a0e.4d30.b364	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth1/1/33
*	4044	3a0e.4d30.d60c	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33
*	4044	3a0e.4da5.7d1e	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33
*	4044	727d.b9e7.b9a0	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Eth1/1/33
*	4044	843d.c677.609d	dynamic	Θ	F	F	Veth32769
*	4044	cc46.d690.f929	dynamic	0	F	F	Eth2/1/33

We noticed no disruption in public and private network traffic, even though one failed traffic link from both the Chassis because of the port-channel feature.

We completed an additional failure scenario and validated that there is no single point of failure in this reference design.

Summary

The Cisco Unified Computing System[™] (Cisco UCS[®]) is a next-generation data center platform that unites computing, network, storage access, and virtualization into a single cohesive system. Cisco UCS is an ideal platform for the architecture of mission critical database workloads such as Oracle RAC. The FlexPod Datacenter with NetApp All Flash AFF system is a converged infrastructure platform that combines best-of breed technologies from Cisco and NetApp into a powerful converged platform for enterprise applications. The pre-validated FlexPod architecture delivers proven value, agility, and performance that drive higher productivity, faster decision making, and greater opportunities for growth.

An essential feature for Oracle databases deployed on shared enterprise system is the ability to deliver consistent and dependable high performance. High performance must be coupled with non-disruptive operations, high availability, scalability, and storage efficiency. Customers can depend on Cisco UCS and NetApp Clustered Data ONTAP Storage to provide these essential elements. Built on clustered Data ONTAP unified scale-out architecture, AFF consistently meets or exceeds the high performance demands of Oracle databases. It also provides rich data management capabilities, such as integrated data protection and non-disruptive upgrades and data migration. These features allow customers to eliminate performance silos and seamlessly integrate AFF into a shared infrastructure.

Clustered Data ONTAP 9.3 delivers an enhanced inline compression capability that significantly reduces the amount of flash storage required and carries near-zero effects on system performance. The combination of Cisco UCS, NetApp and Oracle Real Application Cluster Database architecture can provide the following benefits to accelerate your IT transformation:

- Cisco UCS stateless computing architecture provided by the Service Profile capability of Cisco UCS allows fast, non-disruptive workload changes to be executed simply and seamlessly across the integrated UCS infrastructure and Cisco x86 servers.
- A single platform built from unified compute, fabric, and storage technologies, allowing you to scale to large-scale data centers without architectural changes.
- Enabling faster deployments, greater flexibility of choice, efficiency, high availability and lower risk.

Appendix

Cisco Nexus 93180 LC-EX Configuration

FLEXPOD-NEXUS-A# show running-config !Command: show running-config !Time: Tue Nov 20 21:01:25 2018 version 7.0(3)I6(1) switchname FLEXPOD-NEXUS-A policy-map type network-gos jumbo class type network-qos class-default mtu 9216 vdc FLEXPOD-NEXUS-A id 1 limit-resource vlan minimum 16 maximum 4094 limit-resource vrf minimum 2 maximum 4096 limit-resource port-channel minimum 0 maximum 511 limit-resource u4route-mem minimum 248 maximum 248 limit-resource u6route-mem minimum 96 maximum 96 limit-resource m4route-mem minimum 58 maximum 58 limit-resource m6route-mem minimum 8 maximum 8

cfs eth distribute feature interface-vlan feature hsrp feature lacp feature vpc

no password strength-check username admin password 5 \$5 \$FWM47Q8G\$RxxMd920jZrjYX5GXLRCkfWgDtka29dQV1TiP/k4VmD role network-admin ip domain-lookup system default switchport system qos service-policy type network-qos jumbo copp profile strict snmp-server user admin network-admin auth md5 0x54fc9b6e68ba6a06acf4165853e18078 priv 0x54fc9b6e68ba6a06acf4165853e18078 localizedkey rmon event 1 description FATAL(1) owner PMON@FATAL rmon event 2 description CRITICAL(2) owner PMON@CRITICAL rmon event 3 description ERROR(3) owner PMON@ERROR rmon event 4 description INFORMATION(5) owner PMON@INFO ntp server 72.163.32.44 use-vrf default

vlan 1,10,135 vlan 10 name Oracle_RAC_Private_Traffic vlan 135 name Oracle_RAC_Public_Traffic

spanning-tree port type edge bpduguard default spanning-tree port type network default vrf context management ip route 0.0.0/0 10.29.135.1 port-channel load-balance src-dst l4port vpc domain 1 peer-keepalive destination 10.29.135.104 source 10.29.135.103 auto-recovery

interface Vlan1

interface port-channel1 description vPC peer-link switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type network vpc peer-link

interface port-channel51 description Port-Channel FI-A switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 vpc 51

interface port-channel52 description Port-Channel FI-B switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk

mtu 9216 vpc 52 interface Ethernet1/1 description Peer link connected to N9K-B-Eth1/1 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 channel-group 1 mode active interface Ethernet1/2 description Peer link connected to N9K-B-Eth1/2 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 channel-group 1 mode active interface Ethernet1/3 interface Ethernet1/20 interface Ethernet1/21 description Fabric-Interconnect-A-31 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 51 mode active interface Ethernet1/22 description Fabric-Interconnect-A-32 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 51 mode active interface Ethernet1/23 description Fabric-Interconnect-B-31 switchport mode trunk

switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 52 mode active

interface Ethernet1/24 description Fabric-Interconnect-B-32 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,10,135 spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 channel-group 52 mode active

interface Ethernet1/25 description NetApp Controller 1 e5e switchport access vlan 135

interface Ethernet1/26

.....

interface Ethernet1/28

interface Ethernet1/29 description connect to uplink switch switchport access vlan 135 speed 1000

interface Ethernet1/30

.....

interface Ethernet1/32

interface mgmt0 vrf member management ip address 10.29.135.103/24 line console line vty boot nxos bootflash:/nxos.7.0.3.I6.1.bin no system default switchport shutdown MDS 9148S FC Switch Configuration FLEXPOD-MDS-A# show running-config !Command: show running-config !Time: Tue Nov 20 21:19:36 2018 version 7.3(0)D1(1) power redundancy-mode redundant feature npiv no feature http-server role name default-role description This is a system defined role and applies to all users. rule 5 permit show feature environment rule 4 permit show feature hardware rule 3 permit show feature module rule 2 permit show feature snmp rule 1 permit show feature system username admin password 5 \$5\$IC5R4cI9\$rfRLLbkccOM1IwxALFaHFjx1XtCse5pPjAk3i/HJi0/ role network-admin no password strength-check ip domain-lookup ip host FLEXPOD-MDS-A 10.29.135.105 aaa group server radius radius snmp-server user admin network-admin auth md5 0xe2b9f6bd292aa43dc651e566873540cf priv 0xe2b9f6bd292aa43dc651e566873540cf localizedkey rmon event 1 log description FATAL(1) owner PMON@FATAL rmon event 2 log description CRITICAL(2) owner PMON@CRITICAL rmon event 3 log description ERROR(3) owner PMON@ERROR rmon event 4 log description WARNING(4) owner PMON@WARNING rmon event 5 log description INFORMATION(5) owner PMON@INFO ntp server 72.163.32.44 vsan database vsan 101 device-alias database device-alias name flex1-hba0 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:00 device-alias name flex1-hba2 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:01 device-alias name flex2-hba0 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:02 device-alias name flex2-hba2 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:03 device-alias name flex3-hba0 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:04 device-alias name flex3-hba2 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:05 device-alias name flex4-hba0 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:06 device-alias name flex4-hba2 pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:07 device-alias name NetApp-A700s-01-2A pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b

device-alias name NetApp-A700s-01-3A pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b device-alias name NetApp-A700s-02-2A pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b device-alias name NetApp-A700s-02-3A pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b device-alias commit

fcdomain fcid database

vsan 1 wwn 20:06:8c:60:4f:bd:31:80 fcid 0x940000 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 20:05:8c:60:4f:bd:31:80 fcid 0x940100 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 20:01:00:de:fb:92:99:00 fcid 0x940300 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 20:02:00:de:fb:92:99:00 fcid 0x940400 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 20:03:00:de:fb:92:99:00 fcid 0x940500 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 20:04:00:de:fb:92:99:00 fcid 0x940600 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 50:0a:09:82:80:12:f8:47 fcid 0x940700 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 50:0a:09:84:80:12:f8:47 fcid 0x940800 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 50:0a:09:81:80:12:f8:47 fcid 0x940900 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 50:0a:09:83:80:12:f8:47 fcid 0x940a00 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 50:0a:09:81:80:12:f8:3d fcid 0x940b00 dynamic vsan 1 wwn 50:0a:09:83:80:12:f8:3d fcid 0x940c00 dynamic vsan 101 wwn 50:0a:09:81:80:12:f8:47 fcid 0xa20000 dynamic vsan 101 wwn 50:0a:09:83:80:12:f8:47 fcid 0xa20100 dynamic vsan 101 wwn 50:0a:09:81:80:12:f8:3d fcid 0xa20200 dynamic vsan 101 wwn 50:0a:09:83:80:12:f8:3d fcid 0xa20300 dynamic vsan 101 wwn 20:01:00:de:fb:92:99:00 fcid 0xa20400 dynamic vsan 101 wwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:00 fcid 0xa20702 dynamic ļ [flex1-hba0] vsan 101 wwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:04 fcid 0xa20501 dynamic ļ [flex3-hba0] vsan 1 wwn 20:4d:54:7f:ee:76:cd:80 fcid 0x940200 dynamic vsan 101 wwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:06 fcid 0xa20502 dynamic

```
! [flex4-hba0]
```

vsan 101 wwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:02 fcid 0xa20701 dynamic ! [flex2-hba0]

vsan 101 wwn 20:02:00:de:fb:92:99:00 fcid 0xa20500 dynamic
vsan 101 wwn 20:03:00:de:fb:92:99:00 fcid 0xa20600 dynamic
vsan 101 wwn 20:04:00:de:fb:92:99:00 fcid 0xa20700 dynamic
vsan 101 wwn 20:02:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b fcid 0xa20001 dynamic
vsan 101 wwn 20:04:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b fcid 0xa20101 dynamic
vsan 101 wwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b fcid 0xa20002 dynamic
! [NetApp-A700s-01-2A]

vsan 101 wwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b fcid 0xa20102 dynamic

```
!
        [NetApp-A700s-01-3A]
 vsan 101 wwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b fcid 0xa20201 dynamic
        [NetApp-A700s-02-2A]
1
 vsan 101 wwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b fcid 0xa20301 dynamic
1
        [NetApp-A700s-02-3A]
 vsan 101 wwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:01 fcid 0xa20601 dynamic
        [flex1-hba2]
1
 vsan 101 wwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:03 fcid 0xa20404 dynamic
1
        [flex2-hba2]
 vsan 101 wwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:05 fcid 0xa20401 dynamic
1
        [flex3-hba2]
 vsan 101 wwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:07 fcid 0xa20603 dynamic
        [flex4-hba2]
1
!Active Zone Database Section for vsan 101
zone name flex1 vsan 101
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:00
!
         [flex1-hba0]
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:01
1
         [flex1-hba2]
  member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
         [NetApp-A700s-01-2A]
1
  member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
1
         [NetApp-A700s-01-3A]
  member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
1
         [NetApp-A700s-02-2A]
  member pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
Į.
         [NetApp-A700s-02-3A]
zone name flex2 vsan 101
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:02
!
         [flex2-hba0]
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:03
1
         [flex2-hba2]
  member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-01-2A]
  member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
         [NetApp-A700s-01-3A]
!
  member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
         [NetApp-A700s-02-2A]
!
```

```
member pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
Į.
         [NetApp-A700s-02-3A]
zone name flex3 vsan 101
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:04
!
         [flex3-hba0]
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:05
!
         [flex3-hba2]
  member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
         [NetApp-A700s-01-2A]
1
  member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
1
         [NetApp-A700s-01-3A]
  member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-2A]
  member pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-3A]
zone name flex4 vsan 101
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:06
1
         [flex4-hba0]
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:07
!
         [flex4-hba2]
  member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-01-2A]
  member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-01-3A]
  member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-2A]
  member pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-3A]
zoneset name flex vsan 101
  member flex1
  member flex2
  member flex3
  member flex4
zoneset activate name flex vsan 101
```

do clear zone database vsan 101

```
!Full Zone Database Section for vsan 101
zone name flex1 vsan 101
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:00
!
         [flex1-hba0]
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:01
1
         [flex1-hba2]
  member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-01-2A]
  member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
         [NetApp-A700s-01-3A]
1
  member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
1
         [NetApp-A700s-02-2A]
  member pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-3A]
zone name flex2 vsan 101
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:02
         [flex2-hba0]
1
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:03
1
         [flex2-hba2]
  member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-01-2A]
  member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-01-3A]
  member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-2A]
  member pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-3A]
zone name flex3 vsan 101
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:04
1
         [flex3-hba0]
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:05
1
         [flex3-hba2]
  member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
         [NetApp-A700s-01-2A]
1
  member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
         [NetApp-A700s-01-3A]
1
  member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
```

```
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-2A]
  member pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-3A]
zone name flex4 vsan 101
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:06
!
         [flex4-hba0]
  member pwwn 20:00:00:25:b5:8a:a0:07
1
         [flex4-hba2]
  member pwwn 20:06:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
         [NetApp-A700s-01-2A]
1
  member pwwn 20:07:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
Į.
         [NetApp-A700s-01-3A]
  member pwwn 20:09:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-2A]
  member pwwn 20:0a:00:a0:98:af:7c:5b
!
         [NetApp-A700s-02-3A]
zoneset name flex vsan 101
  member flex1
  member flex2
  member flex3
  member flex4
interface mgmt0
 ip address 10.29.135.105 255.255.255.0
vsan database
 vsan 101 interface fc1/1
 vsan 101 interface fc1/2
 vsan 101 interface fc1/3
 vsan 101 interface fc1/4
 vsan 101 interface fc1/5
 vsan 101 interface fc1/6
 vsan 101 interface fc1/7
 vsan 101 interface fc1/8
 vsan 101 interface fc1/9
 vsan 101 interface fc1/10
 vsan 101 interface fc1/11
 vsan 101 interface fc1/12
```

switchname FLEXPOD-MDS-A line console line vty boot kickstart bootflash:/m9100-s5ek9-kickstart-mz-npe.7.3.0.D1.1.bin boot system bootflash:/m9100-s5ek9-mz-npe.7.3.0.D1.1.bin interface fc1/1 interface fc1/48 interface fc1/1 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown interface fc1/2 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown interface fc1/3 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown interface fc1/4 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown interface fc1/5 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown

interface fc1/6 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown

interface fc1/7 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown

interface fc1/8 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown

interface fc1/9 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown

interface fc1/10 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown

interface fc1/11 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown

interface fc1/12 switchport trunk allowed vsan 101 switchport trunk mode off port-license acquire no shutdown

interface fc1/13 port-license acquire

.....

.....

interface fc1/48 port-license acquire

no system default switchport shutdown ip default-gateway 10.29.135.1

```
Multipath Configuration "/etc/multipath.conf"
```

```
defaults {
```

}

```
find_multipaths yes
    user_friendly_names no
multipaths {
    multipath {
         wwid
                     3600a098038304173475d4c766a49744e
         alias
                    node1_os
    }
    multipath {
         wwid
                     3600a098038304173475d4c766a49754a
         alias
                    ocrvote_1
    }
    multipath {
                     3600a098038304173452b4c7959614634
         wwid
         alias
                    ocrvote_2
    }
    multipath {
         wwid
```

```
3600a098038304173475d4c766a49754b
alias
          oradata_slob_1
```

3600a098038304173452b4c7959614635

}

```
multipath {
```

wwid alias

```
}
```

}

```
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a49754c
    alias
               oradata_slob_3
multipath {
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_slob_4
```

}

```
3600a098038304173452b4c7959614636
multipath {
```

oradata_slob_2

```
3600a098038304173475d4c766a49754d
wwid
alias
         oradata_slob_5
```

```
}
```

```
multipath {
```

```
wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614637
    alias
               oradata_slob_6
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a49754e
    alias
               oradata_slob_7
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614638
    alias
               oradata_slob_8
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a49754f
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_slob_9
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614639
    alias
               oradata_slob_10
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497550
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_slob_11
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c795961462d
    alias
               oradata_slob_12
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497551
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_slob_13
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614641
    alias
               oradata_slob_14
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497552
    alias
               oradata_slob_15
}
```

```
multipath {
     wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614642
     alias
               oradata_slob_16
}
multipath {
     wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497553
     alias
               oraredo_slob_1
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614643
     wwid
     alias
               oraredo_slob_2
}
multipath {
     wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497563
     alias
               oradata_oltp_1
}
multipath {
     wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c795961464e
               oradata_oltp_2
     alias
}
multipath {
     wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497564
     alias
               oradata_oltp_3
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173452b4c795961464f
     wwid
     alias
               oradata_oltp_4
}
multipath {
     wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497565
     alias
               oradata_oltp_5
}
multipath {
     wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614650
     alias
               oradata_oltp_6
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497566
     wwid
     alias
               oradata_oltp_7
```

}		
multipath	{	
ww	id 3600a0980383	304173452b4c7959614651
alia	s oradata_oltp_8	
}		
multipath	{	
ww	id 3600a0980383	304173475d4c766a497567
alia	s oradata_oltp_9	
}		
multipath	{	
WW	id 3600a0980383	304173452b4c7959614652
alia	s oradata_oltp_10)
}		
multipath	{	
WW	id 3600a0980383	304173475d4c766a497568
alia	s oradata_oltp_11	
}		
multipath	{	
WW	id 3600a0980383	304173452b4c7959614653
alia	s oradata_oltp_12	2
}		
multipath	{	
WW	id 3600a0980383	304173475d4c766a497569
alia	s oradata_oltp_13	3
}		
multipath	{	
WW	id 3600a0980383	304173452b4c7959614654
alia	s oradata_oltp_14	L.
}		
multipath	{	
WW	id 3600a0980383	304173475d4c766a49756a
alia	s oradata_oltp_15	5
}		
multipath	{	
WW	id 3600a0980383	304173452b4c7959614655
alia	s oradata_oltp_16	3
}		
multipat	1 {	
WW	id 3600a0980383	304173475d4c766a49756b

```
alias
               oraredo_oltp_1
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614656
    alias
               oraredo_oltp_2
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a49756c
    alias
               oradata_soe_1
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614657
    alias
               oradata_soe_2
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a49756d
    alias
               oradata_soe_3
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614658
    alias
               oradata_soe_4
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a49756e
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_soe_5
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614659
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_soe_6
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a49756f
    alias
               oradata_soe_7
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c795961465a
    alias
               oradata_soe_8
}
multipath {
```

```
wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497570
    alias
               oradata_soe_9
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c795961462f
    alias
               oradata_soe_10
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497571
    alias
               oradata_soe_11
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614661
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_soe_12
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497572
    alias
               oradata_soe_13
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614662
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_soe_14
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497573
    alias
               oradata_soe_15
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614663
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_soe_16
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497574
    alias
               oraredo_soe_1
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614664
    alias
               oraredo_soe_2
}
```

```
multipath {
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497575
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_dss_1
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614665
    alias
               oradata_dss_2
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497576
    wwid
    alias
               oradata_dss_3
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614666
    alias
               oradata_dss_4
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497577
    alias
               oradata_dss_5
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614667
    alias
               oradata_dss_6
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497578
    alias
               oradata_dss_7
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614668
    alias
               oradata_dss_8
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497579
    alias
               oradata_dss_9
}
multipath {
                3600a098038304173452b4c7959614669
    wwid
               oradata_dss_10
    alias
```

```
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a49757a
    alias
               oradata_dss_11
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c795961466a
    alias
               oradata_dss_12
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497630
    alias
               oradata_dss_13
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c795961466b
    alias
               oradata_dss_14
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497631
    alias
               oradata_dss_15
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c795961466c
    alias
               oradata_dss_16
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173475d4c766a497632
    alias
               oraredo_dss_1
}
multipath {
    wwid
                3600a098038304173452b4c795961466d
    alias
               oraredo_dss_2
}
```

}

Configuration of "/etc/sysctl.conf" # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for fs.file-max is 6815744 fs.file-max = 6815744 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for kernel.sem is '250 32000 100 128' kernel.sem = 250 32000 100 128 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for kernel.shmmni is 4096 kernel.shmmni = 4096 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for kernel.shmall is 1073741824 on x86_64 kernel.shmall = 1073741824 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for kernel.shmmax is 4398046511104 on x86_64 kernel.shmmax = 4398046511104 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for kernel.panic_on_oops is 1 per Orabug 19212317 kernel.panic_on_oops = 1 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for net.core.rmem_default is 262144 net.core.rmem_default = 262144 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for net.core.rmem_max is 4194304 net.core.rmem_max = 4194304 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for net.core.wmem_default is 262144 net.core.wmem_default = 262144 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for net.core.wmem_max is 1048576 net.core.wmem_max = 1048576 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for net.ipv4.conf.all.rp_filter is 2 net.ipv4.conf.all.rp_filter = 2 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for net.ipv4.conf.default.rp_filter is 2 net.ipv4.conf.default.rp_filter = 2 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for fs.aio-max-nr is 1048576 fs.aio-max-nr = 1048576 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for net.ipv4.ip_local_port_range is 9000 65500 net.ipv4.ip_local_port_range = 9000 65500 vm.nr_hugepages=180000 Configuration of "/etc/security/limits.d/oracle-database-server-12cR2preinstall.conf" # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for nofile soft limit is 1024 oracle soft nofile 1024 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for nofile hard limit is 65536 oracle hard nofile 65536

oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for nproc soft limit is 16384

refer orabug15971421 for more info. oracle soft nproc 16384 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for nproc hard limit is 16384 oracle hard nproc 16384 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for stack soft limit is 10240KB oracle soft stack 10240 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for stack hard limit is 32768KB oracle hard stack 32768 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for memlock hard limit is maximum of 128GB on x86 64 or 3GB on x86 OR 90 % of RAM oracle hard memlock 473985890 # oracle-database-server-12cR2-preinstall setting for memlock soft limit is maximum of 128GB on x86_64 or 3GB on x86 OR 90% of RAM oracle soft memlock 473985890 Configuration of "/etc/udev/rules.d/99-oracle-asmdevices.rules" #All LUNs which starts with dg_orarac_* # ENV{DM_NAME}=="ocrvote_*", OWNER:="grid", GROUP:="oinstall", MODE:="660" #All LUNs which starts with dg_oradata_* # ENV{DM_NAME}==" oradata_*", OWNER:=" oracle", GROUP:=" oinstall", MODE:=" 660" #All LUNs which starts with dg_oraredo_* # ENV{DM_NAME}==" oraredo_*", OWNER:=" oracle", GROUP:=" oinstall", MODE:=" 660" #All LUNs which starts with dg_oraarchive_* # ENV{DM_NAME}==" oraarchive_*", OWNER:=" oracle", GROUP:=" oinstall", MODE:=" 660"

References

The following references were used in preparing this document.

Cisco Unified Computing System

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/servers-unified-computing/index.html

Cisco UCS Data Center Design Guides

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/solutions/design-zone/data-center-design-guides/data-center-design-guides-all.html#Hyperconverged

FlexPod Converged Infrastructure

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/solutions/data-center-virtualization/flexpod/index.html#~tab-resources

https://www.netapp.com/us/products/converged-systems/flexpod-converged-infrastructure.aspx

Cisco UCS B200 M5 Servers

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/collateral/servers-unified-computing/ucs-b-series-blade-servers/datasheet-c78-739296.html

Oracle Database 12c Release 2

https://docs.oracle.com/en/database/oracle/oracle-database/12.2/index.html

NetApp AFF A-Series All Flash Storage

https://www.netapp.com/us/products/storage-systems/all-flash-array/aff-a-series.aspx

https://www.netapp.com/us/media/ds-3582_tcm10-121337.pdf

https://hwu.netapp.com/Controller/Index

https://www.netapp.com/us/products/storage-systems/disk-shelves-and-storage-media/index.aspx#tech-specs

NetApp Support

https://mysupport.netapp.com/

For a comprehensive list of storage hardware specifications, including supported media type and capacities, see the NetApp Hardware Universe.

About the Authors

Tushar Patel, Principal Engineer, CSPG UCS Product Management and Data Center Solutions Engineering Group, Cisco Systems, Inc.

Tushar Patel is a Principal Engineer in the Cisco Systems CSPG UCS Product Management and Data Center Solutions Engineering Group and a specialist in flash storage technologies and Oracle RAC RDBMS. Tushar has over 23 years of experience in Flash Storage architecture, database architecture, design and performance. Tushar also has strong background in Intel X86 architecture, hyper converged systems, storage technologies and virtualization. He has worked with large number of enterprise customers, evaluate and deploy mission critical database solutions. Tushar has presented to both internal and external audiences at various conferences and customer events.

Hardikkumar Vyas, Solution Engineer, CSPG UCS Product Management and Data Center Solutions Engineering Group, Cisco Systems, Inc.

Hardikkumar Vyas is a Solution Engineer in the Cisco Systems CSPG UCS Product Management and Data Center Solutions Engineering Group for configuring, implementing and validating infrastructure best practices for highly available Oracle RAC databases solutions on Cisco UCS Servers, Cisco Nexus Products and various storage technologies. Hardikkumar Vyas holds a Master's degree in Electrical Engineering and has over 5 years of experience working with Oracle RAC Databases and associated applications. Hardikkumar Vyas's main focus is developing database solutions on different platforms, perform benchmarks, prepare reference architectures and write technical documents for Oracle RAC Databases on Cisco UCS Platforms.

Acknowledgements

For their support and contribution to the design, validation, and creation of this Cisco Validated Design, the authors would like to thank:

James Bradshaw, NetApp

© 2019 Cisco and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.



Solution Brief

FlexPod

Flexible Data Center Infrastructure Simplifies IT and Accelerates Applications

The Challenge

The need for agility and simplicity in deploying and managing infrastructure

Supporting business objectives from an IT perspective is becoming more complex and elusive, as users require on-demand resources that are secure, reliable, and easy to use. IT organizations need to adapt with simpler approaches to deploying and managing infrastructure. IT must enable greater agility by optimizing costs and existing staff resources, while also maintaining data security and adherence to compliance requirements. With growing businesses' requests such as expansion to new markets and support for mobile users—as well as opportunities in analytics and hybrid cloud—IT must anticipate new requests by modernizing the data center to become an agile, innovative service provider.

The Solution

The FlexPod converged infrastructure platform

Built on groundbreaking technology from NetApp and Cisco, the FlexPod[®] converged infrastructure platform meets and exceeds these challenges. FlexPod is trusted by thousands of customers across the globe. Composed of prevalidated storage, networking, and server technologies, FlexPod is designed to increase IT responsiveness to business needs and reduce the cost of computing with maximum uptime and minimal risk.

The prevalidated FlexPod architecture delivers unmatched application performance that drives higher productivity, faster decision making, and greater opportunities for growth. FlexPod simplifies and modernizes IT with continuous innovation, broad support for any cloud strategy, and improved operational efficiency to accelerate data center transformation and business evolution.



Key Features

Optimize your applications

Deliver increased application performance that drives greater productivity, speeds decision making, and provides opportunities for growth.

Embrace hybrid cloud

Transcend data center constraints with a secure and scalable foundation for cloud and as-a-service initiatives.

Simplify your IT

Reduce complexities, making room for better IT services, increased productivity, and continued innovation across the enterprise.

Solution Differentiators

- Flexible design with a broad range of reference architectures for popular business applications
- Elimination of costly, disruptive downtime with clustered Data ONTAP[®] nondisruptive operations
- Cisco ACI centralized, policydriven automation that accelerates application deployments
- Multiprotocol storage platform that unifies application silos, allowing NAS or SAN, file or block, on one converged platform
- Support for private, public, or hybrid cloud strategies with a consistent set of data management tools from flash to disk to cloud

Application Optimization Starts with FlexPod

- Host multiple instances of mixed applications, consolidated on a shared infrastructure with centralized, simplified management
- Speed database application performance by up to 20x with All Flash FAS
- Scale out and scale up as workloads increase, adding storage and compute layers as your business grows

Hybrid Cloud Flexibility

- Operate across hybrid cloud resources with the software-defined capabilities of NetApp[®] Data Fabric, while maintaining security, control and workload portability with Cisco Intercloud Fabric
- Manage data from flash to disk to cloud with the simplicity of a single set of tools
- Optionally use OpenStack software on FlexPod to create a private or hybrid cloud

Simplified IT Infrastructure

- Use Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS) Director for end-to-end, single-view automation and orchestration, freeing IT staff to focus on new services
- Validated designs help you deploy FlexPod platforms in a wide range of operating environments with less risk and accelerated ROI
- Cooperative support is designed to simplify and streamline support for your FlexPod converged infrastructure

The FlexPod Family

FlexPod is offered in three solution categories that are designed to meet your specific capacity and performance requirements: "Among the biggest benefits of FlexPod are integrated components that help enable us to centrally manage all our data center requirements."

Darrell Williams Director of Information Systems, Katz, Sapper & Miller

- FlexPod Express is ideal for midsized businesses and branch offices. It can be used as a cost-effective starting point for infrastructure consolidation and virtualization solutions.
- FlexPod Datacenter is suited for large enterprises and cloud service providers that have mature IT processes and rapid growth expectations and want to deploy a highly scalable shared infrastructure for multiple businesscritical applications.
- FlexPod Select supports highperformance computing or very large data capacity environments such as big data analytics, scientific computing, and dedicated application optimization.

Any of these FlexPod solutions can be scaled up or out and duplicated in modular fashion to accommodate your future growth. They can also scale to a larger FlexPod configuration with a clearly defined upgrade path that leverages all existing components and management processes.

Proven Across a Broad Range of Environments

FlexPod has been pretested and jointly validated with popular hypervisors, operating systems, applications, and infrastructure software, including:

- VMware vSphere
- VMware View
- Citrix XenDesktop
- Red Hat Enterprise Linux

- Red Hat Enterprise Linux
 OpenStack Platform
- Oracle (RAC, JD Edwards, Oracle Linux, Oracle VM Server)
- SAP
- Microsoft Exchange, SQL Server, and SharePoint
- Microsoft Private Cloud
- Hortonworks Data Platform
- Cloudera's Distribution, including Apache Hadoop
- NetApp SnapProtect[®] technology
- Cisco Nexus data center switches

Reference Architectures

NetApp and Cisco have jointly developed numerous reference architectures to help you integrate and flex the solution to meet your specific requirements for the following critical environments:

Workload consolidation

FlexPod helps you consolidate and virtualize your business applications onto less hardware. Along with improved hardware utilization, this approach frees up data center space and reduces power and cooling requirements, enabling you to slash your infrastructure costs by up to 50%.

Virtual desktop infrastructure

FlexPod is a self-contained virtual desktop solution in a rack. Its modular design facilitates rapid, repeatable deployment of thousands of virtual desktops. FlexPod is optimized for VMware View and Citrix XenDesktop. You gain efficiencies by deduplicating up to 90% of redundant user and OS data, and I/O performance can be accelerated by up to 50% with the NetApp Virtual Storage Tier. The extended memory technology of Cisco Unified Computing System provides the industry's greatest number of VMs per core density.

Development and test

FlexPod enables rapid provisioning and deprovisioning of virtual resources, making it ideal for development and test environments. NetApp FlexClone® software facilitates rapid development/test setup with cloning technology that lets you deploy thousands of spaceefficient VMs for new projects in minutes, accelerating time to market. Clones can also be redeployed to secondary sites, reducing preparation time for initiatives such as disaster recovery testing.

Business and disaster recovery

FlexPod can be configured with integrated data protection software to provide fast recovery from system, site, and regional outages for business continuity. The combination of NetApp MetroCluster[™] and SnapMirror[®] technologies with Cisco UCS Manager offers automated monitoring and failover, as well as cost-effective replication to a secondary site for continuous protection against unplanned downtime. FlexPod lets you move virtual server and storage resources and data nondisruptively across hardware to eliminate planned downtime.

Secure multi-tenancy and secure separation

FlexPod leverages Cisco and NetApp technologies to deliver secure multi-tenancy with solutions such as Cisco Secure Enclaves. ""Our executives loved the simplicity and power of the integrated stack in FlexPod. And for IT, the prevalidated architecture with prescriptive sizing and design guides reduced our risk."

Wojciech Biernacki IT Systems Administrator, University of Tennessee

Resources and data for each tenant—application, business unit, or customer—are securely isolated within the FlexPod environment. This combines the data separation and service-level guarantees offered by application silos with the efficiencies of a converged, virtualized infrastructure.

Best-in-Class Components for Enhanced Data Center Efficiency

FlexPod components are integrated in a standardized configuration that scales from entry-level designs for hundreds of users up to highperformance big data workloads for thousands of users. This integrated approach can significantly reduce your capital and operating expenses through end-to-end virtualization and higher efficiencies at each layer.

Cisco Unified Computing System

Cisco UCS is a data center platform that eliminates time-consuming manual configuration, reduces TCO, and increases business agility. It combines compute and network resources, storage access, and virtualization into a scalable, modular system that is easily managed as a single entity by Cisco UCS Manager. Service profile templates enable automatic, policy-based hardware configuration and deployment for large, stateless computing environments. Highly efficient Cisco UCS extended memory technology reduces memory requirements by up to 60%.

Cisco Nexus data center switches

Cisco Nexus switches use awardwinning unified fabric technology to identify and consolidate all network traffic onto a single simplified, costeffective architecture based on Fibre Channel over Ethernet. The switches offer "zero-touch" installation, automatic configuration, enterpriseclass scalability, and nondisruptive in-service upgrades. A single point of policy management also increases efficiency, availability, and security.

The option of Cisco Nexus 7000 Series switches provides even greater networking scale, throughput, availability, and advanced features for data center interconnect requirements. Cisco Nexus 9000 switches lay the foundation for software-defined innovations such as Cisco Application Centric Infrastructure, allowing intelligent software to automate hardware resources across next-generation data centers.

NetApp FAS storage

NetApp FAS storage systems reduce the cost and complexity for virtualized infrastructures by meeting all of your storage requirements with a single, highly scalable solution. NetApp's unified storage platform supports all protocols, so you no longer need to purchase separate systems to accommodate different storage needs. You can slash capacity use by up to 50% with built-in deduplication, thin provisioning, and space-efficient backup and cloning.



Figure 1) FlexPod Cooperative Support model: an ecosystem of a multivendor engagement.

NetApp systems enhance operational efficiency with automated storage management, data protection, and security. The clustered Data ONTAP operating system brings a new level of nondisruptive operations, scalability, and efficiency to enterprise storage. Performance is optimized with innovative flash technologies and 10GbE and FCoE support. With NetApp storage, you can deploy the exact proportion of flash to spinning media for your particular environment. And for extreme performance for dedicated workloads, NetApp All Flash FAS systems increase database application performance by up to 20x.

Cooperative Support Speeds Problem Resolution

FlexPod Cooperative Support is a partnership between NetApp; Cisco; and our technology partners Microsoft, VMware, Citrix, and Red Hat. Your IT staff chooses which vendor to call based on your initial assessment of the problem's origin. Multivendor engineers work to resolve your issue quickly using shared communications, expertise gained through ongoing joint training, and a formal escalation process. The result is a rapid, coordinated resolution to your technical issues.

Choice of Management Solutions

NetApp and Cisco work with trusted partners to provide you with a choice of management solutions. The FlexPod architecture provides APIs at each layer so that it can easily integrate with a broad range of software solutions for end-to-end management. Validated FlexPod management solutions have been tested to verify that they deliver essential functionality. Together with partners, we provide a variety of capabilities, including automation and orchestration, monitoring and analytics, and configuration management.

Global Service Delivery Ecosystem

You can choose from a global network of FlexPod Premium Partners and other highly qualified solution delivery partners to implement your FlexPod solution. These partners understand your business requirements and are certified on NetApp, Cisco, and complementary technologies to deliver a complete cloud solution that fits your business needs.

Getting Started

To learn how the FlexPod platform enables you to build a flexible and efficient converged virtualized infrastructure to modernize your data center, contact your local NetApp or Cisco representative or partner. Learn more at www.netapp.com/flexpod.



© 2015 NetApp, Inc. All rights reserved. No portions of this document may be reproduced without prior written consent of NetApp, Inc. Specifications are subject to change without notice. NetApp, the NetApp logo, Data ONTAP, FlexClone, FlexPod, MetroCluster, SnapMirror, and SnapProtect are trademarks or registered trademarks of NetApp Inc., in the United States and/or other countries. All other brands or products are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective holders and should be treated as such. A current list of NetApp trademarks is available on the Web at http://www.netapp.com/us/legal/netapptmilst.aspx. DS-3467-1115 FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS 6300 Fabric Interconnect and VMware vSphere 6.0 U1

Updated: August 26, 2016



FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS 6300 Fabric Interconnect and VMware vSphere 6.0 U1

Deployment Guide for FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS Manager 3.1 and VMware vSphere 6.0 U1 Last Updated: August 26, 2016



About Cisco Validated Designs

The CVD program consists of systems and solutions designed, tested, and documented to facilitate faster, more reliable, and more predictable customer deployments. For more information visit

http://www.cisco.com/go/designzone.

ALL DESIGNS, SPECIFICATIONS, STATEMENTS, INFORMATION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS (COLLECTIVELY, "DESIGNS") IN THIS MANUAL ARE PRESENTED "AS IS," WITH ALL FAULTS. CISCO AND ITS SUPPLIERS DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NONINFRINGEMENT OR ARISING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE PRACTICE. IN NO EVENT SHALL CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS OR LOSS OR DAMAGE TO DATA ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THE DESIGNS, EVEN IF CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THE DESIGNS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE. USERS ARE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THEIR APPLICATION OF THE DESIGNS. THE

THE DESIGNS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE. USERS ARE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THEIR APPLICATION OF THE DESIGNS. THE DESIGNS DO NOT CONSTITUTE THE TECHNICAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVICE OF CISCO, ITS SUPPLIERS OR PARTNERS. USERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TECHNICAL ADVISORS BEFORE IMPLEMENTING THE DESIGNS. RESULTS MAY VARY DEPENDING ON FACTORS NOT TESTED BY CISCO.

CCDE, CCENT, Cisco Eos, Cisco Lumin, Cisco Nexus, Cisco StadiumVision, Cisco TelePresence, Cisco WebEx, the Cisco logo, DCE, and Welcome to the Human Network are trademarks; Changing the Way We Work, Live, Play, and Learn and Cisco Store are service marks; and Access Registrar, Aironet, AsyncOS, Bringing the Meeting To You, Catalyst, CCDA, CCDP, CCIP, CCNA, CCNP, CCSP, CCVP, Cisco, the Cisco Certified Internetwork Expert logo, Cisco IOS, Cisco Press, Cisco Systems, Cisco Systems Capital, the Cisco Systems logo, Cisco Unity, Collaboration Without Limitation, EtherFast, EtherSwitch, Event Center, Fast Step, Follow Me Browsing, FormShare, GigaDrive, HomeLink, Internet Quotient, IOS, iPhone, iQuick Study, IronPort, the IronPort logo, LightStream, Linksys, MediaTone, MeetingPlace, MeetingPlace Chime Sound, MGX, Networkers, Networking Academy, Network Registrar, PCNow, PIX, PowerPanels, ProConnect, ScriptShare, SenderBase, SMARTnet, Spectrum Expert, StackWise, The Fastest Way to Increase Your Internet Quotient, TransPath, WebEx, and the WebEx logo are registered trademarks of Cisco Systems, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the United States and certain other countries.

All other trademarks mentioned in this document or website are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (0809R) © 2016 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved.

Table of Contents About Cisco Validated Designs **Executive Summary** Solution Overview Introduction Audience Purpose of this Document What's New? Solution Design Architecture Physical Topology Deployment Hardware and Software Software Revisions Configuration Guidelines Physical Infrastructure FlexPod Cabling Network Switch Configuration Physical Connectivity FlexPod Cisco Nexus Base Set Up Initial Configuration FlexPod Cisco Nexus Switch Configuration **Enable Licenses** Set Global Configurations Create VLANs Add NTP Distribution Interface Add Individual Port Descriptions for Troubleshooting Create Port Channels **Configure Port Channel Parameters** Configure Virtual Port Channels Uplink into Existing Network Infrastructure Storage Configuration AFF80XX Series Controllers NetApp Hardware Universe Controllers Disk Shelves Clustered Data ONTAP 8.3.2 Complete the Configuration Worksheet Configure ONTAP Nodes Log In to the Cluster Zero All Spare Disks Set Onboard Unified Target Adapter 2 Port Personality Set Auto-Revert on Cluster Management
Set Up Management Broadcast Domain Set Up Service Processor Network Interface Create Aggregates Verify Storage Failover Disable Flow Control on UTA2 Ports Disable Unused FC Capability on CNA Ports Configure NTP Configure SNMP Configure AutoSupport Enable Cisco Discovery Protocol Create Jumbo Frame MTU Broadcast Domains in Clustered Data ONTAP Create Interface Groups Create VLANs Create Storage Virtual Machine Create Load-Sharing Mirrors of SVM Root Volume Create Block Protocol (iSCSI, FC) Service Configure HTTPS Access Configure NFSv3 Create FlexVol Volumes Create Boot LUNs Schedule Deduplication Create iSCSI LIFs Create FCP LIFs Create NFS LIF Add Infrastructure SVM Administrator Server Configuration Cisco UCS Base Configuration Perform Initial Setup of Cisco UCS 6332-16UP and 6248UP Fabric Interconnects for FlexPod Environments Cisco UCS Setup Log in to Cisco UCS Manager Upgrade Cisco UCS Manager Software to Version 3.1(1h) Anonymous Reporting Add Block of IP Addresses for KVM Access Synchronize Cisco UCS to NTP Edit Chassis Discovery Policy Enable FC Switching Configure Unified Ports Enable FC Storage Ports Enable Server and Uplink Ports Acknowledge Cisco UCS Chassis and FEX Create Uplink Port Channels to Cisco Nexus Switches Create a WWNN Pool for FC Boot Create WWPN Pools Create VSANs Assign VSANs to FC Storage Ports Create Storage Connection Policies for FC Zoning Create vHBA Templates Create SAN Connectivity Policy Create MAC Address Pools Create ION Pools for iSCSI Boot Create IP Pools for iSCSI Boot Create UUID Suffix Pool Create Server Pool Create VLANs Create Host Firmware Package Set Jumbo Frames in Cisco UCS Fabric Create Local Disk Configuration Policy (Optional) Create Network Control Policy for Cisco Discovery Protocol Create Power Control Policy Create Server Pool Qualification Policy (Optional)

Create Server BIOS Policy Create vNIC/vHBA Placement Policy for Virtual Machine Infrastructure Hosts Update the Default Maintenance Policy Create vNIC Templates Create LAN Connectivity Policy Create vMedia Policy for VMware ESXi 6.0 U1b Install Boot Create Boot Policies (iSCSI Boot) Create Boot Policies (FC Boot) Create Service Profile Template (iSCSI Boot) Create Service Profile Template (FC Boot) **Create Service Profiles** Add More Servers to FlexPod Unit Gather Necessary Information Storage Configuration - Boot LUNs and Igroups Clustered Data ONTAP Boot Storage Setup Create igroups Map Boot LUNs to igroups VMware vSphere 6.0 U1 Setup VMware ESXi 6.0 U1 Download Cisco Custom Image for ESXi 6.0 U1 Log in to Cisco UCS 6300/6200 Fabric Interconnect Set Up VMware ESXi Installation Install ESXi Set Up Management Networking for ESXi Hosts Download VMware vSphere Client Log in to VMware ESXi Hosts by Using VMware vSphere Client Set Up VMkernel Ports and Virtual Switch Setup iSCSI Multipathing Install VMware Drivers for the Cisco Virtual Interface Card (VIC) Mount Required Datastores Configure NTP on ESXi Hosts Move VM Swap File Location VMware vCenter 6.0 U1b Install the Client Integration Plug-in Building the VMware vCenter Server Appliance Setting Up VMware vCenter Server ESXi Dump Collector Setup for iSCSI-Booted Hosts FlexPod Cisco Nexus 1110-X and 1000V vSphere Configure CIMC Interface on Both Cisco Nexus 1110-Xs Configure Serial over LAN for Both Cisco Nexus 1110-Xs Configure Cisco Nexus 1110-X Virtual Appliances Set Up the Primary Cisco Nexus 1000V VSM Set Up the Secondary Cisco Nexus 1000V VSM Install Cisco Virtual Switch Update Manager Register the Cisco Nexus 1000V in VMware vCenter Perform Base Configuration of the Primary VSM Add VMware ESXi Hosts to Cisco Nexus 1000V Migrate ESXi Host Redundant Network Ports to Cisco Nexus 1000V Cisco Nexus 1000V vTracker FlexPod Management Tools Setup Cisco UCS Performance Manager Cisco UCS Performance Manager OVA Deployment Cisco UCS Performance Manager Initial Configuration Cisco UCS Performance Manager Deployment Cisco UCS Performance Manager Configuration of FlexPod Infrastructure NetApp Virtual Storage Console 6.2P1 Deployment Procedure Virtual Storage Console 6.2P1 Pre-Installation Considerations Install Virtual Storage Console 6.2P1 Register VSC with vCenter Server Discover and Add Storage Resources

Optimal Storage Settings for ESXi Hosts

VSC 6.2P1 Backup and Recovery

OnCommand Unified Manager 6.3P2

OnCommand Unified Manager OVF Deployment

OnCommand Unified Manager Basic Setup

OnCommand Performance Manager 2.0

OnCommand Performance Manager OVF Deployment

OnCommand Performance Manager Basic Setup

Link OnCommand Performance Manager to OnCommand Unified Manager

NetApp NFS Plug-In 1.1.0 for VMware VAAI

Enable VMware vStorage for NFS in Clustered Data ONTAP

Install NetApp NFS Plug-In for VMware VAAI

About the Authors

Acknowledgements

Executive Summary

Cisco Validated Designs include systems and solutions that are designed, tested, and documented to facilitate and improve customer deployments. These designs incorporate a wide range of technologies and products into a portfolio of solutions that have been developed to address the business needs of customers. Cisco and NetApp have partnered to deliver FlexPod, which serves as the foundation for a variety of workloads and enables efficient architectural designs that are based on customer requirements. A FlexPod solution is a validated approach for deploying Cisco and NetApp technologies as a shared cloud infrastructure.

This document describes the Cisco and NetApp® FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS Manager unified software release 3.1 and VMware vSphere 6.0 U1. Cisco UCS Manager (UCSM) 3.1 provides consolidated support of all current Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect models (6200, 6300, 6324 (Cisco UCS Mini)), 2200/2300 series IOM, Cisco UCS B-Series, and Cisco UCS C-Series. FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS unified software release and VMware vSphere 6.0 U1 is a predesigned, best-practice data center architecture built on the Cisco Unified Computing System (UCS), the Cisco Nexus® 9000 family of switches, and NetApp AFF.

Solution Overview

Introduction

The current industry trend in data center design is towards shared infrastructures. By using virtualization along with pre-validated IT platforms, enterprise customers have embarked on the journey to the cloud by moving away from application silos and toward shared infrastructure that can be quickly deployed, thereby increasing agility and reducing costs. Cisco and NetApp have partnered to deliver FlexPod, which uses best of breed storage, server and network components to serve as the foundation for a variety of workloads, enabling efficient architectural designs that can be quickly and confidently deployed.

Audience

The audience for this document includes, but is not limited to; sales engineers, field consultants, professional services, IT managers, partner engineers, and customers who want to take advantage of an infrastructure built to deliver IT efficiency and enable IT innovation.

Purpose of this Document

This document provides a step by step configuration and implementation guide for the FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS 6300 Fabric Interconnect, NetApp AFF, and Cisco Nexus 9000 solution. For the design decisions and technology discussion of the solution, please refer to FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco Unified Software Release and VMware vSphere 6 Design Guide:

http://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified_computing/ucs/UCS_CVDs/flexpod_esxi60_n9k_design.html

What's New?

The following design elements distinguish this version of FlexPod from previous FlexPod models:

- Validation of Cisco UCS 6300 Fabric Interconnects
- Support for the Cisco UCS 3.1(1h) unified software release, Cisco UCS B200-M4 servers, and Cisco UCS C220-M4 servers
- Support for the latest release of NetApp Data ONTAP® 8.3.2
- An IP-based storage design, supplemented with direct attached fibre channel connectivity, supporting both NAS datastores, and FC and iSCSI based SAN LUNs
- Validation of VMware vSphere 6.0 U1b
- HTML-based Cisco UCS Manager

Solution Design

Architecture

FlexPod is a defined set of hardware and software that serves as an integrated foundation for both virtualized and non-virtualized solutions. VMware vSphere® built on FlexPod includes NetApp All Flash FAS storage, Cisco Nexus® networking, the Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS®), and VMware vSphere software in a single package. The design is flexible enough that the networking, computing, and storage can fit in one data center rack or be deployed according to a customer's data center design. Port density enables the networking components to accommodate multiple configurations of this kind.

One benefit of the FlexPod architecture is the ability to customize or "flex" the environment to suit a customer's requirements. A FlexPod can easily be scaled as requirements and demand change. The unit can be scaled both up (adding resources to a FlexPod unit) and out (adding more FlexPod units). The reference architecture detailed in this document highlights the resiliency, cost benefit, and ease of deployment of an IP-based storage solution. A storage system capable of serving multiple protocols across a single interface allows for customer choice and investment protection because it truly is a wire-once architecture.

Figure 1 shows the VMware vSphere built on FlexPod components and the network connections for a configuration with IP-based storage. This design uses the Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect, Cisco Nexus 9000, and Cisco UCS C-Series and B-Series servers and the NetApp AFF family of storage controllers connected in a highly available modular design. This infrastructure is deployed to provide either FC or ISCSI-booted hosts with file-level and block-level access to shared storage. The reference architecture reinforces the "wire-once" strategy, because as additional storage is added to the architecture, no re-cabling is required from the hosts to the Cisco UCS fabric interconnect.

Physical Topology

Figure 1 illustrates the physical architectures.



Figure 1 FlexPod Design with Cisco Nexus 9000 and NetApp Data ONTAP

The reference hardware configuration includes:

- Two Cisco Nexus 9372PX switches
- Two Cisco UCS 6332-16UP or Two Cisco UCS 6248UP fabric interconnects
- One NetApp AFF8040 (HA pair) running clustered Data ONTAP with Disk shelves and Solid State Drives (SSD)

For server virtualization, the deployment includes VMware vSphere 6.0 U1. Although this is the base design, each of the components can be scaled easily to support specific business requirements. For example, more (or different) servers or even blade chassis can be deployed to increase compute capacity, additional disk shelves can be deployed to improve I/O capability and throughput, and special hardware or software features can be added to introduce new features. This document guides you through the low-level steps for deploying the base architecture, as shown in Figure 1. These procedures cover everything from physical cabling to network, compute and storage device configurations.

Deployment Hardware and Software

Software Revisions

Table 1 lists the software revisions for this solution.

Table 1 Software Revisions

Layer	Device	Image	Comments
Compute	Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnects 6300 Series, UCS B-200 M4, UCS C-220 M4	3.1(1h)	Includes the Cisco UCS-IOM 2304, Cisco UCS Manager, Cisco UCS VIC 1340 and Cisco UCS VIC 1385
	Cisco eNIC	2.3.0.7	
	Cisco fNIC	1.6.0.25	
Network	Cisco Nexus 9000 NX-OS	7.0(3)11(3)	
	Cisco Nexus 1000V	5.2(1)SV3 (1.5b)	
	Cisco Nexus 1110-X	5.2(1)SP1(7.3)	
Storage	NetApp AFF 8040	Data ONTAP 8.3.2	
Software	Cisco UCS Manager	3.1(1h)	
	Cisco UCS Performance Manager	2.0	
	VMware vSphere ESXi	6.0 U1b	
	VMware vCenter	6.0 U1b	
	NetApp Virtual Storage Console (VSC)	6.2	
	OnCommand Performance Manager	2.0	
/			

Configuration Guidelines

This document provides details for configuring a fully redundant, highly available configuration for a FlexPod unit with clustered Data ONTAP storage. Therefore, reference is made to which component is being configured with each step, either 01 or 02 or A and B. For example, node01 and node02 are used to identify the two NetApp storage controllers that are provisioned with this document, and Cisco Nexus A or Cisco Nexus B identifies the pair of Cisco Nexus switches that are configured. The Cisco UCS fabric interconnects are similarly configured. Additionally, this document details the steps for provisioning multiple Cisco UCS hosts, and these examples are identified as: VM-Host-Infra-01, VM-Host-Prod-02 to represent infrastructure and production hosts deployed to each of the fabric interconnects in this document. Finally, to indicate that you should include information pertinent to your environment in a given step, <text> appears as part of the command structure. See the following example for the network port vlan create command: Usage:

network port vlan create ? [-node] <nodename>

- Node
- { [-vlan-name] {<netport>|<ifgrp>} VLAN Name
- | -port {<netport>|<ifgrp>} Associated Network Port
- [-vlan-id] <integer> } Network Switch VLAN Identifier

Example:

network port vlan -node <node01> -vlan-name i0a-<vlan id>

This document is intended to enable you to fully configure the customer environment. In this process, various steps require you to insert customer-specific naming conventions, IP addresses, and VLAN schemes, as well as to record appropriate MAC addresses. Table 3 lists the virtual machines (VMs) necessary for deployment as outlined in this guide. Table 2 describes the VLANs necessary for deployment as outlined in this guide.

Table 2 Necessary VLANs

VLAN Name	VLAN Purpose	ID Used in Validating This Document
Out of Band Mgmt	VLAN for out-of-band management interfaces	13
In-Band Mgmt	VLAN for in-band management interfaces	113
Native	VLAN to which untagged frames are assigned	2
NFS	VLAN for Infrastructure NFS traffic	3170
vMotion	VLAN for VMware vMotion	3173
VM-Traffic	VLAN for Production VM Interfaces	3174
iSCSI-A	VLAN for Fabric A iSCSI	901
iSCSI-B	VLAN for Fabric B iSCSI	902
Packet-Ctrl	VLAN Nexus 1110-X Packet and Control	3176

Table 3 lists the VMs necessary for deployment as outlined in this document.

Virtual Machines Table 3

Virtual Machine Description	Host Name
Active Directory	
vCenter Server	
NetApp VSC	
NetApp OnCommand Unified Manager	
OnCommand Performance Manager	
<	

Table 4 lists the configuration variables that are used throughout this document. This table can be completed based on the specific site variables and used in implementing the document configuration steps.

Table 4 Configuration Variables

Variable	Value
< <var_node01_mgmt_ip>></var_node01_mgmt_ip>	Out-of-band management IP for cluster node 01 (Example: 192.168.156.21)
< <var_node01_mgmt_mask>></var_node01_mgmt_mask>	Out-of-band management network netmask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_node01_mgmt_gateway>></var_node01_mgmt_gateway>	Out-of-band management network default gateway (Example: 192.168.156.1)
< <var_url_boot_software>></var_url_boot_software>	Data ONTAP 8.3.2 URL (Example: http://192.168.156.9/832_q_image.tgz)
< <var_node02_mgmt_ip>></var_node02_mgmt_ip>	Out-of-band management IP for cluster node 02 (Example: 192.168.156.22)
< <var_node02_mgmt_mask>></var_node02_mgmt_mask>	Out-of-band management network netmask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_node02_mgmt_gateway>></var_node02_mgmt_gateway>	Out-of-band management network default gateway (Example: 192.168.156.1)
< <var_clustername>></var_clustername>	Storage cluster host name (Example: clus)
< <var_cluster_base_license_key>></var_cluster_base_license_key>	Cluster base license key (Example: 1234567890ABCD1234567890ABCD)
< <var_nfs_license>></var_nfs_license>	NFS license key (Example: 1234567890ABCD1234567890ABCD)
< <var_fc_license>></var_fc_license>	Fiber Channel license key (if using Fiber Channel) (Example: 1234567890ABCD1234567890ABCI
< <var_iscsi_license>></var_iscsi_license>	iSCSI license key (if using iSCSI) (Example: 1234567890ABCD1234567890ABCD)
< <var_password>></var_password>	Global default administrative password (Example: FI3xP0d9)

Verieble	Value
<var clustermant="" io="">></var>	value
< <var clustermomt="" mask="">></var>	In-band management network netmask (Example: 255.255.0)
< <var clustermont="" gateway="">></var>	Quit-of-band management network default gateway. (Example: 192-168-157-1)
< <var dns="" domain="" name="">></var>	DNS domain name (Example: flexood com)
	DNS server IP(s) (Example: 192 168 156 9)
	Node leasting for each pade (Example: DTD0_D04)
	Note location string for each note (Example: KTF 9-004)
<var_node01_sp_ip>></var_node01_sp_ip>	
< <var_node01_sp_mask>></var_node01_sp_mask>	Out-of-band management network netmask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_node01_sp_gateway></var_node01_sp_gateway>	Out-of-band management network default gateway (Example: 192.168.156.1)
< <var_node02_sp_ip>></var_node02_sp_ip>	Out-of-band cluster node 02 device processor management IP (Example: 192.168.156.19)
< <var_node02_sp_mask>></var_node02_sp_mask>	Out-of-band management network netmask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_node02_sp_gateway></var_node02_sp_gateway>	Out-of-band management network default gateway (Example: 192.168.156.1)
< <var_node01>></var_node01>	Cluster node 01 hostname (Example: clus-01)
< <var_node02>></var_node02>	Cluster node 02 hostname (Example: clus-02)
< <var_num_disks>></var_num_disks>	Number of disks to assign to each storage controller (Example: 5)
< <var_nfs_vlan_id>></var_nfs_vlan_id>	Infrastructure NFS VLAN ID for LIF (Example: 3170)
< <var_iscsi_vlan_a_id>></var_iscsi_vlan_a_id>	Infrastructure iSCSI-A VLAN ID for LIF (Example: 901)
< <var_iscsi_vlan_b_id>></var_iscsi_vlan_b_id>	Infrastructure iSCSI-B VLAN ID for LIF (Example: 902)
< <var_ib_mgmt_vlan_id>></var_ib_mgmt_vlan_id>	In-band management network VLAN ID (Example: 113)
< <var_oob_mgmt_vlan_id>></var_oob_mgmt_vlan_id>	Out-of-band management network VLAN ID (Example: 13)
< <var_timezone>></var_timezone>	FlexPod time zone (Example: America/New_York)
< <var_global_ntp_server_ip>></var_global_ntp_server_ip>	NTP server IP address for out-of-band mgmt. (Example: 192.168.156.1)
< <var_switch_a_ntp_ip>></var_switch_a_ntp_ip>	NTP server IP address for Nexus 9372 Switch A (Example: 192.168.156.1)
< <var_switch_b_ntp_ip>></var_switch_b_ntp_ip>	NTP server IP address for Nexus 9372 Switch B (Example: 192.168.156.1)
< <var_ib-mgmt_vlan_netmask_length>></var_ib-mgmt_vlan_netmask_length>	Length of IB-MGMT-VLAN Netmask (Example: /24)
< <var_snmp_contact>></var_snmp_contact>	Administrator e-mail address (Example: admin@flexpod.com)
< <var_snmp_location>></var_snmp_location>	Cluster location string (Example: RTP9-D04)
< <var_cert_common_name>></var_cert_common_name>	Common name string for certificate (Example: "clus.flexpod.com")
< <var_cert_country>></var_cert_country>	Country for certificate (Example: "USA")
< <var_cert_state>></var_cert_state>	State for certificate (Example: "NC")
< <var_cert_locality>></var_cert_locality>	Locality for certificate (Example: "RTP")
< <var_cert_org>></var_cert_org>	Organization for certificate (Example: "FlexPod")
<var cert="" unit="">></var>	Organizational Unit for certificate (Example: "Dev")
< <var cert="" email="">></var>	E-mail address for certificate (Example: "admin@flexpod.com")
< <vr><<var cert="" days="">></var></vr>	Days until certificate expiration (Example: 365)
<pre><var fada="" oncommand="" server="">></var></pre>	VSC or OnCommand VM fully gualified domain name (FODN) (Example: ocum flexpod.com)
	Storage cluster SNMD v1/v2 community name (Example: fl2vn0d)
	Mail server host name (Evample: smto flovnod com)
<vvar_nodeui_nrs_iir_intra_swap_ip>></vvar_nodeui_nrs_iir_intra_swap_ip>	Praduress or infra Swap (Example: 192.108.170.21)
< <var_nodeui_nts_lit_intra_swap_mask>></var_nodeui_nts_lit_intra_swap_mask>	Subnet Mask of Infra Swap (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_nodeu2_nts_lif_infra_datastore_1_ip>></var_nodeu2_nts_lif_infra_datastore_1_ip>	IP address of Datastore 1 (Example: 192.168.170.22)
< <var_node02_nfs_lif_infra_datastore_1_mask>></var_node02_nfs_lif_infra_datastore_1_mask>	Subnet mask of Datastore 1 (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_vserver_mgmt_ip>></var_vserver_mgmt_ip>	Management IP address for Vserver (Example: 192.168.156.23)
< <var_vserver_mgmt_mask>></var_vserver_mgmt_mask>	Subnet mask for Vserver (Example: 255.255.255.0)

Variable	Value
< <var_vsadmin_password>></var_vsadmin_password>	Password for VS admin account (Example: FI3xP0d)
< <var_ucs_6248_clustername>></var_ucs_6248_clustername>	Cisco UCS Manager cluster host name (Example: ucs-6248)
< <var_ucs_6332_clustername>></var_ucs_6332_clustername>	Cisco UCS Manager cluster host name (Example: ucs-6332)
< <var_ucsa_mgmt_ip>></var_ucsa_mgmt_ip>	Cisco UCS fabric interconnect (FI) A out-of-band management IP address (Example: 192.168.156.5
< <var_ucsa_mgmt_mask>></var_ucsa_mgmt_mask>	Out-of-band management network netmask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_ucsa_mgmt_gateway>></var_ucsa_mgmt_gateway>	Out-of-band management network default gateway (Example: 192.168.156.1)
< <var_ucsb_mgmt_ip>></var_ucsb_mgmt_ip>	Cisco UCS FI B out-of-band management IP address (Example: 192.168.156.52)
< <var_vm_host_infra_01_iqn>></var_vm_host_infra_01_iqn>	Cisco UCS Service Profile generated IQN of Infra 02 (Example: iqn.1992-08.com.cisco:ucs-6248-host:1
< <var_vm_host_prod_02_iqn>></var_vm_host_prod_02_iqn>	Cisco UCS Service Profile generated IQN of Infra 01 (Example: iqn.1992-08.com.cisco:ucs-6332-host:1
< <var_vm_host_infra_01_ip>></var_vm_host_infra_01_ip>	VMware ESXi host 02 out-of-band management IP (Example: 10.1.156.25)
< <var_vm_host_prod_02_ip>></var_vm_host_prod_02_ip>	VMware ESXi host 01 out-of-band management IP (Example: 10.1.156.28)
< <var_nfs_vlan_ip_host_01>></var_nfs_vlan_ip_host_01>	ESXi host 1, NFS VLAN IP (Example: 192.168.170.25)
< <var_nfs_vlan_ip_mask_host_01>></var_nfs_vlan_ip_mask_host_01>	ESXi host1, NFS VLAN subnet mask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_nfs_vlan_ip_host_02>></var_nfs_vlan_ip_host_02>	ESXi host 2, NFS VLAN IP (Example: 192.168.170.28)
< <var_nfs_vlan_ip_mask_host_02>></var_nfs_vlan_ip_mask_host_02>	ESXi host2, NFS VLAN subnet mask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_vcenter_server_ip>></var_vcenter_server_ip>	IP address of the vCenter Server (Example: 10.1.156.100)
< <var_svm_mgmt_vlan_id>></var_svm_mgmt_vlan_id>	Infrastructure Vserver management VLAN ID (Example: 13)
< <var_node01_iscsi_lif01a_ip>></var_node01_iscsi_lif01a_ip>	iSCSI LIF 01a IP address (Example: 192.168.91.21)
< <var_node01_iscsi_lif01a_mask>></var_node01_iscsi_lif01a_mask>	iSCSI LIF 01a subnet mask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_node01_iscsi_lif01b_ip>></var_node01_iscsi_lif01b_ip>	iSCSI LIF 01b IP address (Example: 192.168.92.21)
< <var_node01_iscsi_lif01b_mask>></var_node01_iscsi_lif01b_mask>	iSCSI LIF 01b subnet mask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_node01_iscsi_lif02a_ip>></var_node01_iscsi_lif02a_ip>	iSCSI LIF 02a IP address (Example: 192.168.91.22)
< <var_node01_iscsi_lif02a_mask>></var_node01_iscsi_lif02a_mask>	iSCSI LIF 02a subnet mask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_node01_iscsi_lif02b_ip>></var_node01_iscsi_lif02b_ip>	iSCSI LIF 02b IP address (Example: 192.168.92.22)
< <var_node01_iscsi_lif02b_mask>></var_node01_iscsi_lif02b_mask>	iSCSI LIF 02b subnet mask (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_node01_fcp_p0rt1>></var_node01_fcp_p0rt1>	Node 1 FC port 1 (Example: 0a)
< <var_node01_fcp_p0rt2>></var_node01_fcp_p0rt2>	Node 1 FC port 2 (Example: 0b)
< <var_node02_fcp_p0rt1>></var_node02_fcp_p0rt1>	Node 2 FC port 1 (Example: 0a)
< <var_node02_fcp_p0rt2>></var_node02_fcp_p0rt2>	Node 2 FC port 2 (Example: 0b)
< <var_vserver_mgmt_ip>></var_vserver_mgmt_ip>	Management IP address for Infrastructure Vserver (Example: 192.168.156.23)
< <var_vserver_mgmt_mask>></var_vserver_mgmt_mask>	Management subnet mask for Infrastructure Vserver (Example: 255.255.255.0)
< <var_oncommand_server_ip>></var_oncommand_server_ip>	IP address of the OnCommand Unified Manager (Example: 10.1.156.10)
< <var_rule_index>></var_rule_index>	Rule index number (Example: 1)

Physical Infrastructure

FlexPod Cabling

The information in this section is provided as a reference for cabling the physical equipment in a FlexPod environment. To simplify cabling requirements, the tables include both local and remote device and port locations.

The tables in this section contain the details for the prescribed and supported configuration of the NetApp AFF8040 running clustered Data ONTAP 8.3.2.

For any modifications of this prescribed architecture, consult the NetApp Interoperability Matrix Tool (IMT).

This document assumes that out-of-band management ports are plugged into an existing management infrastructure at the deployment site. These interfaces will be used in various configuration steps

Be sure to follow the cabling directions in this section. Failure to do so will result in necessary changes to the deployment procedures that follow because specific port locations are mentioned.

Figure 2 shows a cabling diagram for a FlexPod configuration using the Cisco Nexus 9000 and NetApp storage systems with clustered Data ONTAP connected to the UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnect, and Figure 3 shows that same configuration utilizing the UCS 6248UP Fabric Interconnect. Cabling of both the 6332-16UP and the 6248UP in adjacency are done as an example of interchangeable viability between the two fabric interconnect models, and not intended to imply a requirement of simultaneous deployment.

The NetApp storage controller and disk shelves should be connected according to best practices for the specific storage controller and disk shelves. For disk shelf cabling, refer to the Universal SAS and ACP Cabling Guide: $https://library.netapp.com/ecm_get_file/ECMM1280392$.

Figure 2 FlexPod Cabling Diagram (6332-16UP)



Figure 3 FlexPod Cabling Diagram (6248UP)



Table 5 through Table 13 provide the details of all the connections in use.

Table 5 Cisco Nexus 9372-A Cabling Information

Local Device	Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
Cisco Nexus 9372 A	Eth1/1	10GbE	NetApp Controller 1	e0b
	Eth1/2	10GbE	NetApp Controller 2	e0b
	Eth1/17	10GbE	Nexus 1110-X 1	Eth7
	Eth1/18	10GbE	Nexus 1110-X 2	Eth7
	Eth1/45	10GbE	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI A	Eth1/31
	Eth1/46	10GbE	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI B	Eth1/31
	Eth1/49	40GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 B	Eth1/49
	Eth1/50	40GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 B	Eth1/50
	Eth1/51	40GbE	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI A	Eth1/31
	Eth1/52	40GbE	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B	Eth1/31
	MGMT0	GbE	GbE management switch	Any

For devices requiring GbE connectivity, use the GbE Copper SFP+s (GLC-T=).

Table 6	Cisco	Nexus	9372-B	Cabling	Information

Local Device	Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port	~
Cisco Nexus 9372 B	Eth1/1	10GbE	NetApp Controller 1	e0d	
	Eth1/2	10GbE	NetApp Controller 2	e0d	
	Eth1/17	10GbE	Nexus 1110-X 1	Eth8	
	Eth1/18	10GbE	Nexus 1110-X 2	Eth8	
	Eth1/45	10GbE	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI A	Eth1/32	
	Eth1/46	10GbE	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI B	Eth1/32	
	Eth1/49	40GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 A	Eth1/49	
	Eth1/50	40GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 A	Eth1/50	
	Eth1/51	40GbE	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI A	Eth1/32	~

Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
Eth1/52	40GbE	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B	Eth1/32
MGMT0	GbE	GbE management switch	Any
-1 Cabling Information			
Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
e0M	100MbE	100MbE management switch	Any
e0i	GbE	GbE management switch	Any
e0P	GbE	SAS shelves	ACP port
e0a	10GbE	NetApp Controller 2	e0a
e0b	10GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 A	Eth1/1
e0c	10GbE	NetApp Controller 2	e0c
e0d	10GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 B	Eth1/1
0e	16Gb FC	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI A (only if using FC connectivity)	FC 1/1
Of	16Gb FC	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B (only if using FC connectivity)	FC 1/1
0g	16Gb FC	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI A (only if using FC connectivity)	FC 2/15
Oh	16Gb FC	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI B (only if using FC connectivity)	FC 2/15
	Local Port Eth1/52 MGMT0 -1 Cabling Information Contemporation Con	Local PortConnectionEth1/5240GbEMGMT0GbE-1 Cabling InformationConnectionLocal PortConnectione0M100MbEe0iGbEe0PGbEe0b10GbEe0c10GbEe0d10GbEe0d10GbEof16Gb FC0g16Gb FC0h16Gb FC	Local PortConnectionRemote DeviceEth1/5240GbECisco UCS 6332-16UP FI BMGMT0GbEGbE management switch-1 Cabling InformationConnectionRemote Device-1 Cabl PortConnectionRemote Devicee0M100MbE100MbE management switche0iGbEGbE management switche0iGbEGbE management switche0a10GbESAS shelvese0b10GbECisco Nexus 9372 Ae0c10GbECisco Nexus 9372 B0e16Gb FCCisco UCS 6332-16UP FI A (only if using FC connectivity)0f16Gb FCCisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B (only if using FC connectivity)0g16Gb FCCisco UCS 6248UP FI A (only if using FC connectivity)0h16Gb FCCisco UCS 6248UP FI B (only if using FC connectivity)

When the term e0M is used, the physical Ethernet port to which the table is referring is the port indicated by a wrench icon on the rear of the chassis.

 Table 8
 NetApp Controller 2 Cabling Information

Local Device	Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
NetApp controller 2	e0M	100MbE	100MbE management switch	Any
	e0i	GbE	GbE management switch	Any
	e0P	GbE	SAS shelves	ACP port
	e0a	10GbE	NetApp Controller 1	e0a
	e0b	10GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 A	Eth1/2
	e0c	10GbE	NetApp Controller 1	e0c
	e0d	10GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 B	Eth1/2
	0e	16Gb FC	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI A (only if using FC connectivity)	FC 1/2
	Of	16Gb FC	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B (only if using FC connectivity)	FC 1/2
	0g	16Gb FC	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI A (only if using FC connectivity)	FC 2/16
	Oh	16Gb FC	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI B (only if using FC connectivity)	FC 2/16

Local Device	Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
Cisco UCS fabric interconnect A	FC 1/1	16Gb FC	NetApp controller 1 (only if using FC)	0e
	FC 1/2	16Gb FC	NetApp controller 2 (only if using FC)	0e
	Eth1/28	40GbE	Cisco UCS C-Series 1	Port 0
	Eth1/29	40GbE	Cisco UCS Chassis 1 2304 FEX A	IOM 1/1
	Eth1/30	40GbE	Cisco UCS Chassis 1 2304 FEX A	IOM 1/2
	Eth1/31	40GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 A	Eth1/51
	Eth1/32	40GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 B	Eth1/51
	MGMT0	GbE	GbE management switch	Any

Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
L1	GbE	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B	L1
L2	GbE	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B	L2
in Internet D. Ontoli			
ic Interconnect B Cabli	ing information		
Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
FC 1/1	16Gb FC	NetApp controller 1 (only if using FC)	Of
FC 1/2	16Gb FC	NetApp controller 2 (only if using FC)	Of
Eth1/28	40GbE	Cisco UCS C-Series 1	Port 1
Eth1/29	40GbE	Cisco UCS Chassis 1 2304 FEX B	IOM 1/1
Eth1/30	40GbE	Cisco UCS Chassis 1 2304 FEX B	IOM 1/2
Eth1/31	40GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 A	Eth1/52
Eth1/32	40GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 B	Eth1/52
MGMT0	GbE	GbE management switch	Any
L1	GbE	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B	L1
L2	GbE	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B	L2
	Local Port L1 L2 L2 L2 LCCAL Port FC 1/1 FC 1/2 Eth 1/28 Eth 1/29 Eth 1/30 Eth 1/31 Eth 1/32 MGMT0 L1 L2	Local PortConnectionL1GbEL2GbEic Interonect B Cabling InformationLocal PortConnectionFC 1/116Gb FCFC 1/216Gb FCEth1/2840GbEEth1/2940GbEEth1/3040GbEEth1/3140GbEEth1/3240GbEEth1/316bEL1GbEL2GbE	Local PortConnectionRemote DeviceL1GbECisco UCS 6332-16UP FI BL2GbECisco UCS 6332-16UP FI Bic Interconnect B Cabling InformationLocal PortConnectionRemote DeviceRemote DeviceFC 1/116Gb FCNetApp controller 1 (only if using FC)FC 1/216Gb FCNetApp controller 2 (only if using FC)Eth1/2840GbECisco UCS C-Series 1Eth1/2940GbECisco UCS Chassis 1 2304 FEX BEth1/3040GbECisco UCS Chassis 1 2304 FEX BEth1/3140GbECisco Nexus 9372 AEth1/3240GbECisco Nexus 9372 BMGMT0GbEGbE management switchL1GbECisco UCS 6332-16UP FI BL2GbECisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B

Table 11 Cisco UCS 6248UP Fabric Interconnect A Cabling Information

Local Device	Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
Cisco UCS fabric interconnect A	FC 2/15	8Gb FC	NetApp controller 1 (only if using FC)	Og
	FC 2/16	8Gb FC	NetApp controller 2 (only if using FC)	0g
	Eth1/28	10GbE	Cisco UCS C-Series 2	Port 0
	Eth1/29	10GbE	Cisco UCS Chassis 2 2204 FEX A	IOM 1/1
	Eth1/30	10GbE	Cisco UCS Chassis 2 2204 FEX A	IOM 1/2
	Eth1/31	10GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 A	Eth1/45
	Eth1/32	10GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 B	Eth1/45
	MGMT0	GbE	GbE management switch	Any
	L1	GbE	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI B	L1
	L2	GbE	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI B	L2
<	LZ	GDE		LZ

K Table 12 Cisco UCS 6248UP Fabric Interconnect B Cabling Information

Local Device	Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
Cisco UCS fabric interconnect B	FC 2/15	8Gb FC	NetApp controller 1 (only if using FC)	Of
	FC 2/16	8Gb FC	NetApp controller 2 (only if using FC)	Of
	Eth1/28	10GbE	Cisco UCS C-Series 2	Port 1
	Eth1/29	10GbE	Cisco UCS Chassis 2204 FEX B	IOM 1/1
	Eth1/30	10GbE	Cisco UCS Chassis 2204 FEX B	IOM 1/2
	Eth1/31	10GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 A	Eth1/46
	Eth1/32	10GbE	Cisco Nexus 9372 B	Eth1/46
	MGMT0	GbE	GbE management switch	Any
	L1	GbE	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI B	L1
	L2	GbE	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI B	L2
<				>

Table 13 Cisco UCS C-Series 1

Local Device	Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
Cisco UCS C-Series 1	Port 0	40GbE	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI A	Eth1/28
	Port 1	40GbE	Cisco UCS 6332-16UP FI B	Eth1/28
<				>

Table 14 Cisco UCS C-Series 2

Local Device	Local Port	Connection	Remote Device	Remote Port
Cisco UCS C-Series 2	Port 0	10GbE	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI A	Eth1/28
	Port 1	10GbE	Cisco UCS 6248UP FI B	Eth1/28
<				>

Network Switch Configuration

This section provides a detailed procedure for configuring the Cisco Nexus 9000s for use in a FlexPod environment. Follow these steps precisely because failure to do so could result in an improper configuration.

Physical Connectivity

Follow the physical connectivity guidelines for FlexPod as covered in the section "FlexPod Cabling."

FlexPod Cisco Nexus Base

The following procedures describe how to configure the Cisco Nexus switches for use in a base FlexPod environment. This procedure assumes the use of Nexus 9000 7.0(3)I1(3).

The following procedure includes setup of NTP distribution on the In-Band Management VLAN. The interface-vlan feature and ntp commands are used to set this up. This procedure also assumes the default VRF will be used to route the In-Band Management VLAN.

Set Up Initial Configuration

Cisco Nexus 9372PX A

To set up the initial configuration for the Cisco Nexus A switch on <<var_nexus_A_hostname>>, complete the following steps:

1. Configure the switch.

On initial boot and connection to the serial or console port of the switch, the NX-OS setup should automatically start and attempt to enter Power on Auto Provisioning.

Abort Power on Auto Provisioning and continue with normal setup? (yes/no) [n]: yes
Do you want to enforce secure password standard (yes/no): yes
Enter the password for "admin": < <var_password>></var_password>
Confirm the password for " admin" : < <var_password>></var_password>
Would you like to enter the basic configuration dialog (yes/no): yes
Create another login account (yes/no) [n]: Enter
Configure read-only SNMP community string (yes/no) [n]: Enter
Configure read-write SNMP community string (yes/no) [n]: Enter
Enter the switch name: < <var_nexus_a_hostname>></var_nexus_a_hostname>
Continue with Out-of-band (mgmt0) management configuration? (yes/no) [y]: Enter
Mgmt0 IPv4 address: < <var_nexus_a_mgmt0_ip>></var_nexus_a_mgmt0_ip>
Mgmt0 IPv4 netmask: < <var_nexus_a_mgmt0_netmask>></var_nexus_a_mgmt0_netmask>
Configure the default gateway? (yes/no) [y]: Enter
IPv4 address of the default gateway: < <var_nexus_a_mgmt0_gw>></var_nexus_a_mgmt0_gw>
Configure advanced IP options? (yes/no) [n]: Enter
Enable the telnet service? (yes/no) [n]: Enter
Enable the ssh service? (yes/no) [y]: Enter
Type of ssh key you would like to generate (dsa/rsa) [rsa]: Enter
Number of rsa key bits <1024-2048> [1024]: Enter
Configure the ntp server? (yes/no) [n]: y
NTP server IPv4 address: < <var_global_ntp_server_ip>></var_global_ntp_server_ip>
Configure default interface layer (L3/L2) [L2]: Enter
Configure default switchport interface state (shut/noshut) [noshut]: shut

- Configure CoPP system profile (strict/moderate/lenient/dense/skip) [strict]: Enter
- Would you like to edit the configuration? (yes/no) [n]: Enter
- 2. Review the configuration summary before enabling the configuration.
- Use this configuration and save it? (yes/no) [y]: Enter

Cisco Nexus 9372PX B

To set up the initial configuration for the Cisco Nexus B switch on <<var_nexus_B_hostname>>, complete the following steps: 1. Configure the switch.

• On initial boot and connection to the serial or console port of the switch, the NX-OS setup should automatically start and attempt to enter Power on Auto Provisioning.

Abort Power on Auto Provisioning and continue with normal setup? (yes/no) [n]: yes

- Do you want to enforce secure password standard (yes/no): yes
- Enter the password for "admin": <<var_password>>
- Confirm the password for " admin" : <<var_password>>
- Would you like to enter the basic configuration dialog (yes/no): yes
- Create another login account (yes/no) [n]: Enter
- Configure read-only SNMP community string (yes/no) [n]: Enter
- Configure read-write SNMP community string (yes/no) [n]: Enter

Enter the switch name: <<var_nexus_B_hostname>> Continue with Out-of-band (mgmt0) management configuration? (yes/no) [y]: Enter Mgmt0 IPv4 address: <<var_nexus_B_mgmt0_ip>> Mgmt0 IPv4 netmask: <<var_nexus_B_mgmt0_netmask>> Configure the default gateway? (yes/no) [y]: Enter IPv4 address of the default gateway: <<var_nexus_B_mgmt0_gw>> Configure advanced IP options? (yes/no) [n]: Enter Enable the telnet service? (yes/no) [n]: Enter Enable the ssh service? (yes/no) [y]: Enter

Type of ssh key you would like to generate (dsa/rsa) [rsa]: Enter Number of rsa key bits <1024-2048> [1024]: Enter Configure the ntp server? (yes/no) [n]: y NTP server IPv4 address: <<var_global_ntp_server_ip>> Configure default interface layer (L3/L2) [L2]: Enter Configure default switchport interface state (shut/noshut) [noshut]: shut Configure CoPP system profile (strict/moderate/lenient/dense/skip) [strict]: Enter Would you like to edit the configuration? (yes/no) [n]: Enter

 Review the configuration summary before enabling the configuration. Use this configuration and save it? (yes/no) [y]: Enter

FlexPod Cisco Nexus Switch Configuration

Enable Licenses

Cisco Nexus 9372PX A and Cisco Nexus 9372PX B

To license the Cisco Nexus switches, complete the following steps:

1. Log in as admin.

2. Run the following commands:

config t feature interface-vlan feature lacp feature vpc feature lldp

Set Global Configurations

Cisco Nexus 9372PX A and Cisco Nexus 9372PX B

- To set global configurations, complete the following step on both switches: Run the following commands to set global configurations: spanning-tree port type network default spanning-tree port type edge bpduguard default
 - spanning-tree port type edge bpdufilter default
 - port-channel load-balance src-dst l4port
 - ntp server <<var_global_ntp_server_ip>> use-vrf management
 - ntp master 3
 - ip route 0.0.0.0/0 <<var_ib-mgmt-vlan_gateway>>
 - copy run start

Create VLANs

Cisco Nexus 9372PX A and Cisco Nexus 9372PX B

To create the necessary virtual local area networks (VLANs), complete the following step on both switches: From the global configuration mode, run the following commands:

vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> name IB-MGMT-VLAN exit vlan <<var_native_vlan_id>> name Native-VLAN exit vlan <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>> name vMotion-VLAN exit vlan <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>> name VM-Traffic-VLAN exit vlan <<var nfs vlan id>> name NFS-VLAN exit vlan <<var_iscsi-a_vlan_id>> name iSCSI-A-VLAN exit vlan <<var iscsi-b vlan id>> name iSCSI-B-VLAN exit vlan <<var_packet-ctrl_vlan_id>> name Packet-Ctrl-VLAN exit

Add NTP Distribution Interface

Cisco Nexus 9372PX A

From the global configuration mode, run the following commands: ntp source <<var_switch_a_ntp_ip>> interface Vlan<<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> ip address <<var_switch_a_ntp_ip>>/<<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_netmask_length>> no shutdown exit

Cisco Nexus 9372PX B

From the global configuration mode, run the following commands: ntp source <<var_switch_b_ntp_ip>> interface Vlan<<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> ip address <<var_switch_b_ntp_ip>>/<<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_netmask_length>> no shutdown exit

Add Individual Port Descriptions for Troubleshooting

Cisco Nexus 9372PX A

To add individual port descriptions for troubleshooting activity and verification for switch A, complete the following step:

In this step and in further sections, configure the <<var_ucs_6248_clustername>> and <<var_ucs_6332_clustername>> interfaces as appropriate to your deployment.

From the global configuration mode, run the following commands: interface Eth1/1 description <<var_node01>>:e0b exit interface Eth1/2 description <<var_node02>>:e0b exit interface Eth1/17 description <<var_n1110-x>>-1:eth 7 exit interface Eth1/18 description <<var_n1110-x>>-2:eth7 exit interface Eth1/45 description <<var_ucs_6248_clustername>>-a:1/31 exit interface Eth1/46 description <<var_ucs_6248_clustername>>-b:1/31 exit

interface Eth1/49 description <<var_nexus_B_hostname>>:1/49 exit interface Eth1/50 description <<var_nexus_B_hostname>>:1/50 exit interface Eth1/51 description <<var_ucs_6332_clustername>>-a:1/31 exit interface Eth1/52 description <<var_ucs_6332_clustername>>-b:1/31 exit

Cisco Nexus 9372PX B

To add individual port descriptions for troubleshooting activity and verification for switch B, complete the following step: From the global configuration mode, run the following commands:

interface Eth1/1 description <<var_node01>>:e0d exit interface Eth1/2 description <<var_node02>>:e0d exit interface Eth1/17 description <<var_n1110-x>>-1:eth 8 exit interface Eth1/18 description <<var_n1110-x>>-2:eth 8 exit interface Eth1/45 description <<var_ucs_6248_clustername>>-a:1/32 exit interface Eth1/46 description <<var_ucs_6248_clustername>>-b:1/32 exit interface Eth1/49 description <<var_nexus_A_hostname>>:1/49 exit interface Eth1/50 description <<var_nexus_A_hostname>>:1/50 exit interface Eth1/51 description <<var_ucs_6332_clustername>>-a:1/32 exit interface Eth1/52 description <<var_ucs_6332_clustername>>-b:1/32 exit

Create Port Channels

Cisco Nexus 9372PX A and Cisco Nexus 9372PX B

To create the necessary port channels between devices, complete the following step on both switches: From the global configuration mode, run the following commands: interface Po10 description vPC peer-link exit interface Eth1/49-50 channel-group 10 mode active no shutdown exit interface Po11 description <<var node01>> exit interface Eth1/1 channel-group 11 mode active no shutdown exit interface Po12 description <<var_node02>> exit interface Eth1/2 channel-group 12 mode active no shutdown exit interface Po117 description <<var_n1110-x>>-1 exit interface Eth1/17 channel-group 117 mode active no shutdown exit interface Po118 description <<var_n1110-x>>-2 exit interface Eth1/18 channel-group 118 mode active no shutdown exit copy run start interface Po145 description <<var_ucs_6248_clustername>>-a exit interface Eth1/45 channel-group 145 mode active no shutdown exit interface Po112 description <<var_ucs_6248_clustername>>-b exit interface Eth1/46 channel-group 146 mode active no shutdown exit interface Po151 description <<var_ucs_6332_clustername>>-a exit interface Eth1/51 channel-group 151 mode active no shutdown exit interface Po152 description <<var_ucs_6332_clustername>>-b exit interface Eth1/52 channel-group 152 mode active no shutdown exit Configure Port Channel Parameters

Cisco Nexus 9372PX A and Cisco Nexus 9372PX B

To configure port channel parameters, complete the following step on both switches: From the global configuration mode, run the following commands: interface Po10 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 2 switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_nfs_vlan_id>>, <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>>, <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-a_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-b_vlan_id>>, <<var_packet-ctrl_vlan_id>> spanning-tree port type network exit interface Po11 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 2 switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_nfs_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-a_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-b_vlan_id>>, spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 exit interface Po12 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 2 switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_nfs_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-a_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-b_vlan_id>> spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 exit interface Po117 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 2 switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_packet-ctrl_vlan_id>> spanning-tree port type edge trunk exit interface Po118 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 2 switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_packet-ctrl_vlan_id>> spanning-tree port type edge trunk exit interface Po145 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 2 switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_nfs_vlan_id>>, <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>>, <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-a_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-b_vlan_id>> spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 exit interface Po146 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 2 switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_nfs_vlan_id>>, <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>>, <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-a_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-b_vlan_id>> spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 exit interface Po151 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 2 switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_nfs_vlan_id>>, <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>>, <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-a_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-b_vlan_id>> spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 exit interface Po152 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 2 switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_nfs_vlan_id>>, <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>>, <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-a_vlan_id>>, <<var_iscsi-b_vlan_id>> spanning-tree port type edge trunk mtu 9216 exit copy run start

Configure Virtual Port Channels

-

Cisco Nexus 9372PX A

To configure virtual port channels (vPCs) for switch A, complete the following step:

From the global configuration mode, run the following commands: vpc domain <<var_nexus_vpc_domain_id>> role priority 10 peer-keepalive destination <<var_nexus_B_mgmt0_ip>> source <<var_nexus_A_mgmt0_ip>> peer-switch peer-gateway auto-recovery delay restore 150 exit interface Po10 vpc peer-link exit interface Po11 vpc 11 exit interface Po12 vpc 12 exit interface Po117 vpc 117 exit interface Po118 vpc 118 exit interface Po145 vpc 111 exit interface Po146 vpc 112 exit interface Po151 vpc 111 exit interface Po152 vpc 112 exit copy run start Cisco Nexus 9372PX B To configure vPCs for switch B, complete the following step: From the global configuration mode, run the following commands. vpc domain <<var_nexus_vpc_domain_id>> role priority 20 peer-keepalive destination <<var_nexus_A_mgmt0_ip>> source <<var_nexus_B_mgmt0_ip>> peer-switch peer-gateway auto-recovery delay restore 150 exit interface Po10 vpc peer-link exit interface Po11 vpc 11 exit interface Po12 vpc 12 exit interface Po117 vpc 117 exit interface Po118 vpc 118 exit interface Po145 vpc 111 exit interface Po146 vpc 112 exit interface Po151 vpc 111 exit

interface Po152 vpc 112 exit copy run start

Uplink into Existing Network Infrastructure

Depending on the available network infrastructure, several methods and features can be used to uplink the FlexPod environment. If an existing Cisco Nexus environment is present, NetApp recommends using vPCs to uplink the Cisco Nexus 9372PX switches included in the FlexPod environment into the infrastructure. The previously described procedures can be used to create an uplink vPC to the existing environment. Make sure to run copy run start to save the configuration on each switch after the configuration is completed.

Storage Configuration

AFF80XX Series Controllers

See the following sections in the Site Requirements Guide for planning the physical location of the storage systems:

- Site Preparation
- System Connectivity Requirements
- Circuit Breaker, Power Outlet Balancing, System Cabinet Power Cord Plugs, and Console Pinout Requirements
- 80xx Series Systems

NetApp Hardware Universe

The NetApp Hardware Universe (HWU) application provides supported hardware and software components for any specific ONTAP version. It provides configuration information for all the NetApp storage appliances currently supported by ONTAP software. It also provides a table of component compatibilities.

Confirm that the hardware and software components that you would like to use are supported with the version of ONTAP that you plan to install by using the HWU application at the NetApp Support site.

1. Access the HWU application to view the System Configuration guides. Click the Controllers tab to view the compatibility between different version of the ONTAP software and the NetApp storage appliances with your desired specifications.

2. Alternatively, to compare components by storage appliance, click Compare Storage Systems.

Controllers

Follow the physical installation procedures for the controllers found in the AFF8000 Series product documentation at the NetApp Support site.

Disk Shelves

NetApp storage systems support a wide variety of disk shelves and disk drives. The complete list of disk shelves that are supported by the AFF 80xx is available at the NetApp Support site.

When using SAS disk shelves with NetApp storage controllers, refer to the SAS Disk Shelves Universal SAS and ACP Cabling Guide for proper cabling guidelines.

Clustered Data ONTAP 8.3.2

Complete the Configuration Worksheet

Before running the setup script, complete the cluster setup worksheet from the Clustered Data ONTAP 8.3 Software Setup Guide. You must have access to the NetApp Support site to open the cluster setup worksheet.

Configure ONTAP Nodes

Before running the setup script, review the configuration worksheets in the Clustered Data ONTAP 8.3 Software Setup Guide to learn about configuring ONTAP. Table 15 lists the information that you will need to configure two ONTAP nodes. Customize the cluster detail values with the information applicable to your deployment.

Table 15 ONTAP software installation prerequisites

Data ONTAP 8.3.2 URL	< <var_url_boot_software>></var_url_boot_software>
Cluster Node02 gateway	< <var_node02_mgmt_gateway>></var_node02_mgmt_gateway>
Cluster Node02 netmask	< <var_node02_mgmt_mask>></var_node02_mgmt_mask>
Cluster Node02 IP address	< <var_node02_mgmt_ip>></var_node02_mgmt_ip>
Cluster Node01 gateway	< <var_node01_mgmt_gateway>></var_node01_mgmt_gateway>
Cluster Node01 netmask	< <var_node01_mgmt_mask>></var_node01_mgmt_mask>
Cluster Node01 IP address	< <var_node01_mgmt_ip>></var_node01_mgmt_ip>
Cluster Detail	Cluster Detail Value

Configure Node 01

To configure node 01, complete the following steps:

1. Connect to the storage system console port. You should see a Loader-A prompt. However, if the storage system is in a reboot loop, press Ctrl-C to exit the autoboot loop when you see this message:

Starting AUTOBOOT press Ctrl-C to abort...

2. Allow the system to boot up.

autoboot

3. Press Ctrl-C when prompted.

If Data ONTAP 8.3.2 is not the version of software being booted, continue with the following steps to install ne version being booted, select option 8 and y to reboot the node. Then continue with step 14.	ew software. If Data ONTAP 8.3.2 is the
4. To install new software, select option 7.	
7	
5. Enter y to perform an upgrade.	
у	
5. Select e0M for the network port you want to use for the download.	
eOM	
7. Enter y to reboot now.	
y	
3. Enter the IP address, netmask, and default gateway for e0M in their respective places.	
D. Enter the URL where the software can be found.	
This web server must be ningable	
< <var_uri_boot_sontware>></var_uri_boot_sontware>	
 Press Enter for the user name, indicating no user name. Enter v to set the newly installed software as the default to be used for subsequent repeats. 	
y 10 Festary stars baset the period	
ý	
When installing new software, the system might perform firmware upgrades to the BIOS and adapter cards, ca .oader-A prompt. If these actions occur, the system might deviate from this procedure.	ausing reboots and possible stops at the
3. Press Ctrl-C when you see this message:	
Press Ctrl-C for Boot Menu	
4. Select option 4 for Clean Configuration and Initialize All Disks.	
4	
5. Enter y to zero disks, reset config, and install a new file system.	
у	
6. Enter y to erase all the data on the disks.	
у	
The initialization and creation of the root volume can take 90 minutes or more to complete, depending on the r nitialization is complete, the storage system reboots. You can continue with the node 02 configuration while the dis	number of disks attached. After ks for node 01 are zeroing.
Configure Node 02	
To configure node 02, complete the following steps:	
 Connect to the storage system console port. You should see a Loader-A prompt. However, if the storage system he autoboot loop when you see this message: 	n is in a reboot loop, press Ctrl-C to exit
Starting AUTOBOOT press Ctrl-C to abort	
2. Allow the system to boot up.	
autoboot	
B. Press Ctrl-C when prompted.	
If Data ONTAP 8.3.2 is not the version of software being booted, continue with the following steps to install ne	ew software. If Data ONTAP 8.3.2 is the
. To install new software, select option 7.	
To install new software, select option 7.	
To install new software, select option 7.	
To install new software, select option 7. 7 5. Enter y to perform an upgrade.	
To install new software, select option 7. 7 5. Enter y to perform an upgrade. y	
To install new software, select option 7. 7 5. Enter y to perform an upgrade. y 5. Select e0M for the network port you want to use for the download. e0M	
To install new software, select option 7. To install new software, select option 7. Select y to perform an upgrade. Select e0M for the network port you want to use for the download. e0M Enter y to reboot now.	
To install new software, select option 7. 7 5 Enter y to perform an upgrade. 9 5 Select e0M for the network port you want to use for the download. e0M 7 Enter y to reboot now. 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	

< <var_node02_mgmt_ip>> <<var_node02_mgmt_mask>> <<var_node02_mgmt_gateway>></var_node02_mgmt_gateway></var_node02_mgmt_mask></var_node02_mgmt_ip>
9. Enter the URL where the software can be found.
This web server must be pingable.
< <var_url_boot_software>></var_url_boot_software>
10. Press Enter for the user name, indicating no user name.
11. Enter y to set the newly installed software as the default to be used for subsequent reboots.
v
7 10. Entransite units and a
12. Enter y to reboot the hode.
У
When installing new software, the system might perform firmware upgrades to the BIOS and adapter cards, causing reboots and possible stops at the Loader-A prompt. If these actions occur, the system might deviate from this procedure.
13. Press Ctrl-C when you see this message:
Press Ctrl-C for Boot Menu
14. Select ention A for Clean Configuration and Initialize All Disks
4
15. Enter y to zero disks, reset config, and install a new file system.
у
16. Enter y to erase all the data on the disks.
y
·
The initialization and creation of the root volume can take 90 minutes or more to complete, depending on the number of disks attached. When initialization is complete, the storage system reboots.
Set Up Node
From a console port program attached to the storage controller A (node 01) console port, run the node setup script. This script appears when Data ONTAP 8.3.2 boots on the node for the first time.
1. Follow the prompts to set up node 01:
Welcome to node setup.
You can enter the following commands at any time:
"help" or "?" - if you want to have a question clarified,
"back" - if you want to change previously answered questions, and
"exit" or "quit" - if you want to quit the setup wizard.
Any changes you made before quitting will be saved.
l'o accept à defauit or omit à question, do not enter à value.
This system will cand event massages and weekly reports to NatApp Technical Support
To disable this feature, enter "autosupport modify -support disable" within 24 hours
Enabling AutoSupport can significantly speed problem determination and resolution should a problem occur on your system
For further information on AutoSupport, see:
http://support.netapp.com/autosupport/
Type yes to confirm and continue {yes}: yes
Enter the node management interface port [e0M]: Enter
Enter the node management interface IP address: < <var_node01_mgmt_ip>></var_node01_mgmt_ip>
Enter the node management interface netmask: < <var_node01_mgmt_mask>></var_node01_mgmt_mask>
Enter the node management interface default gateway: < <var_node01_mgmt_gateway>></var_node01_mgmt_gateway>
A node management interface on port e0M with IP address < <var_node01_mgmt_ip>> has been created</var_node01_mgmt_ip>
This node has its management address assigned and is ready for cluster setup.
To complete cluster setup after all nodes are ready, download and run the System Setup utility from the NetApp Support Site and use it to discover the configured nodes.
For System Setup, this node's management address is: < <var_node01_mgmt_ip>>.</var_node01_mgmt_ip>



<<var_node01_mgmt_ip>>

<<var node01 mgmt mask>>

<<var_node01_mgmt_gateway>>

>

Cluster node01 IP address

Cluster node01 netmask

Cluster node01 gateway

Welcome to the cluster setup wizard.

You can enter the following commands at any time: "help" or "?" - if you want to have a question clarified,

cluster setup

Run the cluster setup command to start the Cluster Setup wizard.

" back" - if you want to change previously answered questions, and
"exit" or "quit" - if you want to quit the cluster setup wizard.
Any changes you made before quitting will be saved.
You can return to cluster setup at any time by typing " cluster setup".
To accept a default or omit a question, do not enter a value.
Do you want to create a new cluster or join an existing cluster? {create, join}:
▲ If a login prompt appears instead of the Cluster Setup wizard, start the wizard by logging in with the factory default settings and then enter the cluster setup command.
To create a new cluster, complete the following steps: 1. Run the following command to create a new cluster:
create
2. Enter no for the single-node cluster option.
Do you intend for this node to be used as a single node cluster? {yes, no} [no]: no
3. Enter no for a cluster network using network switches.
Will the cluster network be configured to use network switches? [yes]:no
 The system defaults are displayed. Enter yes to use the system defaults. Use the following prompts to configure the cluster ports.
Existing cluster interface configuration found:
Port MTU IP Netmask
e0a 9000 169.254.118.102 255.255.0.0
e0c 9000 169.254.191.92 255.255.0.0
Do you want to use this configuration? {yes, no} [yes]: no
System Defaults:
Private cluster network ports [e0a.e0c].
Cluster port MTU values will be set to 9000.
Cluster interface IP addresses will be automatically generated.
Do you want to use these defaults? {yes, no} [yes]: yes
If four ports are being used for the switchless cluster interconnect, enter e0a, e0b, e0c, and e0d for the private cluster network ports above.
5. The steps to create a cluster are displayed.
Enter the cluster administrators (username "admin") password: < <var_password>></var_password>
Retype the password: < <var_password>></var_password>
It can take several minutes to create cluster interfaces
Step 1 of 5: Create a Cluster
You can type "back", "exit", or "help" at any question.
Enter the cluster name: < <var_clustername>></var_clustername>
Enter the cluster base license key: < <var_cluster_base_license_key>></var_cluster_base_license_key>
Creating cluster < <var_clustername>></var_clustername>
The cluster is created. This can take a few minutes.
For this validated architecture, NetApp recommends installing license keys for NetApp SnapRestore® data recovery software, NetApp FlexClone® data replication technology, and the NetApp SnapManager® suite. In addition, install all required storage protocol licenses and all licenses that came with the AFF bundle. After you finish entering the license keys, press Enter.
Enter the cluster management interface port [e0e]: e0i Enter the cluster management interface IP address: < <var_clustermgmt_ip>></var_clustermgmt_ip>
Enter the cluster management interface netmask: < <var_clustermgmt_mask>></var_clustermgmt_mask>
Cinter the cluster management interface default gateway: < <var_clusteringmt_gateway>></var_clusteringmt_gateway>
b. Enter the UNIS domain name.
Enter the DNS domain names:< <var_dns_domain_name>> Enter the name server IP addresses:<<var_nameserver_ip>></var_nameserver_ip></var_dns_domain_name>

If you have more than one name server IP address, separate the IP addresses with a comma.

7. Set up the node.

FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS 6300 Fabric Interconnect and VMware vSphere 6.... Page 26 of 154

Where is the controller located []:< <var_node_location>></var_node_location>
Enter the node management interface port [e0M]: e0M
[Enter the node management interface IP address [< <var_node01_mgmt_ip>>]: Enter</var_node01_mgmt_ip>
Enter the node management interface netmask [< <var_node01_mgmt_mask>>]: Enter</var_node01_mgmt_mask>
Enter the node management interface default galeway [< <val_node01_night_galeway>>]. Enter</val_node01_night_galeway>
The node management interface has been modified to use port e0M with IP address < <var_node01_mgmt_ip>>.</var_node01_mgmt_ip>
This system will send event messages and weekly reports to NetApp Technical Support.
To disable this feature, enter " autosupport modify -support disable" within 24 hours.
Enabling AutoSupport can significantly speed problem determination and resolution should a problem occur on your system.
For further information on AutoSupport, please see: http://support.netapp.com/autosupport/
Press enter to continue: Enter
Cluster " < <var_clustername>>" has been created.</var_clustername>
To complete cluster setup, you must join each additional node to the cluster by running "cluster setup" on each node.
Once all nodes have been joined to the cluster, see the Clustered Data ONTAP Software Setup Guide for information about additional system configuration
tasks. You can find the Software Setup Guide on the NetApp Support Site.
To complete system configuration, you can use either OnCommand System Manager or the Data ONTAP command-line interface.
To access OnCommand System Manager, point your web browser to the cluster management IP address (< <var, clustermont,="" in="">>)</var,>
To access the command-line interface, connect to the cluster management \mathbb{D} address (for example, she defined cruct cluster management \mathbb{D} address (for example, she defined cruct cluster management \mathbb{D})
< <var_clustername>>::></var_clustername>

The node management interface can be on the same subnet as the cluster management interface, or it can be on a different subnet. In this document it is assumed to be on the same subnet.

Join Node 02 to Cluster

The first node in the cluster performs the cluster create operation. All other nodes perform a cluster join operation. The first node in the cluster is considered node 01, and the node joining the cluster in this example is node 02. Table 17 Cluster join in ONTAP prerequisites

Ister Detail Cluster Detail Value	
Cluster name	< <var_clustername>></var_clustername>
Cluster management IP address	< <var_clustermgmt_ip>></var_clustermgmt_ip>
Cluster node02 IP address	< <var_node02_mgmt_ip>></var_node02_mgmt_ip>
Cluster node02 netmask	< <var_node02_mgmt_mask>></var_node02_mgmt_mask>
Cluster node02 gateway	< <var_node02_mgmt_gateway>></var_node02_mgmt_gateway>

To join node 02 to the existing cluster, complete the following steps:

1. If prompted, enter admin in the login prompt.

admin

2. Run the cluster setup command to start the Cluster Setup wizard.

cluster setup

This node's storage failover partner is already a member of a cluster. Storage failover partners must be members of the same cluster. The cluster setup wizard will default to the cluster join dialog. Welcome to the cluster setup wizard. You can enter the following commands at any time: "help" or "?" - if you want to have a question clarified, "back" - if you want to change previously answered questions, and "exit" or "quit" - if you want to quit the cluster setup wizard. Any changes you made before quitting will be saved. You can return to cluster setup at any time by typing "cluster setup".

To accept a default or omit a question, do not enter a value.

Do you want to create a new cluster or join an existing cluster?

{join}:

FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS 6300 Fabric Interconnect and VMware vSphere 6.... Page 27 of 154

💪 If a login prompt is displayed instead of the Cluster Setup wizard, start the wizard by logging in using the factory default settings, and then enter the

2. Due the following common data inter-schedure:
3. Run the following command to join a cluster:
join
4. Data ONTAP detects the existing cluster and agrees to join the same cluster. Follow the prompts to join the cluster.
Existing cluster interface configuration found:
Port MTU IP Netmask
Do you want to you this configuration? (you no five) to
bo you want to use this configuration? (yes), no? [yes]. no
System Defaults:
Private cluster network ports [e0a e0c]
Cluster part MTI values will be set to 9000
Cluster interface ID addresses will be automatically generated
If four ports are being used for the switchless cluster interconnect, enter e0a, e0b, e0c, and e0d for the private cluster network ports above.
Do you want to use these defaults? {yes, no} [yes]:Enter It can take several minutes to create cluster interfaces
5. The steps to join a cluster are displayed.
Step 1 of 3: Join an Existing Cluster
You can type "back", "exit", or "help" at any question.
Enter the name of the cluster you would like to join [< <var_clustername>>]:Enter Joining cluster <<var_clustername>></var_clustername></var_clustername>
Starting cluster support services
This node has joined the cluster < <var_clustername>>.</var_clustername>
Step 2 of 3: Configure Storage Failover (SFO)
You can type "back", "exit", or "help" at any question.
SFO is enabled.
Step 3 of 3: Set Up the Node
You can type "back", "exit", or "help" at any question.
Notice: HA is configured in management.
The node should find the cluster name. Cluster joining can take a few minutes.
6. Set up the node.
Enter the node management interface port [e0M]: e0M
Enter the node management interface IP address [< <var_node02_mgmt_ip>>]: Enter</var_node02_mgmt_ip>
Enter the node management interface netmask [< <var_node02_netmask>>]: Enter</var_node02_netmask>
The node management interface has been modified to use port eOM with IP address < <var ip="" mgmt="" node02="">></var>
This system will send event messages and weekly reports to NetApp Technical Support
To disable this feature, enter "autosupport modify -support disable", within 24 hours
Enabling AutoSupport on significantly speed problem determination and resolution should a problem occur on your owners
Endoming Autooupport can significantly speed problem determination and resolution should a problem occur on your system.
Processenter to continue: Enter
This node has been joined to cluster " < <var_clustername>>".</var_clustername>
To complete cluster setup, you must join each additional node to the cluster by running "cluster setup" on each node.
Once all nodes have been joined to the cluster, see the Clustered Data ONTAP Software Setup Guide for information about additional system configuration tasks. You can find the Software Setup Guide on the NetApp Support Site.

To complete system configuration, you can use either OnCommand System Manager or the Data ONTAP command-line interface.

To access OnCommand System Manager, point your web browser to the cluster management IP address (<<var_clustermgmt_ip>>).

To access the command-line interface, connect to the cluster management IP address (for example, ssh admin@<<var_clustermgmt_ip>>).

The node management interface can be on the same subnet as the cluster management interface, or it can be on a different subnet. In this document it is assumed to be on the same subnet.

Log In to the Cluster

To log in to the cluster, complete the following steps:

1. Open an SSH connection to either the cluster IP or host name.

2. Log in to the admin user with the password you provided earlier.

Zero All Spare Disks

To zero all spare disks in the cluster, run the following command:

disk zerospares

bisk autoassign should have assigned half of the connected disks to each node in the HA pair. If a different disk assignment is required, disk autoassignment must be disabled on both nodes in the HA pair by running the disk option modify command. Spare disks can then be moved from one node to another by running the disk removeowner and disk assign commands.

Set Onboard Unified Target Adapter 2 Port Personality

To set the personality of the onboard Unified Target Adapter 2 (UTA2), complete the following steps:

1. Verify the Current Mode and Current Type properties of the ports by running the ucadmin show command.

ucadmin s	how					
	Cur	rent Curre	nt Pe	ending	Pending Admin	
Node	Adapt	er Mode	Туре	Мо	le Type Status	
< <var_noc< td=""><td>de01>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></var_noc<>	de01>>					
0	e fc	target	-	-	online	
< <var_noc< td=""><td>de01>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></var_noc<>	de01>>					
0	f fc	target	-	-	online	
< <var_noc< td=""><td>de01>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></var_noc<>	de01>>					
0	g cr	a target	t –	-	online	
< <var_noc< td=""><td>de01>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></var_noc<>	de01>>					
0	h cr	a target	-	-	online	
< <var_noc< td=""><td>de02>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></var_noc<>	de02>>					
0	e fc	target	-	-	online	
< <var_noc< td=""><td>de02>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></var_noc<>	de02>>					
0	f fc	target	-	-	online	
< <var_noc< td=""><td>de02>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></var_noc<>	de02>>					
0	g cr	a target	t –	-	online	
< <var_noc< td=""><td>de02>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></var_noc<>	de02>>					
0	h cr	a target	-	-	online	
8 entries v	vere dis	played.				
2. Verifv th	nat the C	urrent Moc	le and	Curren	Type properties for all ports are set properly. Set ports used for Fibre Channel (FC) connectivity to mode fc:	-

2. Verify that the Current Mode and Current Type properties for all ports are set properly. Set ports used for Fibre Channel (FC) connectivity to mode fc; otherwise, set them to the mode cna. That includes FCoE ports, which should be set to the mode cna. The port type for all protocols should be set to target. Change the port personality with the following command:

ucadmin modify -node <home node of the port> -adapter <port name> -mode {fc|cna} -type target

The ports must be offline to run this command. To take an adapter offline, run the fcp adapter modify –node <home node of the port> -adapter <port name> -state down command. Ports must be converted in pairs (for example, 0e and 0f). After conversion, a reboot is required, and the ports must be brought back to the up state.

Set Auto-Revert on Cluster Management

To set the auto-revert parameter on the cluster management interface, complete the following step:

A storage virtual machine (SVM) is referred to as a Vserver (or vserver) in the GUI and CLI.

Run the following command:

network interface modify -vserver <<var_clustername>> -lif cluster_mgmt -auto-revert true

Set Up Management Broadcast Domain

By default, all network ports are included in the default broadcast domain. Ports used for data services (for example, e0b, e0d, e0e, e0f, e0g, e0h, e0j, e0k, and e0l) should be removed from the default broadcast domain, leaving just the management network ports (e0i and e0M). To perform this task, run the following commands:

broadcast-domain remove-ports -broadcast-domain Default -ports

<<var_node01>>:e0g,<<var_node01>>:e0d,<<var_node01>>:e0e,<<var_node01>>:e0f,<<var_node01>>:e0g,<<var_node01>>:e0h,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,<<var_node01>>:e0j,</var_node01>>:e0j,</var_node01>>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</var_node01>:e0j,</v

Set Up Service Processor Network Interface

To assign a static IPv4 address to the service processor on each node, run the following commands:

system service-processor network modify -node <<var_node01>> -address-family IPv4 -enable true -dhcp none -ip-address <<var_node01_sp_ip>> -netmask <<var_node01_sp_mask>> -gateway <<var_node01_sp_gateway>>

system service-processor network modify -node <<var_node02>> -address-family IPv4 -enable true -dhcp none -ip-address <<var_node02_sp_ip>> -netmask <<var_node02_sp_mask>> -gateway <<var_node02_sp_gateway>>

The service processor IP addresses should be in the same subnet as the node management IP addresses.

Create Aggregates

An aggregate containing the root volume is created during the ONTAP setup process. To create additional aggregates, determine the aggregate name, the node on which to create it, and the number of disks it contains. To create new aggregates, complete the following steps:

1. Run the following commands:

aggr create -aggregate aggr1_node01 -node <<var_node01>> -diskcount <<var_num_disks>> aggr create -aggregate aggr1_node02 -node <<var_node02>> -diskcount <<var_num_disks>>

💪 Retain at least one disk (select the largest disk) in the configuration as a spare. A best practice is to have at least one spare for each disk type and size.

Start with five disks initially; you can add disks to an aggregate when additional storage is required. In an AFF configuration with a small number of SSDs, you might want to create an aggregate with all but one remaining disk (spare) assigned to the controller.

The aggregate cannot be created until disk zeroing completes. Run the aggr show command to display aggregate creation status. Do not proceed until both aggr1_node1 and aggr1_node2 are online.

2. Disable NetApp Snapshot[®] copies for the two data aggregates recently created.

node run <<var_node01>> aggr options aggr1_node01 nosnap on

node run <<var_node02>> aggr options aggr1_node02 nosnap on

3. Delete any existing Snapshot copies for the two data aggregates.

node run <<var_node01>> snap delete -A -a -f aggr1_node01

node run <<var_node02>> snap delete -A -a -f aggr1_node02

4. Rename the root aggregate on node 01 to match the naming convention for this aggregate on node 02.

aggr show

aggr rename -aggregate aggr0 -newname <<var_node01_rootaggrname>>

Verify Storage Failover

To confirm that storage failover is enabled, run the following commands for a failover pair:

1. Verify the status of storage failover.

storage failover show

Both the nodes <<var_node01>> and <<var_node02>> must be capable of performing a takeover. Continue with step 3 if the nodes are capable of performing a takeover.

2. Enable failover on one of the two nodes.

storage failover modify -node <<var_node01>> -enabled true

Enabling failover on one node enables it for both nodes

3. Verify the HA status for a two-node cluster.

A This step is not applicable for clusters with more than two nodes.

cluster ha show

4. Continue with step 6 if high availability is configured.

5. Only enable HA mode for two-node clusters. Do not run this command for clusters with more than two nodes because it causes problems with failover.

cluster ha modify -configured true

Do you want to continue? {y|n}: y

6. Verify that hardware assist is correctly configured and, if needed, modify the partner IP address.

storage failover hwassist show

storage failover modify -hwassist-partner-ip <<var_node02_mgmt_ip>> -node <<var_node01>> storage failover modify -hwassist-partner-ip <<var_node01_mgmt_ip>> -node <<var_node02>>

Disable Flow Control on UTA2 Ports

NetApp recommends disabling flow control on all of the 10GbE and UTA2 ports that are connected to external devices. To disable flow control, complete the following steps:

1. Run the following commands to configure node 01:

network port modify -node < <var_node01>> -port e0b,e0d,e0e,e0f,e0g,e0h -flowcontrol-admin none</var_node01>	
Warning: Changing the network port settings will cause a several second interruption in carrier.	
Do you want to continue? {y n}: y	

2. Run the following commands to configure node 02:

network port modify -node <<var_node02>> -port e0b,e0d,e0e,e0f,e0g,e0h -flowcontrol-admin none

Warning: Changing the network port settings will cause a several second interruption in carrier.

Do you want to continue? {y|n}: y

network port show -fields flowcontrol-admin

Disable Unused FC Capability on CNA Ports

If a UTA2 port is set to CNA mode, and is only expected to handle Ethernet data traffic (e.g., NFS), then the unused FC capability of the port should be disabled by setting the corresponding FCP adapter to state down, with the fcp adapter modify command. Here are some examples:

fcp adapter modify -node <<var_node01>> -adapter 0g -state down fcp adapter modify -node <<var_node01>> -adapter 0h -state down fcp adapter modify -node <<var_node02>> -adapter 0g -state down fcp adapter modify -node <<var_node02>> -adapter 0h -state down fcp adapter show -fields state

Configure NTP

To configure time synchronization on the cluster, complete the following steps:

1. 3	Set the time zone for the cluster.
tim	ezone < <var_timezone>></var_timezone>
ß	For example, in the eastern United States, the time zone is America/New_York.

2. Set the date for the cluster.

date <ccyymmddhhmm.ss>

The format for the date is <[Century][Year][Month][Day][Hour][Minute].[Second]> (for example, 201309081735.17).

3. Configure the Network Time Protocol (NTP) servers for the cluster

cluster time-service ntp server create -server <<var_switch_a_ntp_ip>>

cluster time-service ntp server create -server <<var_switch_b_ntp_ip>>

Configure SNMP

To configure the Simple Network Management Protocol (SNMP), complete the following steps:

4. Configure basic SNMP information, such as the location and contact. When polled, this information is visible as the sysLocation and sysContact variables in SNMP

snmp contact <<var_snmp_contact>>

snmp location "<<var_snmp_location>>' snmp init 1

options snmp.enable on

5. Configure SNMP traps to send to remote hosts, such as a DFM server or another fault management system.

snmp traphost add <<var_oncommand_server_fqdn>>

Configure SNMPv1 Access

To configure SNMPv1 access, set the shared, secret plain-text password (called a community):

snmp community add ro <<var_snmp_community>>

Create SNMPv3 User

SNMPv3 requires that a user be defined and configured for authentication. To create and configure a user for SNMPv3, complete the following steps:

1. Create a user called snmpv3user.

security login create -username snmpv3user -authmethod usm -application snmp

2. Enter the authoritative entity's engine ID and select md5 as the authentication protocol.

- 3. Run the security snmpusers command to view the engine ID.
- 4. When prompted, enter an eight-character minimum-length password for the authentication protocol.

5. Select des as the privacy protocol.

6. When prompted, enter an eight-character minimum-length password for the privacy protocol.

Configure AutoSupport

AutoSupport sends support summary information to NetApp through HTTPS. To configure AutoSupport, run the following command:

system node autosupport modify -node * -state enable -mail-hosts <<var_mailhost>> -transport https -support enable -noteto <<var_storage_admin_email>>

Enable Cisco Discovery Protocol

To enable the Cisco Discovery Protocol (CDP) on the NetApp storage controllers, run the following command to enable CDP on ONTAP:

node run -node * options cdpd.enable on

To be effective, CDP must also be enabled on directly connected networking equipment such as switches and routers.

Create Jumbo Frame MTU Broadcast Domains in Clustered Data ONTAP

To create a data broadcast domain with an MTU of 9000, run the following commands to create a broadcast domain for NFS on ONTAP:

broadcast-domain create -broadcast-domain Infra_NFS -mtu 9000

If you are using iSCSI, run the following commands to create the broadcast domains for iSCSI on ONTAP:

broadcast-domain create -broadcast-domain Infra_iSCSI-A -mtu 9000 broadcast-domain create -broadcast-domain Infra_iSCSI-B -mtu 9000

Create Interface Groups

To create the LACP interface groups for the 10GbE data interfaces, run the following commands:

ifgrp create -node <<var_node01>> -ifgrp a0a -distr-func port -mode multimode_lacp ifgrp add-port -node <<var_node01>> -ifgrp a0a -port e0b ifgrp add-port -node <<var_node01>> -ifgrp a0a -port e0d

ifgrp create -node <<var_node02>> -ifgrp a0a -distr-func port -mode multimode_lacp ifgrp add-port -node <<var_node02>> -ifgrp a0a -port e0b ifgrp add-port -node <<var_node02>> -ifgrp a0a -port e0d

ifgrp show

Create VLANs

To create VLANs, create NFS VLAN ports and add them to the NFS broadcast domain:

network port modify -node <<var_node01>> -port a0a -mtu 9000

network port modify -node <<var_node02>> -port a0a -mtu 9000 network port vlan create -node <<var_node01>> -vlan-name a0a-<<var_nfs_vlan_id>> network port vlan create -node <<var_node02>> -vlan-name a0a-<<var_nfs_vlan_id>>

broadcast-domain add-ports -broadcast-domain Infra_NFS -ports <<var_node01>>:a0a-<<var_nfs_vlan_id>>, <<var_node02>>:a0a-<<var_nfs_vlan_id>>

If you are using iSCSI, create iSCSI VLAN ports and add them to the iSCSI broadcast domains:

network port vlan create -node <<var_node01>> -vlan-name a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_A_id>> network port vlan create -node <<var_node01>> -vlan-name a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_B_id>> network port vlan create -node <<var_node02>> -vlan-name a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_A_id>> network port vlan create -node <<var_node02>> -vlan-name a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_A_id>>

broadcast-domain add-ports -broadcast-domain Infra_iSCSI-A -ports <<var_node01>>:a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_A_id>>,<<var_node02>>:a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_A_id>>

broadcast-domain add-ports -broadcast-domain Infra_iSCSI-B -ports <<var_node01>>:a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_B_id>>,<<var_node02>>:a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_B_id>>

Create Storage Virtual Machine

To create an infrastructure SVM, complete the following steps:

1. Run the vserver create command.

vserver create -vserver Infra-SVM -rootvolume rootvol -aggregate aggr1_node01 -rootvolume-security-style unix

2. Select the SVM data protocols to configure, keeping fcp, iscsi, and nfs.

vserver remove-protocols -vserver Infra-SVM -protocols cifs,ndmp

3. Add the two data aggregates to the Infra-SVM aggregate list for the NetApp VSC.

vserver modify -vserver Infra-SVM -aggr-list aggr1_node01,aggr1_node02

4. Enable and run the NFS protocol in the Infra-SVM.

nfs create -vserver Infra-SVM -udp disabled

5. Turn on the SVM vstorage parameter for the NetApp NFS VAAI plugin.

vserver nfs modify -vserver Infra-SVM -vstorage enabled

vserver nfs show

Create Load-Sharing Mirrors of SVM Root Volume

To create a load-sharing mirror of an SVM root volume, complete the following steps:

1. Create a volume to be the load-sharing mirror of the infrastructure SVM root volume on each node.

volume create -vserver Infra-SVM -volume rootvol_m01 -aggregate aggr1_node01 -size 1GB -type DP volume create -vserver Infra-SVM -volume rootvol_m02 -aggregate aggr1_node02 -size 1GB -type DP

2. Create a job schedule to update the root volume mirror relationships every 15 minutes.

job schedule interval create -name 15min -minutes 15

3. Create the mirroring relationships.

snapmirror create -source-path //Infra-SVM/rootvol -destination-path //Infra-SVM/rootvol_m01 -type LS -schedule 15min

snapmirror create -source-path //Infra-SVM/rootvol -destination-path //Infra-SVM/rootvol_m02 -type LS -schedule 15min

4. Initialize the mirroring relationship.

snapmirror initialize-Is-set -source-path //Infra-SVM/rootvol

snapmirror show

Create Block Protocol (iSCSI, FC) Service

If you are using iSCSI, run the following command to create the iSCSI service on each SVM. This command also starts the iSCSI service and sets the iSCSI Qualified Name (IQN) for the SVM.

iscsi create -vserver Infra-SVM

iscsi show

If you are using FC, run the following command to create the FCP service on each SVM. This command also starts the FCP service and sets the WWN for the SVM.

fcp create -vserver Infra-SVM fcp show

Configure HTTPS Access

To configure secure access to the storage controller, complete the following steps:

1. Increase the privilege level to access the certificate commands.

set -privilege diag

Do you want to continue? {y|n}: y

 Generally, a self-signed certificate is already in place. Verify the certificate, and obtain parameters (for example, <<serial_number>>) by running the following command:

security certificate show

For each SVM shown, the certificate common name should match the DNS FQDN of the SVM. Delete the four default certificates and replace them with either self-signed certificates or certificates from a Certificate Authority (CA). To delete the default certificates, run the following commands:

security certificate delete -vserver Infra-SVM -common-name Infra-SVM -ca Infra-SVM -type server -serial <<serial_number>>

Deleting expired certificates before creating new certificates is a best practice. Run the security certificate delete command to delete expired certificates. In the following command, use TAB completion to select and delete each default certificate.

3. To generate and install self-signed certificates, run the following commands as one-time commands. Generate a server certificate for the Infra-SVM and the cluster SVM. Use TAB completion to aid in the completion of these commands.

security certificate create -common-name <<var_cert_common_name>> -type server -size 2048 -country <<var_cert_country>> -state <<var_cert_state>> -locality <<var_cert_locality>> -organization <<var_cert_org>> -unit <<var_cert_unit>> -email-addr <<var_cert_email>> -expire-days <<var_cert_days>> -protocol SSL -hash-function SHA256 -vserver Infra-SVM

4. To obtain the values for the parameters required in step 6 (<<var_cert_ca>> and <<var_cert_serial>>), run the security certificate show command.

5. Enable each certificate that was just created by using the -server-enabled true and -client-enabled false parameters. Use TAB completion to aid in the completion of these commands.

security ssl modify -vserver <<var_clustername>> -server-enabled true -client-enabled false -ca <<var_cert_ca>> -serial <<var_cert_serial>> -commonname <<var_cert_common_name>>

6. Configure and enable SSL and HTTPS access and disable HTTP access.

system services web modify -external true -sslv3-enabled true

Warning: Modifying the cluster configuration will cause pending web service requests to be interrupted as the web servers are restarted.

Do you want to continue {y|n}: y

system services firewall policy delete -policy mgmt -service http -vserver <<var_clustername>>

It is normal for some of these commands to return an error message stating that the entry does not exist.

7. Change back to the normal admin privilege level and set up the system to allow SVM logs to be available by web.

set -privilege admin

vserver services web modify -name compat -vserver * -enabled true

Configure NFSv3

To configure NFSv3 on the SVM, complete the following steps:

1. Create a new rule for each ESXi host in the default export policy. Assign a rule for each ESXi host created so that each host has its own rule index. For example, the first ESXi host has rule index 1, the second ESXi host has rule index 2, and so on.

vserver export-policy rule create -vserver Infra-SVM -policyname default -ruleindex 1 -protocol nfs -clientmatch <<var_esxi_host1_nfs_ip>> -rorule sys -rwrule sys -superuser sys -allow-suid false vserver export-policy rule create -vserver Infra-SVM -policyname default -ruleindex 2 -protocol nfs -clientmatch <<var_esxi_host2_nfs_ip>> -rorule sys -rwrule sys -superuser sys -allow-suid false vserver export-policy rule show

2. Assign the FlexPod export policy to the infrastructure SVM root volume.

volume modify -vserver Infra-SVM -volume rootvol -policy default

Create FlexVol Volumes

The following information is required to create a NetApp FlexVol® volume:

- The volume name
- The volume size
- · The aggregate on which the volume exists
- To create a FlexVol volume, run the following commands:

volume create -vserver lnfra-SVM -volume infra_datastore_1 -aggregate aggr1_node02 -size 500GB -state online -policy default -junction-path /infra_datastore_1 -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0

volume create -vserver Infra-SVM -volume infra_swap -aggregate aggr1_node01 -size 100GB -state online -policy default -junction-path /infra_swap -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0 -snapshot-policy none

volume create -vserver Infra-SVM -volume esxi_boot -aggregate aggr1_node01 -size 100GB -state online -policy default -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0

snapmirror update-Is-set -source-path //Infra-SVM/rootvol

Create Boot LUNs

To create two boot LUNs, run the following commands:

lun create -vserver Infra-SVM -volume esxi_boot -lun VM-Host-Infra-01 -size 15GB -ostype vmware -space-reserve disabled lun create -vserver Infra-SVM -volume esxi_boot -lun VM-Host-Prod-02 -size 15GB -ostype vmware -space-reserve disabled

Schedule Deduplication

On NetApp All Flash FAS systems, deduplication is enabled by default. To schedule deduplication, complete the following steps:

1. After the volumes are created, assign a once-a-day dedup schedule to esxi_boot:

efficiency modify -vserver Infra-SVM -volume esxi_boot -schedule sun-sat@0

2. Create the Always_On_Deduplication efficiency policy:

cron create -name 1min -minute

efficiency policy create -vserver Infra-SVM -policy Always_On_Deduplication -type scheduled -schedule 1min -qos-policy background -enabled true

3. Optionally, assign the Always On Deduplication policy to infra_datastore_1:

efficiency modify -vserver Infra-SVM -volume infr_datastore_1 -policy Always-On-Deduplication

4. If you do not want to assign an Always On Deduplication policy to infra_datastore_1, assign the once-a-day deduplication schedule:

efficiency modify -vserver Infra-SVM -volume infra_datastore_1 -schedule sun-sat@0

Create iSCSI LIFs

If you are using iSCSI, run the following commands to create four iSCSI LIFs (two on each node):

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif iscsi_lif01a -role data -data-protocol iscsi -home-node <<var_node01>> -home-port a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_A_id>> -address <<var_node01_iscsi_lif01a_ip>> -netmask <<var_node01_iscsi_lif01a_mask>> -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif iscsi_lif01b -role data -data-protocol iscsi -home-node <<var_node01>> -home-port a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_B_id>> -address <<var_node01_iscsi_lif01b_ip>> -netmask <<var_node01_iscsi_lif01b_mask>> -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif iscsi_lif02a -role data -data-protocol iscsi -home-node <<var_node02>> -home-port a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_A_id>> -address <<var_node02_iscsi_lif01a_ip>> -netmask <<var_node02_iscsi_lif01a_mask>> -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif iscsi_lif02b -role data -data-protocol iscsi -home-node <<var_node02>> -home-port a0a-<<var_iscsi_vlan_B_id>> -address <<var_node02_iscsi_lif01b_ip>> -netmask <<var_node02_iscsi_lif01b_mask>> -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false network interface show

Create FCP LIFs

If you are using FCP, run the following commands to create four FCP LIFs (two on each node) per attached fabric interconnect:

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif fcp_lif01a -role data -data-protocol fcp -home-node <<var_node01>> -home-port <<var_node01_fcp_port1>> -status-admin up

FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS 6300 Fabric Interconnect and VMware vSphere 6.... Page 34 of 154

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif fcp_lif01b -role data -data-protocol fcp -home-node <<var_node01>> -home-port <<var_node01_fcp_port2>> -status-admin up

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif fcp_lif02a -role data -data-protocol fcp -home-node <<var_node02>> -home-port <<var_node02_fcp_port1>> -status-admin up

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif fcp_lif02b -role data -data-protocol fcp -home-node <<var_node02>> -home-port <<var_node02_fcp_port2>> -status-admin up network interface show

Create NFS LIF

To create an NFS LIF, run the following commands:

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif nfs_infra_swap -role data -data-protocol nfs -home-node <<var_node01>> -home-port a0a-<<var_nfs_vlan_id>> -address <<var_node01_nfs_lif_infra_swap_ip>> -netmask <<var_node01_nfs_lif_infra_swap_mask>> -status-admin up -failoverpolicy broadcast-domain-wide -firewall-policy data -auto-revert true

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif nfs_infra_datastore_1 -role data -data-protocol nfs -home-node <<var_node02>> -home-port a0a-<<var_nfs_vlan_id>> -address <<var_node02_nfs_lif_infra_datastore_1_ip>> -netmask <<var_node02_nfs_lif_infra_datastore_1_mask>> -status-admin up -failover-policy broadcast-domain-wide -firewall-policy data -auto-revert true

network interface show

MetApp recommends creating a new LIF for each datastore.

Add Infrastructure SVM Administrator

To add the infrastructure SVM administrator and SVM administration LIF in the out-of-band management network, complete the following steps: 1. Run the following commands:

network interface create -vserver Infra-SVM -lif vsmgmt -role data -data-protocol none -home-node <<var_node02>> -home-port e0i -address <<var_svm_mgmt_ip>> -netmask <<var_svm_mgmt_mask>> -status-admin up -failover-policy broadcast-domain-wide -firewall-policy mgmt -autorevert true

The SVM management IP in this step should be in the same subnet as the storage cluster management IP.

2. Create a default route to allow the SVM management interface to reach the outside world.

network route create -vserver Infra-SVM -destination 0.0.0.0/0 -gateway <<var_svm_mgmt_gateway>>

network route show

3. Set a password for the SVM vsadmin user and unlock the user.

security login password -username vsadmin -vserver Infra-SVM Enter a new password: <<var_password>>

Enter it again: <<var_password>>

security login unlock -username vsadmin -vserver Infra-SVM

A cluster serves data through at least one and possibly multiple storage virtual machines (SVM). We have just gone through creating a single SVM. If you would like to configure your environment with multiple SVMs, this is a good time to create additional SVMs.

Server Configuration

Cisco UCS Base Configuration

This FlexPod deployment will show configuration steps for both the Cisco UCS 6332-16UP and Cisco UCS 6248UP Fabric Interconnects (FI) in a design that will support iSCSI as well as Fibre Channel direct attached connectivity to the NetApp AFF. Implementation of both of these protocols simultaneously should not be considered mandatory, and the selection of one or the other should be acceptable depending upon your environment and preferences. Configuration steps will be referenced for both fabric interconnects and will be called out by the specific model where steps have differed.

Perform Initial Setup of Cisco UCS 6332-16UP and 6248UP Fabric Interconnects for FlexPod Environments

This section provides detailed procedures for configuring the Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS) for use in a FlexPod environment. The steps are necessary to provision the Cisco UCS C-Series and B-Series servers and should be followed precisely to avoid improper configuration.

Cisco UCS 6332-16UP A

To configure the Cisco UCS for use in a FlexPod environment, complete the following steps:

1. Connect to the console port on the first Cisco UCS 6332-16UP fabric interconnect.

Enter the configuration method: console

Enter the setup mode; setup newly or restore from backup.(setup/restore)? setup

You have chosen to setup a new fabric interconnect? Continue? (y/n): y

Enforce strong passwords? (y/n) [y]: y

Enter the password for "admin": <<var_password>> Enter the same password for "admin": <<var_password>> Is this fabric interconnect part of a cluster (select 'no' for standalone)? (yes/no) [n]: y Which switch fabric (A|B): A Enter the system name: <<var_ucs_clustername>> Physical switch Mgmt0 IPv4 address: <<var_ucsa_mgmt_ip>> Physical switch Mgmt0 IPv4 netmask: <<var_ucsa_mgmt_mask>> IPv4 address of the default gateway: <<var_ucsa_mgmt_gateway>> Cluster IPv4 address: <<var_ucs_cluster_ip>> Configure DNS Server IPv4 address? (yes/no) [no]: y DNS IPv4 address: <<var_nameserver_ip>> Configure the default domain name? v Default domain name: <<var_dns_domain_name>> Join centralized management environment (UCS Central)? (yes/no) [n]: Enter Apply and save the configuration (select 'no' if you want to re-enter)? (yes/no): yes 2. Wait for the login prompt to make sure that the configuration has been saved.

Cisco UCS 6332-16UP B

To configure the Cisco UCS for use in a FlexPod environment, complete the following steps:

1. Connect to the console port on the second Cisco UCS 6332-16UP fabric interconnect.

Enter the configuration method: console Installer has detected the presence of a peer Fabric interconnect. This Fabric interconnect will be added to the cluster. Continue (y|n)? y Enter the admin password for the peer fabric interconnect: <<var_password>> Physical switch Mgmt0 IPv4 address: <<var_ucsb_mgmt_ip>> Apply and save the configuration (select 'no' if you want to re-enter)? (yes/no): y

2. Wait for the login prompt to make sure that the configuration has been saved.

3. Repeat these steps for the 6248 Fabric Interconnects.

Cisco UCS Setup

Log in to Cisco UCS Manager

💪 The steps are the same between the UCS 6332-16UP and the UCS 6248UP Fabric Interconnects unless otherwise noted

To log in to the Cisco Unified Computing System (UCS) environment, complete the following steps:

1. Open a web browser and navigate to the Cisco UCS fabric interconnect cluster address.

2. Click the Launch UCS Manager link to download the Cisco UCS Manager software.

- 3. If prompted to accept security certificates, accept as necessary.
- 4. When prompted, enter admin as the user name and enter the administrative password.
- 5. Click Login to log in to Cisco UCS Manager.

Upgrade Cisco UCS Manager Software to Version 3.1(1h)

This document assumes the use of Cisco UCS 3.1(1h). To upgrade the Cisco UCS Manager software and the Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect software to version 3.1(1h), refer to Cisco UCS Manager Install and Upgrade Guides.

Anonymous Reporting

To create anonymous reporting, complete the following step:

1. In the Anonymous Reporting window, select whether to send anonymous data to Cisco for improving future products:

Anonymous Reporting Cisco Systems, inc. will be collecting feature configuration and usa sent to Cisco Smart Call Home server anonymously. This data help and improvements that will most benefit our customers. If you decide to enable this feature in future, you can do so from the in the Call Home settings under the Admin tab. View Sample Data Do you authorize the disclosure of this information to Cisco Smart	ge statistics which will be s us prioritize the features "Anonymous Reporting" t CallHome?
Don't show this message again.	Circ Cancel

Add Block of IP Addresses for KVM Access

To create a block of IP addresses for in band server Keyboard, Video, Mouse (KVM) access in the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Pools > root > IP Pools.

3. Right-click IP Pool ext-mgmt and select Create Block of IPv4 Addresses.

4. Enter the starting IP address of the block and the number of IP addresses required, and the subnet and gateway information.

Creami Hoci	t of IPv4 Addresses.		x
Create a	Block of IPv4 Add	iresses	0
Fism	192 108 155 101	3928 (12 \$)	
Subnet Madk	266 255 295 0	Default Galeway 192 168 156 1	
Primary DNS	0.0.0.0	Secondary DNS 00.00	
mary ONS	0.0.0.0	Secondary DNS 0 0 0 0	
			OK Cancel

- 5. Click OK to create.
- 6. Click OK in the confirmation message.

Synchronize Cisco UCS to NTP

To synchronize the Cisco UCS environment to the NTP server, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Admin tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select All > Timezone Management.



and a second second

- 3. In the Properties pane, select the appropriate time zone in the Timezone menu.
- 4. Click Save Changes, and then click OK.
- 5. Click Add NTP Server.
- 6. Enter <<var_switch_a_ntp_ip>> and click OK.

Add NTP Server	x
Add NTP Server	0
NTP Server : 192.168.156.13	
	(ar) Court

7. Click Add NTP Server.

8. Enter <<var_switch_b_ntp_ip>> and click OK.

🛦 Add NTP Server	×
Add NTP Server	0
NTP Server [192.168.156.14	
	OK Carpel

9. Click OK.

Edit Chassis Discovery Policy

Setting the discovery policy simplifies the addition of B-Series Cisco UCS chassis and of additional fabric extenders for further C-Series connectivity. To modify the chassis discovery policy, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Equipment tab in the navigation pane and select Equipment in the list on the left.
- 2. In the right pane, click the Policies tab.

3. Under Global Policies, set the Chassis/FEX Discovery Policy to match the number of uplink ports that are cabled between the chassis or fabric extenders (FEXes) and the fabric interconnects.

4. Set the Link Grouping Preference to Port Channel.

* = 0:0 -= 100 million	Margari I. Mandarataki	
• • • •	a contraction of the second seco	
See (4)	Andrew (and provide a second sec	
	Marines Sector (Sectores (Sectores (Sectores))) Marines (Sectores)) Sector (Sectores)) Sector (Sectores)) Sector (Sectores))	
	Marine Street Control (Second Second	
		Inclusion (Institute)

- 5. Click Save Changes.
- 6. Click OK.

Enable FC Switching

To use direct attached Fibre Channel connectivity, the fabric interconnects will need to be placed in Fibre Channel Switching mode, by completing the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Equipment tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Expand Fabric Interconnects and select either Fabric Interconnect.

This next step will reboot both UCS Fabric Interconnects. If any servers are running on this system, they should be shut down before this step is executed.

3. In the Actions pane, select Set FC Switching Mode. Click Yes. Click OK.



- 4. After the Fabric Interconnects have rebooted, log back into UCS Manager.
- 5. Expand Fabric Interconnects and select Fabric Interconnects.
- 6. For each Fabric Interconnect, verify under Status that the FC Mode is now Switch.

Configure Unified Ports

100

Fibre Channel port configurations will slightly differ between the 6332-16UP and the 6248UP Fabric Interconnects. Both Fabric Interconnects will have a slider mechanism within the UCSM GUI interface, but the fibre channel port selection options for the 6332-16UP will be from the first 16 ports starting from the first port, and configured in increments of the first 6, 12, or all 16 of the unified ports. With the 6248UP, the port selection options will start from the upper end of the 32 fixed ports, or the upper end of the 16 ports of the expansion module, going down in contiguous increments of 2. To enable the fibre channel ports, complete the following steps for the 6322-16UP:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Equipment tab in the navigation pane.
 - 2. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect A (primary)
 - 3. Select Configure Unified Ports.
 - 4. Click Yes on the pop-up window warning that changes to the fixed module will require a reboot of the fabric interconnect and changes to the expansion module will require a reboot of that module.
 - 5. Within the Configured Fixed Ports pop-up window move the gray slider bar from the left to the right to select either 6, 12, or 16 ports to be set as FC Uplinks.

rectors peaker of the o	E line construction of the part	.		
14.011030.014.14	f at the skiller are 7129 Cherrysia	eria (Puntuk), kelak tana tana tana kent pa Grannal pe	9(8)A)	
	transport	If the p Part Classes Membership	AC COMPANY	
	-	(Netwidewind)	ar julia	
* 1	-	Understanding	AC uplose	
-4	100	Owinificand	ACIDANE C	
	and a	Unraritgenet	AC replical	
	adul (the projected	ACTORNAL C	
		Tell Cal		
127.	48-4	1. Proc. of the participation		
107	attar attar	Uniorficed		
167 168	alta alta alta	United participants United participants		
1427 1428 1429 1429	2 2 2 2	University University University Oncontent		
建了 建基 建築 建築 (11)	4 4 4 4	United parts United parts United parts United parts United parts		
167 168 169 169 161 161 161 161	4 4 4 4	Line anglesis Line anglesis Underligenst Underligenst Underligenst Underligenst		
NE 7 NE 8 NE 9 NE 10 NE 10 NE 12 NE 15	2 2 2 2 2 2	Univergene Univergene Univergene Univergene Univergene Univergene		
WE 7 WE 8 WE 8 WE 30 WE 30 WE 30 WE 31 WE 33 WE 33	4 4 4 4 4	Chronopens Chronopens Gravityand Uncertyand Chronopens Chronopens Chronopens Chronopens Chronopens Chronopens		

- 6. Click OK to continue
- 7. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect B (primary)
- 8. Select Configure Unified Ports.

9. Click Yes on the pop-up window warning that changes to the fixed module will require a reboot of the fabric interconnect and changes to the expansion module will require a reboot of that module.
- 10. Within the Configured Fixed Ports pop-up window move the gray slider bar from the left to the right to select either 6, 12, or 16 ports to be set as FC Uplinks.
- 11. Click OK to continue

To enable the fibre channel ports, complete the following steps for the 6248UP:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Equipment tab in the navigation pane.

- 2. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect A (primary)
- 3. Select Configure Unified Ports.
- 4. Click Yes on the pop-up window warning that changes to the fixed module will require a reboot of the fabric interconnect and changes to the expansion module will require a reboot of that module.
- Configure the Fixed Module Ports from the subsequent Configure Fixed Module Ports pop-up window, or click on the Configure Expansion Module Ports button to select from expansion module ports.
- 6. Within either option (Expansion Module shown below) move the gray slider bar from the right to the left selecting ports in increments of two to set as FC Uplinks.

and the second second second			
Configure	Expansion Mod	tule Ports	
1 Martin			100.00
		and the state of t	108
	14 14 14		
	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	E.s. Wit . Wit . Wit . With	
Contract of		CONTRACTOR CONTRACTORS IN THE	100
Concerned in the local division of the local	COMPRESSION OF THE OWNER		
		-	
-			
and to find			
Instructions The public she		al the parts. All post datas, and we produce the right as Take Charme posts to	1004
The public of the function	a ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang an	al Dan Balan and a the particular transport are Taken Charrier and a al particular and a stranger particular transport are transport and the second area and a stranger particular a	
Andreadore Transport of	n ander anderstand für Lyn e all er bei soller an Effert	al De Balla, este de parte de capitan film Charre parte	No.
Handback of Sector	te able concesses the same a character and concesses the	arthe parts. Algoed (Baa) while the particle the cipit are Tales Charme parts i If Robert Part Charmed Hands — Societ 11 Rules	-
And	te elde ambergene file lys e alt ette soler av Etter Trainget elle	al The Deff. Algorith (Data) while the particle for optime Theory Channel (Data) of Phillips of Part (Channel Phank) - Channel (Theory channel Spart)	
Hard Andread State	t different for de la company de la company de la company de la company	al The parts. all print all sole are an excision for capit per Files Charrie parts i all print all sole of Parts Charried Parts	
The average of the second of t	n ander onderstenden for Lyne e och trede onder one Erent offen offen offen	United parts. All the parts. With the analysis the control part part Takes Charmer parts i U Robert C Part Charmed Parts	tveni
And a second of the second of	Tables Control (A)	All Ten Grift, digital Black when the particle her options Theo Charme Looks of Male of Part Charmed Parals - Social II fields - Social Special - Social Special - Social Special - Social Special	Parana i
Hard Andrew Control of Management of Managem	Transact Transact dis dis dis dis dis	Character al Dan parts al parts (Base) and a the part to be capit por Taxo Charme parts) if these of Parts (Second Heads), Second (Finally Married Parts) An antiparts An antiparts An antiparts An antiparts An antiparts An antiparts An antiparts An antiparts	Pagewi
The associated at the first sector of the se	Protocol Protocol Protocol Control Protocol Protocol Control Protocol Control	If the Definition of the products the regard per Table Channel (and in the products the regard per Table Channel (and in the regard per Table Channel (and in the regard per table Channel (and interval)) and the regard of the regard (and interval) and the regard (and interval) and the regard (and interval)) and the regard (and interval) and the regard (and interval)) and the regard (and interval)).	Notes:
And Annual Annua	Patient and the last of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state	Character all the parts all print all and a the part to be capit any first Character parts all these of Post Character Denks - Social (1) Rate all configured all configured	Ny que

(Induction International Contraction Contraction) (Ann.) (Seco.)

- 7. Click Finish.
- 8. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect B (subordinate)
- 9. Select Configure Unified Ports
- 10. Click Yes on the pop-up window warning that changes to the fixed module will require a reboot of the fabric interconnect and changes to the expansion module will require a reboot of that module.
- Configure the Fixed Module Ports from the subsequent Configure Fixed Module Ports pop-up window, or click on the Configure Expansion Module Ports button to select from expansion module ports.
- 12. Within either option move the gray slider bar from the right to the left selecting ports in increments of two to set as FC Uplinks.
- 13. Click Finish.

Enable FC Storage Ports

To enable FC ports, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Equipment tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect A (primary) > Fixed Module. (or Expansion Module if FC ports were selected from the
- Expansion Module in the 6248UP)
- 3. Expand FC Ports.

4. Select ports that are connected to the FC ports on the storage controllers, (this will be ports 1 and 2 in our 6332-16UP example and ports 15 and 16 of the Expansion Module in our 6248UP example), right-click them, and select Configure as FC Storage Port. Click Yes to confirm.

5. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect B (subordinate) > Fixed Module. (or Expansion Module if FC ports were selected from the Expansion Module in the 6248UP)

6. Expand FC Ports.

7. Select ports that are connected to the FC ports on the storage controllers, (this will be ports 1 and 2 in our 6332-16UP example and ports 15 and 16 of the Expansion Module in our 6248UP example), right-click them, and select Configure as FC Storage Port. Click Yes to confirm.

Enable Server and Uplink Ports

- To enable server and uplink ports, complete the following steps:
- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Equipment tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect A (primary) > Fixed Module.
- 3. Expand Ethernet Ports.

4. Select the ports that are connected to the chassis, and Cisco FEX, and direct connect UCS C-Series servers, right-click them, and select "Configure as Server Port."

- 5. Click Yes to confirm server ports and click OK.
- 6. Verify that the ports connected to the chassis, C-series servers and Cisco FEX are now configured as server ports.
- 7. Select ports 31 and 32 that are connected to the Cisco Nexus switches, right-click them, and select Configure as Uplink Port.

The last 6 ports of the UCS 6332 and UCS 6332-16UP FIs will only work with optical based QSFP transceivers and AOC cables, so they can be better utilized as uplinks to upstream resources that might be optical only.

	1	1000			•2		
frank and and		8	- money	Alex. Bee	are arrested	1100.0000	-
a start	1.000	-	Contract of the local division of the local	1000	100	V42804	and page
al American			is the sector.	Contraction of the local division of the loc	Annual .	R annument	Finance
· Approximate		-Carlos	to mission of the	(Contraction)	Print I	W Partner Travel	F course
		Acres 1	IN PROCESSION	Contractory of the local division of the loc	- Anna -	Verninger	- Chinese
		4-40	18 POLISION.	pringer.	Police	R Inchestration	A contrast
		- Bart	In the local data and	- management	Profest.	+ checken	1 (manual
		· Buck to	IN PRIMORE	Concerning of the local division of the loca	Proved Inc.	# same	1 town
		Margarian .	In Proceedings	and the second s	Pare .	Withinson.	Almen
		4000	100000		diverse in the second	Waterstein	A training
		C Middle	in this spinar	- David	- Frank	Tix	Altain.
			of the second second		(Phane)	114	1 Kines
	+++	4111e			in the det		

8. Click Yes to confirm uplink ports and click OK.

9. Select Equipment > Fabric Interconnects > Fabric Interconnect B (subordinate) > Fixed Module.

10. Expand Ethernet Ports.

11. Select the ports that are connected to the chassis, C-series servers or to the Cisco 2232 FEX (two per FEX), right-click them, and select Configure as Server Port.

- 12. Click Yes to confirm server ports and click OK.
- 13. Select ports 19 and 20 that are connected to the Cisco Nexus switches, right-click them, and select Configure as Uplink Port.

14. Click Yes to confirm the uplink ports and click OK.

Acknowledge Cisco UCS Chassis and FEX

To acknowledge all Cisco UCS chassis and any external 2232 FEX modules, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Equipment tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Expand Chassis and select each chassis that is listed.
- 3. Right-click each chassis and select Acknowledge Chassis.



- 4. Click Yes and then click OK to complete acknowledging the chassis.
- 5. If the Nexus 2232 FEX is part of the configuration, expand Rack Mounts and FEX.
- 6. Right-click each FEX that is listed and select Acknowledge FEX.
- 7. Click Yes and then click OK to complete acknowledging the FEX.

Create Uplink Port Channels to Cisco Nexus Switches

To configure the necessary port channels out of the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 💪 In this procedure, two port channels are created: one from fabric A to both Cisco Nexus switches and one from fabric B to both Cisco Nexus switches.
- 2. Under LAN > LAN Cloud, expand the Fabric A tree.
- 3. Right-click Port Channels.
- 4. Select Create Port Channel.
- 5. Enter 13 as the unique ID of the port channel.
- 6. Enter vPC-13-Nexus as the name of the port channel.
- 7. Click Next.

survey front Departments		
Unified	Computing System Manager	
a fad ji small	Set Part Charactel Name	
- but had it much	*(*)	
- Jageman	new (PC10mm	
		CONTRACTOR OF A

- 8. Select the following ports to be added to the port channel:
 - Slot ID 1 and port 31
 - Slot ID 1 and port 32
- 9. Click >> to add the ports to the port channel.
- 10. Click Finish to create the port channel.
- 11. Click OK.
- 12. In the navigation pane, under LAN > LAN Cloud, expand the fabric B tree.
- 13. Right-click Port Channels.
- 14. Select Create Port Channel.
- 15. Enter 14 as the unique ID of the port channel.
- 16. Enter vPC-14-Nexus as the name of the port channel.
- 17. Click Next.
- 18. Select the following ports to be added to the port channel:
 - Slot ID 1 and port 31
 - Slot ID 1 and port 32
- 19. Click >> to add the ports to the port channel.
- $\label{eq:20.2} \textbf{Click Finish to create the port channel.}$
- 21. Click OK.

Create a WWNN Pool for FC Boot

To configure the necessary WWNN pool for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps on Cisco UCS Manager.

- 1. Select the SAN tab on the left.
- 2. Select Pools > root.
- 3. Right-click WWNN Pools under the root organization.
- 4. Select Create WWNN Pool to create the WWNN pool.
- 5. Enter WWNN_Pool for the name of the WWNN pool.
- 6. Optional: Enter a description for the WWNN pool.
- 7. Select Sequential for Assignment Order.

L'Insuis WWMR Puck			x
Unified Co	omputing	System Manager	
Create WWIN Pop	Define Name	e and Description	0
5 Define Rome and Description 2. Juni 1999 Dece	Nano	WISNIN_Pool	
2 J and some means	Ausgeward Otion	O Defaul 💽 Desparate	
		(alterna) (Juntara) (hin) Line.

- 8. Click Next.
- 9. Click Add.
- 10. Modify the From field as necessary for the UCS Environment.

Modifications of the WWN block, as well as the WWPN and MAC Addresses, can convey identifying information for the UCS domain. Within the From field in our example, the 6th octet was changed from 00 to 91 to represent as identifying information for this being in building 9 on the 1st floor, and the 7th octet was changed from 00 to 10 to represent our first UCS domain.

Also, when having multiple UCS domains sitting in adjacency, it is important that these blocks, the WWN, WWPN, and MAC hold differing values between each set.

11. Specify a size of the WWNN block sufficient to support the available server resources.

VANN Proc	A did tension mile of a	×	
Dates have	Create WWN Block		14
	Fren 20.00.00.21.00.91.10.00 Base (12 4)	LESS	110.98
	To ensure uniqueness of WWAs in the SAN Nonc, you are shongly enco the following WWA prefix	uraged to use	
	20-80-50-25-b5-xx xx xx		
		K. Carel	

12. Click OK.

Create WWPN Pools

To configure the necessary WWPN pools for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the SAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Pools > root.
- 3. In this procedure, two WWPN pools are created, one for each switching fabric.

- 4. Right-click WWPN Pools under the root organization.
- 5. Select Create WWPN Pool to create the WWPN pool.
- 6. Enter ${\tt WWPN_Pool_A}$ as the name of the WWPN pool.
- 7. Optional: Enter a description for the WWPN pool.
- 8. Select Sequential for Assignment Order.

Nate WWPN Pool	Define Nam	e and Description	
1 Define Name and	Name	WWPN Pool A	
2. VAM WWW Blocks	Description		
	Assignment Croser	O Debut @ Sequental	

- 9. Click Next.
- 10. Click Add.
- 11. Specify a starting WWPN.

For the FlexPod solution, the recommendation is to place 0A in the next-to-last octet of the starting WWPN to identify all of the WWPNs as fabric A addresses. Merging this with the pattern we used for the WWNN we see a WWPN block starting with 20:00:00:25:B5:91:1A:00.



- 13. Click OK.
- 14. Click Finish.
- 15. In the confirmation message, click OK.
- 16. Right-click WWPN Pools under the root organization.
- 17. Select Create WWPN Pool to create the WWPN pool.
- 18. Enter ${\tt WWPN_Pool_B}$ as the name of the WWPN pool.
- 19. Optional: Enter a description for the WWPN pool.
- 20. Select Sequential for Assignment Order.

		33
omputing	System Manager	
Define Name	and Description	
Name	WWPN_Pool_B	
Assignment Drokr	O Debut @ Recentar	
	annual annual annual annual	
	(a thin) (had a) (how	Land Land
	Define Name Define Name Descriptor	Define Name and Description

23. Specify a starting WWPN.

For the FlexPod solution, the recommendation is to place OB in the next-to-last octet of the starting WWPN to identify all of the WWPNs as fabric A addresses. Merging this with the pattern we used for the WWNN we see a WWPN block starting with 20:00:00:25:B5:91:1AB:00.

24. Specify a size for the WWPN address pool that is sufficient to support the available blade or server resources.

Wall to Part	A Crase WWH IBoa	x	4
Calles Barr	Create WWN Block		σ.
	Plane 20:00:00:25 86 91 18:35 Size (33) 2	5.05 8	CIR.U.
	To ensure unspanness of WWHILIN THE SAN fallers, you are strongly encounter foreward, wWN prefix.	raged to use	
	20:00:00:25:35:36:32:32:31	- 10	

- 25. Click OK.
- 26. Click Finish.
- 27. In the confirmation message, click OK.

Create VSANs

To configure the necessary virtual storage area networks (VSANs) for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the SAN tab in the navigation pane.

In this procedure, two VSANs are created.

- 2. Select SAN > SAN Cloud.
- 3. Right-click VSANs.
- 4. Select Create VSAN.
- 5. Enter ${\tt VSAN}_{\tt A}$ as the name of the VSAN to be used for Fabric A
- 6. Select Enabled for FC Zoning.
- 7. Select Fabric A.

8. Enter a unique VSAN ID and a corresponding FCoE VLAN ID. It is recommended use the same ID for both parameters and to use something other than 1.

Crimer VSAN	3
Create VSAN	
Name VSAN A. PC Zoong Settings	
PC Zonny (C) Disense (Einenen) Die MOT wales hold zeitige Pfleint Internetwerke onnweite	nte an aplikan KCPCall salet
Conversion (Conversion of Conversion) Frances (Conversion)	Configurat Differents
You are overlag a local VEXN in Some A Balt-Reports a VSAR ID that works proy in Some A.	KINLAW can be used to carry PCoE traffic and can be marged to this VSAN
Enterthe VSAN C that maps to the VSAN	Street the YILAH ID that maps to this VISAN
VEAKED 101	PEBE VLAN 101
	- GK Gancal

- 9. Click OK, and then click OK again.
- 10. Under SAN Cloud, right-click VSANs.
- 11. Select Create VSAN.
- 12. Enter ${\tt VSAN}_{\tt B}$ as the name of the VSAN to be used for Fabric B.
- 13. Select Enabled for FC Zoning.
- 14. Select Fabric B.
- 15. Enter a unique VSAN ID and a corresponding FCoE VLAN ID. It is recommended use the same ID for both parameters and to use something other than 1.

A Create VSW	*
Create VSAN	. *
Name (VSAN_B) PC Zonny Februss PC Zonny () Diamet () Format () Do NOT anable total zonny charte emissionem is convert	nits an upamam PCPColl seren.
C SmmunSkitat C Table 4 B False: B C Beth Falses	Sylpest Differently
You are rouging a race VEAN in Service B that maps to a VEAN ID that ensult only in Service B	A VEAN can be used to carry PCall table are can be mapped to the VEAN
Green the VSAN ED that maps to this VSAN	Enter the VLAN (2) that maps in this VILAN
VEALD (402	ROSE VLAM (10
	(B) (B)
	OK Cancel

- 16. Click OK, and then click OK again.
- 17. Under Storage Cloud, right-click VSANs.
- 18. Select Create Storage VSAN.
- 19. Enter ${\tt VSAN}_{\tt A}$ as the name of the VSAN to be used for Fabric A.
- 20. Select Enabled for FC Zoning.
- 21. Select Fabric A.
- 22. Enter the same unique VSAN ID and corresponding FCoE VLAN ID that you entered for Fabric A above.

A Cruzz Interage \$549	
Create Storage VSAN	1
name : VSAN_A PC Zweing Settings PC Zweing : O Deather @ Enames Do NOT enable local zamog Plants missionmectic camerics	el la se common PCPC of sector.
) Communification (a) Factors A () Factors D () Both Factors (Integrand Differently
ttus ana creating a locar i Tañi in Talici A But maps to a TSAN SC Ital a cintum () in Talici A Giner the TSAN SC Ital maps to this YSAN	A VCAH can be credit crarty PSVE traffic and can be happed to the VCAH. Enter the VCAH ID that maps to this VCAN.
vew.d (0)	ROLEVILAR 121
	as law

- 23. Click OK, and then click OK again.
- 24. Under Storage Cloud, right-click VSANs.
- 25. Select Create Storage VSAN.
- 26. Enter VSAN_B as the name of the VSAN to be used for Fabric B.
- 27. Select Enabled for FC Zoning.
- 28. Select Fabric B.
- 29. Enter the same unique VSAN ID and corresponding FCoE VLAN ID that you entered for Fabric B above.

A Draw Dange VIAN	,
Create Storage VSAN	0
Neme VSAN_B	
PC Zoong Settings PC Zoong (C) Disates (E) Engine (Do NOT estate acid going Pfather Intervented is converse	et to an usersen PCPColl server.
C Commercision C Family & Family C Ref Family	Configured Differently
You are creating a local VSAN in failing 5 that maps is a YSAN K5 that entits only in failing 8.	A VLAN can be used to carry PCoE taffs and can be mapped to the VSAN
Driver this 'n SMA ID that maps to this VSMA	Enter the VLAN ID that maps to this VDAN
VSAND 102	FEDEVLAN 112
	OK. Cancel

30. Click OK, and then click OK again.

Assign VSANs to FC Storage Ports

To assign the necessary virtual storage area networks (VSANs) to the FC Storage Ports for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the SAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select SAN > Storage Cloud.
- 3. Expand Fabric A and Storage FC Interfaces.
- 4. Right-click FC Interface 1/1 for the 6332-16UP or 2/15 in the 6248UP and select Storage FC Interface.
- 5. Set the User Label to the storage controller name and port that this interface is connected to.
- 6. Select VSAN_A(101) as the VSAN.

and a second sec	Preparties			
-	.8		.9410	9.
The state of the s	Fance	*		
	Electronic Control of	the Prop	7710.7725	
	and the second	in the second se	Contract Type	-
	Local Contract	famous .		Storage .
	1.27			And And a first and a lower of the set
		Fabric Alvaan VSAN A (101)	Pri Princi	C 414 (\$ 314
		Fabric Dualiysan-default (1)		

- 8. Expand Fabric A and Storage FC Interfaces.
- 9. Right-click FC Interface 1/2 for the 6332-16UP or 2/16 in the 6248UP and select Storage FC.
- 10. Set the User Label to the storage controller name and port that this interface is connected to.
- 11. Select VSAN_A (101) as the VSAN.

R Farsti Incluse	-		
Aars 8: Idef Later	*		
(ind Long			
	T SRAE (2) Ge		
9117304	PRINCIP	Names 7,00	Ase .
New York	N	1.00	Streep
10.07	Errorat.	100	Annual Alex (1998 \$1998 \$
11048	[275. https://246.417078.4]	An Australia	Dan g and
	Faim Avent V545, 4 (10)		
	Patro Durivan tetak (1)		
	Surgert Type Score 1000	Nervent faile: N Score: States States Patter Averan Model, 4 (19) Patter Dialiman Schol, 9 (1) Patter Dialiman Schol, 9 (1)	Nament Fair (N. Bor Scotter, Dentered, and Scotter (N. Bor States, Arrays VSAB, A. (19) Fairs, Dath-son (State) (1)

12. Click OK.

- 13. Expand Fabric B and Storage FC Interfaces.
- 14. Right-click FC Interface 1/1 for the 6332-16UP or 2/15 in the 6248UP and select Storage FC.
- 15. Set the User Label to the storage controller name and port that this interface is connected to.

16. Select $\texttt{VSAN}_\texttt{B}\,(102)$ as the VSAN.

Artiste	Desparties			
	II Faint II Cont Later For Type Service Type Litree Collect	1 March 10 M	Ban di Inggesore Type Ryte Part 	t ter Norse Server Server
		han: Soline end (I)		

- 18. Expand Fabric B and Storage FC Interfaces.
- 19. Right-click FC Interface 1/2 for the 6332-16UP or 2/16 in the 6248UP and select Storage FC.
- 20. Set the User Label to the storage controller name and port that this interface is connected to.
- 21. Select VSAN_B(102) as the VSAN.

	Properties			
		8	1997	×
-Street barber	Terrati	+		
	1045.84	Har-RD B		
	Pethan	Photo: 4	A	Ase .
	hearthe	-B	Are	Storage .
	10.094	External	100	and which down () are the part of the
	view.	See hour WALLING	-	
		Pater Balliner relativit		

22. Click OK.

Create Storage Connection Policies for FC Zoning

To create Storage Connection Policies for the FC Zoning, complete the following steps:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the SAN tab in the navigation pane.

- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click Storage Connection Policies.
- 4. Select Create Storage Connection Policy.
- 5. Enter ${\tt Infra-Fabric-A}$ as the name of the policy.
- 6. Select the Single Initiator Multiple Targets Zoning Type.
- 7. Click the Plus Sign on the right to add a zoning target.
- 8. Enter the WWPN for [fcp_lif01_63a or fcp_lif01_62a] from the storage cluster. This WWPN can be obtained by logging into the storage cluster CLI and entering the network interface show -vserver Infra-SVM command.
- 9. Select Path A and VSAN_A.

A Deservici	larger Endpoint		х
Create F	C Target Endpoint		0
WEPN	2010/09/00/06/10 44:00		
Descriptor . Fize	±400		
Gelect VDAN		Costs Dougs VWI	
			OK Cancel

11. Click the Plus Sign on the right to add a second zoning target.

12. Enter the WWPN for [fcp_lif02_63a or fcp_lif02_62a] from the storage cluster. This WWPN can be obtained by logging into the storage cluster CLI and entering the network interface show -vserver Infra-SVM command.

13.	Select	Path A	and	VSAN_A.

A Dwe K: tege letjen	×
Create FC Target Endpoint	.0
WARN 2007 BLACK HOLD AND Description Faile (SACR) Selections (Converting of 12 Description	Course Horson Weeks
Click OK.	OK Gnos
🛦 Çinale Sanaye Gareerika Policy)
Create Storage Connection Policy	0
Name (MraiFabri A	
Searchar :	
Source Tope (Chore C) Single Induty Single Target () Single Indut	of Silulizate Tangets

14

Canada Statinger Commerciales Policy			0
Create Storage Connec	tion Policy		6
Name Info-Fabri A			
Description			
FC Target Evaluation	mon zuche rachel (4) zuche acom	or surgers (angels	
ditter attent direct			102
and a second	2 sta	1944	
20 08 50 AD 56 50 44.95	*	VSAN_A	
	Direct (1.100	- 1 m .	
			OK Cancel

15. Click OK, and then click OK again.

16. Right-click Storage Connection Policies.

17. Select Create Storage Connection Policy

18. Enter Infra-Fabric-B as the name of the policy.

19. Select the Single Initiator Multiple Targets Zoning Type.

20. Click the Plus Sign on the right to add a zoning target.

21. Enter the WWPN for [fcp_lif01_63b or fcp_lif01_62b] from the storage cluster. This WWPN can be obtained by logging into the storage cluster CLI and entering the network interface show -vserver Infra-SVM command.

22. Select Path B and VSAN_B.

A (mail)(1	Serger Dreballet		×
Create F	C Target Endpoint		0
WIDN Desciption Fath Select VSAN		Costs Rouge Ville	
			OK Cancel

27

24. Click the Plus Sign on the right to add a second zoning target.

25. Enter the WWPN for [fcp_lif02_63b or fcp_lif02_62b] from the storage cluster. This WWPN can be obtained by logging into the storage cluster CLI and entering the network interface show -vserver Infra-SVM command.

26.	Select	Path	В	and	VSAN_	В.

Control Congects	444		
Create FC Tar	get Endpoint		
WAPN 2218	00 40 00 10 44 90		
Descriptor			
Path DAG	8.8		
BENETVEAN (VSA)	COMPLEXES	Coate Strapt Visite	
			OK Cance
ick OK.			
Cover through the	eactore Policy		3
Create Storag	eactors Policy The Connection Policy		
Create Storag	rector Poly re Connection Policy facts 8		
Create Storag	rector Policy re Connection Policy facts 8		
Deve through the Create Storag Name (1952) Deve the Deve (1952)	reaction Policy re Connection Policy failed &	Nation Talapete	
Create Storage Name (Infra- Description) Storage (Online To Report Endported	naction Policy ne Connection Policy Faire 8 	natur tauttejan fangets	
Create Storage Name (artist Description (Storag Tax) () has IC Target Endpoints A frian arbeit	naction Policy Takes 8 Takes 8 Takes 9 Takes	natur taumuse fangets	
Create Storage Name (Infra- Descration (Storag Tax) (No IC Target Endports A Prime arborit Sauces	reaction Policy Face: 8 The O Stops what to be Tagel (a) Stops to all the Tagel	Natur Na. Myley Tangets	
Create Storage Care Create Storage Name (Info) Description (Create Endpoints Create Endpoints Create Endpoints Create Endpoints Create Endpoints Create Endpoints Create Endpoints Create Endpoints Create Endpoints Create Endpoints	eaction Policy Table: 4 Table: 4 Table: 4 Table: 4 Table: 5 Table: 5 T	Natur No. Major Tangerts VII.44 L.B	а а-

Add (Stante (S and

28. Click OK, and then click OK again.

Create vHBA Templates

To create the necessary virtual host bus adapter (vHBA) templates for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the SAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click vHBA Templates.
- 4. Select Create vHBA Template.
- 5. Enter <code>vHBA_Template_A</code> as the vHBA template name.
- 6. Keep Fabric A selected.
- 7. Select VSAN_A.
- 8. Leave Initial Template as the Template Type.
- 9. Select WWPN Pool A as the WWPN Pool.

OK Cancel

Create vHBA T	emplate	
Alarma .		
	sHBA_Template_A	
Desception		
Fator: ID	OAOB	
SelectVSAN	VSANLA * D Create VSAN	
Template Type	(g) Hitel Templane () statisting Templane	
Max Data Felit: Sch	2648	
WWFN Post	WAPN_Pool_A(32/52) *	
QoS Pater	<not set-<="" td=""><td></td></not>	
Perditorp	-101 MC-	
Mails Triviation Palicy	cettur +	
CoS Palicy Per Oroco Mit Trevencio Palicy	-001940 (00140200) *	

- 16. Select VSAN_B.
- 17. Leave Initial Template as the Template Type.
- 18. Select WWPN_Pool_B as the WWPN Pool.
- 19. Click OK to create the vHBA template.
- 20. Click OK.

Nate	sHBA_Template_B	
Description		
Fabri ID	OA@B	
Select VGAN	VS4N_B ¥ 🖬 Create VSAN	
Jeating ()te	(B) same persons () connect persons	
Max Data Field Box	2648	
WWFN Feet	WWPN_Pool_B(32/52) *	
QUS Policy	<not set-<="" td=""><td></td></not>	
Pti Group	-mail safe-	
Stats Triviation Palicy	cefaut +	

Create SAN Connectivity Policy

During testing, iSCSI vNICs and FC vHBAs were deployed to all hosts regardless of boot policy used. The FC vHBA interfaces can be left out for environments configured to utilize iSCSI for boot and data.

To configure the necessary Infrastructure SAN Connectivity Policy, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the SAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select SAN > Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click SAN Connectivity Policies.
- 4. Select Create SAN Connectivity Policy.
- 5. Enter Infra-SAN-Policy as the name of the policy.
- 6. Select the previously created WWNN_Pool for the WWNN Assignment.

	COLUMN AND A		
Crews Hith	1		
Create vHB	IA		0
Tap Lane della Tempo El Coudo erettà 1 eretta Template Adapter Perform Adapter Perform	na Tablic A na X registra (restate [4] (restate [4] (restate [4] (restate [4] (restate [4] (restate [4])	Could Nov Council Adultor Nov	

11. In the Adapter Policy list, select VMWare.

7. Click the Add button at the bottom to add a vHBA.

9. Select the Use vHBA Template checkbox.

8. In the Create vHBA dialog box, enter Fabric-A as the name of the vHBA.

12. Click OK.

- 13. Click the Add button at the bottom to add a second vHBA.
- 14. In the Create vHBA dialog box, enter Fabric-B as the name of the vHBA.
- 15. Select the Use vHBA Template checkbox.

16. In the vHBA Template list, select vHBA_Template_B.

A Cross DAY Law	nerdiate Poters		
Construction			*
Create vHB	A		0
Tan Like of GA Tempor of GA Temporal Adaptes Partners Adaptes Partners	Patro-8 Pat	Com this Canet Islatic Files	(A) (Jeen
			LOL LAND

Create SAN Connectivity Policy Name Windo SANI-Policy Description Annual Policy Description Annual Policy Windo Andre Policy Image: Policy Image: Policy Image: Policy		a commentantly reality			
Nome Wis-SAN Policy Descendari A prove to charaftere or a SAN by its Work Note Name (WWWW, Specify have the cyclere descend alonge a WWW to the server associated its the transmittered alonge a WWW to the server associated with the server associated with the server associated associated associated associated with the server associated with the server associated with the server associated with the server associated associated with the server associated with t	Create S	AN Connecti	ivity Policy		1.3
	Name	West-SAN-Policy			
A parve is the finder that 2000 for the Verter Week Name (WWW). Specify have the system should assay a WWW is the server associated with WWW is that Week Name (WWW). Power 2012: WWWN, Power 2012: WWWN, Power 2012: The WWWN, we analyzed have the power of power in the server associated associated with the server associated associated associated with the server associated associated associated with the server associated associated associated associated with the server associated associated with the server associated associated associated associated associated associated with the server associated associated with the server associated associated associated associated associated associated with the server associated associated associated with the server associated associ	Description				
WMNN Assignment WMNN (Mont3252) * It can make be assigned from the period pair. The standardedial WMNN's are displayed after the poor name. * Name WMNN * Standardedial WMNN's are displayed after the poor name. Name WMNN * Standardedial WMNN's are displayed after the poor name. Name WMNN * Standardedial WMNN's are displayed after the poor name.	A server is ider with this profile World Wide H	niffed on a SAN to de Tode Name	Vord Wox Note Name (WWWW)	Specify how the system around assign a Will	All to the server associated
E Come sentences The WANN's with the assessment from the senanched point. The analization that "WANN's are interpret after fre point name. Name * - E status Fadors: - D = - E status Fadors: - D = - E status Fadors: - A = - E status Fadors: - A	was	N Assignment	WWWIL Point 2020		
The WMMI will be assigned from the serviced point The analisation of WMMI's are displayed after the point name. Name • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	11 10	and strength lines.			
De Wildlich wit de assegreet fors the serected and The analishtetical Wildlice en displayed after the poor name. Itanie •	1.200				
The analytic bill WWW is set displayed after the poor name.	The W	Which will be assigned	hold the selected past.		
Name • S vieta Fajoric 6 • S vieta Fajoric 6 • S vieta Fajoric 7 • S	The pil	ulabelizia WWNe y	ele intellayer, after His anci marte		
Name + - B united Fadors & Defined + - B united Fadors A Fadors A Fadors A					
Name www. + - B units False & Defined B units False A Fa					
Name WWW + - B units False & Defined + - B units False A False Defined False A Fals					
tares - S viela faoro d - S viela faoro d - S viela faoro A Pannad () Inner () An (), were					
The state A factor of Defined The state The state A The state A The state A The state A					
Dense D Ant 12 mars	Name			1 0000	
In the second se	Name + -B units	Fabric-B		wwww. Defined	
In the second se	tane • - unter • - unter	Fabric B Fabric A		Defined Particul	
These B An Taxon	tarie • - Evilla • Evilla	Fabric-B Fabric-A		Defined Period	
These B An Taxon	tane + d vitta + d vitta	Fabric-B Fabric-A		Defined Period	
These BAR Shoes	tare 1 dutta 1 dutta	Fabric-B Fabric A		Defined Period	
These Base Street	tare • - Conta • - Conta	Fabric-B Fabric-A		Defined Percent	
	tane + Canta + Canta	Fabric-B Fabric-A		Defined Period	
T may 1 1 million	tane + - Conta + - Conta	Fabric-B Fabric A	_bes I	Martine Constant	

19. Click OK to create the SAN Connectivity Policy.

20. Click OK to confirm creation.

17. In the Adapter Policy list, select VMWare.

Create MAC Address Pools

To configure the necessary MAC address pools for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.

2. Select Pools > root.

In this procedure, two MAC address pools are created, one for each switching fabric.

- 3. Right-click MAC Pools under the root organization.
- 4. Select Create MAC Pool to create the MAC address pool.
- 5. Enter MAC_Pool_A as the name of the MAC pool.
- 6. Optional: Enter a description for the MAC pool.
- 7. Select Sequential as the option for Assignment Order.

Cinate MAC Post			
Unified Co	omputing	System Manager	
Devade 66AC Post	Define Name	e and Description	40
1. V Doften Name and Description 2. V Ald NAC Adverse	Narre	MAC_Pool_A	
2. V ALC IDIC ADDITION	Ausgement Order	O Defect (a) Bequerital	
		(1996) (March (19	sant rouse

8. Click Next.

9. Click Add.

10. Specify a starting MAC address.

For the FlexPod solution, the recommendation is to place 0A in the next-to-last octet of the starting MAC address to identify all of the MAC addresses as fabric A addresses. In our example, we have carried forward the of also embedding the extra building, floor and UCS domain number information giving us 00:25:B5:91:1A:00 as our first MAC address.

11. Specify a size for the MAC address pool that is sufficient to support the available blade or server resources.

ic Phil	Add MAC Addresses	
Course a Block to	(NAC Addresses	×
Create a Blo	ock of MAC Addresses	
FISEMAC ADDIESS	00.25.55.91.1A.00 St28 32 2	
To ensure uniquese prefic: 06:25:85:33:33:33	as of MACs in the LAN fabric, you are strongly encouraged to use the	following MAC
To ensure uniquete prefix 88:25:85:33:33:34	as of MACs in the LAN fachic, you are strongly encouraged to use the	Nitoeing MAC
To answer uniquene prefix BR-295-BR-sector and	as of MACs in the LAN fachic, you are strongly encouraged to use the	(OS) (Grod)
To ansuna uniquene prefix BR-29-89-39-39-39	as of MACs in The LAN Solid: you are strongly encouraged to use The	Nitoeing MAC

12. Click OK.

- 13. Click Finish.
- 14. In the confirmation message, click OK.
- 15. Right-click MAC Pools under the root organization.
- 16. Select Create MAC Pool to create the MAC address pool.
- 17. Enter MAC_Pool_B as the name of the MAC pool.
- 18. Optional: Enter a description for the MAC pool.

CHEAN MAC POOR			
Unified Co	omputing	System Manager	
Insulte MAC Post	Define Name and Description		-0
 Confirm Name and Description Jaid Mic Aktiones 	Kone Description Assoprement Onlar	MAC_Pool_B	
		· Per list.v. 70	uh Cene

19. Click Next.

20. Click Add.

21. Specify a starting MAC address.

For the FlexPod solution, it is recommended to place 0B in the next to last octet of the starting MAC address to identify all the MAC addresses in this pool as fabric B addresses. Once again, we have carried forward in our example of also embedding the extra building, floor and UCS domain number information giving us 00:25:B5:91:1B:00 as our first MAC address.

22. Specify a size for the MAC address pool that is sufficient to support the available blade or server resources.

Create a Block of MAC Addresses FishMAC Address FishMAC Addres FishMAC Address FishMAC Addres FishMAC Address FishMAC	C Poll	Add MAC Addresses
Create a Block of MAC Addresses	Create a Block of	MAC Addresses
RightMAC Adatesis 002 m bit 1000 Bate 22 B To ensure uniqueness of MACs in the LAN facts, you are strongly encouraged to use the following MAC prefix. Ref 20 BB security	Create a Blo	ck of MAC Addresses 0
To ensure uniqueness of MACs in the LAW facts, you are strongly encouraged to use the following MAC greats: greats: 86:35:80:xxxxx rel		
	First MAC Abstrate	00.25.85.91.18.00 Rite 12 4
(3K) (.084	FostNAC Address To ensure uniqueness prefix 00-25-86-xx.xx.xx	of 25 th bit 10 cd Bate (32 4)

- 23. Click OK.
- 24. Click Finish.
- 25. In the confirmation message, click OK.

Create IQN Pools for iSCSI Boot

- To configure the necessary IQN pools for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps.
- 1. In the UCS Manager, select the SAN tab on the left.
- 2. Select Pools > root.
- 3. Right-click IQN Pools under the root organization.



- 4. Select Create IQN Suffix Pool to create the IQN pool.
- 5. Enter IQN_Pool for the name of the IQN pool.
- 6. Optional: Enter a description for the IQN pool.
- 7. Enter iqn.1992-08.com.cisco as the prefix
- 8. Select Sequential for Assignment Order.
- 9. Click Next.
- 10. Click Add.
- 11. Enter ucs-host as the suffix.
- 12. Enter 1 in the From field.
- 13. Specify a size of the IQN block sufficient to support the available server resources.
- 14. Click OK.

onto AGNA Duction Process	Add IQN Blocks	
Collection Name	Country in Thomas of FQM Stationary	x
I JAME BOR B	Create a Block of IQN Suffixes	0
	Suffer ang-6333-hoot	
	Pon 1	
	Size (10 1)	
	(AK) (AM	80
	D Att . H Com	

- 15. Click Finish.
- 16. In the message box that displays, click OK.

Create IP Pools for iSCSI Boot

- These steps provide details for configuring the necessary IP pools iSCSI boot for the Cisco UCS environment.
- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, select the LAN tab on the left.

2. Select Pools > root.

Two IP pools are created, one for each switching fabric.

- 3. Right-click IP Pools under the root organization.
- 4. Select Create IP Pool to create the IP pool.
- 5. Enter iSCSI_IP_Pool_A for the name of the IP pool.
- 6. Optional: Enter a description of the IP pool.
- 7. Select Sequential for Assignment Order.

A Couste IF Pool		x
Unified Co	omputing System Manager	
Create IP Post	Define Name and Description	0
 Control Harve and Description Just the Bocks Just the Bocks 	Name (BCSI_F_Pool_A Descriptor Assignment Onter (O'Defour (O'Departur)	
	· Net Net Net Net	Carical

- 8. Click Next.
- 9. Click Add.
- 10. In the From field, enter the beginning of the range to assign as iSCSI IP addresses.
- 11. Set the size to enough addresses to accommodate the servers.

Create North	of the Attention				,
Create a	Block of IPv4 Ad	idresses			0
From	192.105.51.1	Site	(11	ŧ	
Subrothias:	151 255 255 8	Oktantinakeak	0.000		
Primary DNS	2000	Secondary DNB	0.000		
					COK Callon

- 12. Click OK.
- 13. Click Finish.
- 14. Repeat these steps for an iSCSI_IP_Pool_B:
- 15. Right-click IP Pools under the root organization.
- 16. Select Create IP Pool to create the IP pool.
- 17. Enter iSCSI_IP_Pool_B for the name of the IP pool.
- 18. Optional: Enter a description of the IP pool.
- 19. Select Sequential for Assignment Order.
- 20. Click Next.

- 21. Click Add.
- 22. In the From field, enter the beginning of the range to assign as iSCSI IP addresses.
- 23. Set the size to enough addresses to accommodate the servers.
- 24. Click OK.
- 25. Click Finish.

Create UUID Suffix Pool

- To configure the necessary universally unique identifier (UUID) suffix pool for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:
- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Pools > root.
- 3. Right-click UUID Suffix Pools.
- 4. Select Create UUID Suffix Pool.
- 5. Enter UUID_Pool as the name of the UUID suffix pool.
- 6. Optional: Enter a description for the UUID suffix pool.
- 7. Keep the prefix at the derived option.
- 8. Select Sequential for the Assignment Order.
- 9. Click Next.
- 10. Click Add to add a block of UUIDs.
- 11. Keep the From field at the default setting.
- 12. Specify a size for the UUID block that is sufficient to support the available blade or server resources.

Constant and the set of the States	-		
Create a Block of U	UID Suf	fixes	.0
Frem: 0000-00000000001	920 (X	2 \$	
		OK.	Gancal

- 13. Click OK.
- 14. Click Finish.
- 15. Click OK.

Create Server Pool

To configure the necessary server pool for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

Consider creating unique server pools to achieve the granularity that is required in your environment.

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.

- 2. Select Pools > root.
- 3. Right-click Server Pools.
- 4. Select Create Server Pool.
- 5. Enter Infra_Pool as the name of the server pool.
- 6. Optional: Enter a description for the server pool.
- 7. Click Next.
- 8. Select two (or more) servers to be used for the VMware management cluster and click >> to add them to the Infra_Pool server pool.

to the second because g Unit toward	Add Servers									
		Salvete				Piedad 5	-			
	ACCOUNTS ON THE	1 10 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		1.4		*: 18	1	а. М.,	ł.	20
			44							
	Martin Teacher	ULTRA-GOD-IVA PCHCHATZARI		and the second	2					

9. Click Finish.

10. Click OK.

Create VLANs

To configure the necessary virtual local area networks (VLANs) for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.

In this procedure, four unique VLANs are created. See Table 2.

2. Select LAN > LAN Cloud.

- 3. Right-click VLANs.
- 4. Select Create VLANs.
- 5. Enter Native-VLAN as the name of the VLAN to be used as the native VLAN.
- 6. Keep the Common/Global option selected for the scope of the VLAN.
- 7. Enter the native VLAN ID.
- 8. Keep the Sharing Type as None.
- 9. Click OK, and then click OK again.



- 10. Expand the list of VLANs in the navigation pane, right-click the newly created Native-VLAN and select Set as Native VLAN.
- 11. Click Yes, and then click OK.
- 12. Right-click VLANs.
- 13. Select Create VLANs.
- 14. Enter iSCSI-A-VLAN as the name of the VLAN to be used for the first iSCSI VLAN.
- 15. Keep the Common/Global option selected for the scope of the VLAN.
- 16. Enter the VLAN ID for the first iSCSI VLAN.
- 17. Click OK, then OK.



- 18. Right-click VLANs.
- 19. Select Create VLANs.
- 20. Enter iSCSI-B-VLAN as the name of the VLAN to be used for the second iSCSI VLAN.
- 21. Keep the Common/Global option selected for the scope of the VLAN.
- 22. Enter the VLAN ID for the second iSCSI VLAN.
- 23. Click OK, then OK.

E Crans Halman Roby	
nca Certage et Differente	
	Conservation Party International Configured Differences 40: 201: 201: 40: 50: Conservation

- 24. Right-click VLANs.
- 25. Select Create VLANs
- 26. Enter IB-Mgmt as the name of the VLAN to be used for management traffic.
- 27. Keep the Common/Global option selected for the scope of the VLAN.
- 28. Enter the In-Band management VLAN ID.
- 29. Keep the Sharing Type as None.
- 30. Click OK, and then click OK again.
- 31. Right-click VLANs.
- 32. Select Create VLANs.
- 33. Enter Infra-NFS as the name of the VLAN to be used for NFS.
- 34. Keep the Common/Global option selected for the scope of the VLAN.
- 35. Enter the NFS VLAN ID.
- 36. Keep the Sharing Type as None.
- 37. Click OK, and then click OK again.
- 38. Right-click VLANs.
- 39. Select Create VLANs.
- 40. Enter vMotion as the name of the VLAN to be used for vMotion.

- 41. Keep the Common/Global option selected for the scope of the VLAN.
- 42. Enter the vMotion VLAN ID.
- 43. Keep the Sharing Type as None.
- 44. Click OK, and then click OK again.
- 45. Right-click VLANs.
- 46. Select Create VLANs.
- 47. Enter VM-Traffic as the name of the VLAN to be used for VM Traffic.
- 48. Keep the Common/Global option selected for the scope of the VLAN.
- 49. Enter the VM-Traffic VLAN ID.
- 50. Keep the Sharing Type as None.
- 51. Click OK, and then click OK again.

Create Host Firmware Package

Firmware management policies allow the administrator to select the corresponding packages for a given server configuration. These policies often include packages for adapter, BIOS, board controller, FC adapters, host bus adapter (HBA) option ROM, and storage controller properties. To create a firmware management policy for a given server configuration in the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Expand Host Firmware Packages.
- 4. Select default.
- 5. In the Actions pane, select Modify Package Versions.
- 6. Select the version 3.1(1h) for both the Blade and Rack Packages.
- 7. Leave M-Series Package as <not set> and leave Excluded Components with only Local Disk selected.



8. Click OK to modify the host firmware package.

Set Jumbo Frames in Cisco UCS Fabric

To configure jumbo frames and enable quality of service in the Cisco UCS fabric, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select LAN > LAN Cloud > QoS System Class.
- 3. In the right pane, click the General tab.
- 4. On the Best Effort row, enter 9216 in the box under the MTU column.
- 5. Click Save Changes in the bottom of the window.
- 6. Click OK

	States State	24	-		*		
	10 14	- 13 M	1	(+)	-	-	
-	P 154			14	**	-	
-	- F.			14	*	-	
					- 48	-	
121	1.144	1.1	1.	*		1111	
Change .	S.C. 26		1.8	121	0.0		

Create Local Disk Configuration Policy (Optional)

A local disk configuration for the Cisco UCS environment is necessary if the servers in the environment do not have a local disk.

- This policy should not be used on servers that contain local disks.
- To create a local disk configuration policy, complete the following steps:
- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click Local Disk Config Policies.
- 4. Select Create Local Disk Configuration Policy.
- 5. Enter SAN-Boot as the local disk configuration policy name.
- 6. Change the mode to No Local Storage.
- 7. Click OK to create the local disk configuration policy.

A final link the Column field	
Create Local Disk Configuration Policy	
Territorio () Sector () Se	
	DK. Great

8. Click OK.

Create Network Control Policy for Cisco Discovery Protocol

- To create a network control policy that enables Cisco Discovery Protocol (CDP) on virtual network ports, complete the following steps:
- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click Network Control Policies.
- 4. Select Create Network Control Policy.
- 5. Enter Enable_CDP as the policy name.
- 6. For CDP, select the Enabled option.
- 7. Click OK to create the network control policy.



Create Power Control Policy

To create a power control policy for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click Power Control Policies.
- 4. Select Create Power Control Policy.
- 5. Enter No-Power-Cap as the power control policy name.
- 6. Change the power capping setting to No Cap.
- 7. Click OK to create the power control policy.
- 8. Click OK.

Create Pow	er Control Pol	icy	
Terre	Boffmer Lig		
Designed			
for land total	(Are		
Prime Casting			
Contrast Contrast 1 () (1998 1		
Care (111 Kan aye	ing articlet and in second particle inte		-

Create Server Pool Qualification Policy (Optional)

To create an optional server pool qualification policy for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

💪 This example creates a policy for Cisco UCS B-Series and Cisco UCS C-Series servers with the Intel E2660 v4 Xeon Broadwell processors.

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click Server Pool Policy Qualifications.
- 4. Select Create Server Pool Policy Qualification.
- 5. Name the policy UCS-Broadwell.
- 6. Select Create CPU/Core Qualifications.
- 7. Select Xeon for the Processor/Architecture.
- 8. Select UCS-CPU-E52660E as the PID.
- 9. Click OK to create the CPU/Core qualification.
- 10. Click OK to create the policy then OK for the confirmation.

reate CPUICo	res quaimcaboris			
Processian Antibility (Scien	[Xell: +]	PERMIEN UCS-CPUE	12060K	
Min Number of Dates	(Echandret C select)	Mar Number #Tonins	(Bitmarchet () select	
for factories of Treasure	Street Caret	Machievan at Tonan	E Ungerfiel 🗋 west	
THE REAL PROPERTY.	() Instantial () sear	CPU Skibing	B Unspectfull () when	

Create Server BIOS Policy

To create a server BIOS policy for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click BIOS Policies.
- 4. Select Create BIOS Policy.
- 5. Enter VM-Host-Infra as the BIOS policy name.
- 6. Change the Quiet Boot setting to disabled.
- 7. Change Consistent Device Naming to enabled.
- 8. Click Finish to create the BIOS policy.

9. Click OK.

Create vNIC/vHBA Placement Policy for Virtual Machine Infrastructure Hosts

To create a vNIC/vHBA placement policy for the infrastructure hosts, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click vNIC/vHBA Placement Policies.
- 4. Select Create Placement Policy.
- 5. Enter VM-Host-Infra as the name of the placement policy.
- 6. Click 1 and select Assigned Only.
- 7. Click OK, and then click OK again.

Construction of the local states		
Create Placement Policy	0	
rame (MARTE	A seta	
Institution that	of Rosson () (make Thempson)	
Athe ates give		10+
chease they	Search Preference	
and the second s	Antiple Ditt	
14 C	AL.	
		Careal

Update the Default Maintenance Policy

To update the default Maintenance Policy, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Select Maintenance Policies > default.
- 4. Change the Reboot Policy to User Ack.
- 5. (Optional: Click "On Next Boot" to delegate maintenance windows to server owners)

And the state of the second second second			
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	B C Start 24a	()	y an
Intern International Control of Contr	A contraction	Note Note Source Source Source Source Contraction Contraction	
It is supported at a subsequence of the last			Landstope, Andrew,

- 6. Click Save Changes.
- 7. Click OK to accept the change.

Create vNIC Templates

To create multiple virtual network interface card (vNIC) templates for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps. A total of 4 vNIC Templates will be created.

The same Infra VLANs were used on both the infrastructure (Infra) and production (Prod) hosts deployed in this environment. If production networks were to differ in the VLANs used for infrastructure networks, differing vNIC Templates should be created for each.

Create Data vNICs

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the LAN tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click vNIC Templates.
- 4. Select Create vNIC Template.
- 5. Enter vNIC_Template_A as the vNIC template name.
- 6. Keep Fabric A selected.
- 7. Do not select the Enable Failover checkbox.
- 8. Under Target, make sure that the VM checkbox is not selected.
- 9. Select Updating Template as the Template Type.

10. Under VLANs, select the checkboxes for IB-MGMT, Infra-NFS, Native-VLAN, VM-Traffic, and vMotion VLANs.

the state the	mplate		
	intrase.		
Name	vNIC_Template_A		
Description			
Fairt D	R Faller A C Faller B (Drame Fallow	
arget			
Adapter			
10000			
Rooming			
If you an analysis a port of the set	receive works and unitaring works	age, in the participation of many participation. Mand	-
Tergine Type	O mite Sergure @ Lindstog Se	reati	
A.A.W.			
Arter about di	(mar		- 524
HOUP	ALD IN THE	Autor MAN	
12	Colorit	ö	
i i	Harris Mrs.	0	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat	ble_CDP.	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat	ble_CDP.	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat	ole_CDP.	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat	ole_CDP.	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rrol Policy list, select Enat mplate	ble_CDP.	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat	ble_CDP.	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat	ble_CDP.	-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate	ble_CDP.	-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate	ble_CDP.	-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate	ble_CDP.	-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate Omini tensor Outputs International Contents International Co	ble_CDP.	-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate Ominin Trease @ Union Select Select MAC_Pool_A.	ble_CDP.	-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate Onto Thereau @ United Intel		-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate O mini hereas @ uboates internet internet internet internet internet int	ble_CDP.	-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate O mini herean @ detates internet in the select in the select internet in the select in the select in the select internet in the select in the select in the select internet in the select	ble_CDP.	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate O mini here an o theorem is the set is the set	ble_CDP.	-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create Cont Create Cont Cont Create Cont Create Cont Create Cont Cont Create Cont Cont Cont Cont Cont Cont Cont Cont	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate O mini herean O theorem in the select of the select in the select of the select of the select in the select of the select of the select of the select in the select of th	ble_CDP.	-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate O mini herean @ detates Area Free States St		-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate O mini herean @ upones international () upones internat	ble_CDP.	-
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create VNIC Te Create Cont Create Cont Cont Create Cont Create Cont Cont Create Cont Create Cont Cont Create Cont Cont Cont Cont Cont Cont Cont Cont	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate O mini tensor (a) updates (a) mini tensor (a) updates (b) mini tensor (a) updates (c) mini tensor (a) updates (c) mini tensor (c) updates (c) mini ten	ble_CDP.	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te Scene VNIC Te Scene Content	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate O mini hereau () thereau is the Magni is the Mag	ble_CDP.	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te Scene VNIC Te Scene VNIC Te Control of Control Cont	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate O mini hereau () thereau is the Magnities of the file is	ble_CDP.	
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create VNIC Te Scene VNIC Te Create VNIC TE	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate mplate metal met		
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create vNIC Te Scene vNIC Te Create vNIC Te	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate mplate metain me		
r MTU, enter 900 the MAC Pool list the Network Cont Create vNIC Te Scene vNIC Te Scene vNIC Te Create vNIC Te C	0. , select MAC_Pool_A. rol Policy list, select Enat mplate mplate metal met	ble_CDP.	

15. Click OK to create the vNIC template.

16. Click OK.

Repeat these equivalent steps for vNIC_Template_B:

1. In the navigation pane, select the LAN tab.

- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click vNIC Templates.
- 4. Select Create vNIC Template
- 5. Enter vNIC_Template_B as the vNIC template name.
- 6. Select Fabric B.
- 7. Do not select the Enable Failover checkbox.
- 8. Under Target, make sure the VM checkbox is not selected.
- 9. Select Updating Template as the template type.
- 10. Under VLANs, select the checkboxes for IB-MGMT, INFRA-NFS, Native-VLAN, and vMotion VLANs.

Constant and Constanting States			
Create vNIC Te	emplate		0
1070	vNIC_Template_0		1
Description			
Faire ()	C FareA 🖶 FareB	Entry Falcor	
Ukineme			
Warning If White services, a pool for contracting of the sa	profile by the party value with the s	and the second se	
Warning Produce servicine, a pool The postprofile of the sa Tempton Type	produce for the server source with the s res name source, and applicing tem () minut Tempolate () Updating	nden: Sibi 1 steatet. 1 eti be overeribri Tergesk	
Warning PWM is sensitive, a con The port profile of the sa Tempton Type VLANs	produce for the server source will be a ner name interest and and adding then the name interest and adding then the name interest and the server of the server the name interest and the name of the server of the server the name interest and the name of the server of the server the name of the name of the server of the serve	ndes) Silv is stocked. I will be dverwitter Terapate	
Warning FWM is sensitive, a pool The postprofile of the sa Tempore Type VLANs VLANs	product Ap the parties cause with the or ne name states, and applying the O mital Template @ Updating I rest	nateria Gale la solocite I. 1 etil ba overnetilleri Terranale	
Warning Party of the second of the second protocol Temporal Type VLANS Quicker all last 1 Temporal Temporal	product by the second second with the s new name works, and applicing tem to minal Tempinale (1) Updating to minal Tempinale (1) Updating to minal Tempinale (1) Updating	nates: Nith to selected. If will be overwritten Terrewale Nation VA, Als	Q.
Warning Facorpole of the sa Terpine Type VLANs 4, rither actions of the set	products by the same same with the s near name shots, and applicing two () mittal Template () Updating gives - fame - fame - fame	name District Statistics C. Tradition overheiden Terraneter Name of All	Q
Warning Facon profession a pool Facon profession Type VIARs VIARs Invest Invest	product by the same value with the same name white. And applying the same of applying the same of the	name CRN 13 Stretted. 7 will be dverwitten Termente Native VLAS	9.

- 11. Set default as the native VLAN.
- 12. Select vNIC Name for the CDN Source.
- 13. For MTU, enter 9000.
- 14. In the MAC Pool list, select MAC_Pool_B.
- 15. In the Network Control Policy list, select Enable_CDP.

Create vHC Toronton				-13
Create vNIC Te	mplate			-
Termine Type	🔿 miai Tersuak 🛞 Vedatra T	Grands		
FLANE				
Ariter allere :	giren .	1000000	Q.,	
-Dendi	ture	Rative VLAS		
12	The second	10		
1	and sets of a	6		
	TIN'NA WAR	0		
	SCR-B-VLAN	0		
1	Hattys VLAN	8		
2	S VIII. Traffic	0		
8	= etterator	0		
Contractor				
CON Source	S VICTORE C Der Defices			
LITLA	5000			
	Color March March 197			
THE PARTY	HAC FEE BOLDED *			
Old Party				
Deline Connections	Data Tris (a)			
Pre Omag	-vid MP-			
EERS THERMORPORTY	(default (*)			
Cansection Policies				
C Dyname (MCC) in	AND VAD			
Dynamic UNIC Corres	cham Poonly (-tumpers +)			
	Service and the service of the servi			1
			LOC LO	nea
			The second second	

- 16. Click OK to create the vNIC template.
- 17. Click OK.
- Create iSCSI vNICs
- 1. Select the LAN tab on the left.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click vNIC Templates.
- 4. Select Create vNIC Template.
- 5. Enter iSCSI_Template_A as the vNIC template name.
- 6. Leave Fabric A selected. Do not select the Enable Failover checkbox.
- 7. Under Target, make sure that the VM checkbox is not selected.
- 8. Select Updating Template for Template Type.

Canada negati persona	14		
Create vNIC T	emplate		.0
Nam	SCS:_Temptate_A		1
Description	11		
Faired Target M Adapter Vite	i) 🔋 Rens A 🔘 Rens 8 🗍	Erane Fallow	
Werning TYME is served, and if a pertyration of the	rtprostile by the partie related will be shoe ame roome estate. and updating terrate	no u paractect, il all be convert	
Weining I'M in second and Response of the Threater Tar-	darothi ky bi jerie okolu vil je jos 1. j⊖ note Terreve ⊗ upserny te	net In y printlet, it will be overwri ranne	-
Writing Facorpotectory Tecorpotectory Tecorpotectory VLAN	nganatis tu tu pana sena sena selata ari ba pan ante name katak ant optimi panga a Onta Tenesse © lipitating te	net 19 v selectet, it ell be cierent rause	-
Weining Facespecked by Taxon pecked by VLAN 4, File actual Search	rtannitis tu tua parte sainte sel las ran ante nome Article, and updating tendes . O nome Tennesse @ Updating Te	net Tarute Tarute Accive 15,476	w.
Working FMM is strategical and First perspective from VLANS 4, First automation Strategical	rtanning by the series related will be state and rear a state, and updating terrain a more mean mean mane mane mane mane	net ne v selected, it will be convert range	94.
Werning I'VM in sensetief, and The perspective of the Thereises The VLANS A Pitter without Thereis	Canada ta ba area nacia al ba ca Antenta de Sala. Se cuebarg beata I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	net reacted it will be overwri reacted	9+

- 9. Under VLANs, select iSCSI-A-VLAN.
- 10. Set iSCSI-A-VLAN as the native VLAN.
- 11. Under MTU, enter 9000.
- 12. From the MAC Pool list, select MAC_Pool_A.
- 13. From the Network Control Policy list, select Enable_CDP.

steate vivis	emplate		
Teruse Ta	· O miai Terunan @ Updating Te	ergi alta	
VLANS			
Afriter alluot	diver.		100
Seat	Rate	Rative VCAS	
	and distant	0	
	T St. March	Q.	
	and some rests	0	
2	HICH A VLAN	10	
	SCIE-B-VLAN	0	
	Hattive VLAN	0	
	The second secon	0	
	Hoton H	(Q)	
Contractor			
CON Seure	. Silver Detrat		
NT	0000		
MAC PU	NAC PER ACTINE *		
Gall Polic	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Natari Control Polo	(Erate CDF *)		
the Links	· ····································		
state Treasure Past	Carteri *		
Connective Policies	2. HORSENNER. 1		
Dynamic vite:	WHICH YAR		
Oynamic vNIC Com	actine Policy (-top just- *)		

14. Click OK to complete creating the vNIC template.

15. Click OK.

Repeat these equivalent steps for iSCSI_Template_B:

1. Select the LAN tab on the left.

- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click vNIC Templates.
- 4. Select Create vNIC Template.
- 5. Enter iSCSI_Template_B as the vNIC template name.
- 6. Select Fabric B. Do not select the Enable Failover checkbox.
- 7. Under Target, make sure that the VM checkbox is not selected.
- 8. Select Updating Template for Template Type.

Cause which through			
Create vNIC T	emplate		0
Natio	SCS_Template_B		24
Desenance			
Record Procession	. Chinasa di Karak I	Tribu Calmar	
VN			
Warrang Station professions a por Targon profession Sport	Tananing ber and a state of a sta	neen) Late is senecing. It will be connertib lategode	
Warning STAN to service a root Ta contraction at the Terrature Spo VLANS	tan-fin be be serve a serve of it is a and reaction of the serve of a state of the of the serve of the serv	nees UNE o enecked, it will be overarite Interate	
Warning d'Min a sension La un Ta sont profile al fines Verassan Spo VLANs di Prim actions Jacobi	Develope intervention of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set	nees Me a seachd it all ta cynarth Maraile Nana M. M	•
Warning d'With a series of a set that post profile all these Veranses Tops VLANS d, Prime and post benefit	Description of the second seco	nees Mill II anothe Tail to contaits Million Million Million VLAN	
Warning d'Wite service aver Ta cost profile al fine Terrestar Top VLANs de filer brent brent	Development of the second seco	Menti a serechen d'arti ba contartita Interiole Native VLAN O O	

- 9. Under VLANs, select iSCSI-B-VLAN.
- 10. Set iSCSI-B-VLAN as the native VLAN.
- 11. Under MTU, enter 9000.
- 12. From the MAC Pool list, select MAC_Pool_B.
- 13. From the Network Control Policy list, select Enable_CDP.

Counter wHIC Thermotopic				- 3
Create vNIC Te	mplate			- 40
Teruise tipe	O mila forcula (§ Velating for	654°)		1
d man - that	1 mar 1			
af the model of	a second s	100000000	-92+	
	The second	O.		
		0		
		- 8		
	CALCENE MAR	0		
-	CHAR MAN	10		
	Autor VLAN	0		
	I VM. Dorthe	0		
	Hybrin.	0.00		
Contra V.M				
CDN Source	Static Name () veer befriet			
MTU.	9000			
MAC POST	(MAC PERCENTION TY)			
Quill Prescy	(-ortage +)			
Metwork Correct Peters	(Fusing COP (#)			
Palana	Contractor and			
man have a set of the	Clarge 1.			
Canaction Policies	(Seland 14)			
(a) Denime with (C) of	MICO MIG			
Dynamic vHC Carrie	stian Palicy [-root set			J
			and the set of	2
			10L1 - CA	10 mil

14. Click OK to complete creating the vNIC template.

15. Click OK.

Create LAN Connectivity Policy

buring testing, iSCSI vNICs and FC vHBAs were deployed to all hosts regardless of boot policy used. The iSCSI interfaces can be left out for environments configured to utilize fibre channel for boot and data.

To	o configu	re the necessary In	frastructure LAN Connectivity Policy, complete the following	ng steps:	
1. In	Cisco UC	CS Manager, click t	he LAN tab in the navigation pane.		
2 . Se	elect LAN	> Policies > root.			
3. Rig	ght-click	LAN Connectivity	Policies.		
4. Se	elect Crea	ate LAN Connectivi	ty Policy.		
5. En	ter Infra-	LAN-Policy as the	name of the policy.		
6. CI	ick the up	oper Add button to	add a vNIC.		
7. In	the Crea	te vNIC dialog box,	, enter 00-Infra-A as the name of the vNIC.		
8. Se	elect the	Use vNIC Template	e checkbox.		
9. In	the vNIC	Template list, sele	ct vNIC_Template_A.		
10. ln	the Ada	pter Policy list, sele	ect VMWare.		
A ==	in we				11. Click OK to add this vNIC to the policy.
Cre	ate vNIC	2			
					12. Click the upper Add button to add another vNIC
(Nerr	e III-intra-	A			to the policy.
Use	WHIC Therapian	1 M			13. In the Create vNIC box, enter vNIC-01-Infra-B
D 0	who ride the	resiste.			as the name of the vNIC.
VHC	Termine .				14. Select the Use vNIC Template checkbox.
	ne Perform	Final sport	-		15. In the vNIC Template list, select
	Adapte	shink farming A	C () take (Marriel Adapter Palcy		vNIC_Template_B.
		ICCP_Targone_B			16. In the Adapter Policy list, select VMWare.
		AND_Template_6			17. Click OK to add the vNIC to the policy.
		ubit) Template B			

Concile:			,
Create vNI	0		1.18
Norm (01-info	8		
Use vive: Templa	5. a		
EE Chains while To	analassi .		
visit Densing	-tool asset		
	-read and -		
Adapter Perform	Dense Princes		
Acut	UCDL, Sargine, A	Contro (Thread Abacher Paris)	
	dC01,Terptae_8		
	-NC Sergiste A		
	vNC Tampinto B		

- 18. Click the upper Add button to add a vNIC.
- 19. In the Create vNIC dialog box, enter vNIC-02-iSCSI-A as the name of the vNIC.
- 20. Select the Use vNIC Template checkbox.
- 21. In the vNIC Template list, select iSCSI_Template_A.
- 22. In the Adapter Policy list, select VMWare.
- 23. Click OK to add this vNIC to the policy.

Cost MC			×
Create vNIC	:		
hans (E-SCI) Use dell'Imper El Costo dell'Imper dell'Impere Adapte Portune Adapte	IA - M - M - Not acts - No	Course Efferreit Adapter Fieltre	

- $\ensuremath{\textbf{24}}\xspace.$ Click the upper Add button to add a vNIC to the policy.
- 25. In the Create vNIC dialog box, enter vNIC-03-iSCSI-B as the name of the vNIC.
- 26. Select the Use vNIC Template checkbox.
- 27. In the vNIC Template list, select iSCSI_Template_B.
- 28. In the Adapter Policy list, select VMWare.

A Cost HC			
Create vNIC	2		
Harry (D-022) Una ABC Terry or El Cours ABC To eNC Terry or Adapter Perform Anapter	HB HOTAN' (F) HOTAN' (F) HOTAN' (F) HOTAN' (HOTAN HOTAN (HOTAN) HOTAN (HOTA	Costs (Hand Alache Policy	

29. Click OK to add this vNIC to the policy.

Citem LA	A Connectivity Pale 8				X
Create L	AN Connectiv	rity Policy			
. 16214	Infra GAN Paliny				
Destation					
Disk AMULA	and Arona is share whit	A TAR The part of street with the	shinest to the LAN		
Barw		MAE Amment		Methody SAR	
+NC -	03-15C 8-48	Derved			
THE A	62.45C NLA	Derved			
- HE	en antra al	Dervel			
1000					
+ AM (10)	NE VRICA	. it bee	And (2, shore)		
Nete		Overage vercifications .	ISCOLAISEN Party -	MAC Alterns	
		B +++	g been 13 mile		
					the stand
					K Grot

- 30. Expand the Add iSCSI vNICs section.
- 31. Click the lower Add button in the iSCSI vNIC section to define an iSCSI boot vNIC.
- 32. Enter iSCSI-A-vNIC as the name of the vNIC.
- 33. Select vNIC-02-iSCSI-A for Overlay vNIC.
- 34. Set the iSCSI Adapter Policy to default.
- 35. Set the VLAN to Infra-iSCSI-A.
- 36. Leave the MAC Address set to None.

A Chair (Chiose)			×
Create ISCSI	VNIC		
Name Depress (H4) MC III Hospiter Princy VL H5	6C0AWC (CoCH+ (aba?)) (CD-CN-MH4	Original States and a state of the second states of the second stat	
MAC Address	Angerant (Terr	citizen und in minuti	
			(B) (Deal)

- 37. Click OK.
- 38. Click the lower Add button in the iSCSI vNIC section to define an iSCSI boot vNIC.
- 39. Enter iSCSI-B-vNIC as the name of the vNIC.
- 40. Set the Overlay vNIC to vNIC-03-iSCSI-B.
- 41. Set the iSCSI Adapter Policy to default.
- 42. Set the VLAN to Infra-iSCSI-B.
- 43. Leave the MAC Address set to None.

Comparison of				
Create ISCSI	VNIC			.0
time	OC0+6-HEC			
Dreptay (140) Initial Associati Proces	an order of the	1	-	
16.44	act-b-Lin name	1.	A Destination of the line of t	
MAC Address	Assessed . The	a de la composición de	unet type to the second s	
C case inc	-			
	100 C			

Name InfraGAM-Policy				
Devisituation				
is and a specify one or more will	is that the served straubil upe to a	physicitics the LAN		
NAME	AGAC Alleman	C10	fye HLan	
*NC 63-INC 81-8	Déniel			
MC 62 (SC S) A	Derived			
THE READER AND A R	Derved			
	.0.244	AN G Note		
+ And BOIL HIDCH	3.244	a and the state		
* Add SCRE vRICs	Coverse vite: Norme	CO AND THE	Mag Adonini /	
 Antificial vitics Name Statistical actuality 	3 Dear Overlag VAC Market 53-00244	RCD Actual Views	MAC Altown	
• Алгасы чиск Пати • Пас кинс ас канас • Пас кинс ас канас	3 (1997) Oversig VMC Nortes 53-00048 52-00048	CO Acade Frees	Mag Altower Datiest Derivat	
* ANTOCHE VRICH Name ** OCH ANC OCH & ANC ** SCHWAR, OCH & ANC	Overse VeC Norte 53-00244 52-00244	RCD Association	Ming Addresse Defined Derived	
 Ant DOLE VRICE Ant DOLE VRICE<td>Deersie VAC Nortes 53-900348 42-900844</td><td>Ace Controls</td><td>Ming Addresse Darland Derivad</td><td></td>	Deersie VAC Nortes 53-900348 42-900844	Ace Controls	Ming Addresse Darland Derivad	
 Add OCSE VRICs Marce Mac Si VRC alc III 8 - NC Mac Si VRC alc III 8 - NC 	Denie deC Marie 53-00244 52-00244	B ANY (D. Month)	MAC Alterna Datiat Denial	
• ANI OCH YNCX New • ac Sivec ac 6.8-490 • ac Sivec ac 6.8-4900	Dreme Mic Name SS-000H 20-000H 20-000H	B ANY CLASSING ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL	Mar Advance Datient Derived	
 And BOBLYRICS And BOBLYRICS And BOBLYRIC BOBLYRICS BID SIVAL BOBLY AND 	Charter Marter S2-00284 22-00284	Direct Controls	Mag Aphresis Datient Derived	

45. Click OK to create the LAN Connectivity Policy.
Create vMedia Policy for VMware ESXi 6.0 U1b Install Boot

In the NetApp Data ONTAP setup steps an HTTP web server is required, which will be used for hosting NetApp Data ONTAP as well as VMware software. The vMedia Policy created here will map the VMware ESXi 6.0u1b ISO to the Cisco UCS server in order to boot the ESXi installation. To create this policy, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, select the Servers tab.
- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click vMedia Policies.
- 4. Select Create vMedia Policy.
- 5. Name the policy ESXi-6.0U1b-HTTP.
- 6. Enter "Mounts Cisco Custom ISO for ESXi 6.0U1b" in the Description field.
- 7. Click Add.
- 8. Name the mount ESXi-6.0U1b-HTTP.
- 9. Select the CDD Device Type.
- 10. Select the HTTP Protocol.
- 11. Enter the IP Address of the web server.

💪 Since DNS server IPs were not entered into the KVM IP earlier, it is necessary to enter the IP of the web server instead of the host name.pool

12. Enter Vmware-ESXi-6.0.0-3380124-Custom-Cisco-6.0.1.2.iso as the Remote File name.

13. Enter the web server path to the ISO file in the Remote Path field.

Croate vMode Maari		
Create vMedia	Mount	
Nate	ESXI-6.0U1b-HITTP	
Description		
Device Type	© CD0 () HDD	
Protocar	O NFS O OFB @ HTTP O HTTPS	
memory Address	100 100 100 100	
Image Name Variable	(e) Nome () liennos Profile Name	
Renate File	Vmware E5% 6 0 0 3380124 Gustern Cisco 6 0 1 2 mit	
Rende Path	isoftware/cSphere/	
Usemane		
Passwort		

14. Click OK to create the vMedia Mount.

15. Click OK then OK again to complete creating the vMedia Policy.

For any new servers added to the Cisco UCS environment the vMedia service profile template can be used to install the ESXi host. On first boot the host will boot into the ESXi installer. After ESXi is installed, the vMedia will not be referenced as long as the boot disk is accessible.

Create Boot Policies (iSCSI Boot)

This procedure applies to a Cisco UCS environment in which two iSCSI logical interfaces (LIFs) are on cluster node 1 (iscsi lif01a and iscsi lif01b) and two iSCSI LIFs are on cluster node 2 (iscsi lif02a and iscsi lif02b). One boot policy is configured in this procedure. This policy configures the primary target to be iscsi_lif01a.

To create boot policies for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.

- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click Boot Policies.
- 4. Select Create Boot Policy.
- 5. Enter Boot-iSCSI-A as the name of the boot policy.
- 6. Optional: Enter a description for the boot policy.
- 7. Keep the Reboot on Boot Order Change option cleared.
- 8. Expand the Local Devices drop-down menu and select Add Remote CD/DVD.
- 9. Expand the iSCSI vNICs section and select Add iSCSI Boot.
- 10. In the Add iSCSI Boot dialog box, enter iSCSI-A-vNIC.

11. Click OK.

- 12. Select Add iSCSI Boot.
- 13. In the Add iSCSI Boot dialog box, enter iSCSI-B-vNIC.
- 14. Click OK.
- 15. Expand CIMC Mounted vMedia.

16. Select Add CIMC Mounted CD/DVD.

Treate Boot Policy Inne Analytic Inner I Treate bridge Treate I	La.					
tern destation Sectors : National Sectors :	R.B.					
Bearing (Constant)	(Cliff) And all presents where presents of the entropy of the sector	Children and	ennantis filia i	of state prior		
Intel Transmer Anti-Land Tran Anti-Land Tran Anti-Land Tran Anti-Land Tran Anti-Land Tran Anti-Land Tran Anti-Land Transmer Anti-Land Tr	An III A The Affect A III A The Affect Properties (2009) + Early Hock Hock How Fills Fills Fills How How How How How How How How	2	400440 903440 903440	topi Second		104 10-

17. Click OK to save the boot policy. Click OK to close the Boot Policy window.

Create Boot Policies (FC Boot)

This procedure applies to a Cisco UCS environment in which two FC logical interfaces (LIFs) are on cluster node 1 and two FC LIFs are on cluster node 2 for each Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect:

	6332-16UP Fabric A	6332-16UP Fabric B	6248UP Fabric A	6248UP Fabric B
AFF Cluster Node 1 LIF	fcp_lif01_63a (fcp_lif01a)	fcp_lif01_63b (fcp_lif01b)	fcp_lif01_62a (fcp_lif01a)	fcp_lif01_63b (fcp_lif01b)
AFF Cluster Node 2 LIF	fcp_lif02_63a (fcp_lif02a)	fcp_lif02_63b (fcp_lif02b)	fcp_lif02_62a (fcp_lif02a)	fcp_lif02_62a (fcp_lif02b)
<		- -		>
				1

Deployments utilizing iSCSI and not FC should ignore these steps.

To create boot policies for the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.

- 2. Select Policies > root.
- 3. Right-click Boot Policies.
- 4. Select Create Boot Policy.
- 5. Enter Boot-FC-A as the name of the boot policy.
- 6. Optional: Enter a description for the boot policy.

▲ Do not select the Reboot on Boot Order Change checkbox.

7. Keep the Reboot on Boot Order Change option cleared.

8. Expand the Local Devices drop-down menu and select Add Remote CD/DVD.

9. Expand the vHBAs drop-down menu and select Add SAN Boot.

10. In the Add SAN Boot dialog box, enter Fabric-A in the vHBA field.

11. Confirm that Primary is selected for the Type option.

A feet SAN Stat	×
Add SAN Boot	0
enthic Fater A	
Type (8) Primary (2) Secondary	

13. From the vHBA drop-down menu, select Add SAN Boot Target.

17. Click OK to add the SAN boot target.

12. Click OK to add the SAN boot initiator.

14. Keep 0 as the value for Boot Target LUN.15. Enter the WWPN for fcp_lif01a.

么

16.

- 18. From the vHBA drop-down menu, select Add SAN Boot Target.
- 19. Enter 0 as the value for Boot Target LUN.
- 20. Enter the WWPN for fcp_lif02a.

Add SAN Boot 1	arget 6
Boot Target LUNI 0 Boot Target Wolffle 20 Ture 20	C. Scale M. Tanaka M.

- 21. Click OK to add the SAN boot target.
- 22. From the vHBA drop-down menu, select Add SAN Boot.
- 23. In the Add SAN Boot dialog box, enter Fabric-B in the vHBA box.
- 24. The SAN boot type should automatically be set to Secondary, and the Type option should be unavailable.

A AND SAN SOM	×
Add SAN Boot	0
entia (Fabric-8) Type (Otherware (B) Secondary ()	(76) (7647)

- 25. Click OK to add the SAN boot initiator.
- 26. From the vHBA drop-down menu, select Add SAN Boot Target.
- $\ensuremath{\textbf{27}}\xspace$. Keep 0 as the value for Boot Target LUN.
- $\label{eq:28.expansion} \textbf{28. Enter the WWPN for fcp_lif01b}.$
- 29. Select Primary for the SAN boot target type.

dd SAN Bo	ot Target	
Boor Target LUN	à	
Boot Target WAPN	20.00.00.20 88 75-14 89	
Totel	E Primary C Secondary	

- 30. Click OK to add the SAN boot target.
- 31. From the vHBA drop-down menu, select Add SAN Boot Target.
- 32. Keep 0 as the value for Boot Target LUN.

33. Enter the WWPN for fcp_lif02b.

🛦 Auto SAM Bour Target	×
Add SAN Boot Target	
Bent Targer LUN (0 Bent Targer WAPH (2020/00.40.81.01.44.85) Tager (Chroman (Chromatiny)]
6	or Carol

34. Click OK to add the SAN boot target.

and the first						
Create Boot Policy						
Are the	HCA					
Annu united Star Diarys						
Annual (1) -	nani (Can) Nan Lindo Parlamente					
te d'Artin alter Morristation autorit Enterne d'Artin AltAnder & Berne in Anto 1 à 1 al agentier, des artificientiers au m	to an a fair that a star of Advances of the sector of the star of the star of the sector of the sect	1.000	A DECEMPTOR OF STREET,	and other series	e.:	
6-10-of (Automatic	these factors					
	a la divertation	-				
N. WILL	Carton Statement and Statement	tinal (+100.00	100	1.000	1104 Kpell
o pripas	+ 10 au					
	+ If sames		Teetion .	Press.		
	With Inseld			Property.	2010/02/42/01/08 44:09	
A CONTRACTOR OF A	HE san brant to			Desirates	2010/06/40/08 08:06	· 8
	T III SAN Recontinu		Press II.	Security 1		
1000	SF all brant P			Printer (2010/01/01/01/01 00 10 00 10	
a break April 1	Hata bear 1			Renarging	201000.000100-0000	1.1
in 22MC Monited entrolla	and the second s		A 444.4	Andres 3	and the second s	

18. Click OK, then click OK again to create the boot policy.

Create Service Profile Template (iSCSI Boot)

Service Profile Templates can be created for Fibre Channel (Fabric) boot or iSCSi boot, with VLANs appropriate infrastructure (Infra) or production (Prod) workloads differentiate by vNIC Templates allowing for VLAN presentation to the interfaces appropriate to the workload. In our example environment, the Service Profile Templates created were:

- VM-Host-Infra-Fabric-A
- VM-Host-Infra-iSCSI-A
- VM-Host-Prod-Fabric-A
- VM-Host-Prod-iSCSI-A

Examples shown in this section are primarily detail one Infra host that was provisioned from a B-Series server on the UCS 6248UP Fabric Interconnect, and one Prod host that was provisioned from a C-Series server on the UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnect.

In this procedure, one service profile template for Infrastructure ESXi hosts is created for fabric A boot.

To create the service profile template, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Service Profile Templates > root.
- 3. Right-click root.
- 4. Select Create Service Profile Template to open the Create Service Profile Template wizard.

5. Enter VM-Host-Infra-iSCSI-A as the name of the service profile template. This service profile template is configured to boot from storage node 1 on fabric A.

6. Select the "Updating Template" option.

7. Under UUID, select UUID_Pool as the UUID pool.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Identify Service Profile Template Treps and a much bit while profile explore only of the maples type. The consistence is great, here is \$1300 mill be prepared to the respect to the proof of express.
 Profile Installed J. Johnson Mark J. January Mark J. January	Inters (VAReported SCHA) Research on the transmit of the following registration. As some matche on uses which the registration in the registratin in the registratin in the registratin in

8. Click Next.

Configure Storage Provisioning

1. If you have servers with no physical disks, click on the Local Disk Configuration Policy and select the SAN-Boot Local Storage Policy. Otherwise, select the default Local Storage Policy.

2. Click Next.

Configure Networking Options

- 1. Keep the default setting for Dynamic vNIC Connection Policy.
- 2. Select the "Use Connectivity Policy" option to configure the LAN connectivity.
- 3. Select Infra-LAN-Policy from the LAN Connectivity Policy pull-down.
- 4. Select IQN_Pool within the Initiator Name Assignment pull-down.

ine prosition brane	Networking Option/ great LUN-redges in side	and a second sec	
Constraint Instantial Sectors Sectors Constraint Instantial Sectors Constraint Instantial Sectors Constraint Instantial Sectors Constraint Instantial Constraint Instantial Constraint Instantial Constraint Instantial Constraint Instantial Constraint Instantial Constraint Instantial	Annue de Constant de Calendar El Canal Maria de Calendar de Calendar de Calendar Calendar de Calendar de Calendar de Calendar Calendar de Calendar de Calendar de Calendar Maria de Calendar de Calendar de Calendar de Calendar Maria de Calendar de Calendar de Calendar de Calendar Maria de Calendar de Calenda	Very teak and Sector And Procession (*) search and Sector And Procession And The Sector And Procession And Company The Sector And Procession And Company Institution Company	

5. Click Next.

Configure Storage Options

- 1. Select the Use Connectivity Policy option for the "How would you like to configure SAN connectivity?" field.
- 2. Pick the Infra-SAN-Policy option from the SAN Connectivity Policy pull-down.

\underline{A} have been into the second	-		
Unified C	omputing System Manager		
County Service Service V - County Service Service 2 - Service Service 2 - Service Service 3 - Service Service	SAN Connectivity Operating system of http://www.self.edu/ Description of the particular of http://www.self.edu/ Description of the self.edu/ Description	B car at based as	
			Lades/ (detail (deta) (detail

6. Click Next.

Configure Zoning Options

Set no Zoning options and click Next.

Configure vNIC/HBA Placement

1. In the "Select Placement" list, leave the placement policy as "Let System Perform Placement".

2. Click Next.

Configure vMedia Policy

- 1. From the vMedia Policy pulldown select "ESXi-6.0U1b-HTTP"
 - 2. Click Next.

iscsi show

Configure Server Boot Order

- 1. Select Boot-iSCSI-A for Boot Policy.
- 2. In the Boot Order pane, select iSCSI-A-vNIC.
- 3. Click the "Set iSCSI Boot Parameters" button.

4. In the Set iSCSI Boot Parameters pop-up, leave Authentication Profile to <not set> unless you have independently created one appropriate to your environment.

5. Leave the "Initiator Name Assignment" dialog box <not set> to use the single Service Profile Initiator Name defined in the previous steps

- 6. Set iSCSI_IP_Pool_A as the "Initiator IP address Policy".
- 7. Keep the "iSCSI Static Target Interface" button selected and click the 🗄 button at the bottom right.
- 8. Log in to the storage cluster management interface and run the following command:

	The second b	The second b	0+-+
	Target	Target	Status
Vserver	Name	Alias	Admin
Infra-SVM	iqn.1992-08.com.netapp:sn.cbc5f0	dff5b911e5aaa600a0985b4a74:vs	.3
		Infra-SVM	up

9. Note or copy the iSCSI target name for Infra-SVM shown in highlight above.

10. In the Create iSCSI Static Target dialog box, paste the iSCSI target node name from Infra-SVM.

11. Enter the IP address of iSCSI_lif02a for the IPv4 Address field.

Create (SCS) State 1	arget.	1
Create iSCSI S	Static Target	-
(RCD) Target Name Promis Post Automotization Profile IPvK Automoti ID	Ign 1992-00 com nelago en. 1 1000 -nut set: 1 100 Cross ISCSI Authorituation Profile 102 100.01 22 0	
	1.00-1	(Cares

- 12. Click OK to add the iSCSI static target.
- 13. Keep the iSCSI Static Target Interface option selected and click the 💾 button.
- 14. In the Create iSCSI Static Target window, paste the iSCSI target node name from Infra-SVM into the iSCSI Target Name field.
- **15.** Enter the IP address of <code>iscsi_lif0la</code> in the IPv4 Address field.

Create ISCSI State 1	Target	×
Create ISCSI S	Static Target	9
ISCSI Target Name Priority Port Autrentication Profile IPv4 Address ID	Ign 1992-08.com nelapp sn 2 3260 snul setr X 192 188.91.21 0	
		K. Cancel

16. Click OK.

Bate iSCSI Boot Parameters Come ton sufficience Without States and a contract of the substates without to the substates to the substate substates to the substate substates to the substates to th					anamerik	Bet Killis Book Han
Control of the first fi				ters	ot Parame	Set iSCSI Bo
Indiator Address Indiator Address Phul Address Pointy (IDCDL, P, Phul, Addded) Support Name, 255,255,255,0 Calcul Dataway, 0.8,80 Promain DNS 0.8,80 Promain DN			thes.	el contern any available est that you add writtee	the musi their pool does it is recontinent	Contractor No.
Phil Address (0.0.0.0 Phil Address (0.0.0.0 Default Decess) (0.0.0 Primaly DNS (0.					and the second second	estator Address
The P address will be submattrally assigned from the selected pool.					255,255,255,0 0,840 0,840 0,840	Default Defension Default Defension Provaty DNS Decombery DNS
Name Provily Part Advantator Pt. GCB FV6 Advant LLAV M kp. 1992 AB.c. (2000 192 108.01.21 0 kp. 1992 AB.c. (2000 192 108.01.21 0			1 000	Antipled for the sea	he automatical	The IP address will
бря 1962-08.6 г. 3200 192 198.01.22 0 Кра. 1992-08.6 2 3200 192 198.01.21 0	LUNH	ICE FVE ADDY	Alberticator Pc	Patt :	Prorty	Barne
Nga.1992.08.4 2 2200 192.100.01.21 0	0	182 168 01 22		31240	(1)	kps.5992.08.c
	0	192 108 91 21		1200	1	kpi, 1992-03.c
And the Device of the			Senier 12, Mar	D ALL		

17. Click OK.

18. In the Boot Order pane, select iSCSI-vNIC-B.

19. Click the Set iSCSI Boot Parameters button.

20. In the Set iSCSI Boot Parameters dialog box, set the leave the "Initiator Name Assignment" to <not set>.

21. In the Set iSCSI Boot Parameters dialog box, set the initiator IP address policy to iSCSI_IP_Pool_B.

22. Keep the iSCSI Static Target Interface option selected and click the 🗄 button at the bottom right.

23. In the Create iSCSI Static Target window, paste the iSCSI target node name from Infra-SVM into the iSCSI Target Name field (same target name as above).

24. Enter the IP address of iscsi_lif02b in the IPv4 address field.

Contrarto PACIDO Danate: 1	larger.	×
Create iSCSI S	Static Target	•
1903) Target Name Prom Put Authenticoon Profile (Puk Address 10	Ingen 1992 dBL commentages on 1 3009 Inset sets (*) 102 104 32 201 0	
	OK.	Cancel

25. Click OK to add the iSCSI static target.

26. Keep the iSCSI Static Target Interface option selected and click the 🗄 button.

27. In the Create iSCSI Static Target dialog box, paste the iSCSI target node name from Infra-SVM into the iSCSI Target Name field.

28. Enter the IP address of iscsi_lif01b in the IPv4 Address field.

A Create ISCSI State 1	Target		x
Create iSCSI S	Static Target		
ISCSI Target Name Priority Port Automotivation Profile IPv4 Address ID	ign. 1992-08.com. netag 2 3260 mai tetr. * 1922-166.92.21	Crists (SCSI Authentication Profile	
		0	K. Cancal

29. Click OK.

	Carrientes.				
let iSCSI Bo	ot Parame	eters			
Course Epit in MARKING The set The part select 6 to	uffix How within poor down ut the recommend	not contain any availa led that you add write	ina erittan. es to d		
Inflator Address					
mitator P Address	Parts (IDCD_)P,	Post_B(12/32) 🔻			
Default Daterery Penalty DNS	0.0.0				
Dis Patient al	a Dite automatical	y assigned from the se	methel pool		
The Placeses at	a 1 be automatical et interface () 18	v assigned from the se C M Auto Target Interfi	methef pool		
The P apprent of the P	et morte control (control) et morte control (control) Priority	u assigned from the se CBI Auto Target interto Part Interdo	methed pool Net Authentication Pic	ICO FW Adde	LUNIN
Berrear Com	a b be automatical) et montore () (8 (Point) 1 2	v assigned from the se CBI Auto Target Intent Post 1200 1200	metted pool ant Authentication Pi	18010 PM Adds 182 198 82 20 192 108 82 21	LUN III D D
The P approximation of	a b be submulicati et montore () (8 1 Bisch) 1 2	u assigned from the se CBI Auto Target Intent ISOD 1200	netter pool net Authentication Pi	18C80 PMA Addee 182 198 82 20 192 108 92 21	2 2

30. Click OK.

31. Review the table to make sure that all boot devices were created and identified. Verify that the boot devices are in the correct boot sequence.

32. Click Next to continue to the next section.

Configure Maintenance Policy

1. Change the Maintenance Policy to default.



2. Click Next.

Configure Server Assignment

To configure server assignment, complete the following steps:

- 1. In the Pool Assignment list, select Infra_Pool.
- 2. Optional: Select a Server Pool Qualification policy.
- 3. Select Down as the power state to be applied when the profile is associated with the server.
- 4. Select "UCS-Broadwell" for the Server Pool Qualification.
- 5. Firmware Management at the bottom of the page can be left alone as it will use default from the Host Firmware list.



6. Click Next.

Configure Operational Policies

To configure the operational policies, complete the following steps:

- 1. In the BIOS Policy list, select VM-Host-Infra.
- 2. Expand Power Control Policy Configuration and select No-Power-Cap in the Power Control Policy list.

odi denna Picka Teranak	Operational Policies Optimity good laboration de de la forma general.	
A - Research Stream - Andrew Stream - Andrew Stream - Stream		

- 3. Click Finish to create the service profile template.
- 4. Click OK in the confirmation message.

Create Service Profile Template (FC Boot)

In this procedure, one service profile template for Infrastructure ESXi hosts is created for fabric A boot.

To create the service profile template, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Cisco UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Service Profile Templates > root.
- 3. Right-click root.
- 4. Select Create Service Profile Template to open the Create Service Profile Template wizard.
- 5. Enter VM-Host-Prod-FC-A as the name of the service profile template. This service profile template is configured to boot from storage node 1 on fabric
- Α.
- 6. Select the "Updating Template" option.
- 7. Under UUID, select UUID_Pool as the UUID pool.

A lines lower field have		*
Unified C	omputing System Manager	
 Canada Sector Finde Sequence Canada Sector Sector Canada Sector	Headlify Service Profile Template Interview open Interview open <t< th=""><th></th></t<>	

8. Click Next.

Configure Storage Provisioning

1. If you have servers with no physical disks, click on the Local Disk Configuration Policy and select the SAN-Boot Local Storage Policy. Otherwise, select the default Local Storage Policy.

2. Click Next.

Configure Networking Options

- 1. Keep the default setting for Dynamic vNIC Connection Policy.
- 2. Select the "Use Connectivity Policy" option to configure the LAN connectivity.
- 3. Select Infra-LAN-Policy from the LAN Connectivity Policy pull-down.

4. Select IQN_Pool within the Initiator Name Assignment pull-down.

	nt Constant Principal Second Principal PrinciP	is a share Alb	manes.	
all all relationsee				
	i Chann (in more i fan in mann fan i John Million (In Million fan i John Million (In	er nachol Pony E viller	0 (and define the set	
	The second second second second	104.405		

5. Click Next.

Configure Storage Options

- 1. Select the Use Connectivity Policy option for the "How would you like to configure SAN connectivity?" field.
- 2. Pick the Infra-SAN-Policy option from the SAN Connectivity Policy pull-down.

A line last type has	-	8
Unified C	omputing System Manager	
	SAN Connectivity Optimity with Mitching and With Independent and the	
 Construction Construction<	And a series of a developer to the research of the operation of the operat	
		Lobert Lifetura Lifetura Lifetura

The SAN Connectivity policy created earlier will work for FC or iSCSI environments and should be changed if one of these protocols is not being used.

3. Click Next.

Configure Zoning Options

Set no Zoning options and click Next.

Configure vNIC/HBA Placement

1. In the "Select Placement" list, leave the placement policy as "Let System Perform Placement".

2. Click Next.

Configure vMedia Policy

1. From the vMedia Policy pulldown select "ESXi-6.0U1b-HTTP"

2. Click Next.

Configure Server Boot Order

1. Select ${\tt Boot-FC-A}$ for Boot Policy.

 Construction of formation of the second of th	ene filter futur Marine en Materica par a 11 de Juniore a como Marine en Materica par a la la casa de la casa de La calificial del filte como del la casa della como di casa d
Constanting to some the second s	nago na managang ng kawang mang Mang na mang na mang na mang na managang na managang na mang mang na man
as as differ adapt gives	
	and the second sec
And the second s	9440 A. L. B. E. B. B.
With the second se	
# Nove Called	
	Contractor and a second s
The set for a firmer	and the second s
Winter Salat Salation Design	e partovniki kunk
· Martine · Barres	
WE SAN Deal Property Property	3001 00 ADVESE 44 88 9

2. Click Next to continue to the next section.

Configure Maintenance Policy

1. Change the Maintenance Policy to default.

▲ Insections for the loss	-	
Unified C	computing System Manager	
Anna Serve Parte Server	Maintenance Policy Spectrice Register Register Language and a relieve among language and the register in the server assessed to bits are to profile	
2/1000	* Multimater Paley	
	Second Conference (1997) The Conference of the American State of the Conference of t	
1 (Annalisation Party and Annalisation Party and Annalisation Party and Annalisation and Annalisat	tanan antar Anana tanan Anana Tanan Kana	
	Collect United Di	ins.

2. Click Next.

Configure Server Assignment

To configure server assignment, complete the following steps:

- 1. In the Pool Assignment list, select Infra_Pool.
- 2. Optional: Select a Server Pool Qualification policy.
- 3. Select Down as the power state to be applied when the profile is associated with the server.
- 4. Select "UCS-Broadwell" for the Server Pool Qualification.
- 5. Firmware Management at the bottom of the page can be left alone as it will use default from the Host Firmware list.

ten breez forte bruten	Server Assignment Optimity unity is error protific its	arrist godie respine	
1 Charles Inner States	This last served a server land () is a write	and an eff bearing printering.	
1. marine	Part Amproxit and Aust 41	12 Emple April Mal	
		And the part of the second sec	
A Deservation	Parate in the second at the second se	rande and an experimental product of the advances of the second second to be a second to be advances before the second [2]	
	 Terminis Rangement (\$200) 	Click Committee, Adapter)	
	E you would a load bimand and, by a character for scalars used for firmer	te nevez antife. De polite al politik de transit en de años degli à associat ette : a años de constat en de association anos:	
	Presidential Printer Security Security	Adverty veetly prevent #2	
	B Institution	Tatage -	

6. Click Next.

- **Configure Operational Policies**
- To configure the operational policies, complete the following steps:
- 1. In the BIOS Policy list, select VM-Host-Infra.
- 2. Expand Power Control Policy Configuration and select No-Power-Cap in the Power Control Policy list.

call Server Ports Services	Operational Policies Polyech you'd laborate de de la la compagnete.	
A Constraint of the second secon	NOA Configuration Subscripting Subscriptin	

- 3. Click Finish to create the service profile template.
- 4. Click OK in the confirmation message.

Create Service Profiles

To create service profiles from the service profile template, complete the following steps:

- 1. Connect to the UCS 6248UP Fabric Interconnect UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 2. Select Service Profile Templates > root > Service Template VM-Host-Infra-iSCSI-A.
- 3. Right-click VM-Host-Infra-iSCSI-A and select Create Service Profiles from Template.
- 4. Enter VM-Host-Infra-0 as the service profile prefix.
- 5. Enter 1 as "Name Suffix Starting Number."
- 6. Enter 1 as the "Number of Instances."
- 7. Click OK to create the service profile.

Cleare Service Profiles From	n Terruptate	×
Create Service Pro	ofiles From Template	0
Naming Freds (VM-Host-I	nfra-0	
Name Buffs Starting Number	(1	
Number of Instances	1	

- 8. Click OK in the confirmation message.
- 9. Connect to the UCS 6332-16UP Fabric Interconnect UCS Manager, click the Servers tab in the navigation pane.
- 10. Select Service Profile Templates > root > Service Template VM-Host-Prod-Fabric-A.
- 11. Right-click VM-Host-Prod-Fabric-A and select Create Service Profiles from Template.
- 12. Enter <code>VM-Host-Prod-0</code> as the service profile prefix.
- 13. Enter 1 as "Name Suffix Starting Number."
- 14. Enter 1 as the "Number of Instances."
- 15. Click OK to create the service profile.

From Template

16. Click OK in the confirmation message.

Add More Servers to FlexPod Unit

Additional server pools, service profile templates, and service profiles can be created in the respective organizations to add more servers to the FlexPod unit. All other pools and policies are at the root level and can be shared among the organizations.

Gather Necessary Information

Table 18

6

After the Cisco UCS service profiles have been created, each infrastructure blade in the environment will have a unique configuration. To proceed with the FlexPod deployment, specific information must be gathered from each Cisco UCS blade and from the NetApp controllers. Insert the required information into Table 18 and Table 19.

[Vserver	Target: WWPN (FC), or IQN (ISCSI)	
	Infra-SVM		
			>
	To obtain the FC WWPN, run the fcp $$ sh	ow command on the storage cluster management interface.	

To obtain the iSCSI IQN, run the iscsi show command on the storage cluster management interface.

Table 19 vNIC iSCSI IQNs for fabric A and fabric B

iSCSI LIFs for iSCSI IQN

	Cisco UCS Service Profile Name	Initiator: WWPNs (FC) or IQN (iSCSI)	Variables	
	VM-Host-Infra-01		< <var_vm_host_infra_01_wwpn1>> and <<var_vm_host_infra_01_wwpn2>>; or <<var_vm_host_infra_01_iqn>></var_vm_host_infra_01_iqn></var_vm_host_infra_01_wwpn2></var_vm_host_infra_01_wwpn1>	
	VM-Host-Prod-02		< <var_vm_host_prod_02_wwpn1>> and <<var_vm_host_prod_02_wwpn2>>; or <<var_vm_host_prod_02_iqn>></var_vm_host_prod_02_iqn></var_vm_host_prod_02_wwpn2></var_vm_host_prod_02_wwpn1>	
-				>

To obtain the FC vHBA WWPN information in Cisco UCS Manager GUI, go to Servers > Service Profiles > root. Click each service profile and then click the "Storage" tab, then "vHBAs" tab on the right. The WWPNs are displayed in the table at the bottom of the page.

To obtain the iSCSI vNIC IQN information in Cisco UCS Manager GUI, go to Servers > Service Profiles > root. Click each service profile and then click the "iSCSI vNICs" tab on the right. The "Initiator Name" is displayed at the top of the page under the "Service Profile Initiator Name."

Storage Configuration - Boot LUNs and Igroups

Clustered Data ONTAP Boot Storage Setup

Create igroups

If you are using FC connectivity, create igroups by entering the following commands from the cluster management node SSH connection:

igroup create -vserver Infra-SVM -igroup VM-Host-Infra-01 -protocol fc -ostype vmware -initiator <<var_vm_host_infra_01_wwpn1>>, <<var_vm_host_infra_01_wwpn2>>

igroup create -vserver Infra-SVM -igroup VM-Host-Prod-02 -protocol fc -ostype vmware -initiator <<var_vm_host_prod_02_wwpn1>>, <<var_vm_host_prod_02_wwpn2>>

igroup create -vserver Infra-SVM -igroup MGMT-Hosts -protocol fc -ostype vmware -initiator <<var_vm_host_infra_01_wwpn1>>, <<var_vm_host_infra_01_wwpn2>>, <<var_vm_host_prod_02_wwpn2>>

If you are using iSCSI connectivity, create igroups by entering the following commands from the cluster management node SSH connection:

igroup create -vserver Infra-SVM -igroup VM-Host-Infra-01 -protocol iscsi -ostype vmware -initiator <<var_vm_host_infra_01_iqn>> igroup create -vserver Infra-SVM -igroup VM-Host-Prod-02 -protocol iscsi -ostype vmware -initiator <<var_vm_host_prod_02_iqn>> igroup create -vserver Infra-SVM -igroup MGMT-Hosts -protocol iscsi -ostype vmware -initiator <<var_vm_host_infra_01_iqn>>, <<var_vm_host_prod_02_iqn>>

Use the values listed in Table 18 and Table 19 for the WWPN and IQN information.

To view the three igroups just created, type igroup show.

Map Boot LUNs to igroups

From the storage cluster management SSH connection, enter the following commands:

lun map -vserver Infra-SVM -volume esxi_boot -lun VM-Host-Infra-01 -igroup VM-Host-Infra-01 -lun-id 0 lun map -vserver Infra-SVM -volume esxi_boot -lun VM-Host-Prod-02 -igroup VM-Host-Prod-02 -lun-id 0

VMware vSphere 6.0 U1 Setup

VMware ESXi 6.0 U1

This section provides detailed instructions for installing VMware ESXi 6.0 in an environment. After the procedures are completed, two booted ESXi hosts will be provisioned.

Several methods exist for installing ESXi in a VMware environment. These procedures focus on how to use the built-in keyboard, video, mouse (KVM) console and virtual media features in Cisco UCS Manager to map remote installation media to individual servers and connect to their boot logical unit numbers (LUNs).

Download Cisco Custom Image for ESXi 6.0 U1

- 1. Click the following link vmware login page.
- 2. Type your email or customer number and the password and then click Log in.
- 3. Click on the following link CiscoCustomImage6.0 U1b.
- 4. Click Download Now.
- 5. Save it to your destination folder.

This ESXi 6.0 U1b Cisco custom image includes updates for the fnic and eNIC drivers. The versions that are part of this image are: eNIC: 2.3.0.6; fNIC: 1.6.0.24

Log in to Cisco UCS 6300/6200 Fabric Interconnect

Cisco UCS Manager

The IP KVM enables the administrator to begin the installation of the operating system (OS) through remote media. It is necessary to log in to the UCS environment to run the IP KVM.

To log in to the Cisco UCS environment, complete the following steps:

- 1. Open a web browser and enter the IP address for the Cisco UCS cluster address. This step launches the Cisco UCS Manager application.
- 2. To download the Cisco UCS Manager software, click the Launch UCS Manager link.
- 3. If prompted to accept security certificates, accept as necessary.
- 4. When prompted, enter admin as the user name and enter the administrative password.
- 5. To log in to Cisco UCS Manager, click Login.
- 6. From the main menu, click the Servers tab.
- 7. Select Servers > Service Profiles > root > VM-Host-Infra-01.
- 8. Right-click VM-Host-Infra-01 and select KVM Console.
- 9. If prompted to accept an Unencrypted KVM session, accept as necessary.
- 10. Select Servers > Service Profiles > root > VM-Host-Prod-02.
- 11. Right-click VM-Host-Prod-02. and select KVM Console.
- 12. If prompted to accept an Unencrypted KVM session, accept as necessary.

Set Up VMware ESXi Installation

ESXi Hosts VM-Host-Infra-01 and VM-Host-Prod-02

Skip this step if using vMedia policies. ISO file will already be connected to KVM.

To prepare the server for the OS installation, complete the following steps on each ESXi host:

- 1. In the KVM window, click Virtual Media.
- 2. Click Activate Virtual Devices
- 3. If prompted to accept an Unencrypted KVM session, accept as necessary.
- 4. Click Virtual Media and select Map CD/DVD.
- 5. Browse to the ESXi installer ISO image file and click Open.
- 6. Click Map Device.
- 7. Click the KVM tab to monitor the server boot.
- 8. Boot the server by selecting Boot Server and clicking OK. Then click OK again.

Install ESXi

ESXi Hosts VM-Host-Infra-01 and VM-Host-Prod-02

To install VMware ESXi to the iSCSI-bootable or FC-bootable LUN of the hosts, complete the following steps on each host:

- 1. On reboot, the machine detects the presence of the ESXi installation media. Select the ESXi installer from the boot menu that is displayed.
- 2. After the installer is finished loading, press Enter to continue with the installation.
- 3. Read and accept the end-user license agreement (EULA). Press F11 to accept and continue.
- 4. Select the LUN that was previously set up as the installation disk for ESXi and press Enter to continue with the installation.
- 5. Select the appropriate keyboard layout and press Enter.
- 6. Enter and confirm the root password and press Enter.
- 7. The installer issues a warning that the selected disk will be repartitioned. Press F11 to continue with the installation.
- 8. After the installation is complete, click on the Virtual Media tab and clear the 🗸 mark next to the ESXi installation media. Click Yes.

The ESXi installation image must be unmapped to make sure that the server reboots into ESXi and not into the installer.

9. From the KVM tab, press Enter to reboot the server.

Set Up Management Networking for ESXi Hosts

Adding a management network for each VMware host is necessary for managing the host. To add a management network for the VMware hosts, complete the following steps on each ESXi host:

ESXi Host VM-Host-Infra-01

To configure the VM-Host-Infra-01 ESXi host with access to the management network, complete the following steps:

1. After the server has finished rebooting, press F2 to customize the system.

- 2. Log in as root, enter the corresponding password, and press Enter to log in.
- 3. Select the Configure the Management Network option and press Enter.
- 4. Select the VLAN (Optional) option and press Enter.
- 5. Enter the <<var_ib_mgmt_vlan_id>> and press Enter.
- 6. Select Network Adapters option and select vmnic04 and press Enter.
- 7. From the Configure Management Network menu, select IP Configuration and press Enter.
- 8. Select the Set Static IP Address and Network Configuration option by using the space bar.
- 9. Enter the IP address for managing the first ESXi host: <<var_vm_host_infra_01_ip>>.
- 10. Enter the subnet mask for the first ESXi host.
- 11. Enter the default gateway for the first ESXi host.
- 12. Press Enter to accept the changes to the IP configuration.
- 13. Select the IPv6 Configuration option and press Enter.
- 14. Using the spacebar, select Disable IPv6 (restart required) and press Enter.
- 15. Select the DNS Configuration option and press Enter.

Because the IP address is assigned manually, the DNS information must also be entered manually.

16. Enter the IP address of the primary DNS server.

- 17. Optional: Enter the IP address of the secondary DNS server.
- 18. Enter the fully gualified domain name (FQDN) for the first ESXi host.
- 19. Press Enter to accept the changes to the DNS configuration.
- 20. Press Esc to exit the Configure Management Network submenu.
- 21. Press Y to confirm the changes and return to the main menu.
- 22. The ESXi host reboots. After reboot, press F2 and log back in as root.
- 23. Select Test Management Network to verify that the management network is set up correctly and press Enter.
- 24. Press Enter to run the test.
- 25. Press Enter to exit the window.
- 26. Press Esc to log out of the VMware console.

ESXi Host VM-Host-Prod-02

To configure the VM-Host-Prod-02 ESXi host with access to the management network, complete the following steps:

- 1. After the server has finished rebooting, press F2 to customize the system.
- 2. Log in as root and enter the corresponding password.
- 3. Select the Configure the Management Network option and press Enter.
- 4. Select the VLAN (Optional) option and press Enter.
- 5. Enter the <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> and press Enter.
- 6. Select Network Adapters option and select vmnic4 (defined earlier as OOB vNIC) and press Enter.
- 7. From the Configure Management Network menu, select IP Configuration and press Enter.
- 8. Select the Set Static IP Address and Network Configuration option by using the space bar.
- 9. Enter the IP address for managing the second ESXi host: <<var_vm_host_prod_02_ip>>.
- 10. Enter the subnet mask for the second ESXi host.
- 11. Enter the default gateway for the second ESXi host.
- 12. Press Enter to accept the changes to the IP configuration.
- 13. Select the IPv6 Configuration option and press Enter.
- 14. Using the spacebar, select Disable IPv6 (restart required) and press Enter.
- 15. Select the DNS Configuration option and press Enter.

Because the IP address is assigned manually, the DNS information must also be entered manually.

16. Enter the IP address of the primary DNS server.

- 17. Optional: Enter the IP address of the secondary DNS server.
- 18. Enter the FQDN for the second ESXi host.
- 19. Press Enter to accept the changes to the DNS configuration.
- 20. Press Esc to exit the Configure Management Network submenu
- 21. Press Y to confirm the changes and return to the main menu.
- 22. The ESXi host reboots. After reboot, press F2 and log back in as root.
- 23. Select Test Management Network to verify that the management network is set up correctly and press Enter.
- 24. Press Enter to run the test.
- 25. Press Enter to exit the window.
- 26. Press Esc to log out of the VMware console.

Download VMware vSphere Client

To download the VMware vSphere Client, complete the following steps:

- 1. Open a web browser on the management workstation and navigate to the VM-Host-Infra-01 management IP address.
- 2. Download and install the vSphere Client.

A This application is downloaded from the VMware website and Internet access is required on the management workstation.

Log in to VMware ESXi Hosts by Using VMware vSphere Client

ESXi Host VM-Host-Infra-01

To log in to the VM-Host-Infra-01 ESXi host (which was provisioned from an iSCSI boot Service Profile Template) by using the VMware vSphere Client, complete the following steps:

1. Open the recently downloaded VMware vSphere Client and enter the IP address of VM-Host-Infra-01 as the host you are trying to connect to:

- <<var_vm_host_infra_01_ip>>.
- 2. Enter root for the user name.
- 3. Enter the root password.
- 4. Click Login to connect.
- ESXi Host VM-Host-Prod-02

To log in to the VM-Host-Prod-02 ESXi host by using the VMware vSphere Client, complete the following steps:

1. Open the recently downloaded VMware vSphere Client and enter the IP address of VM-Host-Prod-02 as the host you are trying to connect to:

- <<var_vm_host_prod_02_ip>>.
- 2. Enter root for the user name.
- 3. Enter the root password.

Set Up VMkernel Ports and Virtual Switch

ESXi Host VM-Host-Infra-01

To set up the VMkernel ports and the virtual switches on the VM-Host-Infra-01. ESXi host, complete the following steps:

- 1. From the vSphere Client, select the host in the inventory.
- 2. Click the Configuration tab.
- 3. In the Hardware pane, click Networking
- 4. On the right side of vSwitch0, click Properties.
- 5. Select the vSwitch configuration and click Edit.

- 6. From the General tab, change the MTU to 9000.
- 7. Click OK.
- 8. Select the Management Network configuration and click Edit.
- 9. Change the network label to VMkernel-MGMT and select the Management Traffic checkbox.
- 10. Click OK to finalize the edits for Management Network.
- 11. Select the VM Network configuration and click Edit.
- 12. Change the network label to MGMT Network and enter <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> in the VLAN ID (Optional) field.
- 13. Click OK to finalize the edits for VM Network.
- 14. Click Close.
- 15. On the right side of iScsiBootvSwitch, click Properties.
- 16. Select the vSwitch configuration and click Edit.
- 17. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 18. Click OK.
- 19. Select iScsiBootPG and click Edit.
- 20. Change the Network Label to VMkernel-iSCSI-A.
- 21. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 22. Click OK.
- 23. Click Close.
- 24. In the vSphere Standard Switch view, click Add Networking.
- 25. Select VMkernel and click Next.
- 26. Select Create a vSphere standard switch to create a new vSphere standard switch.
- 27. Select the check boxes for the network adapter vmnic3.
- 28. Click Next.
- 29. Change the network label to VMkernel-iSCSI-B.
- 30. Click Next.
- 31. Enter the IP address and the subnet mask for the iSCSI VLAN B interface for VM-Host-Infra-01.

b To obtain the iSCSI IP address information; login to the Cisco UCS Manager, in the servers tab select the corresponding service profiles. In the right pane, click the boot order and select the iSCSI-B-vNIC; click set iSCSI boot parameters; the IP address should appear as the initiator IP address.

- 32. Click Next.
- 33. Click Finish.
- **34.** On the right side of vSwitch1, click Properties.
- 35. Select the vSwitch configuration and click Edit.
- 36. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 37. Click OK.
- 38. Select VMkernel-iSCSI-B and click Edit.
- 39. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 40. Click OK.
- 41. Click Close.
- 42. On the right side of vSwitch0, click Properties.
- 43. Click Add.
- $\textbf{44. Change the network label to VMkernel-NFS and enter << var_nfs_vlan_id>> in the VLAN ID (Optional) field.}$
- 45. Click Next.
- **46.** Enter the IP address <<var_nfs_vlan_ip_host_01>> and the subnet mask <<var_nfs_vlan_ip_mask_host_01>> for the NFS VLAN interface for VM-Host-Infra-01.
- 47. To continue with the NFS VMkernel creation, click Next.
- 48. To finalize the creation of the NFS VMkernel interface, click Finish.
- 49. Select the VMkernel-NFS configuration and click Edit.
- 50. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 51. Click OK to finalize the edits for the VMkernel-NFS network.
- 52. Click Add.
- 53. Change the network label to VMkernel-vMotion and enter <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>> in the VLAN ID (Optional) field.
- 54. Click Next.
- 55. Enter the IP address <<var_vmotion_vlan_ip_host_01>> and the subnet mask <<var_vmotion_vlan_ip_mask_host_01>> for the vMotion VLAN interface for VM-Host-Infra-01.
- 56. To continue with the vMotion VMkernel creation, click Next.
- 57. To finalize the creation of the vMotion VMkernel interface, click Finish.
- 58. Select the VMkernel-vMotion configuration and click Edit.
- 59. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 60. Click OK to finalize the edits for the VMkernel-vMotion network.
- 61. The properties for vSwitch0 should be similar to the following example:

Configuration	Semay	vighere Standard Sunki's Properties		
2 rivita	128 Horts	P Number of Portos	120	
Management Net vMillerver-NPS vMillerver-Mobol	Virtual Machine vPloties and P vPloties and P	Advanced Properties ett.p	9930	
A HURSDANDE	ALOSOFI RUL &	Default Polices		
		Secondy		
		Premission Phote:	Report	
		PIAC Retriess Chargest	Accept	
		Forgell Transmits	Accept	
		Traffic Shoping		
		Average Bandweith:	20 C	
		Peak bandryd@s	*	
		Gant firm)	+	
		Fallover and Load Balancing		
		Load Selentry:	PyrtID	
		Herbrack Pallure Detectors	Link alarka only	
		Notify Switchess	196	12
		Patrick.	700	
Adit.	tel.	Active Adapters:	senicil, venici	

62. To finalize the ESXi host networking setup, close the dialog box. The networking for the ESXi host should be similar to the following example:



ESXi Host VM-Host-Prod-02

To set up the VMkernel ports and the virtual switches on the VM-Host-Prod-02, which was provisioned as a Fibre Channel booted ESXi host, complete the following steps:

- 1. From the vSphere Client, select the host in the inventory.
- 2. Click the Configuration tab.
- 3. In the Hardware pane, click Networking.
- 4. On the right side of vSwitch0, click Properties.
- 5. Select the vSwitch configuration and click Edit.
- 6. From the General tab, change the MTU to 9000.
- 7. Click OK.
- 8. Select the Management Network configuration and click Edit.
- 9. Change the network label to <VMkernel-MGMT> and select the Management Traffic checkbox.
- 10. Click OK to finalize the edits for Management Network.
- 11. Select the VM Network configuration and click Edit.
- 12. Change the network label to <MGMT Network> and enter <<var ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> in the VLAN ID (Optional) field.
- 13. Click OK to finalize the edits for VM Network.

14. Click Close.

- 15. In the vSphere Standard Switch view, click Add Networking.
- 16. Select VMkernel and click Next.
- 17. Select Create a vSphere standard switch to create a new vSphere standard switch.
- 18. Select the check boxes for the network adapter vmnic2.
- 19. Click Next.
- 20. Change the network label to <VMkernel-iSCSI-A>.
- 21. Enter the IP address and the subnet mask for the iSCSI VLAN interface for ${\tt VM-Host-Prod-02}$.
- 22. Click Next.
- 23. Click Finish.
- 24. On the right side of vSwitch1, click Properties.
- 25. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 26. Click OK.
- 27. In the vSphere Standard Switch view, click Add Networking.
- 28. Select VMkernel and click Next.
- 29. Select Create a vSphere standard switch to create a new vSphere standard switch.
- 30. Select the check boxes for the network adapter vmnic3.
- 31. Click Next.
- 32. Change the network label to <VMkernel-iSCSI-B>.
- 33. Click Next.
- 34. Enter the IP address and the subnet mask for the iSCSI VLAN interface for VM-Host-Prod-02.
- 35. Click Next.
- 36. Click Finish.
- 37. On the right side of vSwitch2, click Properties.
- 38. Select the vSwitch configuration and click Edit.
- 39. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 40. Click OK.
- 41. Select VMkernel-iSCSI-B and click Edit.
- 42. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 43. Click OK.
- 44. Click Close.
- 45. On the right side of vSwitch0, click Properties.
- 46. Click Add.
- 47. Select VMkernel and click Next.
- 48. Change the network label to VMkernel-NFS and enter <<var_nfs_vlan_id>> in the VLAN ID (Optional) field.
- 49. Click Next.

50. Enter the IP address <<var_nfs_vlan_ip_host_02>> and the subnet mask <<var_nfs_vlan_ip_mask_host_02>> for the NFS VLAN interface for VM-Host-Prod-02.

- 51. To continue with the NFS VMkernel creation, click Next.
- 52. To finalize the creation of the NFS VMkernel interface, click Finish.
- **53.** Select the VMkernel-NFS configuration and click Edit.
- 54. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 55. Click OK to finalize the edits for the VMkernel-NFS network.
- 56. Click Add.
- 57. Change the network label to VMkernel-vMotion and enter <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>> in the VLAN ID (Optional) field.
- 58. Click Next.

59. Enter the IP address <<var_vmotion_vlan_ip_host_02>> and the subnet mask <<var_vmotion_vlan_ip_mask_host_02>> for the vMotion VLAN interface for VM-Host-Prod-02.

- 60. To continue with the vMotion VMkernel creation, click Next.
- 61. To finalize the creation of the vMotion VMkernel interface, click Finish.
- 62. Select the VMkernel-vMotion configuration and click Edit.
- 63. Change the MTU to 9000.
- 64. Click OK to finalize the edits for the VMkernel-vMotion network.

Configuration	Semay	 Viphere Standerd Suntils Proper Sea 		116
2 rivita	128 Horts	P Nanber of Porto	120	
Mangenevt Net VMLexel-Mobol VMLexel-Mobol	Virtual Machine vPlotter and P vPlotter and P	Advanced Properties ettp	9031	
A LANGUAGE	ALANDER RUG & TO	Defail Poloni Security		
		Promission Profes MAC Address Chargest	Report Accept	
		Forged Transmiss	Accept	
		Teattic Shoping		
		Average Bandweiths	10 C	
		Peak bandwidths	+	
		Overst firms	+	
		Failurer and Load Balancing		
		Lost Selentry:	PyttD	
		Hebrark Palure Detectors	Link status only	
		hothy Switchess	196	
	100		700	
Adl	the.	Active Adapters:	smich, venici	

65. To finalize the ESXi host networking setup, close the dialog box. The networking for the ESXi host should be similar to the following example:



Setup iSCSI Multipathing

ESXi Hosts VM-Host-Infra-01 and VM-Host-Prod-02

To setup 4 iSCSI paths between storage and the ESXi host, complete the following steps on each ESXi host:

- 1. For the FC booted host, connect to the vSphere Client, select the configuration tab of the host.
- 2. Click Storage Adapters in the Hardware pane.
- 3. Select Add to create an iSCSI Software Adapter.
- 4. Specify the iqn assigned to the host by the Service Profile and create the iSCSI Software Adapter.
- 5. For both hosts, continue within the Storage Adapters section in the Hardware pane of the host Configuration tab.
- 6. Select the iSCSI Software Adapter and click Properties.
- 7. Select the Dynamic Discovery tab and click Add.
- 8. Enter the IP address of iscsi_lif01a.
- 9. Click OK.

^{10.} Repeat putting in the IP addresses of iscsi_lif01b, iscsi_lif02a and iscsi_lif02b.



11. Click Close and then click yes to rescan the host bus adapter.

12. You should now see 4 connected paths in the Details pane.

Install VMware Drivers for the Cisco Virtual Interface Card (VIC)

Download and extract the following VMware VIC Drivers to the Management workstation: fnic Driver version 1.6.0.25 enic Driver version 2.3.0.7

ESXi Hosts VM-Host-Infra-01 and VM-Host-Prod-02

To install VMware VIC Drivers on the ESXi host VM-Host-Infra-01 and VM-Host-Prod-02, complete the following steps:

1. From each vSphere Client, select the host in the inventory.

- 2. Click the Summary tab to view the environment summary.
- 3. Click Enter Maintenance Mode within the Commands section of the Summary tab.
- 4. Click Yes for any dialogue box presented.
- 5. From Resources > Storage, right-click datastore1 and select Browse Datastore.
- 6. Click the fourth button and select Upload File.
- 7. Navigate to the saved location for the downloaded VIC drivers and select fnic_driver_1.6.0.25-3741467.zip.
- 8. Click Open and Yes to upload the file to datastore1.
- 9. Click the fourth button and select Upload File.
- 10. Navigate to the saved location for the downloaded VIC drivers and select ESXi60-enic-2.3.0.7-3642661.zip.
- 11. Click Open and Yes to upload the file to datastore1.
- 12. Make sure the files have been uploaded to both ESXi hosts.

13. Within the vSphere Client select the Configuration tab and click Security Profile within the Software section.

Property Pro	Bill Version Bill Version Confidence Software Confidence Software (Software) Software (Software) Software (Software) Software)				
Nexus Interne Statusers Minard Straps Minard Straps Minard Straps Minard Straps Tata Conference Static of Faces Inter Annual Minard Minard Straps Minard Straps Minard Straps Minard Straps Minard Straps Minard Straps Minard Straps	MART News Style Insert Sectors (Denomination Loss Execution Sectors (Denomination Sectors And Sectors (Denomination Sectors And Sectors (Denomination And Sectors (Denomination Sectors (Denomination				
Reserve Miss	Level Search Teacher Control Linearch Statistics Statis				
Annu reach Man Alaber Man Alaber Market Mark	The function of the second sec				
Maran Magan Maran Maga Maran Maga Maran Maga Maran Maga Maran Mara	Nor (2014) What John Appl (27 Sector Malos Acous chara Exercis Sec Sec Sec Sec Sec Sec Sec Sec				
Nor-Years) See Interface Inter	UP search Africa Divelors Annue ofness Exercis Silv Service Consultant Divel Consultant Divel Consultant Divel Consultant Second				
All Sealers Internet Frankreit Site Schausers Site Schauser	uhana karoni Sir Kanag bewe Direk Constitut (201 Siree Kenedi Kenedi Kenedi Kenedi Kenedi Kenedi				
remediations The profession The profession	lanig terus Direk Centrikal Direk Centrikal Direkter Berne Direkter Direkte				
The of Sector Se	10-304 metal 10-54 1				
All produces and all the second secon	And Towner				
ter af Talend Barra (Manader er af Nerret Raght) same. Status (Mel Man Lata verberete Talen Radar af Status (Manader Talen Radar) same	13m Galf Rauli Tantanan	A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL			- 1
In an Surrey Surface autors Bacary Parks That such a scriberow Status Research Sources Surface Research Surface Surfac	Raul Technical	m/1,00/101	1		
ten late ocheren Tale falsen falsen Tale falsen Tale falsen Tale falsen	MM C	ALL AND CREATING ALL AND ALL A	2		
And a first street stre	Del Lien	ADD TRAVE BY MAKE	2		
	Network .	-41010-01	2		
	URD Dates	10444 (10.01) Add (20.01)	*		
	atiyaga Barti Sava	00017092	- 2		
	Volum 205 Champing Immun	12240-2040-12201-22097 -	1		
	Lindowe	1000 (107)	-		
	CONTRACTOR ADDRESS	00,0001	2		
	Print Distances	arriting.			
ICK Properties within th	ne Services secti	on at the top.			
Services Emporties					
					-
Barrista Access					
10001					
Libel	Deers	011			
SYNN SELVER	9.00	200			
PC/SC Smart Card Daen	an Sop	Jel.			
Loso-caudo reprind Di	Harden Human	100 C			
end must	I willing second	2004			
ESK SHET	36.016	2004			
A.Org server	5000	200			
vMware «Ceriter Agent	Runn	rig.			- 1
NTP Deemon	Skope	(e)			
Active Directory Service	Stop	963			
VProbe Daemon	Ron	ped-			
1 584	Rep	bet			2
Service Properties					
General					
Services	SHO Server				
England Information	any hores				
Contraction of the second second	This VER cont	airs all of the base f	anctonolity of vSphere	ESA.	
			a ser anne chier		
				Options	
				1	

15. Select ESXi Shell and click the Options... button.

Startup Policy			1	- Sine
 Start automatic Check and store 	any it any ports are	open, and stop	vines as ports a	e cosed
Start and stop	with nost			
Start and stop i	nanuaky			
Service Commands		0.7	S	
Start	5/607	Western-		

16. Select Start automatically if any ports are open, and stop when all ports are closed within the Startup Policy section.

- 17. Click Start, and OK.
- 18. Select SSH and click the Options... button.

19. Select Start automatically if any ports are open, and stop when all ports are closed within the Startup Policy section.

- 20. Click Start, and OK.
- 21. Click OK to exit from the Service Properties configuration window.

Enabling ssh can be considered optional if the VMware vSphere Remote CLI is installed and used.

- 22. Connect to each ESXi hosts through ssh from a shell connection or putty terminal.
- 23. Login as root with the password specified for <<var_password>>.
- 24. Run the following commands on each host:
- 25. esxcli software vib update -d /vmfs/volumes/datastore/fnic_driver_1.6.0.25-offline_bundle-3642682.zip
- 26. esxcli software vib install -d /vmfs/volumes/datastore/ESXi60-enic-2.3.0.7-offline_bundle-3642661.zip
- 27. Reboot each host after both commands have been run.

Mount Required Datastores

ESXi Hosts VM-Host-Infra-01 and VM-Host-Prod-02

To mount the required datastores, complete the following steps on each ESXi host:

- 1. From the vSphere Client, select the host in the inventory.
- 2. To enable configurations, click the Configuration tab.
- 3. Click Storage in the Hardware pane.
- 4. From the Datastores area, click Add Storage to open the Add Storage wizard.

Ant Strage	0.0
Select Storage Type Specify if you want to be	taat a new volkene or use a shaesaf hidder over the network.
ici HKS Nationali, The System Result to Campiton	Storage Type (**** Bak/20)************************************
376	Liters Next 2 Center

- 5. Select Network File System and click Next.
- 6. The wizard prompts for the location of the NFS export. Enter <<var_node02_nfs_lif_infra_datastore_1_ip>> as the IP address for nfs_lif_infra_datastore_1.
- 7. Enter /infra_datastore_1 as the path for the NFS export.
- 8. Confirm that the Mount NFS read only checkbox is not selected.
- 9. Enter infra_datastore_1 as the datastore name.

Ar 1965 Bichwerk File System Analy, Sr Complete	Present line Intervent Interven
	design of the same.

- 10. To continue with the NFS datastore creation, click Next.
- 11. To finalize the creation of the NFS datastore, click Finish.
- 12. From the Datastores area, click Add Storage to open the Add Storage wizard.

Ant Strage	014
Select Storage Type Specify if you want to fu	rand a new volume or use a shaesifolder over the setuent.
NKS Network The System Ready to Campible	Storage Type Image: Type Image: Type Deate a distance on a Price Channel, ISCE, or head SCI1 disk, or mount, an exciting VMS volume. Image: The System Deates the option if you want to create a Matwork Pile System.
- 14	Shell New 2 Count

- 13. Select Network File System and click Next.
- 14. The wizard prompts for the location of the NFS export. Enter <<var_node01_nfs_lif_infra_swap_ip>> as the IP address for nfs_lif_infra_swap.
- 15. Enter /infra_swap as the path for the NFS export.
- 16. Confirm that the Mount NFS read only checkbox is not selected.
- 17. Enter infra_swap as the datastore name.



18. To continue with the NFS datastore creation, click Next.

19. To finalize the creation of the NFS datastore, click Finish.

Configure NTP on ESXi Hosts

ESXi Hosts VM-Host-Infra-01 and VM-Host-Prod-02

To configure Network Time Protocol (NTP) on the ESXi hosts, complete the following steps on each host:

- 1. From the vSphere Client, select the host in the inventory.
- 2. Click the Configuration tab.
- 3. Click **Time Configuration** in the Software pane.
- 4. Click Properties at the upper-right side of the window.
- 5. At the bottom of the Time Configuration dialog box, click Options.
- 6. In the NTP Daemon (ntpd) Options dialog box, complete the following steps:
- a. Click General in the left pane and select Start and stop with host.
- b. Click NTP Settings in the left pane and click Add.
- 7. In the Add NTP Server dialog box, enter <<var_switch_a_ntp_ip>> as the IP address of the NTP server and click OK.

8. Click Add.

- 9. In the Add NTP Server dialog box, enter <<var_switch_b_ntp_ip>> as the IP address of the NTP server and click OK.
- 10. In the NTP Daemon Options dialog box, select the Restart NTP service to apply changes checkbox and click OK.
- 11. In the Time Configuration dialog box, complete the following steps:
- a. Select the NTP Client Enabled checkbox and click OK.
- b. Verify that the clock is now set to approximately the correct time.

Mathematical Activity Activ

Move VM Swap File Location

ESXi VM-Host-Infra-01 and VM-Host-Prod-02

To move the VM swap file location, complete the following steps on each ESXi host:

- 1. From the vSphere Client, select the host in the inventory.
- 2. To enable configurations, click the Configuration tab.
- 3. Click Virtual Machine Swapfile Location in the Software pane.
- 4. Click Edit at the upper-right side of the window.
- 5. Select "Store the swapfile in a swapfile datastore selected below."
- 6. Select the <infra_swap> datastore in which to house the swap files

Virtual Machine Sw	apfile Location	n			
Swepfile Location					
 Store the swapfik This is a recommend Store the swapfik This option co 	e in the same di nded option. e in a swapfile d suld degnade v9	rectory as the v latastore select lotion performa	irtual machine ed below. nce for the aft	f.	uel mechines.
Nane	Capacity	Provisioned	Free	Туре	Thin Prové
[datastore1]	2.50 68	599.00 MB	1.92 GB	VMP5	Supporter
[infra_datastor	500.00 @	5.90 MB	499.99 GB	N°S	Supporter
[infra_seep]	100.00 @8	156.00 (B	100.00 GB	Nº5	Supportai
*					
		0	- C	ancel	Belp

7. Click OK to finalize moving the swap file location.

VMware vCenter 6.0 U1b

The procedures in the following subsections provide detailed instructions for installing the VMware vCenter 6.0 U1b Server Appliance in an environment. After the procedures are completed, a VMware vCenter Server will be configured.

Install the Client Integration Plug-in

- To install the client integration plug-in, complete the following steps:
- 1. Download the .iso installer for the vCenter Server Appliance and Client Integration Plug-in.

2. Mount the ISO image to the Windows virtual machine or physical server on which you want to install the Client Integration Plug-In to deploy the vCenter Server Appliance.

3. In the software installer directory, navigate to the vcsa directory and double-click VMware-ClientIntegrationPlugin-6.0.0.exe. The Client Integration Plugin installation wizard appears.



- 4. On the Welcome page, click Next.
- 5. Read and accept the terms in the End-User License Agreement and click Next.
- 6. Click Next.
- 7. Click Install.

Building the VMware vCenter Server Appliance

To build the VMware vCenter virtual machine, complete the following steps:

- 1. In the software installer directory, double-click vcsa-setup.html.
- 2. Allow the plug-in to run on the browser when prompted.



3. On the Home page, click Install to start the vCenter Server Appliance deployment wizard.



4. Read and accept the license agreement, and click Next.



5. In the "Connect to target server" page, enter the ESXi host name, User name and Password.



- 6. Click Yes to accept the certificate.
- 7. Enter the Appliance name and password details in the "Set up virtual machine" page.

Note of the device of the second s	2 1 And User Linesce Agreement	ter se wheel machine lands in the mattery for the control terms regulation to be anytigent							
	An and particul section Advances forget many file Advances forget many file Advances forget many file Advances forget many Advances forget Advances forget Advances Advances Advances Advances Advances Advances	Application represe DE page represe DE page sent Declare III page sent			e 				

8. In the "Select deployment type" page, choose "Install vCenter Server with an embedded Platform Services Controller."



9. Click Next.

- 10. In the "Set up Single Sign-On" page, select "Create a new SSO domain."
- 11. Enter the SSO password, Domain name and Site name.



12. Click Next.

13. Select the appliance size. For example, "Tiny (up to 10 hosts, 100 VMs)."



14. Click Next.

15. In the "Select datastore" page, choose infra_datastore_1.

 ↓ 1 that (see) serves Agreement ↓ 2 Consect to legal serves ↓ 3 At iso initial calibre ↓ 4 Meet injurgement type 	Select deseriors final for stronge scalars for the depayment The following advances are accessing, finder the contraction obtaines for the orbit marine configuration for an ability orbits from							
Callet datartise	sension (()	VWS.	11100	10.00	0.84.08	10		
Condent Street	CMHI, ME, F	105	100.08	043039	36.07.10	2.0		
S Monaroli Incluyer	COMPART, 1946	1415	475.08	DON8	101.13.08			
States and a state of the state	111,122	105	10110	222.02.00	20100100	641		
	174,744	1415	100.000	-	1.02.00	(94)		
	CMex.(V1.2	169	798-28	101.75.08	34,71.98	210		
	C man and an o							

16. Click Next.

17. Select embedded database in the "Configure database" page. Click Next.



- 18. In the "Network Settings" page, configure the below settings:
- a. Choose a Network: MGMT-Network
- b. IP address family: IPV4
- c. Network type: static
- d. Network address: <<var_vcenter_ip>>
- e. System name: <<var_vcenter_fqdn>>
- f. Subnet mask: <<var_vcenter_subnet_mask>>
- g. Network gateway: <<var_vcenter_gateway>>
- h. Network DNS Servers: <<var_dns_server>>
- i. Configure time sync: Use NTP servers
- j. (Optional). Enable SSH

 1 End Unit Literate Agreement 2 Connect to basist server. 	Betwork Serlings Cooligues retains writings for the Deployment					
· 3 for an orban machine	Drame a varianti	throughout teteors	8 0			
- 5. Kell og Singer Sign-och	of address family	Pr4	8			
T Relati delation Configure delations	Network Space	on:	2			
The Bandy St. Complete	Bearing Street	121138-108				
	Roman name (FSDR.or IP antition)	a mysikking	0			
	Barren react	251,251,251,0				
	fermini (anna)	01/81		÷		
	Network DNS Network (researcher to comment	THE PARTNER				
	200304109101	C Surcrusta approve the with	EDR Nov.	+		

19. Review the configuration and click Finish.



20. The vCenter appliance installation will take few minutes to complete.

f Albert d	Control Texture 4 Applicate 4 Deployment	
	millulation Complete Team Center Server of concerningly-installed Ford meter allows Control Teams on unplated in available reason, Advanta Center Green to using the element Web Center allows OF dates: Wyber The serveration product of the space former spaces, all totals with the Single Element with Center allows of dates: Wyber The serveration of the space former Lag in with the Single Element and the space all total with chapters Web Chartton manage of enter Dense Lag in with the Single Element and the space of the space dates with chapters Web Chartton manage of enter Dense Lag in with the Single Element and the space total and the space of the space former. Center Team Place to an enter the space of the space of the space and the space of the space former. Center Team Place to an enter the space of the space of the space and the space of the space former. Center Team Place to an enter the space of the s	
		C Dest

Setting Up VMware vCenter Server

1. Using a web browser, navigate to https://<<var_vcenter_ip>.

	An example An example of the second
Click Log in to vSphere Web Client.	
Click OK if "Launch Application" window appears.	
Launch Application	and the
This link needs to be opened with an application. Send to:	
ToProvident Tiles Infili Wildower's Clease Internet	in Play is following and east operational TRU
Choose an Application	Quant
E generatier my choice for vinware-cad links.	
	OK Cancel
vmware	OK Cancel
	OK Cancel
Vmivare Liste	Whware vCenter Single Sign-On
Vmware United and the second	VMware vCenter Single Sign-On d created during the vCenter installation.

5. Navigate to vCenter Inventory Lists on the left pane.



6. Under Resources, click Datacenters in the left plane.

where the party of				- 1 C - 1
	14	÷	 - 20	An I had peak
	a di seconda di second			Comptone and S
		-		

- 7. To create a Data center, click the leftmost icon in the center pane that has a green plus symbol above it.
- 8. Type "FlexPod_DC" in the Datacenter name field.
- 9. Select the vCenter Name/IP option.

10. Click OK.

1 New Datacenter		? ⊮
Datacenter name: FlexPod_DC		
Filter Browse		
	🕒 🏆 🔍 Filter	•
Name		1.4
💿 💋 vavikings.aisao.com		
M.	1	Objects
	ок	Cancel

11. Right-click the data center FlexPod_DC in the list in the center pane. Click New Cluster.

eware- v	Sphare Web Cit	ent: #6	¢1 +	Interpretation	- T 188		9. 34111	-
Radgator			Parts 7		1967	12.1		
a stante ind		Setting Shattan 11	many Monter Burneys	Treated Observe		1.0	itt Assett A	hand.
h room (Antibus Horizaya Antibust Marina Tanyi akto Darinaka Dari Hari Yaka Ban Saring Katu Daring Katu	Proc is a Default	And Service statution of an and and a service structure and and a service structure and and a service structure and and an and a service and a service structure and an and a service structure and a service structure structure and a service structure and a s	-	19		nd mego occi ar	
	Dense	1.9						
	Enternetwo	omp of the line	1	Second Second	(hiteretter)			-
	A Maruta Vel In Ivia	EHITADALIS.		Contacts (Tank)		683	fork krivegroe	- 1
	Men Th.							
	Tarana,							
	and an other lines			Designa Formar				
	4400			Lawrence should	istainets.			
	W Tanan		Anter.	Learn how to creat	v Catolonii			
	al alteriate for the	and the second particular of	er einstad machine	Learn about horts				
	-	La restriction	alare .	Learn about stude	15			
		En Create A di	writistied awith	Learn about folder				
		961			174			
Percont La		0			11	1		1.8.8
		Yeari	And I	10000	deserved to the		stellers :	
Period and includes		and stations of the	✓ Competent	TIPHERE LOOKA		8194	THREETEDALES	1034
sol the lost \$1	The sector of th	Tatal dispersion.	of Completer	YOFYERELOCALL		4100	100001134840	1829
and thereast \$1	Wegen they be	2 +140 attract (1916)	P. Conjensi	ADMENE LOCALS		4194	1010001534636	1009
ngia balancer dis	an usual significants for	a wint state over	W Composed	MPHERELOCALE.		100	101020121036	1808
ACT TANKART ST	an weeks to get to	2 #141 Per g1 (111)	P C00000000	AVENERACE/INCALE		12,1783	1000001131012	1802

12. Name the cluster FlexPod_Management.

- 13. Check the box beside DRS. Leave the default values.
- 14. Check the box beside vSphere HA. Leave the default values.

10 New Chister		
Nome	FitsPod_Management	1
Location	E FlaiFod_DC	
+ DRS	Tum ON	
Automation Level	Fully automated +	
Migration Threshold	Conservative	
+ vSphere HA	Tum ON	
Heat Manitaring	Enable host monitoring	
+ Admission Control		
Admitission Control Status	Admission control will prevent powering on VMs that wolate availability constraints	
	Enable admission control	
Palay	Specify the type of the policy that admission control should enforce.	
	Host failures cluster tolerates: 1 🚖	
	 Percentage of cluster resources reserved as failover spare capacity. 	
	Received to be CPU capacity 21 🚔 % CPU	
	Reserved lations being specially (21 (*) % Monthly	
- VM Monitoring		
VM Montoring Status	Osablat	
	Overrides for individual Wes can be set from the Wil Overrides page from Manage Settings area.	
Monitoring Sensitivity	Low High	
+ EVC	Onable +	
+ Vitual BAN	Tum ON	

15. Click OK to create the new cluster.
16. On the left pane, double click the "FlexPod_DC".

17. Click Clusters.

million attraction Web CT	-	10				800 B
Restance Dissocrated Advantage	Constant of Constant			-	The same	- 2.24
+ 1 minutes	Contract Same		and the second second		and handle	
In Perchase JE	Transferrate Street	and an an an and a set	and starts			-
ET Tre Law Open III	4 The Level Grants	teres income	mag McTampoleo (1752)	1 11.05	A state weeps cook and	-
U dame		i manne	12 18 19 Dec	1.01		
1 mm		A Distant over some	a real to a	Same		
B voteridation	75 Output Houseant	an all lines	217 20. 0	a fa fa a fa fa fa		
🜙 VM Tempinen Fanis -	Construction in the second					
New III						
Deterony III						
Witness Galer III						
12 hearing						
an Overtry, en Senterve						
ADattent Periotops III					T STATUTE DE LA COMPANY	-
Christel	1				C PROFESSION	
B radial December						
	M		9.088	ett Ge		
- Annual Annual	1.00		1600			
			1.000110		THE RESERVE	-
10 K 10 - 1	Theat And			200000100	and then	
Parts and Proper	a solution of the	Concentration	INVESTIGATION OF		star terestrenates	15
Sol over the state of the second state	a self we get that .	Compilers :	-OFFICIAL COURSE		And American April	
of the second street of the lattice	and some other	-	AND ADDRESS OF A		THE DESCRIPTION OF	1
the second se			and the second sec		THE PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF	

18. Under the Clusters pane, right click the "FlexPod_Management" and select Settings.

- 19. Select Configuration > General in the list on the left and select Edit to the right of General.
- 20. Select Datastore specified by host and click OK.



21. Under the Clusters pane, right click the "FlexPod_Management" and click Add Host.

WWOYO' ySphwre Web Ch	ent: Aa	1	G 1 1 1 1 1	COLOR OF C	REALOR	- T 185		9. 34111	-
Respire 8	- Freeholders !!	America				36.0	22.0		
+1alaritet 1	manufactures 1.8	owner Ma	nter Marriell Baker	within 1				itt Assetts Au	hand.
herbel, DE	(Alter and	- INCLUDE	Lines 7 first of income	A Description		CONTRACT VI	*	met respectively and	
CETTe Law Opens	fal under our	a losses	Inite Courts Another	of the state	and in case	10.10	1.1	elevely after reduced pre-	and in
O COURSE	11 2 6 2	15.91	Artoni +	1.13 (5)	79				
A contraction of the local sector	Times 1		· Constants for a result		Designation of	******			
Charles and the second	O Contact Manage	and and a second	240.02 (942		317.06-9	0			
a start and a start and a start and a									
(Distances III)	-		-						
Witness Gamer III									
Q hearing III									
movementetre III									
ADathuet for Once									-
Contant I di Anton Partina manag	and a						6.83	for the Program	
T BUILDING									
Mana Hanta mite Clyan	t								
Here Vitical Waching									
Hara-Mail	· · · ·								
The Decise fort Twentee									
Name Street Street	1000								
- Correge						100			
PALITY POLITICAL					9.088	ett Ge			
Entranal We Comp						1	-		
Contraction of sector states					_				-
an anna Pedingh		and a second		1.4.40		3111111		Contraction in the second	
Mars To					COTALS.		510	1010001010000	- and
atilities Ter		-	and and a second se	and a state of the	LOCAL		4.00	Automatic Laboration	1077
and a feature of the local data		1000	coteri	APPEND	LOCALS .		1.04	Internation in the later of the	1818
ADDITION ADDITION		P 600	o deart	Appropriate	LINCALS		Crist.	1000001131912	1802
and the literature of the lite									
and enclosed									

22. In the Host field, enter either the IP address or the host name of one of the VMware ESXi hosts. Click Next.

- 23. Type root as the user name and the root password. Click Next to continue.
- 24. Click Yes to accept the certificate.
- 25. Review the host details and click Next to continue.
- 26. Assign a license and click Next to continue.
- 27. Click Next to continue.
- 28. Click Next to continue.
- 29. Review the configuration parameters. Then click Finish to add the host.

et 1 Name and bookst	Page 1	A SATE STORING CREEK, COMP.	
af it Consection and Tage	1000000	officiare \$559 8.8.0 (unit (\$608)89	
of 3 Host summary	Diaron	Dyeloatter License.	
✓ 8 Manage States	Mathematics.	MONT trahulary	
 It Lockshow minin 	Delations	Balandoroll with classifications 1	
a a rescarts pers	and the second se	inte_swall	
- I heavy to consider	Lookumay ender	Devalued	
	Gegengenen dertitetten	field_mapment	

Two VMware ESXi hosts will be added to the cluster.

ESXi Dump Collector Setup for iSCSI-Booted Hosts

ESXi hosts booted with iSCSI using the VMware iSCSI software initiator need to be configured to do core dumps to the ESXi Dump Collector that is part of vCenter. The Dump Collector is not enabled by default on the vCenter Appliance. To setup the ESXi Dump Collector, complete the following steps:

- 1. In the vSphere web client, select Home.
- 2. In the center pane, click System Configuration.
- 3. In the left hand pane, click VMware vSphere ESXi Dump Collector.
- 4. In the Actions menu, choose Start.
- 5. In the Actions menu, click Edit Startup Type.
- 6. Select Automatic.
- 7. Click OK.
- 8. Connect to each ESXi host via ssh as root
- 9. Run the following commands:
 - esxcli system coredump network set --interface-name=vmk0 -server-ipv4=10.1.156.100 --server-port=6500 esxcli system coredump network set --enable=true
 - esxcli system coredump network check

FlexPod Cisco Nexus 1110-X and 1000V vSphere

This section provides detailed procedures for installing a pair of high-availability (HA) Cisco Nexus 1110-X Virtual Services Appliances (VSAs) in a FlexPod configuration. This validation effort used a preexisting management infrastructure to support the VSA devices and therefore does not document the cabling configuration.

Primary and standby Cisco Nexus 1000V Virtual Supervisor Modules (VSMs) are installed on the 1110-Xs and Cisco Nexus 1000V distributed virtual switch (DVS) will be provisioned. This procedure assumes that the Cisco Nexus 1000V software version 5.2(1)SV3(1.5b) has been downloaded from Cisco Nexus 1000V Download Link and expanded. It is recommended to install software version 5.2(1)SP1(7.3) on the Nexus 1110-Xs using Cisco Nexus Cloud Services Platform Software Installation and Upgrade Guide. Additionally, this procedure assumes that Cisco Virtual Switch Update Manager (VSUM) version 1.5.3 has been downloaded from Cisco VSUM Download Link and expanded. This procedure also assumes that VMware vSphere 6.0 Enterprise Plus licensing is installed.

Configure CIMC Interface on Both Cisco Nexus 1110-Xs

Cisco Nexus 1110-X A and Cisco Nexus 1110-X B

To configure the Cisco Integrated Management Controller (CIMC) interface on the Cisco Nexus 1110-X VSAs, complete the following steps:

- 1. Using the supplied dongle, connect a monitor and USB keyboard to the KVM console port on the front of the Cisco Nexus 1110-X virtual appliance.
- 2. Reboot the virtual appliance.
- 3. Press F8 when prompted to configure the CIMC interface.
- 4. Using the spacebar, set the NIC mode to Dedicated.
- 5. Clear the checkbox for DHCP enabled.
- 6. Set the CIMC IP address (<<var_cimc_ip>>) in the out-of-band management VLAN.
- 7. Set the CIMC subnet mask (<<var_cimc_mask>>).
- 8. Set the CIMC gateway (<<var_cimc_gateway>>).
- 9. Set the NIC redundancy to None.
- 10. Set and reenter the CIMC default password (<<var_password>>).
- 11. Press F10 to save the configuration.
- 12. Continue pressing F5 until Network settings configured is shown.
- 13. Press Esc to reboot the virtual appliance.

Configure Serial over LAN for Both Cisco Nexus 1110-Xs

Cisco Nexus 1110-X A and Cisco Nexus 1110-X B

To configure serial over LAN on the Cisco Nexus 1110-X VSAs, complete the following steps:

- 1. Use a Web browser to open the URL at http://<<var_cimc_ip>>.
- 2. Log in to the CIMC with the admin user id and the CIMC default password (<<var_password>>).
- 3. In the left column, click Remote Presence.
- 4. Click the Serial over LAN tab.
- 5. Select the Enabled checkbox for Serial over LAN Properties.
- 6. From the Baud Rate drop-down menu, select 9600 bps.
- 7. Click Save Changes.



- 8. Log out of the CIMC Web interface.
- 9. Use an SSH client to connect to <<var_cimc_ip>> with the default CIMC user name and password.
- 10. Enter "connect host."



Configure Cisco Nexus 1110-X Virtual Appliances

Cisco Nexus 1110-X A

To configure Cisco Nexus 1110-X A, complete the following steps: 1. Reboot the virtual appliance. The appliance should boot into a setup mode. Enter the password for "admin": <<var_password>> Confirm the password for "admin": <<var password>> Enter HA role[primary/secondary]: primary Enter the domain id<1-4095>: <<var vsa domain id>> Enter control vlan <1-3967, 4048-4093>: <<var_pkt-ctrl_vlan_id>> Control Channel Setup. Choose Uplink: < Gig:1,2 10Gig:7,8 NewPortChannel:0 >[0]: Enter Choose type of portchannel <ha/lacp>[ha]: lacp PortChannel1 - Choose uplinks < Gig:1,2 10Gig:7,8 >[1,2]: 7,8 Enter management vlan <1-3967, 4048-4093>: <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> Management Channel setup Choose Uplink: < Gig:1,2 Po1:9 NewPortChannel:0 >[9]: Enter Would you like to enter the basic system configuration dialogue (yes/no): yes Create another login account (yes/no) [n]: Enter Configure read-only SNMP community string (yes/no)[n]: Enter Configure read-write SNMP community string (yes/no)[n]: Enter Enter the VSA name : <<var_1110x_vsa>> Continue with Out-of-band (mgmt0) management configuration? (yes/no) [y]: Enter Mgmt0 IP address type V4/V6? (V4): V4 Mgmt0 IPv4 address : <<var_1110x_vsa_ip>> Mgmt0 IPv4 netmask : <<var_1110x_vsa_mask>> Configure the default gateway? (yes/no) [y]: Enter IPv4 address of the default gateway : <<var_1110x_vsa_gateway>> Configure advanced IP options? (yes/no) [n]: Enter Enable the telnet service? (yes/no) [n]: Enter

	Enable the ssh service? (yes/no) [y]: Enter Type of ssh key you would like to generate (das/rsa) [rsa]: Enter Number of rsa key bits <768-2048> [1024]: Enter Enable the http server? (yes/no) [y]: Enter Configure the ntp server? (yes/no) [n]: y NTP server IPv4 address: < <var, a,="" ntp_ip="" switch,="">></var,>
2.	Review the configuration summary. If everything is correct, enter no to skip editing the configuration. Would you like to edit the configuration? (yes/no) [n]: Enter
3.	The Cisco Nexus 1110-X saves the configuration and reboots. After reboot, log back in as admin.
Ci	isco Nexus 1110-X B
	To configure the Cisco Nexus 1110-X B, complete the following steps:
1.	Reboot the virtual appliance. The appliance should boot into a setup mode.3
	Enter the password for "admin": < <var_password>></var_password>
	This is the same password that you entered on the primary Cisco Nexus 1110-X.
2.	Enter the admin password again to confirm: < <var_password>>.</var_password>
	Enter the domain id<1-4095>: < <var_vsa_domain_id>></var_vsa_domain_id>
ø	 This is the same domain id that you entered on the primary Cisco Nexus 1110-X.
	Enter control vlan <1-3967, 4048-4093>: < <var_pkt-ctrl_vlan_id>></var_pkt-ctrl_vlan_id>
	Control Channel Setup. Choose Uplink: < Gig:1 2 10Gig:7 8 NewPortChannel:0 >[0]: Enter
	Choose type of portchannel <ha lacp="">[ha]: lacp</ha>
	PortChannel1 - Choose uplinks < Gig:1,2 10Gig:7,8 >[1,2]: 7,8
	Enter management vlan <1-3967, 4048-4093>: < <var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> Management Channel setup</var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>
	Choose Uplink: < Gig:1,2 Po1:9 NewPortChannel:0 >[9]: Enter
3.	The Cisco Nexus 1110-X saves the configuration and reboots.
Set	t Up the Primary Cisco Nexus 1000V VSM
Ci	isco Nexus 1110-X A
	To set up the primary Cisco Nexus 1000V VSM on the Cisco Nexus 1110-X A complete the following steps:
~	
1	I hese steps are completed from the primary Nexus 1110-X A
١.	show module
2.	Enter the global configuration mode and create a virtual service blade.
	config t
	virtual-service-blade VSM-1
3. to Ne	If the desired Cisco Nexus 1000V ISO file (n1000v-dk9.5.2.1.SV3.1.5b.iso) is not present on the Cisco Nexus 1110-X, run the copy command to copy it the Cisco Nexus 1110-X disk. You must place the file either on an FTP server or on a UNIX or Linux [®] machine (using scp) that is accessible from the Cisco Nexus 1110-X management interface. An example copy command from an FTP server is copy ftp://< <var_ftp_server>>/n1000v-</var_ftp_server>
dk	9.5.2.1.SV3.1.5b.iso /repository/.
	virtual-service-blade-type new n1000v-dk9.5.2.1.SV3.1.5b.iso
	interface packet vlan < <var_pkt-ctrl_vlan_id>></var_pkt-ctrl_vlan_id>
	enable primary
	Enter vsb image:[n1000v-dk9.5.2.1.SV3.1.5b.iso] Enter Enter domain id[1-4095]: covar vsm. domain.id>>
~	
_	Enter SVS Control mode (1.2 / 1.3): [1.3] Enter
	Management IP version [V4/V6]: [V4] Enter
	Enter Management IP address: < <var_vsm_mgmt_ip>></var_vsm_mgmt_ip>
	Enter Management subnet mask: < <var_vsm_mgmt_mask>></var_vsm_mgmt_mask>
	Enter HostName: < <var_vsm_hostname>></var_vsm_hostname>
	Enter the password for 'admin': < <var_password>></var_password>
ø	 This password must be entered with only uppercase and lowercase letters. No special characters can be used in this password.
	Do you want to continue with installation with entered details (Y/N)? [Y] Enter
Δ	copy run start Run show virtual-service-blade summary. Continue periodically entering this command until the primary VSM-1 has a state of VSB DOWEDED ON
- - 5	Modify the management, control and packet interface and set PortChannel 1 as the unlink interface (if needed).
2.	virtual-service-blade VSM-1
	interface control uplink PortChannel1
	interface management uplink PortChannel1
	Interrace packet uplink PortChannel

Set Up the Secondary Cisco Nexus 1000V VSM

To set up the secondary Cisco Nexus 1000V VSM on Cisco Nexus 1110-X B, complete the steps in the following two subsections:

Cisco Nexus 1110-X A

enable secondary

Enter vsb image: [n1000v-dk9.5.2.1.SV3.1.5b.iso] Enter Enter domain id[1-4095]: <<var_vsm_domain_id>>

- Enter SVS Control mode (L2 / L3): [L3] Enter
- Management IP version [V4/V6]: [V4] Enter
- Enter Management IP address: <<var_vsm_ mgmt_ip>>
- Enter Management subnet mask: <<var_vsm_ mgmt_mask>>
- IPv4 address of the default gateway: <<var_vsm_mgmt_gateway>>
- Enter HostName: <<var_vsm_hostname>>
- Enter the password for 'admin': : <<var_password>>

This password must be entered with only uppercase and lowercase letters. No special characters can be used in this password. Do you want to continue installation with entered details (Y/N)? [Y]

Type show virtual-service-blade summary. Continue periodically entering this command until both the primary and secondary VSM-1s have a state of VSB POWERED ON and Roles are correctly identified.

copy run start

Install Cisco Virtual Switch Update Manager

VMware vSphere Web Client

To install the Cisco Virtual Switch Upgrade Manager from OVA in the VMware virtual environment, complete the following steps:

- 1. Log into the VMware vSphere Web Client.
- 2. In the pane on the right, click VMs and Templates.
- 3. In the center pane, select Actions > Deploy OVF Template.
- 4. Select Browse and browse to and select the Nexus1000v-vsum.2.0.ova file.
- 5. Click Open.
- 6. Click Next.

During (VAT Torquese		10.0
1. Some 1. Some protect 2. Some protect 2. Some protect 2. Some protect 2. Some protect 3. Some protec	Alexed blance Print Polyne et austion Control A (M) for the end of the status of (M) are tage. From the interest, or through the control of the status of the s	•
	Louis Meet State 1	ent.

7. Review the details and click Next.



- 8. Click Accept to accept the License Agreement and click Next.
- 9. Name the Virtual Machine, select the FlexPod_DC datacenter and click Next.
- 10. Select the FlexPod_Management cluster and click Next.
- 11. Select infra_datastore_1 and the Thin Provision virtual disk format and click Next.

Dearley-Over Terranians						11.10
Saace Ta Saacbalan Ta Saacbalan Ta Saacbalan Saacataa	Solid darage Relief teration to done the Relief visual disk transf VM Design Policy The following participant	Nos Ter No deployet here They Provide Distantes Detailt	nde (+) (+)	0 dag internet from	No verse second	disclore for the
Ja Seretriane automat Ja Seretriane automat Ja Seretriane automat Ja Seretriane automat Ja Seretriane automate Ja Seretriane automate Ja Seretriane automate Ja Seretriane automate	etornaties defper nes () etc.outer.) () etc.outer.) () etc.outer.() () etc.outer.() () etc.outer.()	Connection and all of the series Connection 180 000 GB 1 Bio 000 2 SCO 000 2 SCO 000	1 COLOR TREASURE TREA	140 428.06.00 83.07.00 8.00.00 8.00.00	nga Netari Netari Netari Netari	The Last State
				L Back II 1		V.

12. Select the IB-MGMT-VLAN Network and click Next.

Status (VX Venution			23.9
1 Norm of Talibastation	Seter networks Configure the networks the eaco	ant before the character	
Acceptions	0.00	An output to get	
" Aprenants	and an other states of the sta	1000000 (00000	
3 Destroites			
n, 50 percentations			
w 25 benefit waters	along as		
A. Sryewittents	a hanne a sea	# plantator II	ten - Neurose D
V In this wante			
is hotelesses	And Milgreit, Direct		
1 Partition and the	provides correctives probabilities	CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR	
	Destruitor (DADIT V.M. Pr.	Read Selfleren	
	No configuration manifest for first	names a	

13. Fill in the Networking Properties within the Customize template dialog.

	Cidema having	
1 form	Gatinia ha secondrine	onhan itten i share i suitor
 Failleechooseix 		
 I.B. Heneyer calible 	• Salaparbas have shalled at	national Employed, Employed,
P In Accelutions	+ belowing Property	Sadings
3 Decision	Management of Address	Placewood for the expression in g. Tabl. 198(d.16)
2 bindipreadors		10.1.000.47
7 25 Senitamonte:	Terrar Marri	Subnamiliasi fer the numericani miteriania (e.g. 215,255,255,25
in terretationale		[248.249.288.9
2 20 Intervention	Darland Automatic	Comparis P for the manuscreater comparis in a 102 100/0 1
The Commissioners		10/1144
3 Reader to consume	- Designment	The literary same balance of Contract Manager in marine of announ FODM Partnersh
	0.20022.0.0	112 108-105.8
	Dati Second	decompt (000 Senat Plana) (0.10 10 Spherae
	a state Propriet	Tuelings

14. Expand the vCenter Properties and fill in vCenter address, Username, and Password fields.

Deping (WE Torophene)			
Network WY Sequence	Calenda Sensite Calendar Sensite Calendar de Septembel des Olisiones de Calendar de Olisiones de Calendar de Olisiones de Calendar Marine Calendar de Calendar Marine Calendar de Calendar Marine Calendar de Calendar Marine Calendar de Calendar Marine	arbas pitta palvere spalan. ark Break Mel, Calabie Break Mel, Calabie Break Mel, Calabie Break Mel, Calabie Factory Factory Southings break set Southings break set Sout	
	HTTP: Carabat Part	Princ partnerstel	

15. Click Next.

- 16. Review all settings and click Finish.
- 17. Wait for the Deploy OVF template task to complete.
- 18. Select the Home button in VMware vSphere Web Client and select Hosts and Clusters.
- 19. Expand the FlexPod_Management cluster and select the Virtual Switch Update Manager VM from the Summary tab.
- 20. Click the Console graphic at the top left of the Summary tab. If a security warning pops up, click Allow.
- 21. If a security certificate warning pops up, click Connect Anyway.
- 22. Power on the Virtual Switch Update Manager VM.
- 23. Once the VM has completely booted up, log out and log back into the VMware vSphere Web Client.

Register the Cisco Nexus 1000V in VMware vCenter

VMware vSphere Web Client

To register the Cisco Nexus 1000V, complete the following steps:

1. After logging back into the VMware vSphere Web Client, Cisco Virtual Switch Update Manager should now appear under the Home tab. Select Cisco Virtual Switch Update Manager.

- 2. Under Basic Tasks, select Nexus 1000V.
- 3. Click Install.
- 4. In the pane on the right, select FlexPod_DC.
- 5. Under Nexus1000v Switch Deployment Process, select I already have a control place (VSM) deployed.
- 6. Enter the IP Address of the VSM and the admin password.
- 7. Click Finish.
- 8. Click the Home button.
- 9. Select Cisco Virtual Switch Update manager.
- 10. Under Basic tasks, select Nexus 1000v.
- 11. Click Configure.
- 12. In the pane on the right, select FlexPod_DC.

13. The Nexus 1000v Switch should appear under the Choose an associated Distributed Virtual Switch section.

Perform Base Configuration of the Primary VSM

SSH Connection to Primary VSM

To perform the base configuration of the primary VSM, complete the following steps:

- 1. Using an SSH client, log in to the primary Cisco Nexus 1000V VSM as admin.
- 2. Run the following configuration commands.

config t ntp server <<var_switch_a_ntp_ip>> use-vrf management ntp server <<var_switch_b_ntp_ip>> use-vrf management vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> name IB-MGMT-VLAN vlan <<var_nfs_vlan_id>> name NFS-VLAN vlan <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>> name vMotion-VLANvlan <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>> name VM-Traffic-VLAN vlan <<var native vlan id>> name Native-VLAN vlan <<var_iscsi_a_vlan_id>> name iSCSI-A-VLAN vlan <<var_iscsi_b_vlan_id>> name iSCSI-B-VLAN vlan <<var pkt-ctrl vlan id>> name Pkt-Ctrl-VLAN exit port-profile type ethernet system-uplink vmware port-group switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan <<var_native_vlan_id>> switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_nfs_vlan_id>>, <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>>, <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>> channel-group auto mode on mac-pinning no shutdown system vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>>, <<var_nfs_vlan_id>>, <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>>, <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>> 💪 Any VLAN that has a VMKernal port should be assigned as a system vlan on both the uplink and the vEthernet ports of the virtual switch. system mtu 9000 state enabled port-profile type ethernet iscsi-a-uplink vmware port-group switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan <<var_iscsi_a_vlan_id>> switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_iscsi_a_vlan_id>> no shutdown system vlan <<var_iscsi_a_vlan_id>> system mtu 9000 state enabled port-profile type ethernet iscsi-b-uplink vmware port-group switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan <<var_iscsi_b_vlan_id>> switchport trunk allowed vlan <<var_iscsi_b_vlan_id>> no shutdown system vlan <<var_iscsi_b_vlan_id>> system mtu 9000 state enabled port-profile type vethernet IB-MGMT-VLAN vmware port-group switchport mode access switchport access vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> no shutdown system vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> state enabled port-profile type vethernet NFS-VLAN vmware port-group switchport mode access switchport access vlan <<var_nfs_vlan_id>> no shutdown system vlan <<var_nfs_vlan_id>> state enabled port-profile type vethernet vMotion-VLAN vmware port-group switchport mode access

switchport access vlan <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>>

no shutdown system vlan <<var_vmotion_vlan_id>> state enabled port-profile type vethernet VM-Traffic-VLAN vmware port-group switchport mode access switchport access vlan <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>> no shutdown system vlan <<var_vm-traffic_vlan_id>> state enabled port-profile type vethernet n1kv-L3 capability |3control vmware port-group switchport mode access switchport access vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> no shutdown system vlan <<var_ib-mgmt_vlan_id>> state enabled port-profile type vethernet iSCSI-A-VLAN vmware port-group switchport mode access switchport access vlan <<var_iscsi_a_vlan_id>> no shutdown system vlan <<var_iscsi_a_vlan_id>> state enabled port-profile type vethernet iSCSI-B-VLAN vmware port-group switchport mode access switchport access vlan <<var_iscsi_b_vlan_id>> no shutdown system vlan <<var_iscsi_b_vlan_id>> state enabled exit copy run start

Add VMware ESXi Hosts to Cisco Nexus 1000V

VMware vSphere Web Client

To and VMware ESXi hosts, complete the following steps:

- 1. Back in the Vmware vSphere Web Client, from the Home tab, select Cisco Virtual Switch Update Manager.
- 2. Under Basic Tasks, select Nexus 1000V.
- 3. Select Configure.
- 4. Select the FlexPod_DC datacenter on the right.
- 5. Select the VSM on the lower right.
- 6. Click Manage.
- 7. In the center pane, select the Add Host tab.
- 8. Expand the FlexPod_Management ESXi Cluster and select both FlexPod Management Hosts.

9. Click Suggest.

10. Scroll down to Physical NIC Migration and expand each ESXi host.

11. On both hosts, unselect vmnic0, and select vmnic1. For vmnic1, select the system-uplink Profile. Select vmnic2 and select the iscsi-a-uplink Profile.

Select vmnic3 and select the iscsi-b-uplink Profile.

Physical NIC Migration				0 8
Physical Mills		ette .	Laure Polla	
i aminică	R-itta-victin		VEWOCHO	
🛃 amract	system-uplinit			_
Z imtic2	isrsi-a-upitek		(DcstDoeh/Setch	
(Z emisic)	Incsi-b-upikik		(Switch)	
▼ 🖥 fritt-b 2.64 mb netapp com				1
Vitraid	ntav-etb-8		vDw0x10	14
😥 vmnici	system-uplick			
i vennic2	to col-o-upilitik		(Scs/Bost/Switch	
. 🖉 erret 🐱	intai-b-unkek		10(011)	
and the second	3	Belect All		

Selections or more PNICs to move

12. Scroll down to VM Kernel NIC Setup and expand both ESXi hosts.

13. All VMkernel ports should already have the appropriate checkboxes selected.

and the second second	in malling		1	
Oursessierd	CLUTTER.	Prints	OCNESS FISHIN	-
BALLAN MARKANAN				•
Dirm 😒		niko-L3	v5web18	
🗟 बाधी.		ISCSI-WULAN	(Bes/Booh/Bwith)	
🕑 mik2		ISCSHE-VLAN	vSwitcht	
i∰ week2		NPD-VLAN	vSwitchill	
A 1004		vMotion-VLAN	vSwitch8	
Bert h2 Mitto netapp.com				
2 w180	10	n1ki-L3	vowante	
12 mit		IDC81A-VLAN	(Bis/Boot/Bwitch	

14. Scroll down to VM Migration and expand both ESXi hosts.

15. Select the IB-MGMT-VLAN profile for the VSUM and vCenter Virtual Machines.

Veran Marked Http: Proble Proble Reynol Prob	🔿 VM Mignation		4	10 A
Vetual Swith Update Hanager	Vision Machine 1973	Puelle	Sugar Falls	
Vetual Dwith Upolis Hanager Provide date 1 BE-MONT-VENS Voide 0 Police0	Tahli ni Muta netapa cem			
Image: Select Norm Image: Select Norm	* Virtual Switch Update Manager			
Mit-hi2-histonatapp com Y-Mit-kci Mit-hi2-histonatapp com P-Mit-hi2-histonatapp com P-Mit-histonatapp com P-Mit	2 Network adapter 1	ID-MONT-VLAN	e@edx10	
TIMT-ICI EPINGMT-VLAN	* Ehitt-hi2.Muta.netapa.com			
Contraction to the Contraction (Inc. Contraction)	* MI-ci			
- Balect Norm	🖉 familyak adapter 1	IB-MGMT-VLAN	 (Section)	
_ Salet116mm				
Select None				
Select None				
		SelectNone		
			1	

16. Click Finish.

M The progress of the virtual switch installation can be monitored from the c# interface.

Migrate ESXi Host Redundant Network Ports to Cisco Nexus 1000V

To migrate the ESXi host redundant network ports, complete the following steps:

- 1. In the VMware vSphere Web Client window, select Home > Hosts and Clusters.
- 2. On the left expand the Datacenter and cluster, and select the first VMware ESXi host.
- 3. In the center pane, select the Manage tab, then select Networking.
- 4. Select vSwitch0. All of the port groups on vSwitch0 should be empty. Click the red X under Virtual switches to delete vSwitch0.
- 5. Click Yes to remove vSwitch0. It may be necessary to refresh the Web Client to see the deletion.
- 6. Delete iScsiBootvSwitch and vSwitch1.

7. The Nexus 1000V VSM should now be the only virtual switch. Select it and select the third icon above it under Virtual switches (Manage the physical network adapters connected to the selected switch).

- 8. Click the green plus sign to add an adapter.
- 9. For UpLink03, select the system-uplink port group and make sure vmnic0 is the Network adapter. Click OK.
- 10. Click OK to complete adding the Uplink. It may be necessary to refresh the Web Client to see the addition.
- 11. Repeat this procedure for the second ESXi host.

12. From the SSH client that is connected to the Cisco Nexus 1000V, run show interface status to verify that all interfaces and port channels have been correctly configured.

🖉 fvit-vsm/viztp	netapp.com - PuTTY						×
							*
Port	Nare	Status	Vian/ Segment	Duplex	Speed	Туре	
ngnt 0		connected	routed	full	1000		
Eth3/1		connected	trunk	full	106		
Eth3/2		connected	trunk	full	106		
Eth3/3		connected	trunk	full	106		
Eth3/4		connected	trunk	full	106		
Eth4/1		connected	trunk	full	10G		
Eth4/2		connected	trunk	full	106		
Eth4/3		connected	trunk	full	106		
Eth4/4		connected	trunk	full	106		
Pol		connected	trunk	full	10G		
Poz		connected	trunk	full	106		
Veth1	VHware VHkernel, v	connected	3071	muto.	muto.		
VethZ	VHware VHkernel, v	connected	3076	muto.	muto.		
Veth3	VHware VHkernel, v	connected	3077	auto	auto		
Veth4	VHware VHkernel, v	connected	3074	auto.	auto		
VethS	VHware VHkernel, v	connected	3072	auto.	auto		
Vethd	Victual Switche	connected	3071	muto.	auto		
Veth7	VMeace VMkecnel, v	connected	3071	auto	auto		
Hore							٣

13. Run show module and verify that the two ESXi hosts are present as modules.

🚽 M	1-vsm/vL	tp.netappv	com - P	uTTV							.IO >
fvll	-vané at	in modul									
Rod	Porta	Module-	Type					Rodel		Status	
1		Victual	Supe	eviac	r Hodu	1 =		Nexus1000V		active T	
2		Victual	Supe	evizo	r Nodu	1 =		Nexus1000V		ha-standby	
3	1022	Victual	Ether	cnet	Module			NA		ok	
4	1022	Victual	Ether	cnet	Module			NA		ok	
find	Sw			Hw							
1	5.2(1):	SV3(1.5b)		0.0							
2	5.2(1):	SV3(1.5b)									
3	5.2(1)3	SV3(1.5b)		Vfferm	re 25%	1 6.0.0	De 1	eazebuild-249	4585 (6.0)	
4	5.2(1)3	SV3(1.5b)		Vffarm	re 85%	1 6.0.0	De 1	eazebuild-249	4585 (6.0)	
Rod.	Server-	-IP	Sec	CVEC-	UUID				Serve	r – Nurse	
1	172.20.	71.44	NA						NA		
2	172.20.	71.44	NA						NA		
3	172.20.	71.26		2201d	D-e027	-e511-0	000-	000000110001	fv11-	hl	
4	172.20.	71.27		2201d	D-e027	-e511-0	000-	000000110002	fv11-	h2	
⊤ th	is terms	inal ses	aion.								
fv11	-vané										

14. Run copy run start.

Cisco Nexus 1000V vTracker

SSH Connection to Primary VSM

The vTracker feature on the Cisco Nexus 1000V switch provides information about the virtual network. environment. To connect SSH to the primary VSM, complete the following steps:

- 1. From an ssh interface connected to the Cisco Nexus 1000V VSM, enter the following:
 - config t
 - feature vtracker
 - copy run start
 - show vtracker upstream-view
 - show vtracker vm-view vnic
 - show vtracker vm-view info
 - show vtracker module-view pnic
 - show vtracker vlan-view

🖉 fvit-	vsmJvL	rtp.netapp.com	m - PeTTY		_ [C] ×			
fv11-v	atan (icin)	nfig)Ø						
fvll-væn(config)# show vtracker vlan-vlaw * R = Begular Vlan, P = Primary Vlan, C = Community Vlan I = Isolated Vlan, U = Invalid								
VLAN	Type	VethPort	Vff Nume	Adapter Name	Rod			
 1					_			
					_			
8071		Veth1	Module 3	vnk0	3			
		Vethd	Victual Switch	e HanagerNet Adapter 1	3			
		Veth7	Module 4	vinkü	9			
		Veth12	fv11-vc1	Net Adapter 1	3			
		Veth13	fv11-vac	Net Adapter 1	3			
1072		VethS	Module 3	vnk4	3			
		Veth11	Module 4	vnk4	4			
073					-			
074		Veth4	Module 3	vnk3	3			
		Veth10	Module 4	vnk3	4			
075					-			
076		VethZ	Module 3	vnk1	3			
		VethB	Module 4	vnk1	4			
1077		Veth3	Module 3	vnk2	3			
		VethS	Module 4	vink2	4			
fv11-v		nfig)#			••••••			

FlexPod Management Tools Setup

Cisco UCS Performance Manager

This section describes the deployment and initial configuration of Cisco UCS Performance Manager within a FlexPod.

🖕 For full requirements and installation options, download and review the Cisco UCS Performance Manager Installation Guide, Release 2.0.0.

Cisco UCS Performance Manager OVA Deployment

- 1. Download the Cisco UCS Performance Manager OVA file from the Cisco UCS Performance Manager site to your workstation.
- 2. Use the VMware vSphere Web Client to log in to vCenter as root, or as a user with superuser privileges, and then select Hosts and Clusters from the Home view.
 - The standard vSphere Client can be used for installation, but instructions will vary slightly.

3. Right-click the Cluster to deploy to, and select Deploy OVF Template from the pulldown options.

Amount of a rate Web Chart Ba		
	Rent Tanta Seren Tanta Seren A. Hanna H	
Berning B	To describe	

4. In the Selectsource panel, specify the path of the Cisco UCS Performance Manager package as a Local file and browse to find it's location, and then click Next.

Deploy OVI Templatis		
1 Konton 1 Konton 1 Konton antitut 2 Contractor 2 Cont	State to been Determine to the second and shade the (M ² approach the first the second at the se	
	The last the second term	

- 5. Click Next to continue past the Review details pane.
- 6. In the Select name and folder pane, accept the default name, or specify one appropriate to your environment, pick the data center to deploy to and alternately a folder within that datacenter.



7. Click Next.

8. Specify the datastore to deploy to within the Select storage pane

Instantion Incention:						319			
t Barn Gallenstatione	Nakal Marge Danas kalahan Nakal Kala Kala Kala Kala Kala Margana								
 To freew delation 	lower which has been at								
A Dedisation	Verdenings Prend	Datavitive Default	1.1						
 25 Sections and hits E Sections 	The tolowing detectories whole machine configure	ale acceptible from the iter fore this web all of the orthog	de altan sex punci fina n Make	toni tetrained bland	The cholondrine is	wallow to the			
21 Total Internation	dana.	Change .	(Passan)	(Tak)	Sec. 1	Annual Ann			
1 Names and a	ES CONTRACTOR	475,08.08	040.0110	218.48.08	347510				
	(3:0main.)#1.)	100.00.08	21.44.58	19130-04	1000.00				
	[] (inir.)#1,2	100.00.00	38(30.04)	101.09-08	1012-01				
	Di marana a	annor the	129.89.08	100000-000	1000				
	() who were a set	100.00.08	118/39 088	23.07.08	1000				
	(3 remolerrizh	7.010	404.00.00	6.89.14	19879				
	El onvirvi (i)	7.00.08	201210-00	0.01120	vers .				
	El onviorion	7.00 (8)	010.01.00	8.8118	1972				
	10								
						Contraction of the			

9. Click Next.

10. Specify the Destination port group within the Setup Networks pane.

Depter OVE Tanginis	and the statement of			10 a
1 Korre V 1a Beachteann 15 Receive destin 2 Destination	Sartage And Sanching California (The Sanching The Sanching Normali	an bruine inscinais Britisht vijde	(hereite)	tolgate
 2x Selection of the Content of Content of the Content of the				
↓ ² 2 Restrict constant	P processor descriptions Transformations Transformations December of MEAD VI, M. Pro Social Systems reacted for the	Must willings Innexit	Printer fan oand O	
			tas- I had	Parat - Canad

- 11. Click Next
- 12. Review he options in the Ready to complete pane, and make sure that "Power on after deployment" is not selected.

ate LAN Conne	ctivity Policy			
A Course RECTORNEE.				×
Create iSCSI	VNIC			
Name	6C8F8-WC			
Chemat (MEC	RHADING	2.4		
ISSE A Refer Portes	(setur 1)		Contra SUSI Adapte Petrop	
75,49	Increase, Manager	7		
Could Mit	trial (
Could MAX	Ind			

13. Click Finish to deploy the appliance from the Deploy OVF Template wizard.

- 14. Once the appliance has finished deploying, right click the VM from within the Hosts and Clusters or VMs and Templates section of the vSphere Web Client and select Edit Settings from the pulldown options.
- 15. Adjust the allocated Memory from 40G to 64G.

Virtual Hardware VMC	options SDRS Rules	14	pp Cytions	0	
CPU CPU	8		0		
Memory	64		08	+	
Hard disk 1	292.96876	*	GB	+	
G. SCSI controller 0	LSI Logic Parallel		-	_	
Metwork adapter 1	IB-MOMT-VLAN (VBM)				🗹 Connect
🛞 CDIDVD drive 1	Host Device				Connect.
When card	Specify custom setting	gs'			
WHC1 device					
Other Devices					
Upgrade	🗋 Schedule VM Comp	atibi	Bhy Upgrad	e.,	
100000000000000000000000000000000000000					

for energies and perfor on the film

Cisco UCS Performance Manager Initial Configuration

1. Open up the Console of the newly provisioned UCS Performance Manager VM from the vSphere web client.

2. Login to the root account with the password "ucsm"



- 3. Set a new root password and a password for the account "ccuser" when prompted.
- 4. Within the following screen, leave Master selected to configure the appliance as as the Control Center master host.



7. Leave Edit a connection selected with the NetworkManager TUI screen and hit return.



8. Select Wired connection 1, and press return to edit.



9. Arrow down to the IPV4 CONFIGURATION option and hit enter to change the option from Automatic to Manual.

1	Edit Connection	1
Profile name Device	lied connection 1 10-58-56-86-82,6P Cens	12)
- ETHERMET - IP-4 COMPIGURATION - IP-6 COMPIGURATION (X) Automatically co (X) Available to all	Bisabled Automatic Link-Local Shared	(Shou) (Shou) (Shou)
8		(Cancel> (OK>

10. Right arrow over to <Show> next to the IPV4 CONFIGURATION and hit return to bring up the options.

	1 Lait Connection		
Profile name Device	Hired connection 1 10:50:56:00:EE:0F Tens	12)	
- ETHENNET			(Show)
IPv4 CONFIGURATION Addresses	Cflormal> Infatta156.18224 Ondd>	(Renove)	(Hide)
Gateway DNS servers	19:1715631 192,168,456.9	(Remove)	
Search domina	Child	(Remove)	
Routing [] Never use this	(No custom routes) (Ed network for default row	it) ite	
[] Require IPot a	Afressing for this conne	ection	
- IPu6 COMPTGURATION	(Ignore)		(Show)
<pre>EX3 Automatically can EX3 Available to all</pre>	meet users		
			(Cancel> (IIK)

11. Enter the assigned IP address/netmask, Gateway, DNS server(s), and any Search Domains.

12. Optionally change the IPV6 CONFIGURATION option from Automatic to Ignore.

13. Arrow down till <OK> is highlighted and hit return.

14. Hit the right arrow within the interface selection menu you are returned to, arrow further down until <Quit> is selected and hit return.

15. Arrow down to have Reboot highlighted and hit return to initiate a reboot.



At this point further console operations can continue from with the remote console of the vSphere Web Client, or can be initiated through an ssh connection via shell or putty.

16. Re-login as root once the appliance as finished rebooting and select Configure Network and DNS from the Appliance Administration menu



17. Within the NetworkManager TUI menu select Set system hostname and hit return.



18. Enter the name desired for the UCS Performance Manager master host and press return.



19. Hit return to move past the confirmation screen.

20. Arrow down within the Appliance Administration menu to the Reboot System option and press return to change the system hostname.



Cisco UCS Performance Manager Deployment

The base IP or hostname of the UCS Performance Manager master host will allow a connection the Control Center that the UCS Performance Manager virtual host is provisioned from.

In our example ControlCenter was registered in our DNS as cc-master.vikings.cisco.com, and was accessible as https://cc-master.vikings.cisco.com or via the IP assigned to it. The UCS Performance Manger will need to to resolve in DNS as a CNAME alias or local /etc/hosts entry from the browsing system as ucspm.ControlCenter which was "ucspm.cc-master.vikings.cisco.com" in our example.

1. Login to the Control Center page with the ccuser account, confirm and Security Exceptions identified when connecting.

Alertine +							'	-
FIELD, Southeast of a sector	# 20.000		R	30	*			-
20		4						
	Contraction of the							
	Control							
	Wh Center							
	(and							
	Lington							
		÷						

2. The initial login will bring up a Deployment Wizard to provision the UCS Performance Manager virtual host. If this does not come up, it can be initiated by selecting the +Application button in the mid to upper right of the screen.

3. Enter the Host and port values (ucspm.cc-master.vikings.cisco.com:4979 in our example), select default for the Resource Pool ID, and enter 75% for the RAM Commitment.

Companyation Property		
Stap I	fativar Adadaut	
Alter 1	Product of the grant and diffe	4
they i	100 (particul) The	
		NET

4. Click Next.

5. Select ucspm (v2.0.0) as the application to install.

✓ Step 1 Address	theory Regions	
and the second se	Domety Augurna	
Step 2 • stophister	47.06.59	
Siring 3 mining parameters Siring 4 mining minimum en		
	Back	Red
Ulick Next. Select default as the resource pool		

Deployment Works						
Step 1 Address Step 2 Intel Addresses	100	Normal And Annual State	Tak Data (pina Settiant Paul	Manary 1221-0	Dis Gales I	
9m3						
2010 A Line of Alaseneers						
					Each.	Vitet

- 8. Click Next.
- 9. Specify a Deployment ID name to provision the application.

Analysis from the international for international of polytoods . The player and rate The state of the international of the international of the other state of the	
	Back Depice
	anagete hour later so el genet he researchage d'adheat . Finality e sei ra

10. Click Deploy to provision.

11. In the Actions column of the Applications table, click the Start option of the ucspm (v2.0.0) row.

-						
pplication	De					@Destation Displace
	Distance.	-	Septyment .	No.		
ini primati E a referante	area and a	0			140	
	CALL STORE DO NO. OF	0	-	-	man funger on	A has a fine

12. A Start Service dialog window will pop up.



13. Select Start Service and 46 Children.

14. In the Application column of the Applications table, click ucspm in the ucspm row

15. Scroll down to watch child services starting. Typically, child services take 4-5 minutes to start. When no child service shows a red exclamation point icon, Cisco UCS Performance Manager is running.

Cisco UCS Performance Manager Configuration of FlexPod Infrastructure

1. Using another web browser session, connect to the Cisco UCS Performance Manager virtual host using the DNS CNAME or local entry configured within the host the browser is running from (https://ucspm.vikings.cisco.com/).

2. Scroll down to the licensing screen that first appears, select the "Click this box to verify you agree to the License." in the bottom left, and click Accept License in the bottom right of the page.

A Second will profe per Record	the bell is large of \$155 Parlowment Re-	egges 1018 for Normal to Legis.	
Stop 1	Stop 2	Step 3 C	Get Started!

3. Click the "Get Started!" option in the initial screen.

4. Click Add License File in the following screen if you are adding one, or go directly to Click Next on the Licensing screen if you are going to run with the 30 day trial.

5. Specify an admin password and create a local account on the following screen.

The administration	Cash your screet
the paties proved but educated product, down include interv	Discolution in processing and proof. Notice hold patient
	Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual

6. Click Next.

Administrator and admin accounts were used as the access accounts in this section. In a production environment it may be more appropriate to use dedicated read only accounts.

7. Add a UCS Central IP, administrative account and password if you have one independently deployed in your environment (UCS Central was not covered in this document.)

Credentals	UCP Centrals	
All and the appropriate of the second	tion with terms and the line product of	
and and	1910 - 19 0	
Concern.		
*110mm		
100		

8. Click Next.

9. Add in the UCS Fabric Interconnect(s) virtual IPs for UCS Domains to be monitored in your environment.

CINERLERS	Dones	*							
CORPORATION CONTRACTOR	1000	Are 1993	-	-	-	-		100	
10010101000010	Ø heren		-	-		n	1	5	
	Manage								
And a second									
(and)									
rituro.									

- 10. Click Add, then click Next.
- 11. Select Network from the Category column to add in the Nexus Switches to be monitored.
- 12. Select Cisco Nexus 9000 and enter the IP and credentials for access.

e result Onnar Carte	1 a	Eliter coders diving deliver,		
C Pagenting				
Teynas				
State Land Land		Married Contraction	- BALLER	- 10 C
Oleane (L.M.M.)		Sectors and a sector	Martine P	1

13. Click Add.

- 14. Click Storage from the Category column to add in the NetApp AFF.
- 15. Select NetApp C-Mode Filer (ZAPI) and enter the IP and credentials for access.
- 16. Click the "Use SSL?" checkmark box.

Category	Type			Central				
1) Television © Television © Television () Constant and () Constant an	inter i meri	er (Jath			1 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1			
Javiers								
(man in) and in		10000	- Anton	-	3440.	-	And in case of	Control 1
Breeze plate	847 ·	100	-	94.96	4.000	- manufactures		18.
Basso in	#24			Aug. 48.01.	9-644	advertised in the		19
B handler in the		the second se	1000	10.00	10000	the local states	-	

17. Click Add.

18. Click Hypervisor from the Category column to add in the vCenter Server.

19. Select vSphere EndPoint (SOAP) and enter the IP and credentials for access vCenter.

20. Click the "Use SSL?" checkmark box.

Catagory () Termit () Bong () Samp I Topmine () (and (term	Type Hanne Collina (Coll)		Connection Non-Network of Network of Party Network of Par	er arhendel le lennen Griffen erer			
Devices							
Des	10000	Ast.	100	Jame	And in case of Females, Spinster, Sp	- 241	
O tores 10,10,000	. 900	Class #		3.000	Martine P	16	
Brasse (0.00,0.0)		1000		Sec.		18.	
Channe (bull-thip)	10000	10.64	1000	2.00	******** P	-	
Blancest - Lincolness	- 1014 L-100-000		distant.	All Lances	Transmission, 201		

21. Click Finish.

The initial configuration of UCS Performance Manger to access the FlexPod environment is now complete.

11	Alternative Action (
terms in the second sec	hely.
and other production (CAO)	5.195
ANALYSIS AND ANALYSIS AND	No. 197 197 197 197 197 197 197 197 197 197
Class UCD Performance Manager * **********************************	
and a second sec	
40000 AV	122
in the second se	

Reference the Cisco UCS Performance Manager Administration Guide, Release 2.0.0 for further use and configuration of Cisco UCS Performance Manager.

1. Country

NetApp Virtual Storage Console 6.2P1 Deployment Procedure

This section describes the deployment procedures for the NetApp VSC.

Virtual Storage Console 6.2P1 Pre-Installation Considerations

The following licenses are required for VSC on storage systems that run clustered Data ONTAP 8.3.2:

- Protocol licenses (NFS and FCP)
- FlexClone (for provisioning and cloning only)
- SnapRestore (for backup and recovery)
- SnapManager suite

Install Virtual Storage Console 6.2P1

To install the VSC 6.2P1 software, complete the following steps:

1. Build a VSC VM with Windows Server 2012 R2, 4GB RAM, two CPUs, and one virtual network interface in the <<var_ib_mgmt_vlan_id>> VLAN. The virtual network interface should be a VMXNET 3 adapter.

- 2. Bring up the VM, install VMware Tools, assign IP addresses, and join the machine to the Active Directory domain.
- 3. Activate Adobe Flash Player in Windows Server 2012 R2 by installing Desktop Experience under the User Interfaces and Infrastructure Feature on the VM.
- 4. Install all Windows updates on the VM.
- 5. Log in to the VSC VM as FlexPod admin user.
- 6. Download the x64 version of the Virtual Storage Console 6.2P1 from the NetApp Support site.
- 7. From the VMware Console, right-click the VSC .exe file downloaded in step 6 and select Run as administrator.
- 8. Select the appropriate language and click OK.

NetApp# Virtual Storage C	onsole 6.2P1 fo	r VMwa
Select the language for the	installation from the	choices below.
Biglish (United States)		
	(ox	Cancel

9. On the Installation wizard Welcome page, click Next.



10. Select the checkbox to accept the message, click Next.



11. Click Next to accept the default installation location.

netApp*	F Virtual Storage Console 6.2P1 for VMware vSphere - Ins.
Destination Po Click Next &	dder o install to this folder, or clok Cherge is install to a different folder.
>	vstall NetApp db Wituel Storage Console 6.3P1 for VMware vSphere to: 2'Program Piles'/VetApp/Wituel Storage Console/
IntelShell	< Back Next > Cancel
12. Click Insta	all.
Ready to Install the The wizord is rea	mual Storage Console 6.2PT for VMware vSprere - Inc.
Click Install to be If you went to re exit the wood.	egin the installation. eview or change any of your installation sattings, click Back. Click Cancel to
Virtual Storage C to function: You any time by visit	Console for VMwore vSphere must be registered with vCenter for the plugn may register area installation/Lpgrada completes or you can register at any the following URL:
https://localb	ost8143/Register.html
utalitikist	

13. Click Finish.

Register VSC with vCenter Server

To register the VSC with the vCenter server, complete the following steps:

1. A browser window with the registration URL opens automatically when the installation phase is complete. If the URL does not open automatically, open https://localhost.8143/Register.html in Internet Explorer.

2. Click Continue to This Website (Not Recommended).

3. In the Plug-in Service Information section, select the local IP address that the vCenter Server uses to access the VSC server from the drop-down list.

4. In the vCenter Server Information section, enter the host name or IP address, user name (FlexPod admin user or root), and user password for the vCenter server. Click Register to complete the registration.

observe a sellen sollen	anou		
To register the Virtual Storage plages and provide the vCenter and passiverid.	Console, select the IP Add Server's IP address and p	haza you would like to use fo wit along with a valid user na	r the me
Plugin service information			
meet name or IP Address:	172 25 71 41	16	
vCenter Server information			
Heat marke or TP Address:	173.220.71.39		
Port:	40		
Uber names	AdministrativeDysphere	Jocal	
User passworth	••••••	*	
	Funder 1		

5. After successful registration, the storage controllers are discovered automatically.

The storage discovery process may take some time.

Discover and Add Storage Resources

To discover storage resources for the Monitoring and Host Configuration and the Provisioning and Cloning capabilities, complete the following steps:

1. Using the vSphere web client, log in to the vCenter Server as FlexPod admin user or root. If the vSphere web client was previously opened, close it and then reopen it.

2. In the Home screen, click the Home tab and click Virtual Storage Console.



- 3. Select Storage Systems. Under the Objects tab, click Actions > Modify.
- 4. In the IP Address/Hostname field, enter the storage cluster management IP. Enter admin for the user name and the admin password for password.
- Confirm that Use SSL to connect to this storage system is selected. Click OK.
- Click OK to accept the controller privileges.

Optimal Storage Settings for ESXi Hosts

VSC allows for the automated configuration of storage-related settings for all ESXi hosts that are connected to NetApp storage controllers. To use these settings, complete the following steps:

1. From the Home screen, click vCenter > Hosts and Clusters. For each ESXi host, right-click and select NetApp VSC > Set Recommended Values for These Hosts.



2. Check the settings that are to be applied to the selected vSphere hosts. Click OK to apply the settings. This functionality sets values for HBAs and CNAs, sets appropriate paths and path-selection plug-ins, and verifies appropriate settings for software-based I/O (NFS and iSCSI).

3. Click OK.



4. For each host for which settings were adjusted in the previous step, place the host in maintenance mode, reboot the host, and exit maintenance mode.

VSC 6.2P1 Backup and Recovery

Prerequisites to Use Backup and Recovery Capability

Before you begin using the backup and recovery capability to schedule backups and restore your datastores, VMs, or virtual disk files, you must confirm that the storage systems that contain the datastores and VMs for which you are creating backups have valid storage credentials.

If you plan to use the SnapMirror update option, add all of the destination storage systems with valid storage credentials.

Backup and Recovery Configuration

- 1. From the Home screen, select the Home tab and click Storage.
- 2. On the left, expand the Datacenter and select Datastores.
- 3. Right-click the datastore that you want to backup. Select NetApp VSC > Backup > Schedule Backup Job.

If you prefer a one-time backup, then select Backup Now instead of Schedule Backup.

4. Type a backup job name and description.

If you want to create a VMware snapshot for each backup, select Perform VMware Consistency Snapshot in the options pane.

5. Click Next.

6. Select any options to include in the backup.

Reason for the					0.0
 1 Statuti 2 Optimization 3 Special Dataset 4 Segment Dataset 4 Segment Dataset 5 Segment Dataset 6 Segment Dataset 7 Segment Dataset 7 Segment Dataset 8 Segment Dataset 9 Segment Dataset	Never the phone pro ever to choose using outer 	to terraryo			
	🗶 tarategan est kaar	erte Clainer Lau (1914	P 2 2 40 44	Test.	(mer.

- 7. Click Next on the Options screen.
- 8. Click Next on the Spanned Entities screen.
- 9. Select one or more backup scripts if available and click Next in the Scripts screen.

CI CIN

of A Deserv	Territor and the second	the second second	-		
1 Spread Dation Eccentral Schulder and Branches Eccentral Destination and Reserve Eccentrality		the Touge		Reported South	

of a Subset of Sectors of a Subset of Sectors of a Subset of Sectors of Contentiant and News f Contentiant and News f Contentiant and News	X Haves X Haves Dary Dary Monthy Monthy O (In demand only 13)	Transported A must Backage and the performant Even (1999) (*) Backage (1999) (*) Backage (1999) (*)	(11.13 No. 21)
	National 2 Marrier Dage († 10 Marrier Bashan († 10 Marrier Bashan (†	1) 8 11	

11. Use the default vCenter credentials or type the user name and password for the vCenter server and click Next.

12. Specify backup retention details as per requirements. Enter an e-mail address for receiving e-mail alerts. You can add multiple e-mail addresses by using semicolons to separate them. Click Next.

E Automati das Evel				35.8
 ↓ 1 Database ↓ 2 Openers ↓ 1 Spectrat Holdbase ↓ 4 Schedung and Holdbase ↓ 5 Schedung and Holdbase ↓	The Barrison All with the creation with Dates Descriptions White a state of the barries of an Andress the Lansage Description and earlies Dates and earliest Dates an	he (Moerig (phon) Miczaria Whenae Imputation, 7 Ren: 1 Sau Alampin: 13 PA at 18120 Ren: 1 Sau Ren:		
	Ronal cattle star Bolty (con) [] Ron and New	112.04/04/111		
			a l' terr	from

- 13. Review the summary page and click Finish. If you want to run the job immediately, select the Run Job Now option and then click Finish.
- 14. Click OK.



15. On the storage cluster interface, automatic Snapshot copies of the volume can be disabled by entering the following command:

volume modify -volume infra_datastore_1 -snapshot-policy none

16. Also, to delete any existing automatic Snapshot copies that have been created on the volume, enter the following command:

volume snapshot show -volume infra_datastore_1

volume snapshot delete -volume infra_datastore_1 -vserver Infra-SVM -snapshot <snapshot name>

M The wildcard character (*) can be used in snapshot names in the previous command.

OnCommand Unified Manager 6.3P2

OnCommand Unified Manager OVF Deployment

- To install the OnCommand Unified Manager, complete the following steps:
- Download and review the OnCommand Unified Manager Installation and Setup Guide.
- 1. Download OnCommand Unified Manager version 6.3P2 (OnCommandUnifiedManager-6.3P2.ova) from the OnCommand download site.
- 2. Log in to the vSphere web client. Go to vCenter > VMs and Templates.
- 3. At the top of the center pane, select Actions > Deploy OVF Template.

Bergare .	1.4	Division and the second second	T STUDA C MODADOW			
4.Noral	6	fammery i Hon	Ant Harmon Halamat Obje-	n		
- Urana - Urana - Urana - Urana - Urana - Urana - Urana - Urana	Call Re Conservations The Annu Defensions Call State France State France Expert Scatters Lag	-	Kall se Nit (tip contrapio contra Virtual Vientimes - Di Mattin - B		and Sector Strater States Stat	1988 - Henry Con- guides (1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1998 - Landard - Saland China and Hanry Landard - Landard -
	Dig Anings (Johnson Settings Elaga Alto Photosolaut Alama		Orașne Deven Três facile erafe	-	Territor Universities errori 433 eta piesaren	

- 4. Browse the .ova file that was downloaded locally. Click Open to select the file. Click Next to proceed with the selected file.
- 5. Select Accept Extra Configuration Options, and click Next.
- 6. Review the deployment details, and click Next.

Daging COT Company			- 35
 Construction Const	Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual	ente Annie Ordenstaat United Danmae Meldan Im. - No onthe anti-annie - No onthe anti-anni	
		The last two to the	1044

7. Read the end-user license agreement (EULA), and then click Accept to accept the agreement. Click Next.



8. Enter the name of the VM and select the FlexPod_DC folder to hold it. Click Next to continue.

-Deptoy Gall Template		79
Assess In Sections In Sections In Sections Antificial Come Antificial Come Antificial Come Information Information Information Information Information Information Information Information Information	Select name and lotter Indentity a name and lotter for the depiced lengths Name: Sectionmand Under Navager Termina Door to addapted 9, 1000 9, 1000 1, 2001 1,	That Motor yes landed in whose the estity will be located, and with a same to apply party constraint in a "Take same of this will, much be unique within each of come general VM Solar
		Ban Bod Free Cares

9. Select FlexPod_Management within the FlexPod_DC datacenter as the destination compute resource pool to host the VM. Click Next.

10. Select infra_datastore_1 as the storage target for the VM and select Thin Provision as the virtual disk format. Click Next.

Deploy12VA Transports						200
Source Source status Source status	Ander the age Called the stort for stort the face Webset result under formal (17) and Manage Francy (18) The formation of stationers and what is resulting in the stort of the) pro presida integrita noisuadore antaneos foi for				
	C des controls () C des controls () C des controls C des controls C controls () C controls ()	500.00.00 100.00.00 130.00 130.00 130.00 130.00	Ne Mob	HER BOARD	tar Mit Mit Mit Mit	80-ago (93
				845 1	ter i	test.

11. Select IB-MGMT-VLAN as the destination network for the nat source network. Click Next.

Depicy (10) Jungmin			(8.)
 Flaven ✓ Extension ✓ Extension ✓ Extension ✓ Extension ✓ Extension 	Selap server ke Certifory for concern the same trans-	ent to status characters encountry of the	-
2 Deduction √ The Section of a difference √ The Decoding Responses	-		
St Statel stronge St Statel stronger St Statel state stronger St Statel state stronger Statel stronger	Parent Put	Futurdas Da	n una 0
	Harmonian II. Matth (M.A. A. Hai configuration featured for the	utud urtikoja Infeste	
		840	and Caron

12. Complete the Host Name, IP Address, Network Mask, Gateway, Primary DNS, and Secondary DNS fields. Click Next.



- 13. Clear the Power On After Deployment checkbox.
- 14. Review the configuration details. Click Finish to begin deploying the VM with the provided configuration information.
- 15. In the left pane, select vCenter -> Virtual Machines. After OVF deployment is complete, right-click the newly created VM and select Edit Settings.

p concommand to	104 Centres	ence outer	utus Out				0
Virtual Hardware	VM Options	SDMS Mulles	outp offi	DITS			_
🕶 🔲 CPU		4	*	0			-
Cores per So	i s kat	2		Backets	2		
CPU Hat Plu	D	Enable CPU	Hot Add				
Reservation		4786	¥	MH2	Ŧ		
Limit		4786	٠	MHz	¥		
Shares		Normal	¥	40.00	v		
CPUID Mask		Expose the NXXXD flag to guest + Ad			Advanced.		
Hardware virt	tualization	Expose hard	ware assist	ed virtua	Izatio	n to the guest CS	θ
Performance	counters	Enable virtus	lized CPU p	erform ar	168.6	ounters	
HT Sharing		\$411f					
C P UNMU Virtualization		Automatis 👻					
		ESG can automatically determine if a virtual machine should use hardware support for virtualization based on the processor type and the virtual machine. However, for some workloads, overriding the automatic selection can provide better performance.					
		Note: If a selected setting is not supported by the host or conflicts with existing virtual machine settings, the setting is ignored and the "Automatic" selection is used.					
New d	evice:	Select		-		uid	
ompatibility. ESKR	ESO(4.0 and I	ater (VIV version	7)			ок с	ancel

- 16. Size the VM's CPU and memory parameters according to the OnCommand Unified Manager 6.3 Installation and Setup Guide.
- 17. Click OK to accept the changes.
- 18. Right-click the VM in the left-hand pane. Click Power On.

OnCommand Unified Manager Basic Setup

- To setup the OnCommand Unified Manager, complete the following steps:
- 1. Select the VM in the left-hand pane. In the center pane, select Launch Remote Console.
- 2. In the VMRC window, select VMRC > Manage > Install VMware Tools. VMware Tools will install in the VM.



3. Set up OnCommand Unified Manager by answering the following questions in the console window:

Geographic area: <<Enter the number corresponding to your time zone>>



These commands complete the network configuration checks, generate SSL certificates for HTTPS and start the OnCommand Unified Manager services. 4. To Create a Maintenance User account, run the following commands:



5. With a web browser, navigate to the OnCommand Unified Manager using URL: https://<<var_oncommand_server_ip>>.



- 6. Log in using the maintenance user account credentials.
- 7. Select Yes to enable AutoSupport capabilities.
| A | A A MARTIN | A Print Like States |
10 | |
|---|---|---------------------|--------|--|
| | Conference & March Surger Land Long | | | |
| | <text><text><section-header><section-header><section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></text></text> | | | |
| | | 1,0004 | | |
| | | | | |

- 8. Click Continue.
- 9. Enter the NTP server IP address <<var_switch_a_ntp_ip>>.
- 10. Enter the storage admin e-mail address <<var_storage_admin_email>>.
- 11. Enter the SMTP server host name.

and the second sec				
all the second second	shared in the second	Contraction in the second	and had been as	A labor
CONTRACTOR OF	THEFT LINE	10.7 10.01.00	101 THE LT.	54539

NTP Server				
88.175.003.308				
Maintenance User Email				
admin oncommin@prelago.com				
SMTP Server Hostneme:				
white relinge com	(more aptorit)			
			Bept.	
Click Save.				
 Click Add Cluster. 				
Name of Concession, Name				
bathant i tool i bought from	And I () line (hearter)		10.000	141
	Get Started			
	Websens to Disconstant	Unifest Waterper		
	Realized and the second	and the second sec		

Add Challer

14. Provide the cluster management IP address, user name, password, protocol, and port.

id Cluster 🖗	78
multihane or (P Address	173.30.75.10
User Name:	8010
Password	
Protocol	C HTTPS O HTTP
Part	443
	All Grad

mer i han i bear i thaint	(100) (100 C)			1000	141
	Cal Starte	4			
	Get Grante	•			
	The set of the set of the	Owner I told to Manage	P.		
	The local division in the				
	100.000.00				
	100-00	CASALINATION			
		The Property Spinster	Select interview.	100 C	
			1 (0 () all \$1()		
		and the second of			
	1.11	12	17.001	1.1	

16. Click Yes to trust the certificate from the controller.

After the clus	ster is ad	ded, it can be accessed by	clicking on the St	orage tab and selectin	g Clusters.
Dettort	Terms .	Boope - Pedatas - Ja	it inports		1
	Iner	Content D + a P = 2		y taalaan ay talaan Yeesser	1 10 1000
Salata Salata Salata Salata Salata Salata Salata Salata	- 200				

OnCommand Performance Manager 2.0

OnCommand Performance Manager OVF Deployment

To install OnCommand Performance Manager, complete the following steps:

- 1. Download and review the OnCommand Performance Manager 2.0 Installation and Administration Guide for VMware Virtual Appliances.
- 2. Download OnCommand Performance Manager version 2.0 (OnCommandPerformanceManager-netapp-2.0.0.ova).
- 3. Log in to the vSphere Web Client. Select Home > VMs and Templates.
- 4. At the top of the center pane, click Actions > Deploy OVF Template.

mwarer vSphere Web Cite	nt 🗤	1 1	CI I CONDUCTOR - T LOD	a
Nadgalar E	- Inchalas :	Arison +	w.	() ANN 3
Anala Carlos Ca	History Stanton When is a durate management of the stanton structure and programmer and programm	Dynamic Alexand A		n (S) her (S) house
in Recard Tables				
lan Yest	Tanar.	1999	alahi basari bi	Aller Dec. 0

5. Browse to the OnCommandPerformanceManager-netapp-2.0.0.ova file that was downloaded locally. Click Open to select the file. Click Next to proceed with the selected file.

Deptoy OVE Temptate		2.9
 Sana Sana<th>Next Learns Select the score matter Select the score matter Select the score matter Select the score matter score are a real read and the score of a CODO-Date Select Se</th><th>•</th>	Next Learns Select the score matter Select the score matter Select the score matter Select the score matter score are a real read and the score of a CODO-Date Select Se	•
	Here Here Co	ini i

- 6. Review the details and click Next.
- 7. Read the EULA and click the Accept button to accept the agreement. Click Next.

Digitigative herause	
Contra Tal Senter second Tal Senter second Tal Senter second Tal Second	Autory HEAA Autor Reveal Loss Hanses Agreements Ballmark Hould Colonaux
2 Booleann 3a Beachnean Achden 28 Beachnean 36 Beachnean 38 Coleanna Annaith 7 Beachteannachte	The series of a section of generating in particular segment that intervents you will need to intervent our these they is the section of the Section On The S
	Lange (

- 8. Enter the name of the VM and select the FlexPod_DC folder to hold the VM. Click Next.
- 9. Select FlexPod_Management within the FlexPod_DC datacenter as the destination compute resource pool to host the VM. Click Next.

Thraking Utali Terangkake		10 H
Hopping USE Frequencies	Senier & Interarce Senier annum (L. A.) the degrave bengane (L. (L. (L. (L. (L. (L. (L. (L. (L. (L.	Bartis (Tarchades, Yord, Wige, processores post in which for the Bart depresent through de

10. Select infra_datastore_1 as the storage target for the VM, and select Thin Provision as the virtual disk format. Click Next.

Deptoy OVE Terratulo						219
 B Sance Its Sance could Its Reven could A Sance could A procession B Sance could could be a second could be a second be second be a second be second be a second be a second be a se	Select Morge Select an idea to view the Select only a feet formation (Al Strange Party) The following addresses	n Nex Torthe displayed Serve (The Provision) (Departure Collocity are a constitute from the co	ins () •) •) •) Yan urketika Salae	the Boltzahr J	80005/74
 Ja Seechare and Now Ja Seechare and Now Ja Seechare and Now Particular second secon	tean 1 100, broader, 1 1 100, broader, 1 1 100, broader 1 100, broader 1 100, broader 1 100, broader 1 100, broader 1 100, broader 1 100, broader, 1 1 100,	Carterin 100.000.00 2.50.00 2.50.00	Promised of 4 (20, 32) (20) 20, 72 (20) 20	ATTOO BEATOO BEATOO BEATOO BEATOO	Tue MER MER Verb Verb	- (Brouge) (M.)
	60			fact 1	Rod	e Canal

11. Select IB-MGMT-VLAN as the destination network for the nat source network. Click Next.

12. Enter the host name, IP address, network mask, gateway, primary DNS, and secondary DNS. Click Next.

13. Deselect Power On After Deployment.

14. Review the configuration details. Click Finish to begin deploying the VM with the provided configuration details.

15. In the left pane, navigate to Home -> Hosts and Clusters. Expand the FlexPod_Management cluster and select the newly created OnCommand Performance Manager VM. After OVF deployment is complete, right-click the newly created VM and select Edit Settings.

16. Expand the CPU options.

- a. The minimum required CPU reservation is 9572MHz. Determine the CPU frequency of the host.
- b. Set the required number of CPUs (9572 / CPU frequency of the host).

c. Set the number of cores per socket where the socket number on the right matches the number of CPU sockets in the host. For example, if a host has two CPUs operating at a speed of 1999MHz, then the VM requires six virtual CPUs (9572 / 1999 = 4.79 – rounded to 6 virtual CPUs). If the host has two physical CPU sockets, then set three cores per socket.

🔺 For detailed information, see OnCommand Performance Manager 2.0 Installation and Administration Guide for VMware Virtual Appliances.

Intual Hardware VM Options	SDRS Rules WApp Options	
🖬 'CPU	6 📼 🗶	ŀ
Cores per Socket (*)	3 Sockets: 2	
CPU Hot Plug	Enable CPU Hot Add	
Reservation	9572 v NHz v	
Limit	9572 - NHz -	
Shares	Normal + 6000 +	
CPUID Mask	Expose the NXXXD flag to guest + Advanced	
Hardware virtualization	Expose hardware assisted virtualization to the guest OB	
Performance counters	Enable virtualized CPU performance counters	
CPUMMU	Automatic +	
	EBN can automatically determine if a virtual machine should use hardware support for virtualization based on the processor type and the virtual machine. However, for some workloads, overriding the automatic selection can provide better performance. Note: if a selected setting is not supported by the host or conflicts	
Memory	with existing virtual machine settings, the setting is ignored and the "Automatic" selection is used. 12288 12288 NB	
New dealers		1
New device:	Select ¥ Add	

17. Click OK to accept the changes.

18. Right-click the VM in the left-hand pane. Click Power On.

OnCommand Performance Manager Basic Setup

To setup the OnCommand Performance Manager, complete the following steps:

- 1. Select the VM in the left-hand pane. In the center pane, select Launch Remote Console.
- 2. In the VMware Remote Console window, select VMRC > Manage > Install VMware Tools. VMware Tools installs in the VM.



3. Set up OnCommand Performance Manager by answering the following questions in the console window:

Geographic area: <<Enter your geographic location>>

Time zone: <<Select the city or region corresponding to your time zone>>

These commands complete the network configuration checks, generate SSL certificates, and start OnCommand Performance Manager services.

4. To create a maintenance user account, run the following commands:

🔺 The maintenance user manages and maintains the settings on the OnCommand Performance Manager virtual appliance.

Username : admin

Enter new UNIX password: <<var_password>>

Retype new UNIX password: <<var_password>>

5. Using a web browser, navigate to OnCommand Performance Manager using the URL https:// <<var_oncommand_pm_ip>>.

6. Log in using the maintenance user account (admin) credentials.

- 7. Enter a maintenance user e-mail address, SMTP mail server information, and the NTP server IP address. Click Save.
- 8. Select the Yes option to enable AutoSupport capabilities. Click Save.
- 9. Click Save and go to next step to not change the admin password.

10. Enter the storage cluster host name or IP address, the storage cluster admin user name, and the storage cluster admin password. Click Add Cluster, and then click Save and Complete Configuration. It can take up to 15 minutes for the cluster to be visible in OnCommand Performance Manager.



11. After the cluster is added, it can be accessed by clicking on Administration > Manage Data Sources.

NHINGS DISCONTINUE	d Performance Man							
Samuel Inest St	ingi - Indynation -				1994-22	+] metark	inger Sparin	a barra
Researcher.	Manage Gata Service	0.0						
19415	+ m . m	8 cm -						
Concession in the local division of the loca	Name -	-	-	. Part	0003000	- Sector	Renal Descape	
100	0.144.44	101000	10793	441	atom	-		
Automation in the local division of the loca								
strat 10110 Deciduate								
100101								
all lane								

Link OnCommand Performance Manager to OnCommand Unified Manager

To link OnCommand Performance Manager to the OnCommand Unified Manager, complete the following steps:

1. Using a web browser, navigate to OnCommand Unified Manager using the URL https:// <<var_oncommand_server_ip>>. Log in with the maintenance user ID and password set up earlier.

- 2. In the OnCommand Unified Manager web interface, select Administration > Manage Users to set up an Event Publication user.
- 3. Click Add to add a user.

4. Leave the Type set to Local User. Use eventpub as the name and enter and confirm a password. Enter an e-mail address for this user and set the Role to Event Publisher. Click Add.

Authentiation remote user or from Setup Opt	ienver is either disabled or not co group, enable or configure the storm.	infigured. To add a dherticolion server	
Type	Local Liser	*	
Name:	eventpub		
Pasaword			
Confirm Paseword	•••••		
Erral	eventoub@nelapp.coni		
Role	Exact Publisher	~	

- 5. In the OnCommand Performance Manager console window, log into the Command Line Interface with the maintenance user (admin) defined earlier.
- 6. Enter 5 to select Unified Manager Connection.



- 7. Enter 2 to Add / Modify Unified Manager Server Connection.
- 8. Enter y to continue.
- 9. Enter the OnCommand Unified Manager FQDN or IP address.
- 10. Click Enter to accept the default port 443.
- 11. Enter y to accept the Unified Manager security certificate.
- 12. Enter eventpub for the Event Publisher User Name.
- 13. Enter the eventpub password.
- 14. Enter y to accept the entered settings.
- 15. Press any key to continue.

16. Exit the OnCommand Performance Manager console. OnCommand Performance Manager events now appear in the OnCommand Unified Manager Dashboard.

NetApp NFS Plug-In 1.1.0 for VMware VAAI

Enable VMware vStorage for NFS in Clustered Data ONTAP

To enable VMware vStorage for NFS in ONTAP, complete the following steps:

- 1. From an SSH session to the storage cluster management address, log in with the admin user name and password.
- 2. Enable vStorage on the SVM.

vserver nfs modify -vserver Infra-SVM -vstorage enabled

3. Verify that the export policy rules are set up correctly.

vserver export-policy rule show -vserver Infra-SVM

The following text provides a sample output:

NetApp::> vserver export-policy rule show -vserver Infra-SVM

Pc	licy	Rule	Access	Client	F	RO	
Vserver	Name	In	dex Pro	tocol Ma	tch		Rule
Infra-SVM	default	1	nfs	192.16	68.170.61		sys
Infra-SVM	default	2	nfs	192.16	68.170.60)	sys
Infra-SVM	default	3	nfs	192.16	68.170.58	3	sys
Infra-SVM	default	4	nfs	192.16	68.170.59)	sys
Infra-SVM	default	5	nfs	192.16	68.170.62	2	sys
Infra-SVM	default	6	nfs	192.16	68.170.63	3	sys
6 entries w	ere displ	aved.					

4. The access protocol for the FlexPod policy name should be nfs. If the access protocol is not nfs for a given rule index, run the following command to set nfs as the access protocol:

vserver export-policy rule modify -vserver Infra-SVM -policyname default -ruleindex <<var_rule_index>> - protocol nfs

Install NetApp NFS Plug-In for VMware VAAI

- To install the NetApp NFS plug-in for VMware vStorage APIs for Array Integration (VAAI), complete the following steps:
- 1. From a console interface on the NetApp VSC VM, go to the Software Downloads page in the NetApp Support site.
- 2. Scroll down to locate the NetApp NFS Plug-in for VMware VAAI, select the ESXi6.0 platform, and click Go.
- 3. Click View & Download.
- 4. Click CONTINUE.
- 5. Click Accept.
- 6. Download the .vib file of the most recent plug-in version to the VSC VM Desktop as NetAppNasPlugin.vib.

It is important that the file be saved as NetAppNasPlugin.vib.

7. On the VSC VM desktop, move the NetAppNasPlugin.vib file to the C:\Program Files\NetApp\Virtual Storage Console\etc\vsc\web folder.

	web					
Det Hone The	t Wes			- 0		
🕑 - t 📕 + 1	NelApp: + Votual Storage Console + etc. +	use = web = 1	Seech wet			
Sir Facesitas	Name	Lists reciting	Type	548		
Craktop	in loss, ges, treesed, 100-install	0/03/2015 3:10 PM	Distances his	370.00		
a Dovenicasis	in leasing testerational	\$25/20113-19 PM	The image file	182 18		
Sale Recent places	Net-AppNesPlogervile	10/13/2015 16-17	VB He	255.08		
Contraction of the second	all salaris, gos, timeout, 90-install	9/23/2018 3/19 /94	Discionage Tite	246.10		
(# The PC	ili solaris, gos, timeosi-instali	0.2522013.3110.048	Disc troups film	340.68		
Se Network	iii windowe gee timmut iii windowe gee timmeut 190	9/23/2015 3:19 PM 9/23/2015 3:19 PM	Disc image frie Disc image frie	SA KD RA RD		

8. Go to the VMware vSphere Web Client and select VSC. Click NFS VAAI Tools. Make sure NFS Plug-in for VMware VAAI Version: 1.1.0-0 is shown.

Insight R	E International Contraction
r John C.	A fit i hage size offloar view. The fail papers view of the experimental and the experimental and offloar view of the Table induced and the table induced and the table induced and the experimental and the Table induced and the experimental and the Table induced and the table induced and the experimental and the ex

9. Click Install on Host. Select all of the hosts on which you want to install the plug-in.

-	T BY'S FRANCE DIE VIERANDE LEAK						
144 234	d+	e houtle en inholt you, execting tradial the APC Propiet for Allowing View Incompation Of Annaly and the prescription	•				
R	8	ten n't Nutige nettage com					
120		AUTUAT NJ HIL KARABAN ANN					

10. Click Install and then click OK.

11. One at a time, put each ESXi host into maintenance mode, reboot the host, and then exit maintenance mode. It might be necessary to manually migrate VMs to the other host to allow the host to enter maintenance mode.

12. When the reboots have completed, click Storage in the vSphere web client from the Home page. Then select the infra_datastore_1 datastore. Select Settings under the Manage tab in the center pane. Hardware Acceleration should now read Supported on All Hosts, as is shown in the following screenshot. All NFS datastores should now support hardware acceleration.

When the second se			Interested and the second seco		
	Ominantiant				
W B B B	(BERRY) and Annual V	- 14	an (m)		
Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit Bennerit			en aleman (en aleman) en aleman) aleman)	-	
Deckport Oberland Oberland Oberland Oberland Oberland		1.0000000000000000000000000000000000000	Augusterier of Touri.		

About the Authors

Ramesh Isaac, Technical Marketing Engineer, Cisco Systems, Inc.

Ramesh Isaac is a Technical Marketing Engineer in the Cisco UCS Data Center Solutions Group. Ramesh has worked in data center and mixed-use lab settings since 1995. He started in information technology supporting UNIX environments and focused on designing and implementing multi-tenant virtualization solutions in Cisco labs over the last couple of years. Ramesh holds certifications from Cisco, VMware, and Red Hat.

Lindsey Street, Solutions Architect, Infrastructure and Cloud Engineering, NetApp

Lindsey Street is a Solutions Architect in the NetApp Infrastructure and Cloud Engineering team. She focuses on the architecture, implementation, compatibility, and security of innovative vendor technologies to develop competitive and high-performance end-to-end cloud solutions for customers. Lindsey started her career in 2006 at Nortel as an interoperability test engineer, testing customer equipment interoperability for certification. Lindsey has her Bachelors of Science degree in Computer Networking and her Masters of Science in Information Security from East Carolina University.

Dave Derry, Technical Marketing Engineer, Infrastructure and Cloud Engineering, NetApp

Dave Derry is a Technical Marketing Engineer in the Converged Infrastructure Engineering team at NetApp. He has been with NetApp since 2012, serving in a variety of engineering roles. Prior to that, he was an engineer at Cisco Systems for over ten years, in a variety of development and solution test roles.

Acknowledgements

For their support and contribution to the design, validation, and creation of this Cisco Validated Design, the authors would like to thank:

- John George, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- Haseeb Niazi, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- Melissa Palmer, NetApp

© 2019 Cisco and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

About NetApp

Throughout the world, leading organizations count on NetApp for software, systems, and services to store, manage, protect, and retain one of their most precious assets: their data. We enable enterprises, service providers and partners to envision, deploy, and evolve their IT environments. Customers benefit from our open collaboration with other technology leaders to create the specific solutions they need. We were incorporated in 1992 and created the world's first networked storage appliance.

Today, we offer a portfolio of products and services that satisfy a broad range of customer workloads across different data types and deployment models. NetApp's cloud-connected flash solutions, an element of a Data Fabric strategy, provide the simplicity, operational efficiency and protection needed to support innovation, add unprecedented performance and power the most demanding data sets and technologies, such as artificial intelligence or 5G networks. Only NetApp delivers everything that companies need to build their own unique Data Fabric that spans public cloud, private cloud and on-premises environments. With NetApp solutions, this Data Fabric can deliver applications that engage users and can provide analytics that turn insights into a competitive advantage.

The industry has awarded NetApp with hundreds of honors for our innovation, leadership, and culture.



Figure 1: Successful customers drive NetApp Industry leadership.¹

¹ <u>http://fortune.com/fortune500/list/</u>.

Industry Leadership

NetApp continues to lead the market with our integrated portfolio of platforms and solutions. We set the standards for the industry in Flash, OS, capacity, OpenStack, and Object Storage, to name a few. Our innovations help organizations to accelerate critical applications, increase data visibility, streamline data protection, and boost operational agility.

- #1 Integrated Infrastructure and Certified Reference Systems in Capacity Shipped²
- Leader in two Gartner Magic Quadrants:
 - General-Purpose Disk Arrays, November 8, 2018
 - Solid-State Arrays, July 23, 2018
- #1 in Commercial Storage for OpenStack³
- #1 WW NetApp Storage & Device Management software⁴
- #1 Creator of ONTAP, the world's leading open networked branded storage OS⁵
- Fastest growing Converged Systems vendor (YoY revenue growth)²
- Fastest growing Storage for Converged Systems vendor (YoY revenue growth)²
- #2 All Flash Array (AFA) Worldwide⁵
- Market-leading growth for six successive quarters with NetApp FlexPod²
- A Key Player in Data Services for Hybrid Cloud⁶

Financial Information

NetApp is a publicly held FORTUNE 500^{® 1} company with over \$6 billion in revenue, and more than 10,000 employees in 149 offices worldwide. We are a member of the S&P 500 and NASDAQ 100 and our stock symbol is NTAP. Our annual reports can be found at <u>http://investors.netapp.com/annuals.cfm</u>.

The following table summarizes NetApp's financial information over the last five years. All amounts are in U.S. dollars.

	FY 2019	FY 2018	FY 2017	FY 2016	FY 2015					
(In millions, except per-share amounts)										
Total revenues	\$6,146	\$5,919	\$5,491	\$5,546	\$6,123					
Total cost of revenue	\$2,201	\$2,210	\$2,127	\$2,173	\$2,290					
Net income	\$1,169	\$116	\$481	\$229	\$560					
Current assets	\$5,610	\$6,952	\$6,198	\$6,448	\$6,773					

 Table 1:
 NetApp revenue and financial information for the last five years.

² IDC Worldwide Quarterly Converged Systems Tracker - 2018Q4, April 2, 2019.

⁵ IDC Worldwide Quarterly Enterprise Storage Systems Tracker, 2019Q1, June 6, 2019.

⁶ IDC, Worldwide Data Services for Hybrid Cloud – Key Players Portfolio Analysis, IDC #US44266318, September 2018 A Key Player in Data Services for Hybrid Cloud

³ OpenStack User Survey: <u>https://www.openstack.org/analytics</u>.

⁴ IDC Worldwide Storage Software and Cloud Services Overview, 2019Q1, June 6, 2019 (#1 Storage & Device Management vendor – revenue share).

	FY 2019	FY 2018	FY 2017	FY 2016	FY 2015
Total assets	\$9,865	\$9,493	\$10,037	\$9,401	\$9,214
Shareholder's equity	\$2,067	\$2,780	\$2,881	\$3,414	\$3,787

Our Customers

NetApp delivers data management solutions to over 30,000 businesses worldwide to help them unleash the full potential of their data. In a world transformed by digital technology, businesses cannot move ahead with data in silos. They need fast insights, seamless access, and the peace of mind of knowing their data is protected and within their control.



Figure 2: Businesses around the world and in every vertical market trust NetApp.

Strategic Partnerships

To empower our customers' continuing growth and success, we form partnerships with the industry's best reseller, application, infrastructure, consulting, and cloud service provider partners including:

- 50+ distributors globally
- 3500 active resellers
- 200+ Technology Alliance and Global System Integrator partners
- Hyperscale Service Providers

The following graphic shows a sample of our strategic alliances and partnerships.



Figure 3: NetApp's partner ecosystem – Developing and delivering integrated solutions to customers around the world.

Research and Development

NetApp invests heavily in R&D to ensure that we provide the best value to our customers and maintain our market leadership. Our global R&D activities represent 14% to 16% of NetApp's net revenues.

One recent success story includes enabling control and choice in hybrid cloud. NetApp was the first data management vendor to build capabilities that support the cloud service provider community of 100s of xSPs, offering over 500 cloud-based services.

NetApp continues to advance its data replication, disaster recovery and data archive portfolio through building upon integration with SAP, Oracle, OpenStack, industry ISVs. Our acquisition of SolidFire helps accelerate our customers' transition to next generation data centers and web-scaled cloud applications.

As of June 2019, NetApp holds over 2,900 patent assets worldwide. This includes over 2,400 issued patents worldwide and hundreds of U.S. and international patent applications. In 2015, we held the second highest patent filings in our history, with 300 new patent applications filed and over 200 patents related to our Flash portfolio.

NetApp also supports innovative research in the academic community as part of its innovation strategy. The NetApp Advanced Technology Group is focused on exploring and evaluating the ideas, technologies, and trends that define the future of data management.

This group is a current member of the following university-industry consortiums:

- CERES: Center for Unstoppable Computing (University of Chicago)
- Parallel Data Laboratory (PDL), Carnegie Mellon University
- MIT CSAIL Alliance Program (Massachusetts Institute of Technology)
- Storage Systems Research Center (University of California, Santa Cruz)
- Wisconsin Institute on Software-defined Datacenters of Madison (University of Wisconsin –Madison)

The NetApp Advanced Technology Group has also sponsored research projects of professors and students at over twenty renowned IT universities across America, Canada, Italy and India.

NetApp's Global Support Capabilities

NetApp offers a broad portfolio of products and services including support services, professional services, and education. Businesses can rely on the NetApp support organization to resolve issues quickly, on a 24/7 basis. NetApp support is organized on a regional, country and city basis with overlapping service and parts coverage. Over 250,000 customer systems rely on our support worldwide.

The NetApp support organization manages:

- 400 depots
- 120 dispatchers with local language capability and security
- 3 test and repair centers
- 13 Technical Support locations: Amsterdam, Netherlands; Costa Rica; Dalian, China; Newcastle, U.K.; Lake Mary, Florida; Raleigh, North Carolina; Wichita, Kansas; Tokyo, Japan; Bangalore, India; Boulder, Colorado; Rochester, NY; Bogota, Colombia; Sofia, Bulgaria

NetApp Team

Our Team Is Data Driven and supports your vision for digital transformation. The strength of NetApp culture and vision attracts the industry's best, a fact reflected in our place on the FORTUNE "100 Best Companies to Work For[®]" list for 13 consecutive years.⁷

NetApp is committed to achieving market leadership by living our values and embracing strong principles. The NetApp executive team combines experience with innovation to help deliver our company strategies.

⁷ Fortune Magazine.



Figure 4: NetApp's executive team.

ONTAP 9: Harness the Power of the Hybrid Cloud

NetApp ONTAP simplifies data management for any application, anywhere; accelerate and protect data across the hybrid cloud; and future-proof your data infrastructure. ONTAP 9 is the next generation combining new levels of simplicity and flexibility with powerful data management capabilities and storage efficiencies. The latest version, ONTAP 9.5, enables additional integration of modern and traditional technologies—across flash, cloud, and software-defined architectures—to build a foundation for the data fabric.

WV Oasis's transformation into a digital business brings with it complexities in the short term. Your new priorities might require adding all-flash arrays for business-critical workloads, while integrating new applications into your existing environment, and managing data on premises as well as in the cloud—yet operations must be simplified, costs reduced, and budgets stretched.

NetApp[®] ONTAP 9[®] provides unmatched versatility, comprehensive data protection, and leading storage efficiency—delivering next-generation data management capabilities and efficiencies, fueled by simplicity and flexibility. ONTAP 9 enables you to deploy storage across your choice of architectures: engineered systems, software-defined storage (SDS), and the cloud, while unifying data management across each of them.

Leverage ONTAP 9 to:

- Simplify deployment and data management
- Adapt to changing business needs
- Power your enterprise applications

Storage array	Converged	Heterogeneous	Software- defined storage (SDS	Near cloud	Cloud
*****	FlexPod				
9 0NTAP		9 ONTAP		DO************************************	9 ONTAP
AFF + FAS	FlexPod®	FlexArray®	ONTAP Select	NetApp Private Storage (NPS)	Cloud Volumes ONTAP

Figure 1: Standardize data management across architectures with a rich set of enterprise data services.

Simplify Deployment and Management

Although storage might double in size, it no longer means there is twice as much work to manage. ONTAP has a common set of features across deployment architectures that simplify complex tasks so your staff can be more productive.

Deploy New Workloads in Less Than 10 Minutes

New, fast provisioning workflows enable the deployment of key workloads such as Oracle, SQL Server, SAP-HANA, VDI, and VMware in less than 10 minutes from power-on to serving

data. Years of NetApp experience and best practices are integrated into the system manager wizard and factory configurations, enabling you to quickly set up new configurations by answering a few questions. As new workloads are deployed, ONTAP 9 gives you the visibility to know which node has the most performance capacity available for optimal deployment.

Unified Data Management

Simplify your operations by unifying data management across a hybrid cloud that can span flash, disk, and cloud running SAN and NAS workloads. Increase the efficiency of your staff and easily move data between nodes to where it is most needed. ONTAP is the foundation for a Data Fabric that gives freedom, choice, and control across your storage environment.

Simplified, Powerful Management Capabilities

The NetApp OnCommand[®] software portfolio includes management products that manage virtualized private and hybrid cloud environments. Centrally monitor capacity, availability, performance, and data protection. You can take advantage of storage service analytics to make better informed decisions about your storage.

OnCommand management platform automates your data management processes by integrating into your data center orchestration platform for end-to-end service delivery for your private and hybrid cloud services.

Adapt to Changing Business Needs

ONTAP 9 provides the flexibility you need to design and deploy your storage environment across the widest range of architectures, so you can match the approach that is best for your evolving business needs:

- NetApp arrays: All Flash FAS (AFF) systems and hybrid-flash FAS systems
- Converged infrastructure: FlexPod[®]
- On commodity servers as SDS: ONTAP Select
- In front of third-party arrays: NetApp FlexArray[®] software
- Next to the cloud: NetApp Private Storage (NPS) for Cloud
- In the cloud: Cloud Volumes ONTAP



Figure 2: Scale seamlessly – Scale out by intermixing your choice of flash and hybrid-flash nodes, upgrade hardware/software or scale up without disrupting users, incorporate software-defined, cloud, and future-generation flash.

Flexibly consolidate both NAS and SAN workloads onto any ONTAP environment while delivering consistent data services. You can also seamlessly move your data between each deployment model to get your data onto the optimal environment for performance, capacity, and cost efficiency.

Add capacity as your business grows across both SAN and NAS environments. You can combine all-flash and hybrid-flash storage nodes into a larger storage cluster and connect them to the cloud. And ONTAP FabricPool technology can deliver up to 50% storage TCO savings by automatically tiering cold data from AFF/FAS systems, ONTAP Cloud, and ONTAP Select to the cloud, including Azure, AWS, and StorageGRID.



Figure 3: Automated cloud tiering of cold data.

Power Enterprise Applications

To support your critical applications, you need a storage environment that cost-effectively delivers high performance and availability that can also scale with business growth and protect your valuable data. ONTAP 9 delivers on all these requirements with highly efficient flash performance for scalable, nondisruptive operations.

Optimized for Flash

ONTAP 9 delivers the horsepower that critical applications require without compromising on rich data services. AFF systems running ONTAP 9 are optimized specifically for flash, including new NVMe technologies, providing up to twice the performance compared to the same workloads running on recent ONTAP 8 releases, while still delivering consistent submillisecond latency.

ONTAP 9 also enables FAS hybrid-flash storage systems to deliver flash-accelerated performance that is balanced with hard disk drives (HDD) economies. Hot data is automatically cached in flash to accelerate application performance.

Nondisruptive Operations

ONTAP gives you the ability to perform critical tasks without interrupting your business by dynamically assigning, promoting, and retiring storage resources without downtime over the lifecycle of an application. Data can be moved between controllers without application interruption. Storage controllers and disk shelves can be replaced without disruption, and with ONTAP you can mix models and generations of hardware to extend the life of existing investments.

NetApp MetroCluster[™] technology delivers business continuity by synchronously mirroring between locations for continuous data availability. A MetroCluster storage array, leveraging FC or IP connectivity, can be deployed at a single site, across a metropolitan area, or in different cities.





We can now provide access to our systems 24 hours a day. That's important to us and for our patients needing immediate care."

— Tony Beaird, Director, Infrastructure and Security, DuPage Medical Group

Integrated Data Protection

NetApp offers a complete suite of Integrated Data Protection (IDP) to safeguard your operations and keep them running smoothly. Meet your requirements for local backup with near-instant recovery by using space-efficient NetApp Snapshot[™] copies. Achieve remote

backup/recovery and disaster recovery with SnapMirror[®] asynchronous replication. Get zero data loss protection (RPO=0) with SnapMirror Synchronous replication.

NetApp also provides superior integration with enterprise backup vendors and leading applications. Our IDP solutions include integrated and unified disk-to-disk backup and disaster recovery in a single process for VMware and Microsoft virtualization.

Security and Compliance

Simplify and strengthen your security posture by integrating data security throughout your hybrid cloud. You can help meet governance, risk, and compliance (GRC) requirements such as HIPAA, PCI-DSS, and GDPR and cost effectively secure your NetApp ONTAP environment by incorporating industry-standard, built-in security that meets FIPS 140-2 compliance.

You> can easily and efficiently protect at-rest data with NetApp Storage Encryption (NSE) that uses self-encrypting drives. Or encrypt any volume across FAS, AFF, and ONTAP Select deployments with NetApp Volume Encryption (NVE)—that does not require special encrypting disks. Key management can be delivered in a self-contained encryption solution using Onboard Key Manager (OKM), included with ONTAP, or with external key management solutions that provide separation of duties and a centralized key repository.

To meet stringent compliance and data retention policies, NetApp SnapLock[®] software enables write once, ready many (WORM) protected data for your ONTAP environment.

Superior Storage Efficiency

With ONTAP, you can reduce costs with one of the most comprehensive storage efficiency offerings in the industry. You get NetApp Snapshot copies, thin provisioning, and replication and cloning technologies. You also get inline data compression, inline deduplication, and inline compaction that work together to reduce data management costs and maximize effective capacity. In addition, FabricPool automates the cost-efficient tiering of cold data to both public and private clouds.

Maximized Shared Storage Investments

ONTAP gives you the ability to save time and money by sharing the same consolidated infrastructure for workloads or tenants that have different performance, capacity, and security requirements without fear that the activity in one tenant partition will affect another. With multitenancy, a storage cluster can be subdivided into secure partitions governed by rights and permissions. And quality of service (QoS) workload management allows you to control the resources that each workload can consume, to better manage performance spikes and improve customer satisfaction. Adaptive QoS can be used to set both maximum and minimum resource levels, which is especially important for business-critical workloads, and it automatically adjusts storage resource levels to respond to changes in workloads and deliver consistent performance.

Seamless Scalability

Storage systems that run ONTAP can transparently scale from a few terabytes up to 172PB. Scale up by adding solid-state drive (SSD) and HDD capacity. Or scale out by adding additional storage controllers to seamlessly expand your cluster up to 24 nodes as your business needs grow. Rebalance capacity to improve service levels by redeploying workloads dynamically and avoiding hot spots. You also have the ability to isolate workloads and offer levels of service by using different controller technologies, storage tiers, and QoS policies.

In addition, ONTAP supports massive NAS containers that are easy to manage. With FlexGroup, a single namespace can grow to 20PB and 400 billion files while maintaining consistent high performance and resiliency.

Maximize Investment Protection

ONTAP gives you the flexibility to create an integrated, scalable storage environment by clustering storage controllers from different families—AFF and FAS—as well as from different generations. Grow with the latest hardware and continue to use your older hardware. When it is time to retire a storage system, simply upgrade the controllers and keep data in place on the existing disk shelves. Get more value from existing investments in third-party arrays by virtualizing them with NetApp FlexArray virtualization and using the storage capacity in your ONTAP environment.

Simple, Straightforward Transition to ONTAP 9

No matter what your starting point, NetApp streamlines your move to ONTAP 9. You can:

- Upgrade from ONTAP 8.3 with a simple update of your ONTAP software—no disruption and zero downtime.
- Make a smooth transition from ONTAP 7-Mode with proven tools and best practices, including 7-Mode Transition Tool (7MTT) and Copy Free Transition (CFT).
- Use straightforward import processes from third-party storage to ONTAP 9.

Consult our experts to plan and implement your transition and gain the latest ONTAP advantages from day one. You can use either NetApp Services or NetApp Certified Services Partners, do it yourself using our proven tools and processes, or choose a combination of approaches.

ONTAP Technical Highlights

The building blocks for ONTAP scale-out storage configurations are high-availability (HA) pairs in which two storage controllers are interconnected to the same set of disks. If one controller fails, the other takes over its storage and continues serving data.

With ONTAP, each storage controller is referred to as a cluster node. Nodes can be different models and sizes of AFF and FAS systems. In addition, nodes can be FAS systems running FlexArray storage virtualization, leveraging third-party and NetApp E-Series arrays as the storage capacity behind the FAS system. Disks are made into aggregates, which are groups of disks of a particular type that are composed of one or more RAID groups protected by using NetApp RAID DP[®] and RAID TEC technology.



Figure 5: Investment protection – Integrate your existing storage arrays into your private cloud with ONTAP and FlexArray.

A key differentiator in an ONTAP environment is that numerous HA pairs are combined into a cluster to form a shared pool of physical resources that are available to applications, SAN hosts, and NAS clients. The shared pool appears as a single system image for management purposes. This means that there is a single common point of management, whether through the graphical user interface or command-line interface tools, for the entire cluster.

Although the members of each HA pair must be the same controller type, the cluster can consist of heterogeneous HA pairs of AFF all-flash arrays as well as FAS hybrid-flash arrays. Over time, as the cluster grows, and new controllers are released, it is likely to evolve into a combination of several different node types. All cluster capabilities are supported, regardless of the underlying controllers in the cluster.

To improve data access in NAS applications, NetApp virtualizes storage at the file-system level. This enables all client nodes to mount a single file system, access all stored data, and automatically accommodate physical storage changes that are fully transparent to the clients. Each client or server can access a huge pool of data residing across the ONTAP system through a single mount point.

Meet High-Availability Requirements

The proven reliability features in NetApp hardware and software result in data availability of more than 99.9999% as measured across the NetApp installed base. Backup and replication technologies integrated in the NetApp ONTAP data management software help keep your applications and data continuously available to users.

Nondisruptive Operations to Eliminate Downtime

Nondisruptive operations (NDO) are fundamental to the superior scale-out architecture of NetApp ONTAP. NDO is achieved as the storage infrastructure remains up and serving data throughout the execution of hardware and software maintenance operations as well as during other IT lifecycle operations. The goal of NDO is to eliminate downtime—whether it is preventable, planned, or unplanned—and to allow changes to your systems to occur at any time.

ONTAP allows you to transparently move data and network connections anywhere within the storage cluster. The capability to move individual data volumes or LUNs allows you to redistribute across a cluster at any time and for any reason. It's transparent and nondisruptive to NAS and SAN hosts, and it enables the storage infrastructure to continue to serve data throughout these changes. This is helpful to rebalance capacity usage, to optimize for changing performance requirements, or to isolate one or more controllers or storage components when it becomes necessary to execute maintenance or lifecycle operations.

 Table 1:
 Hardware and software maintenance operations can be performed nondisruptively with ONTAP.

Operation	Details
Upgrade software	Upgrade from one version of ONTAP to another
Upgrade firmware	System, disk, switch firmware upgrade
Replace failed controller or component within a controller	Network interface cards (NICs), host bus adapters (HBAs), and power supplies
Replace failed storage components	Cables, drives, shelves, and I/O modules

T I I A	1.16			<i>c</i> ,			ONTAD
lable 2:	Lifecycle	operations	can be	performed	nondisruptivel	y with	UNIAP.

Operation	Details
Scale storage	Add storage (shelves or controllers) to a cluster and redistribute volumes for future growth
Scale hardware	Add hardware to controllers to increase scalability, performance, or capability (HBAs, NICs, NetApp Flash Cache [™] or Flash Pool [™] caching)
Refresh technology	Upgrade storage shelves, storage controllers, back- end switch
Rebalance controller performance and storage utilization	Redistribute data across controllers to improve performance
Rebalance capacity	Redistribute data across controllers to account for future capacity growth
Rebalance disk performance and utilization	Redistribute data across storage tiers within a cluster to optimize disk performance

On-Demand Scalability—Expand as you Build

The ONTAP architecture is key to delivering maximum on-demand scalability for your shared IT infrastructure, offering performance, price, and capacity options.



Figure 6: Expand as you build – Start with a two-node cluster and expand controllers and capacity when you need to, nondisruptively.

There are several approaches for leveraging flash in NetApp FAS hybrid-flash systems to accelerate workloads and reduce latency. Flash Cache can increase read performance for frequently accessed data. Plus, Flash Pool aggregates combine SSDs with traditional hard drives for delivering optimal performance and efficiency.

NetApp AFF all-flash systems offer the advantage of scalable performance with consistent low latency for SAN and NAS workloads. Customers can start with deploying AFF in an HA pair configuration to deliver enterprise-grade data management and high performance for a dedicated workload. If additional performance is required, AFF can scale out in a cluster—up to 24 nodes, delivering millions of IOPS at submillisecond latency and a total of over 88PB of SSD capacity.

The extra value of AFF shines when it is used as a high-performance node combined with hybrid-flash FAS systems in an ONTAP environment. This becomes a single storage

repository for all workloads. And it enables nondisruptive movement of workloads to the node that best meets your performance and price/performance requirements at different points in time.

Multiprotocol Unified Architecture

A multiprotocol unified architecture provides the capability to support several data access protocols concurrently in the same overall storage system across a range of controller and disk storage types. ONTAP protocol support includes:

- CIFS/SMB
- NFS, pNFS
- iSCSI
- FC
- FCoE
- NVMe over FC (NVMe/FC)

Data replication and storage efficiency features in ONTAP are seamlessly supported across all protocols.

SAN Data Services

With the supported SAN protocols (FC, FCoE, iSCSI, and NVMe/FC), ONTAP provides LUN services. This is the capability to create LUNs and make them available to attached hosts. Because the cluster consists of numerous controllers, there are several logical paths to any individual LUN. A best practice is to configure at least one path per node in the cluster. Asymmetric Logical Unit Access is used on the hosts so that the optimized path to a LUN is selected and made active for data transfer. Support for multipath I/O is also available from leading OS and third-party driver vendors.

NAS Data Services

ONTAP can provide a single namespace with the supported NAS protocols such as SMB [CIFS] and NFS (NAS clients can access a very large data container by using a single NFS mount point or CIFS share). Each client, therefore, needs only to mount a single NFS file system mount point or access a single CIFS share, requiring only the standard NFS and CIFS client code for each operating system.

The namespace of ONTAP is composed of potentially thousands of volumes joined together by the cluster administrator. To the NAS clients, each volume appears as a folder or subdirectory, nested off the root of the NFS file system mount point or CIFS share. Volumes can be added at any time and are immediately available to the clients, with no remount required for visibility to the new storage.

The clients have no awareness that they are crossing volume boundaries as they move about in the file system, because the underlying structure is completely transparent.

ONTAP can be architected to provide a single namespace, yet it also supports the concept of several securely partitioned namespaces, called Storage Virtual Machines or SVMs. This accommodates the requirement for multi-tenancy or isolation of particular sets of clients or applications.

Opex and Capex Efficiency—Grow Your Business, Not IT Expense

NetApp storage solutions operating with ONTAP 9 deliver the industry's leading storage efficiency capabilities with features such as inline compression, inline deduplication, inline data compaction, thin provisioning, and thin clones. With these features coupled with space-efficient NetApp Snapshot copies, RAID DP, and RAID TEC, you can enjoy significant reductions in required disk capacity (varies by workload) when compared with traditional storage technologies.

NetApp Software and Features		
	Function	Benefits
Balance placement	Automates loading of new workloads onto a cluster	Increases cluster utilization and performance by adding a new workload to the optimal node
Data compaction	Packs more data into each storage block for greater data reduction	Works with compression to reduce the amount of storage that you need to purchase and operate
Data compression	Provides transparent inline and postprocess data compression for data reduction	Reduces the amount of storage that you need to purchase and maintain
Deduplication	Performs general-purpose deduplication for removal of redundant data	Reduces the amount of storage that you need to purchase and maintain
FabricPool	Automates data tiering to the cloud (public and private)	Decreases storage costs for cold data
Flash Pool [™] Caching	Creates a mixed-media storage pool by using SSDs and HDDs	Increases the performance and efficiency of HDD pools with flash acceleration
FlexCache®	Caches datasets within a cluster and at remote sites	Accelerates read performance for hot datasets
FlexClone [®]	Instantaneously creates file, LUN, and volume clones without requiring additional storage	Saves you time in testing and development and increases your storage capacity
FlexGroup	Enables a single namespace to scale up to 20PB and 400 billion files	Supports compute-intensive workloads and data repositories that require a massive NAS container while maintaining consistent high performance and resiliency
FlexVol®	Creates flexibly sized volumes across a large pool of disks and one or more RAID groups	Enables storage systems to be used at maximum efficiency and reduces hardware investment

 Table 3:
 ONTAP 9 offers a robust set of standard and optional features.

NetApp Software and Features		
	Function	Benefits
Headroom	Provides visibility of performance capacity that is available for deploying new workloads on storage nodes	Simplifies management and enables more effective provisioning of new workloads to the optimal node
MetroCluster	Combines array-based clustering with synchronous mirroring to deliver continuous availability and zero data loss; up to 300km distance between nodes	Maintains business continuity for critical enterprise applications and workloads if a data center disaster occurs
QoS (adaptive)	Simplifies setup of QoS policies and automatically adjusts storage resources to respond to work- load changes (number of TB of data, priority of the workload, etc.)	Simplifies operations and maintains consistent workload performance within your prescribed minimum and maximum IOPS boundaries
RAID-TEC [™] and RAID DP [®] technologies	Provides triple parity or double- parity RAID 6 implementation that prevents data loss when three or two drives fail	Protect your data without the performance impact of other RAID implementations; reduce risks during long rebuilds of large-capacity HDDs
SnapCenter [®]	Provides host-based data management of NetApp storage for databases and business applications	Offers application-aware backup and clone management; automates error-free data restores
SnapLock	Provides WORM file-level locking	Supports regulatory compliance and organizational data retention requirements
SnapMirror	Provides integrated remote backup/recovery and disaster recovery with incremental asynchronous data replication; preserves storage efficiency savings during and after data transfer	Provides flexibility and efficiency when replicating data to support remote backup/recovery, disaster recovery, and data distribution
SnapMirror Synchronous	Delivers incremental, volume- granular, synchronous data replication; preserves storage efficiency savings during and after data transfer	Achieve zero data loss protection (RPO=0)
SnapRestore [®]	Rapidly restores single files, directories, or entire LUNs and volumes from any Snapshot copy backup	Instantaneously recovers files, databases, and complete volumes from your backup

NetApp Software and Features		
	Function	Benefits
Snapshot	Makes incremental data-in-place, point-in-time copies of a LUN or a volume with minimal performance impact	Enables you to create frequent space- efficient backups with no disruption to data traffic
Volume encryption	Provides data-at-rest encryption that is built into ONTAP	Let's you easily and efficiently protect your at-rest data by encrypting any volume on an AFF or FAS system; no special encrypting disks are required

NetApp OnCommand Data Management Software

The more information you have about your storage infrastructure, the better equipped you are to effectively manage it. NetApp OnCommand[®] management software can help you to improve storage and service efficiency. It offers functions that help you control, automate, and analyze your shared storage infrastructure. OnCommand tools offer simplified, effective, cost-efficient management of your shared storage infrastructure so that you can optimize utilization, meet SLAs, reduce risk, and boost performance.

Product Name	Description
System Manager	Provides device-level management of NetApp storage systems. Ideal for one-off and nonrepeatable management and configuration tasks.
Unified Manager	Monitors the availability, capacity, performance, and protection of NetApp FAS and All Flash FAS resources. Unified Manager provides a single view of NetApp storage health. It also collects, retains, and analyzes NetApp storage performance statistics so users can troubleshoot and resolve issues quickly.
NetApp Service Level Manager and API Services	NetApp Service Level Manager simplifies storage consumption and enables delivery of predictable performance for your workloads. Provides a set of REST APIs to integrate with your automation and orchestrators including industry leading ITSM solutions. Also provides monitoring and conformance checking APIs.
Workflow Automation	Customized automation and delegation of repeatable storage management and storage service tasks. It facilitates your specific needs for storage infrastructure management via customized workflows based on NetApp best practices. It also integrates with orchestrators for end-to-end automated service delivery.
Cloud Manager	Deploys NetApp ONTAP [®] management software on AWS and Azure cloud storage in minutes. Manage and track cloud resources with ease. Cloud Manager is for ONTAP Cloud and private storage environments and supports CloudSync.

Table 4: OnCommand management software product portfolio.

Product Name	Description
Insight	OnCommand Insight is an open data center management platform that provides operational intelligence, business insight, and IT ecosystem integration within complex enterprise IT environments.

All Flash FAS

NetApp[®] All Flash FAS (AFF) is an all-flash array that delivers high performance, flexibility, low latency, and superior data management without sacrificing enterprise capabilities. AFF enables a smooth transition to flash for your data center, built on NetApp ONTAP[®] data management software.

As businesses go through digital transformation, they must modernize their IT infrastructure to improve speed and responsiveness to support critical business operations. Although all-flash storage systems have been widely adopted to accelerate typical enterprise applications, newer workloads such as data analytics, artificial intelligence (AI), and deep learning—demand higher performance that first-generation flash systems cannot deliver.

In addition, as more organizations adopt a "cloud first" strategy, it is critical to offer enterprisegrade data management capabilities for a shared environment across on-premise data centers and the cloud. Many all-flash array solutions available today lack robust data management, integrated data protection, seamless scalability, new levels of performance, deep application, and cloud integration.

Cloud-Connected All-Flash Storage Powered by ONTAP

NetApp[®] All Flash FAS (AFF) is a robust scale-out platform built for virtualized environments, combining low-latency performance with comprehensive data management, built-in efficiencies, integrated data protection, multiprotocol support, and nondisruptive operations.



Figure 1: AFF A-Series portfolio-from enterprise to mid-size business.

"We're able to fit a whole lot more in a smaller amount of space and still provide more performance than we had before."

— CI Engineer, financial services firm

NetApp AFF A-Series systems are designed to help businesses accelerate infrastructure transformation and fuel data-driven strategies. Powered by NetApp ONTAP[®] data management software, AFF systems accelerate, manage, and protect business-critical data and give you an easy and smooth transition to flash for your digital transformation in the hybrid cloud. With AFF systems, you can:

- Increase operational efficiency
- Accelerate applications and future-proof your infrastructure
- Keep business-critical data available, protected, and secure.

Increase Operational Efficiency

AFF offers the broadest application ecosystem integration for enterprise application, such as virtual desktop infrastructure (VDI), database, and server virtualization—supporting Oracle, Microsoft SQL Server, VMware, SAP, MySQL, and more. Infrastructure management tools simplify and automate common storage tasks so that you can:

- Provision and rebalance workloads by monitoring clusters and nodes
- Use one-click automation and self-service for provisioning and data protection
- Import LUNs from third-party storage arrays directly into an AFF system to seamlessly migrate data

In addition, with the NetApp Active IQ[®] intelligence engine you can optimize your NetApp systems with predictive analytics and proactive support tool, provide real-time insights and recommendations to prevent problems and optimize your data infrastructure.

"With the NetApp solution, we can slash the time needed to create an environment from 6 hours to 5 minutes regardless of scale, while provisioning additional environments simultaneously. That translates to a time savings of 70% for each product line."



— Sandrine Kalk |Director of Global DevOps and Operations, Verint

Figure 2: Application-aware data management – Deploy key workloads in less than 10 minutes with OnCommand System Manager.

Achieve Storage Savings, Backed by the Industry's Most Effective Guarantee

With AFF, reduce your data center costs with the best effective capacity for any workload, backed by the industry's most effective guarantee. We guarantee in writing:

- 3:1 guarantee across all workloads
- 4:1 for VVOL and 8:1 for VDI
- Use snapshots and get 10x higher efficiency

AFF system's support for solid state drives (SSDs) with multistream write technology, combined with advanced SSD partitioning, provides maximum usable capacity, regardless of the type of data that you store. Thin provisioning; NetApp Snapshot[™] copies; and inline data reduction features, such as deduplication, compression, and compaction, provide additional space savings—without affecting performance—so you can purchase the least amount of storage capacity possible.

Build your Hybrid Cloud with Ease

The NetApp Data Fabric helps you simplify and integrate data management across cloud and on-premises to meet business demands and gain a competitive edge. With AFF, you connect to more clouds for more data services, data tiering, caching, and disaster recovery. FabricPool gives you the ability to move data automatically between AFF and the cloud storage tiers to maximize performance and reduce overall data management cost. Simplify hybrid cloud backup and recovery with cloud-resident NetApp Data Availability Services and accelerate read performance for data that is shared throughout your organization and across hybrid cloud deployments.



Figure 3: Future-proof your infrastructure with the most cloud-connected all-flash array – Designed for the cloud era to connect to more clouds, in more ways, and to more services—to virtually any service provider or private cloud.

Accelerate Applications and Future-Proof Your Infrastructure

NetApp AFF systems deliver industry-leading performance proven by SPC-1¹ and SPEC SFS industry benchmarks, making them ideal for demanding, highly transactional applications such as Oracle, Microsoft SQL Server, MongoDB databases, VDI, and server virtualization. The AFF A800 system achieved:

- 2,401,000 SPC-1 IOPS at 0.590 SPC-1 IOPS Response Time in a new SPC-1v3 result
- Lowest latency and \$/GB among the top 5 results
- Predictable and consistent latency
 - ~0.4ms latency @ 80% load
 - 0.351ms SPC-1 Overall Response Time
- Highest storage capacity utilization
 - 66% versus ~30% from most others



Figure 4: AFF A800 Places in the Top 4 of SPC-1v3 – Best performance and value among major vendors who publish benchmarks.

Accelerate Demanding Workloads

Accelerate the most demanding workloads with an AFF A800 and AFF A320 system. The AFF A800 combines NVMe SSDs and NVMe/FC connectivity to provide an ultrafast end-to-end data path to your applications. The midrange AFF A320 system supports NVMe/RoCE connectivity on the backend to the NVMe drive shelf and NVMe/FC on the front-end to the host. The AFF A320 leads the market with the best combination of NVMe-oF technologies.

Consolidate all workloads on AFF systems, which deliver up to 11.4 million IOPS at Ims latency in a cluster with a truly unified scale-out architecture. You can manage a scalable NAS container of up to 20PB and 400 billion files with a single namespace by using NetApp FlexGroup volumes, while maintaining consistent high performance with adaptive quality of service (QoS) and resiliency. NetApp FlexCache[®] software improves the speed and productivity

¹ Link to SPC-1 report: <u>http://spcresults.org/benchmarks/results/spc1-spc1e#A32007</u>.

of collaboration across multiple locations and increases data throughput for read-intensive applications.

The NVMe-ready AFF A800s awarded the Product of the Year award for Enterprise Storage from CRN.

Modernize with Advanced NVMe

Designed specifically for flash, the AFF A-Series all-flash systems deliver industry-leading performance, capacity density, scalability, security, and network connectivity in dense form factors. AFF A-Series systems support NVMe/FC host connectivity, so you can gain twice the IOPS and cut application response time in half compared with traditional FC. These systems support a range of ecosystems, including VMware, Microsoft Windows 10, and Linux, with storage path failover. For most customers, integrating NVMe/FC into an existing SAN is a simple, nondisruptive software upgrade.

In addition, integrate new technologies and private or public cloud into your infrastructure nondisruptively. AFF is the only all-flash array where you can combine different controllers, SSD sizes, and new technologies—protecting your investment.

Keep Important Data Available, Protected, and Secure

Support backup and disaster recovery needs through our complete suite of integrated data protection and replication features. NetApp Integrated Data Protection technologies protect data and accelerate recovery; for easier management they integrate with leading backup applications. Benefit from features and capabilities such as NetApp Snapshot[™] copies, cloning, encryption, and both synchronous and asynchronous replication for backup and disaster recovery. Key capabilities and benefits include:

- Reduced data management costs with native space efficiency with cloning and NetApp Snapshot copies. Up to 1,023 copies are supported.
- Unified, scalable platform and plug-in suite for application-consistent data protection and clone management with NetApp SnapCenter[®].
- Reduced overall system costs with NetApp SnapMirror[®] replication software, which replicates to any type of FAS/AFF system: all-flash, hybrid, or HDD, on the premises or in the cloud.
- Synchronous replication with NetApp MetroCluster[™] software, a capability in the allflash-array market that delivers zero RPO and low to zero RTO for mission-critical workloads.
- Regulatory compliance with NetApp SnapLock[®] technology, which is enabled with Integrated Data Protection and storage efficiency.



Figure 5: NetApp integrated data protection – Offers one data management flexible platform that provides data availability to keep applications running, mitigate risk, control costs, and improve data protection processes.

In addition, flexible encryption and key management help guard sensitive data on the premises, in the cloud, and in transit. With the simple and efficient security solutions, you can:

- Achieve FIPS 140-2 compliance (Level 1 and Level 2) with self-encrypting drives and use any type of drives with software-based encryption.
- Meet governance, risk, and compliance requirements with security features such as secure purge; logging and auditing monitors; and write once, read many (WORM) file locking.
- Protect against threats with multifactor authentication, role-based access control, secure multitenancy, and storage-level file security.

"NetApp's multiprotocol capability was a major draw for our colleges. With NetApp, we can enable our colleges to retain their skillsets. They don't have to learn something new or put in a mix of products just to accommodate their protocols."

— Daniel Black |Director of Engineering, Technical College System of Georgia

Future-Proof Your Investment with Maximum Flexibility

NetApp solutions establish a seamless, well-integrated hybrid cloud architecture or Data Fabric that easily ties together private cloud, service providers, and hyperscale cloud providers along with their data management environments. This Data Fabric gives you the ability to implement the hybrid cloud on its own terms. Move data and applications to an AFF system, on commodity hardware with software-defined storage, or in the cloud. The Data Fabric offers a broad set of application ecosystem integration for database, VDI, and server virtualization.

With AFF, which is Data Fabric ready, your investment is protected as performance and capacity needs change or your cloud strategy evolves:

- AFF systems eliminate performance silos. Seamless integration with hybrid FAS systems means that workloads can transparently move between high-performance tiers and low-cost capacity tiers.
- Seamlessly adapt to changing needs with the only all-flash array that offers the ability to intermix different controllers, SSD sizes, and next-generation technologies.
- AFF is data fabric ready, with proven cloud connectivity. FabricPool enables you to move data automatically between AFF and the cloud storage tiers to maximize performance and reduce overall data management cost.
- Optimize data management for enterprise workload environments with leading application integration with Oracle, Microsoft, VMware, SAP, OpenStack, and many more.





"With NetApp All Flash FAS, we can improve the quality of healthcare in our own hospitals and others throughout the region by offering high-performing electronic patient records and virtual desktops to healthcare providers."

— Reinoud Reynders, IT Manager, Infrastructure and Operations at UZ Leuven

All-Flash Performance Powered by End-to-End NVMe Technology

AFF systems are excellent for performance-demanding applications and mixed-workload environments that consist of, for example, Oracle, Microsoft SQL Server, MongoDB databases, VDI, and server virtualization. With NVMe-based AFF A800, AFF is also a great choice for AI and deep-learning environments:

- Combined with ONTAP cloud integration and software-defined capabilities, AFF enables the full range of the data pipeline that spans the edge, the core, and the cloud for AI and deep learning, leveraging the same ONTAP data management.
- The end-to-end NVMe-based AFF A800 delivers 1.3 million IOPS at below 500µs latency.
- Built-in adaptive QoS safeguards SLAs in multiworkload and multitenant environments. It optimizes performance control dynamically with superior scalability of up to 40,000 workloads per cluster at LUN, file, and VVol levels.
- With the latest ONTAP release, AFF delivers up to 90% performance increase for Microsoft SQL Server with multichannel SMB.

Storage Efficiency Technologies

NetApp is known for its superior storage efficiency technologies, such as inline deduplication, inline compression, thin provisioning, and space-efficient Snapshot copies. These technologies apply to AFF systems and further reduce your total cost of ownership by lowering cost per effective gigabyte of storage:

- Performance-efficient inline data reduction technologies provide an average of 5 to 10 times space savings for a typical use case.
- Space-saving inline data compaction technology places multiple logical data blocks from the same volume into a single 4KB block. Space savings as high as 67:1 from this feature have been observed when using inline data compaction and inline compression with an Oracle database.
- There is a near-zero performance impact with inline compression. Incompressible data detection eliminates wasted cycles.
- You can increase space savings by eliminating redundant blocks using inline deduplication—effective for operations such as VDI OS patches in which this deduplication can achieve 70:1 reduction rates.
- As the first all-flash array to support SSDs with MSW technology, and combined with advanced SSD partitioning in ONTAP, AFF further increases usable capacity by up to 42%.

NetApp OnCommand Simplifies Management

NetApp OnCommand[®] management software provides automated tools to further simplify management of storage operations:

- Set up and configure AFF quick and easy with preconfigured systems for SAN and NAS deployments. It takes less than 10 minutes with OnCommand System Manager.
- OnCommand Workflow Automation automates common storage tasks such as provisioning and data protection. It provides fast one-click automation and self-service.
- To optimize storage for peak performance and to keep everything running smoothly, OnCommand Performance Manager provisions and rebalances workloads by monitoring clusters and nodes to assure performance headroom.
- Import LUNs from storage arrays that are not based on ONTAP software directly into an AFF system to seamlessly migrate data from older storage arrays.


Figure 7: Intuitive ONTAP System Manager –Based on REST APIs, the new System Manager dashboard is more intuitive and displays richer information in a more actionable view.

Get More Business Value with Services

To help you fully realize the benefits of NetApp solutions, NetApp Services and our NetApp certified services partners will collaborate with you through a full portfolio of services that covers the company's IT lifecycle. NetApp offers:

- Assessment services to evaluate the performance and efficiency of workloads across heterogeneous environments
- Advisory services to determine the best workload candidates to move to flash
- Deploy and optimize services to prepare your environment and deliver continuous operation of AFF systems
- Managed upgrade services to secure your storage environment and to protect your investment by ensuring your ONTAP software is the most current version.

NetApp Support offerings, such as the NetApp Active IQ[®] cloud-based predictive cloud-based analytics and proactive support tool, provide real-time insights and recommendations to prevent problems and optimize your data infrastructure. Learn more at netapp.com/services.

AFF A-Series Systems

NetApp AFF systems help you meet your enterprise storage requirements with the following AFF A-Series Systems:

AFF A800

The AFF A800 is designed for the most demanding workloads requiring ultra-low latency and is the first flash array on the market to support NVMe SSDs and NVMe over Fabrics (NVMe-oF). It provides end-to-end NVMe connectivity between storage arrays and host servers for maximum

bandwidth, high IOPS, and the lowest possible latency. Each 4U chassis accommodates dual controllers for high availability (HA) and includes 48 slots for NVMe SSDs. In addition to 32Gb and 16Gb FC, network options include the storage industry's first 100GbE connectivity, as well as 40GbE and 10GbE. An NVMe-powered SAN scale-out cluster supports up to 12 nodes (6 HA pairs) with 1,440 drives and nearly 160PB of effective capacity. NAS scale-out clusters support up to 24 nodes (12 HA pairs). The AFF A800 future-proofs your data infrastructure with NetApp ONTAP 9 the industry's leading data management software.

"NetApp once again hits it out of the park with the enterprise focused A800. The performance profile is very strong, taking its position at the top of the ONTAP family."

— StorageReview Editors' Choice, May 2019

AFF A700

The AFF A700 is a high-end NetApp storage controller designed for performance-driven workloads and data centers requiring a modular design. The AFF A700 can dramatically enhance performance and high-performance I/O density in a new 8U HA form factor and it includes options for 40GbE and 32Gb FC along with the latest in SAS connectivity, the SAS 3.0 standard with 12Gb speeds. This controller also provides the most versatile I/O interface available, the UTA2 connections that support 10GbE and 16Gb FC and that can be easily changed between these two protocols in the field. AFF A700 controllers support up to 12 nodes for SAN deployments and up to 24 nodes in NAS deployments.

AFF A700s

The AFF A700s is an integrated high-end all-flash array and best for performance-driven workloads and data centers requiring a small footprint. The AFF A700s comes in a compact form factor with dual controllers and 24 internal SSDs in a single 4U chassis. A700s provides data center efficiencies and excellent performance with reduced power and cooling. AFF A700s performance is comparable to that of AFF A700; however, they offer different connectivity and capacity options to address different solutions and customer requirements.

AFF A320

The new AFF A320 midrange end-to-end NVMe NetApp AFF storage controller is a modern NVMe Flash storage system. It provides application performance improvements with lower low latencies compared to the AFF A300. For enterprise applications that require the best performance at value, the AFF A320 includes dense 2U form factor with two HA controllers, extreme bandwidth with 16 onboard 100GbE ports and four expansion slots in an HA pair, adapter support includes100GbE, 32Gb FC, 25GbE, and 10GbE support, NVDIMMs for persistent write cache of data received but not yet committed to flash media, and host-side NVMe/FC support for low-latency, high-performance remote direct memory access (RDMA) connectivity to the NVMe SSDs.

AFF A300

The A300 firmly targets enterprise applications that require best balance of performance and cost. It is more powerful than the AFA A220 for users that need additional capacity and performance The AFF A300 is easy to set up and runs the latest version of ONTAP and supports SSDs up to 30TB. It requires just 12 SSDs to start but scales to over 140PB raw

(560PB effective) in NAS config and 70PB raw (280PB effective) as SAN. The A300 supports 10GbE, 40GbE as well as Fibre Channel up to 32Gb and NVMe/FC with the 32Gb FC adapter.

The midrange AFF A300 recently won the Editor's Choice Award from StorageReview, which bestows this award for "performance in excess of competitive offerings, a feature set that is innovative and sets a new bar for competitive offerings or for defining a new category or space within enterprise IT". Through Storage Review's independent testing with Oracle, SQL, VDI workloads, AFF A300 stands out with its impressive performance and feature set.

— StorageReview Editors' Choice, November 2018

AFF A220

The AFF A220 is the entry system to the NetApp all-flash array series. It is ideal for mid-size business and small enterprises that require simplicity and best value. With the AFF A220 you can accelerate business insights and demanding workloads. This 2U array enables enhanced storage efficiency based on the types of workloads. With a potential maximum raw capacity of up to 48.3 PB and maximum memory of 768 GB, NetApp ensures the effectiveness of its inline data reduction technologies, including compression, deduplication and data compaction. It offers 4x 10 GbE cluster interconnect channels for distribution of the processing across an array of nodes in the clusters, and high-data rate and low-latency communication between node processes.

"In addition to accelerating every application without disruption, the NetApp AFF A200 dramatically improves data center economics and enables data-driven enterprises to modernize their infrastructures with confidence. Editor's Choice award for the NetApp AFF A200 for phenomenal performance at sub-millisecond latencies."

— StorageReview Editors' Choice, November 2017

Table 1: All Flash FAS	technical specifications.
------------------------	---------------------------

AFF Technical Specifications						
	AFF A800	AFF A700s	AFF A700	AFF A320	AFF A300	AFF A220
Maximum scale-out			2–24 nodes (12 HA pairs)		
Maximum SSD	2,880	2,529	5,760	576	4,608	1,728
Max effective capacity ²	316.3PB	316.3PB	702.7PB	35PB	562.2PB	193.3PB
Per-System Specifications (Active-Active Dual Controller)						
Controller form factor	4U with 48 SSD slots	4U with 48 SSD slots	8U	2U	3U	2U with two 24 SSD slots

² Effective capacity is based on 5:1 storage efficiency ratios with the maximum number of SSDs installed. The actual ratio can be higher depending on workloads and use cases.

 Table 2:
 AFF A-Series software.

AFF A-Series Software	
Features and software Included with ONTAP software	Efficiency: NetApp FlexVol [®] , inline deduplication, inline compression, inline compaction, and thin provisioning Availability: Multipath I/O and active-active HA pair Data protection: NetApp RAID DP [®] , NetApp RAID TEC [®] , and Snapshot technology Whole cluster synchronous replication: MetroCluster Performance control: Adaptive QoS and balanced replacement Management: OnCommand Workflow Automation, ONTAP System Manager, and Active IQ Unified Manager (formerly OnCommand Unified Manager) Scalable NAS container: NetApp ONTAP FlexGroup Storage protocols supported: NVMe/FC, FC, FCoE, iSCSI, NFS, pNFS, and SMB
Flash bundle	 NetApp SnapRestore[®] software: Restore entire Snapshot copies in seconds NetApp SnapMirror software: Simple, flexible backup and replication
	for disaster recovery
	 NetApp FlexClone[®] technology: Instant virtual copies of files, LUNs, and volumes
	 NetApp SnapCenter[®]: Unified, scalable platform and plug-in suite for application-consistent data protection and clone management
	 NetApp SnapManager software: Application-consistent backup/recovery for enterprise applications
	Go to NetApp.com for information on additional software available from NetApp.
Extended-value software (optional)	NetApp OnCommand Insight : Flexible, efficient resource management for heterogeneous environments
	NetApp SnapLock : Compliance software for write once, read many (WORM) protected data
	NetApp Volume Encryption (free license) : Granular, volume-level, data-at-rest encryption
	NetApp FabricPool feature: Automatic data tiering to the cloud
	SnapMirror Synchronous : Synchronous data replication with zero recovery point objective
	NetApp Data Availability Services : Cloud native backup solution for NetApp ONTAP storage
	NetApp FlexCache : Acceleration for data access for single or multisite deployment

FlexPod Converged Infrastructure Platform

FlexPod converged infrastructure platform integrates NetApp storage systems, Cisco UCS servers, and Cisco Nexus fabric switches into a validated enterpriseclass IT platform. It delivers cloud services faster and with minimal business disruptions. Through the ability to run multiple enterprise workloads on a single, flexible architecture, you can speed the deployment of cloud-based data center infrastructures and business-critical applications while reducing costs, complexity, and risk.

Supporting business objectives from an IT perspective is getting more complex. In the past, data was hidden in on-premises locations, organized and collected in a steady and predictable manner. Data is no longer locked away and hidden behind firewalls but distributed— organizations can store data in multiple on-premises and cloud locations and move it between. Data needs to be delivered to the places where it can be most effective. The velocity of information from social media streams, customer attributes, and demographics is constantly fluctuating. And data is diverse—acquired from multiple sources, suppliers, and the Internet of Things (IoT). However, to digitally transform, you need to blend structured, unstructured, and streaming data with machine-learning data to gain holistic views, create revenue streams, and optimize operations.

IT is facing a transformation in data management and needs to adapt with simpler approaches to deploy and manage its infrastructure to enable greater agility by optimizing costs and existing staff resources, while also maintaining data security and adherence to compliance requirements. In anticipation of growing businesses' requests such as expansion to new markets and support for mobile users—as well as opportunities in analytics and hybrid cloud, IT also needs to modernize the data center to become an agile, innovative service provider.

FlexPod Simplifies IT and Accelerates Applications

Built on NetApp[®] and Cisco technology, the FlexPod[®] converged infrastructure platform meets and exceeds these IT challenges. A leader in converged infrastructure solutions, FlexPod is trusted by thousands of customers worldwide. Composed of prevalidated storage, networking, and server technologies, FlexPod increases IT responsiveness to organizational requirements and reduces the cost of computing with maximum uptime and minimal risk.

FlexPod integrates components that can scale, compute, and store independently to meet changing, granular business requirements. It provides a proven solution that is agile and flexible for a broad set of applications and demands. The prevalidated FlexPod architecture delivers application performance, and agility that drive higher productivity, faster decision making, and greater opportunities for growth.

"Among the biggest benefits of FlexPod are integrated components that help enable us to centrally manage all our data center requirements."

— Darrell Williams, Director of Information Systems, Katz, Sapper & Miller



Figure 1: FlexPod is leading the integrated infrastructure field.

According to the IDC Worldwide Quarterly Converged Systems Tracker, FlexPod is #1 in Capacity Share and #2 in Revenue Share.¹

WV OASIS can accelerate any application deployment project or facilitate a transition to the cloud with FlexPod. This converged infrastructure solution integrates compute, storage, and network components into a single architecture that scales to fit a variety of virtualized and nonvirtualized environments. Using Cisco Validated Designs (CVDs) and NetApp Validated Designs (NVAs) accelerates predeployment planning, reduces risk, and provides a platform for effective shared virtualization and private cloud.

The FlexPod architecture delivers three core benefits:

- Application optimization
- Hybrid cloud flexibility
- Simplified IT infrastructure

Application Optimization

FlexPod is tested, prevalidated and preconfigured to run hundreds of applications and workloads with reliable performance that scales along with business demands. Host multiple instances of mixed applications, consolidated on a shared infrastructure with centralized, simplified management. With All Flash FAS (AFF) on FlexPod, you speed up application performance by up to 20x. As your workloads increase, FlexPod can be modified to add storage, networking, and compute layers without losing the design validation. In addition, FlexPod can help customers achieve software-defined, policy-based automated deployment of enterprise applications with Cisco Application-Centric Infrastructure (ACI). FlexPod gives you the ability to:

¹ IDC, Worldwide Quarterly Converged Systems Tracker - Q3 2018, December 18, 2018 (Fastest growing Integrated Infrastructure & Certified Reference Systems Year over Year revenue growth).

- Decrease deployment risk and time to solution with fully tested and validated designs
- Focus IT resources on high-value activities by using pre-validated converged infrastructure
- Improve operational efficiency through simplified management and automation

A single All Flash FAS system delivered 239,000 submillisecond IOPS on an Oracle RAC validation. Another test showed support for 2,500 virtual desktops with near millisecond average response times for read and write operations. For AI and DL Scenarios on FlexPod AI, you can achieve over a million IOPs with submillisecond latency for the highest Machine Learning demands.

For more information on configurations and test details, see ESG Lab Report: "FlexPod Datacenter with NetApp All-Flash FAS, Converged Infrastructure for High-performance Latency-sensitive Databases and Virtual Desktop Solutions."

Hybrid Cloud Flexibility

IT administrators work with multiple clouds. Rapid shifts in technology are placing new and evolving applications in a combination of public, private, and hybrid clouds. As more of these applications become business critical, it is crucial to deliver trusted platforms with resilience and scale to meet increasingly stringent performance and availability requirements. IT administrators also need to consider new ways to address data control, elastic capacity, and location flexibility.

FlexPod makes working in the cloud easier with innovative technologies by NetApp and Cisco. FlexPod is ready for the cloud, regardless of where you are in your cloud strategy. Operate across hybrid cloud resources with the software-defined capabilities of NetApp Data Fabric, while maintaining security, control, and workload portability with Cisco CloudCenter. The Data Fabric simplifies data management by seamlessly integrating enterprise IT, private data management, and clouds of all shapes and sizes to accelerate digital transformation. NetApp has achieved this capability by bringing industry-leading products to market and enabling them for managing data across multiple environments and providers. You can:

- Manage data from flash to disk to cloud with the simplicity of a single set of tools
- Optionally use OpenStack software on FlexPod to create a private or hybrid cloud



Figure 2: Hybrid cloud agility with FlexPod.

The FlexPod Datacenter solution from NetApp and Cisco continues as the market leader in converged infrastructure through numerous innovations like cloud agility.

Simplify IT Infrastructure

FlexPod optimizes the data center for the most demanding applications so you can increase productivity and continue innovation across your enterprise. With a single view and centralized automation and orchestration, Cisco Unified Computing System (UCS) Director provides end-toend management of your FlexPod, freeing up valuable IT time. The validated designs help you deploy FlexPod platforms in a wide range of operating environments with less risk and accelerated ROI. Our cooperative or solutions support models are designed to simplify and streamline support for your FlexPod converged infrastructure.

"Our executives loved the simplicity and power of the integrated stack in FlexPod. And for IT, the prevalidated architecture with prescriptive sizing and design guides reduced our risk."

— Wojciech Biernacki, IT Systems Administrator, University of Tennessee

Choose Your FlexPod Configuration

FlexPod has a range of configuration options that are designed to meet your specific capacity and performance requirements:

- For large enterprises and cloud service providers that have mature IT processes and rapid growth expectations and want to deploy a highly scalable shared infrastructure for multiple critical applications
- For midsized organizations and branch departments, as a cost-effective starting point for infrastructure consolidation and virtualization solutions
- For workloads that require high-performance computing or very large data capacity environments such as databases, artificial intelligence (AI), machine learning (ML), big data analytics, and dedicated application optimization
- For private or hybrid cloud deployments that need a consistent set of data management tools for edge, private, and public clouds

All FlexPod solutions can be scaled up or out and duplicated in a modular fashion to accommodate your future growth. They can also scale to a larger FlexPod configuration with a clearly defined upgrade path that leverages all existing components and management processes.

Our efforts were recently recognized by TechTarget, which made FlexPod the winner of the 2017 TechTarget Impact Award for Best Converged/Hyper-Converged Infrastructure.

Build Your Own FlexPod

Configure and build your own FlexPod. You can plan the power, floor space, usable capacity, performance, and cost of each FlexPod deployment. Go to Buildaflexpod.com and choose your network, compute, and storage gear. See what your FlexPod will look like as each component is added. Then, save and share your design.

Supports a Broad Range of Environments

FlexPod continues to add business-critical workload support, expanding the broad range of validations available. FlexPod supports the broadest range of hypervisors, operating systems, applications, and infrastructure software. Through extensive lab validation, NetApp and Cisco ensure that these applications are supported.

Table 1	Annlications	supported	hv Ne	t∆nn	and	Cisco
Table I.	Applications	Supported	Dy Ne	LAPP	anu	CISCO.

NetApp and Cisco Supported Applications	
SAP and SAP Hana	Microsoft Private Cloud
VMware View	Cloudera's Distribution, including Apache Hadoop
Citrix XenDesktop, VMWare Horizon Suit	NetApp SnapProtect [®] technology
Red Hat Enterprise Linux	Cisco Nexus data center switches
Red Hat Enterprise Linux OpenStack Platform	Hortonworks Data Platform
AI / ML Frameworks with Nvidia V100 Analytic GPU (Graphical Processing Unit)	Oracle (RAC, JD Edwards, Oracle Linux, Oracle VM Server)
Microsoft Exchange, SQL Server, and SharePoint	
Epic and MEDITECH healthcare solutions	

FlexPod maintains a consistent advantage because all designs share the same storage vendor, compute, network architecture, and support, as well as a common flexible approach to a validated design.



Figure 3: FlexPod validated application stacks – Expanding business-critical workload support.

Jointly Developed Reference Architectures

FlexPod is a flexible platform that is designed to handle mixed workloads in many environments. Its reference architectures can be sized for small or large enterprises, and the architecture remains consistent with the same capabilities, technology, and management tools. Scale from a small environment to a very large environment without having to make major upgrades in technology or change management tools or methodologies. To help you integrate and flex the solution to best meet specific requirements, NetApp and Cisco have developed reference architectures for critical environments.

Reference Architectures Workload Consolidation With FlexPod you can consolidate and virtualize your business applications onto less hardware. Along with improved hardware utilization, this approach frees up data center space and reduces power and cooling requirements, enabling you to lower your infrastructure costs by up to 50%. FlexPod is a self-contained virtual desktop solution in a rack. Its Virtual Desktop Infrastructure modular design facilitates rapid, repeatable deployment of thousands of virtual desktops. It is optimized for VMware View and Citrix Virtual Apps and Desktops. You can gain efficiencies by deduplicating up to 90% of redundant user and OS data. I/O performance can be accelerated by up to 50% with the NetApp Virtual Storage Tier. **Development and Test** FlexPod enables rapid provisioning and deprovisioning of virtual resources, making it ideal for development and test environments. NetApp FlexClone[®] software facilitates rapid development/test setup with cloning technology that gives you the ability to deploy thousands of space-efficient VMs for new projects in minutes, accelerating time to market. Clones can also be redeployed to secondary sites, reducing preparation time for initiatives such as disaster recovery testing. **Business and Disaster** FlexPod can be configured with integrated data protection Recovery software to provide fast recovery from system, site, and regional outages for business continuity. The combination of NetApp MetroCluster[™] and SnapMirror[®] technologies with Cisco UCS Manager offers automated monitoring and failover, as well as cost-effective replication to a secondary site for continuous protection against unplanned downtime. Move virtual server and storage resources and data nondisruptively across hardware to eliminate planned downtime. Secure Multi-tenancy and FlexPod leverages Cisco and NetApp technologies to deliver Secure Separation secure multi-tenancy with solutions such as Cisco Secure Enclaves. Resources and data for each tenant-application, business unit, or customer-are securely isolated within the FlexPod environment. This combines the data separation and service-level guarantees offered by application silos with the efficiencies of a converged, virtualized infrastructure.

 Table 2:
 Reference architectures developed NetApp and Cisco.

"One of the reasons we are so excited about the FlexPod solution is that it offers us an extreme amount of flexibility in terms of workloads that we run to support our colleges. "It also provides each and every one of our colleges with the flexibility to scale their solution up or down to meet their unique needs."

 Daniel Black, Director of Engineering, Technical College System of Georgia's System Office

Enhanced Data Center Efficiency

FlexPod components are integrated in a standardized configuration that scales from entry-level designs to high-performance large database workloads. This integrated approach can significantly reduce capital and operating expenses through end-to-end virtualization and higher efficiencies at each layer.

Cisco Unified Computing System

Cisco UCS is a data center platform that eliminates time-consuming manual configuration, reduces TCO, and increases business agility. It combines compute and network resources, storage access, and virtualization into a scalable, modular system that is easily managed as a single entity by Cisco UCS Manager. Service profile templates enable automatic, policy-based hardware configuration and deployment for large, stateless computing environments.

Cisco Nexus Data Center Switches

Cisco Nexus switches use award- winning unified fabric technology to identify and consolidate all network traffic onto a single simplified, cost- effective architecture based on Fibre Channel over Ethernet. The switches offer "zero-touch" installation, automatic configuration, enterpriseclass scalability, and nondisruptive in-service upgrades. A single point of policy management also increases efficiency, availability, and security.

The option of Cisco Nexus 7000 Series switches provides greater networking scale, throughput, availability, and advanced features for data center interconnect requirements. Cisco Nexus 9000 switches lay the foundation for software-defined innovations such as Cisco Application Centric Infrastructure, allowing intelligent software to automate hardware resources across next-generation data centers.

NetApp FAS Storage

NetApp FAS storage systems reduce the cost and complexity for virtualized infrastructures by meeting your storage requirements with a single, highly scalable solution. NetApp's unified storage platform supports all protocols, so you no longer need to purchase separate systems to accommodate different storage needs. You can lower capacity use by up to 50% with built-in deduplication, thin provisioning, and space-efficient backup and cloning.

NetApp systems enhance operational efficiency with automated data management, data protection, and security. The ONTAP operating system brings a new level of nondisruptive operations, scalability, and efficiency to enterprise storage. Performance is optimized with innovative flash technologies and 10GbE and FCoE support. With NetApp data management, you can deploy the exact proportion of flash to spinning media for your environment. And for extreme performance for dedicated workloads.

NetApp All Flash FAS

Like all the FlexPod Systems, the FlexPod Datacenter with NetApp All Flash FAS (AFF) is comprised of compute (database, virtualization, application and management servers from Cisco), network (three-layer network and SAN technologies from Cisco), and storage (NetApp AFF storage systems). Individually and together, the components of the FlexPod solution are designed to keep applications available. This converged infrastructure solution integrates high-availability and disaster recovery capabilities that give you the ability to achieve "always on" performance with the agility to meet the rapidly changing demands of today's business environment.

Built on ONTAP operating system, AFF speeds up the operations required to meet business requirements, without compromising efficiency or reliability, while providing great flexibility and scalability. As true enterprise-class, all-flash arrays, these systems accelerate, manage, and protect business-critical data.

NetApp Converged Systems Advisor

NetApp Converged Systems Advisor (CSA) is cloud-based management software for FlexPod. It supports FlexPod throughout its lifecycle with configuration, health, monitoring, and reporting capabilities. NetApp CSA combines an on-premises agent with a cloud-based portal to validate, monitor, and advise you on how to optimize your FlexPod system.

NetApp CSA performs the following tasks to validate your FlexPod implementation:

- Hardware and firmware assessment and inventory
- Verification of compliance with FlexPod best practices
- Verification of system configuration
- Comprehensive map diagram of system cabling, connectivity, components, and topology

NetApp CSA automates tasks and provides the following information to better monitor your FlexPod configuration:

- Scheduled system health checks for continuous validation
- Health check archive (configuration Snapshot copy) for configuration, change control, and status history
- Change control historical analysis
- E-mail notification for compliance failures

NetApp CSA helps optimize your FlexPod system with the following capabilities:

- Identification of bottlenecks or no resilient design that can affect performance
- Notifications for availability of hardware and firmware updates
- Recommendations for optimal hardware and firmware compliance



Figure 4: Lifecycle management automation – NetApp Converged Systems Advisor automates key operations tasks and provides remote monitoring capabilities.

FlexPod Global Partner Network

FlexPod is a meet-in-the-channel solution, with trained resellers delivering FlexPod solutions. Our reseller partners have NetApp channel certification and Cisco UCT, DCA, and ATP certifications. We now have more than 1,100 joint partners worldwide who deliver FlexPod, including 13 out of 14 of the world's largest system integrators.

Our network also includes 188 FlexPod Premium partners. This elite group of resellers has the highest level of training and certification and has made a significant investment in a FlexPod services practice.

You can choose from a global network of FlexPod Premium Partners and other highly qualified solution delivery partners to implement your FlexPod solution. These partners understand your unique requirements and are certified on NetApp, Cisco, and complementary technologies to deliver a complete cloud solution.





FlexPod Solutions Support

FlexPod offers support that best fits your needs. You can choose to support your FlexPod solutions using Cooperative Support, Solution Support from either NetApp or Cisco, or support from your partners, if the partner provides support as part of their offering.

FlexPod Cooperative Support

FlexPod Cooperative Support is a multivendor program that includes NetApp, Cisco, VMware, Microsoft, Red Hat, and Citrix.

Your IT staff chooses which vendor to call based on your initial assessment of the problem's origin. Knowledgeable FlexPod engineers work to resolve issues quickly using shared communications, expertise gained through ongoing joint training, and a formal escalation process. This support model includes every area of support including people, processes, and technologies across companies. The result is a rapid resolution to your technical issues.

FlexPod Cooperative Support provides:

- Direct Access. No barrier between you and the experts, whenever you need them.
- Coordinated Support. Formal communications, training, and escalation processes across vendors and partners.
- FlexPod Expertise. A multivendor cooperative support lab to simulate and pretest support solutions.



Figure 6: The FlexPod Cooperative Support Model is an ecosystem of technology partners.

"To the Walz Group, the partnership among Cisco, NetApp, and VMware with a mutual commitment to support has meant time-saving technology integration, simpler update processes, and more open-minded, collaborative service."

— Walz Group

FlexPod Solution Support

Solution Support is premium-level support for the FlexPod solution that provides a primary point of contact offering FlexPod and data center expertise—including solution partner applications—for complete coverage in the stack.

NetApp Solution Support for FlexPod (NSS-FP) is a support offering that is layered on top of the required support contracts from Cisco, VMware, and NetApp. It offers full-stack, single-point-contact support for all the key components, including storage, storage network, compute, compute OS, LAN networking, and hypervisor. NetApp Support will help you resolve any problem with any component of your system, and will facilitate a resolution to any problem, even if that solution involves another vendor's product. NSS-FP provides the following services:

- A single contact point for any problem relating to your FlexPod infrastructure
- Access to experts in the storage, compute, networking, hypervisor, and many of the layered products typically deployed on a FlexPod
- Collaboration with other vendor's support teams
- End-to-end case management

Note: NSS-FP includes a license for CSA.

Datasheet

NetApp Storage Encryption

Full disk encryption that protects data at rest with no operational impact

The NetApp® ONTAP® storage management solution continues to evolve, with security as an integral part of the solution. With NetApp Storage Encryption (NSE), full disk encryption is available using self-encrypting drives (SEDs) that are FIPS 140-2 level 2 certified. In addition, the strength of the portfolio and ONTAP solution continues with the arrival of NVMe SEDs, available in ONTAP 9.6 (not FIPS 140-2 certified); NetApp Volume Encryption (NVE), available in ONTAP 9.1; and NetApp Aggregate Encryption (NAE), available in ONTAP 9.6. NVE and NAE let you encrypt the data at a volume level, making the solution agnostic of the physical drive. In addition, the ability to take advantage of both hardware and software encryption options, providing double encryption at rest, is an industry first.

The Challenge

Encrypt your data without getting in the way

You work for a government, financial, or healthcare entity and are subject to regulations surrounding data protection. The requirement to keep all the personally identifiable information, personal healthcare information, and customer information protected within your storage infrastructure becomes a challenge when you repurpose drives, return defective drives, or upgrade to larger drives by selling them or trading them in. Wouldn't it be nice if there were a way for all of your data to be encrypted all the time without affecting everyday operations?

The Solution

NetApp Storage Encryption

NSE uses FIPS 140-2 level 2 SEDs to facilitate compliance and spares return by enabling the protection of data at rest, through AES 256-bit transparent disk encryption. The drives perform all the data encryption operations internally, as depicted in Figure 1, including encryption key generation. To prevent unauthorized access to the data, the storage system must authenticate itself with the drive by using an authentication key that is established the first time the drive is used. This can be done with either the onboard key manager (OKM) or an external key manager.

NSE can use the OKM to set and store the authentication keys for NSE drives. When the system uses an external key manager, the authentication keys are backed up externally using the industry-standard OASIS Key Management Interoperability Protocol (KMIP). With the external key manager, only the storage system, drive, and key manager have access to the key, and the drive cannot be unlocked if it is moved outside the security domain, thus preventing data leakage.

Key Benefits

Gain Full Disk Encryption

SEDs prevent data access until the drive's encryption key is unlocked by an authorized administrator.

Perform Mandatory Data Encryption

NSE and NVMe SEDs are file system and network independent: No action is required by the operator when aggregates, volumes, shares, or LUNs are created or deleted, and your data is always protected.

Enhance Data Confidentiality and Integrity

Use NSE or NVMe SEDs along with NVE and NAE to take advantage of the industry's first double encryption solution using two distinct layers. This combination provides a more robust data encryption solution.

Maintain Storage Efficiencies

By using NSE, NVMe SEDs, NVE, or NAE, you can encrypt your data while maintaining NetApp storage efficiencies such as deduplication and compression.

Satisfy Governance and Compliance Requirements

Use established security best practices to adhere to and support industry regulation and security compliance, including FIPS 140-2 level 2 with NSE.





Figure 1) NSE cryptographic function.

Do I Need NSE?

Here are some questions to ask yourself:

- Must physical media be encrypted?
- Do I have any physical drive encryption requirements—for example, tamper evidence solutions?
- Must root aggregate volumes and storage virtual machine volumes be encrypted?
- Do I require ubiquitous disk encryption of all data?

If the answer to any of these questions is yes, then NSE is a viable solution.

Combine encryption for double encryption (layered defense)

If you need to segregate access to data as well as make sure that data is protected all the time, NSE can be combined with network- or fabric-level encryption. NSE can act like a backstop if an administrator forgets to configure or misconfigures higher-level encryption. For two distinct layers of encryption, you can combine NSE drives with NVE.

NSE Supported Storage Architectures

- NetApp AFF A-Series
- NetApp FAS9000 series
- NetApp FAS8200 series
- NetApp FAS2650 series
- NetApp FAS2620 series

Contact your account team to find out more about how the NSE solution can solidify your organization's needs. The following table lists some of the basics of NSE.

Entire disk encrypted
Hardware based
AES 256 encryption
NSE SEDs required
Onboard or external key management for the authentication key
FIPS 140-2 validated when used with external key manager; FIPS level depends on key manager use and implementation
All drives (including HA pairing) must be NSE drives; no mixing NSE and non-NSE drives

Resources

- NetApp Storage Encryption, NVMe Self-Encrypting Drives, NetApp Volume Encryption, and NetApp Aggregate Encryption datasheet
- NetApp Volume Encryption and NetApp Aggregate Encryption datasheet

About NetApp

NetApp is the data authority for hybrid cloud. We provide a full range of hybrid cloud data services that simplify management of applications and data across cloud and on-premises environments to accelerate digital transformation. Together with our partners, we empower global organizations to unleash the full potential of their data to expand customer touchpoints, foster greater innovation and optimize their operations. For more information, visit www.netapp.com. #DataDriven